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In 2005, the chief of the CIA’s BLACK detention site, where many of the detainees the CIA
assessed as *high-value” were held, complained that CIA Headquarters “managers seem to be
selecting either problem, underperforming officers, new, totally inexperienced officers or
whomever seems to be willing and able to deploy at any given time,” resulting in “the production
of mediocre or, 1 dare say, useless intelligence.,.."*

Numerous CIA officers had serious documented personal and professional problems—including
histories of violence and records of abusive treatment of others—that should have called into
question their suiabiliry to participate in the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program, their
employment with the CIA, and their continued access to classified information. In nearly all
cases, these problems were known to the CIA prior to the assignment of these officers to
detention and interrogation positions.

#13: Two contract psychologists devised the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques and
played a ceniral role in the operation, assessments, and management of the CIA’s
Detention and Interrpgation Program. By 2005, the CIA had overwheimingly outsourced
operations related to the program.

The CIA contracted with two psychologists to develop, operate, and assess its interrogation
operations. The psychologists’ prior experience was at the U.S. Air Force Survival, Evasion,
Resistance and Escape (SERE) school. Neither psychologist had any experience as an
interrogator, nor did either have specialized knowledge of al-Qa’ida, a background in
counterterrorism, or any relevant cultural or linguistic expertise.

On the CJA's behalf, the contract psychologists developed theories of interrogation based on
“learned helplessness,”*? and developed the list of enhanced interrogation techriques that was
approved for use against Abu Zubaydah and subsequent CIA detainees. The psychologists
personally conducted interrogations of some of the CIA’s most significant detainees using these
techniques. They also cvaluated whether detainees’ psychological state allowed for the
continued use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, including some detainees whom
they were themselves interrogating or had interrogated. The psychologists carried out inherently
governmental functions, such as acting as liaison between the CIA and foreign intelligence
services, assessing the effectiveness of the interrogation program, and participating in the
interrogation of detainees in held in foreign government custody.

In 2005, the psychologists formed a company specifically for the purpose of conducting their
work with the CIA. Shortly thereafter, the CEA outsourced virtually all aspects of the program.

In 2006, the value of thé CIA’s base contract with the company formed by the psychologists with
all opttons exercised was in excess of $180 mllion; the contractors received $81 million prior o
the contract’s termination in 2009, In 2007, the CIA provided a multi-year indemnification
agreeruent 1o protect the company and its employees from legal liability arising out of the
program. The CIA has since pajd our mare than $1 million pursuant to the agreement,

Page 11 of 19
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ideatifying countries be redacted, The Study therefore lists the countries by letter. The Study uacs the same

designations consistently, o “Country J,"” for e refers to the same country throughout the Stady.
* July 31, 2003, email from John Rizzo to re Rump PC an intesrogations,

X L otus Notes message from Chief of the CIA Station in Counary JJ to DACTC, COPS; copied in: email from
rlﬂ to [REDACTED), [REDACTED), cc: [REDACTED], ﬂ R
subj: ADCI Talking Points far Call to DepSec Annitage, date 9/23/2004, at 7:4(:43 PM

3! Briefing slides, CIA Interrogation Program, July 29, 2003

= No CIA dotention facilities were established in these two countries.

B U8 law (22 U.5.C. § 3927) requires that chiefs of mission “shall be kept fully and currently informed with
respect (0 o) activities and operations of the Government within thal country,” including the aclivilies and
operalions of te CIA.

N Sametime communication, between Jotun P. Mudd and Agil 13, 2008,
B Samerime cormmunication, between Joha P. Mudd and Agril 13, 2008,

= March 29, 2002, eawil frocn SN - re A-Z Intercogation Plan.
2 avec [ (1523212 UL 02)

¥ fanuary 8, 1989, Letter from Sohn L. Helgerson, Director of Congressional Affays, (0 Vice Chaicman Wiiliam S.
Cohen, Senate Select Comeitiee on Intelfigence, ce: SSC1 Questions oo [ « 7-8.

¥ (REDACTED] 1528 (191903Z DEC 03)

¥ Regort of Audit, C1A controlied Detention Facilities Gperated Under the 17 September 2009 Memarandem of
Notification, Report No. 2005-0017-AS, June 14, 2004,

A V3, R0, émal fom REDACTED] (Chilef of Basé of DETERTIONSITE HLATK), to N

re General Commments.

2 “Leamed helplulnus" in this context wad the theory that detainees might becoma passive und depreseed in
respange fo 2dverse o uncontrollable events, and would thus cooperate and provide information, Memo from
Grayson SWIOQERT, Ph.D., February 1, 2003, “Qualifications ia provide speczal mission intervogation consultation.”
¥ They also concluded thu the CIA “should nok be in the business of running prisons or *lem detention
facilities."" May 12, 2004, Memorndum for Deputy Director for Operatians fmmﬂ Chief,
Information Operstions Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, National Resources Division via Associate Deputy
Director for Operations, with the subject line, “Operational Review of CIA Detaince Program.”

M March 21, 2005, Memorandam for Deputy Director for Operations from Roben L. Grenier, Director DCI
Counterterrorism Center, re Proposal for Full-Scope Independent Study of the CTC Rendition, Detention, and
Interrogation Programs,

¥ September 2, 2005, Memorandum frorn [N 1o Director Porter Goss, CIA, “Asaessment of EITs
Effectivenass™

¥ Seprember 23, 2005, Memonnduim frowm o The Honovable Porter Gass. Directar, Central
Intelligence Agency, “Response 1o request from Director for Assessment of EIT effectivensss.”

¥ Fehruary 10, 2006, Memorandum for CIA OFFICER 1}, CounceesTerrorist Center, National
Clandrstine Service, from Executive Directar re: Acconntability Decision.

% Congressional notificalion, CTA Response to OIG investigation Regarding the Rendition and Detention of
German Citixen Khabid ef-Masne, Odtuber 9, 2007.

¥ Memorasdum for Inspecioe Genersl; from: James Pavitt, Depauty Director for Operations; subjeci: re Comments io
Drafi 1G Special Review, "Countenemrovtsm Defention and lntemogation Program” (2003.7123-IG); date: February
27, 2004; sachmeni: Februery 24, 2004, Memorandum re Sucersses of ClA's Countererrorism Detention and
Iowmggation Activities.

“0 February 24, 2004, Metnorendem from Scoa W. Maller, General Counsel, (o lnapectar Geners) re Intecrogation
Program Special Review (2003-71234G).

1 Navember 9, 2008, email from John A. Rizzo, to Michse! V. Hayden, Siephen R, Kappes, cc: Michac! Morell,
Subject: Fw: 5 Decerber 2006 Meeting with ICRC Rep.
9 CIA Commu on the February 2007 ICRC Report on the Treatmem of Fourteen “High Value Detainees™ in CLA
Cuatady,”

43 Sengte Select Commitier on Intelligonce hearing transcript for April 12, 2007.

* DCIA Talking Points for 12 January 2006 Meeting with the President, re: Way Forward on Counterierrorist
Rendition, Detention aod Intexrrogalion Program.

S HRADQUARTERS (717422 JUN 04)
% [REDACTED) svse& 03y, ALEC [ SRNEEEE o2); ~_EC I RN o)
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specific requesis for additional information on the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program.
Internal CIA emails include discussion of how the CIA could “get... off the hook on the cheap™
regacding Chairman Graham's requests for additional infarmation. ™ In the end, CIA officials:
simply did not respond to Graham's requests prior (o his departure from the Commlttee in
January 2003,

C. Interrogation in Country J] and the Janvary 2003 Guidelines

1, The CIA Establishes DETENTION SITE COBALT, Places Inexperienced First-Tour
Officer in Charge

(
in April 2002, with the intention that it would be “otally under

Control."®5 On June 6, 2002, CIA Heuadquarters approved more than $200,000 for the
construction of the [acility, identified in this summary as “DETENTION SITE COBALT.”** In
a 2003 interview with the CYA Office of Inspector General, Associate Deputy Director for

) Plans for a specialized CIA detention facil.iti in Country JJ] began

'Station

Operations described his views of this facility and “stated that [DETENTION
SITE COBALT) was opened because there needed to be a detention site in [Country ] for those
detainees enroute & to [DETENTION SITE GREEN]. It was not a place for the use
of EITs."? )

( ) DETENTION SITE COBALT, constructed with CIA funding,
opened in Country [ffin September 20022 Accarding to CIA records, the windows at
DETENTION SITE COBALT were blacked out and detalnces were kept in total darkness. The
guards monitored detainees using headlamps and loud music was played
constantly in the facility, While in their cells, detainees were shackled to the wall and given
buckets for human waste. Four of the twenty cells at the facility included a bar across the top of
the cell ® Later reports describe detainees being shackled to the bar with their hands above
their heads, forcing them to stand, and therefore not allowing the detainees to sleep.®

4 Email from: Stanley Maskowilz; to: John H. Moseman; ce: Scott Mafler and James Pavitt: subject: {antached
document] Re: Graham request on ineemrogations; date: December 9, 2002, at 05:46:11 PM.
I By June 2002 the CIA had taken custody of five detainees who were caprured outside of Country

and plvaced

these CIA detainees in Countey [l detention facilities. The detainees were held at the Country [l facilitiea at
the Hueat of the CIA and the CIA had unlimited access to thein. See 21147

2% DIRECTOR [N (0622122 JUN 02)

™ Interview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interrogaiions for Counterterrorism Purposes, [ I NGNGE
September 9, 2003.

23 For additional information on DETENTION SITE COBALT, see Volume I and Volume T11I. The specific date

has been generalized at the request of the CIA.
» I ¢+ I

24 For additional information on DETENTION SITE COBALT, see Yolume I and Volume III, and among other
documents: [ EENNUNNENRNNN ;: ! : HENNNNNNNENN: DIRECTOR ; email
from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED];
subject: Meeting with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons; date: Deceber 4, 2002; email from: [REDACTEDY]; ta:
[REDACTED]; subject: Mesting with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons; date: December 5, 2002; Special Review,
Countenterrorism Detention and [nterrogation Activities (September 2001 - October 2003) (2003-7123-1G), May 7,
2004; Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, froim , Junuary 28, 2003, Subject:

Page 49 of 499
—oNCHASONER—~

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class. App. 16
“HNCEASSHES—

rorsecre- INNNGNGEGREEN o oR>

Wu) The CIA officer in charge of DETENTION SITE COBALT,

(CIA QFFICER 1], was a junior officer on his first overseas assignrent with
no previous experience or training in handling prisoners or conducting interrogations.
[CIA OFFICER 1] was the DETENTION SITE COBALT manager during the period in which a
CIA detsinee died and numerous C1A detainees were subjected to unapproved coercive
interrogation techniques.' A review of CIA records found that prior to [CIA
OFFICER 1°s) deployment and assignment as the CIA’s DETENTION SITE COBALT
manager, other CIA officers recommended [CIA OPPICER 1] not have continued
access to ¢lassified information due o a “lack of honesty, judgment, and matudty,"*?
According to records, “the chief of CTC told d {CIA OFFICER 1)] thet he would not
want {him) in his oversess smtion.™™? A supervising officer assessed that [CIA
OFFICER {):

“has issues with judgment and marurity, [and his} potential behavior in the

field is also wornsome. [The officer) further advised that [CIA
QFFICER 1]] was only put inle processing for en overseas position so that
someone would evaluate all of the evidence of this situation altogether—The .
officer further noted that [JJ Il (CIA OFFICER 111 might not listen to his
chiel of station when in the field,”* '

2. CIA Records Lack Information on CIA Detainees and Details of Interrogations in
Country .

( INE) Detainees held in Country [J] were detdined under the authority of
the MON; however, CIA officers conducted no written assessment of whelher these detainees

Death Investigation ~ Gul RAHMAN; and CIA Inspector General, Report of Investigation, Death of a Dewinee JJ}
(2003-7402-1G), April 27, 2005. One senior inmgmor,“ told the CIA OIQ that
“literally, a detainee could go for duys or weeks without anyone looking at him,” and that his tesm found one
detainee who, “'as for as we could deterinine,’ had been chained lo the wall in a wanding position for 17 days.”
According 0 the CIA interrogator, some of the CIA detainees 2l DETENTION SITE COBALT “‘literally looke
like a dog it had been kenneled.” When the dours 1o their cells were opened, ‘they cowered.’™ (See Interview
Report, 2003-7123-K3, Review of In ions for Counterterrorism Purposes, April 30, 2003.)
The chief of interrogations, wid the CIA OIG that “{DETENTION STTE COBALT] is good for
innnogm becavse it is the closest thing he has seen to a dungeon, facilimating the displacement of detainee
ﬂlﬁu (See Inmesview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interrogations for Coumerremrorisim Pusposes,
Apeil 7, 2003.) An asalyst who conducted interrogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT told the CIA
OIG that “[DETENTION SITE COBALT]) is an EIT." (Sez Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of
Emarogations for Covnterterrorisnl Purposes, May 8, 2003)
1 See April 27, 2005, CIA Inspector General, Report af Investigation: Death of & Dewinee [IIIINININGENGD
April 7 mos Mcnmndum for John Hglgemm. Inspectar General, from Robert Greaier, Subject: Commens on

CIA OFFICER 1],
(CIA OFFICER i ]
(C1A OFFICER 1]
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“pose[d) a continuing, serious threat of violence or death to U.S. persons and interests or...
fwe]re planning terrorist activities.” The CIA maintained such poor records of its detainees in
Country [l during this period that the C1A remains unabie to detetmine the number and identity
of the individuals it detained. The full details of the CIA interrogations there remain largely
unknown, as DETENTION SITE COBALT was later found to have not reported multiple uses of
sleep deprivation, required standing, loud music, sensory deprivation, extended isolation,
reduced guantity and guality of food, nudity, and “rough treatment” of CIA detainees.}®

3. CIA Headqguarters Recommends That Untrained Interrogators in Country l Use the
CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Techniques on Ridha al-Najjar

{ Ridha al-Najjar was the first CIA detainee to be held at
DETENTION SITE COBALT. Al-Najjar, along with Hassan Muhammad Abu Bakr and a
number of other individuals, was arrested in Karachi, Pakistan, after raids conducted JJJJJl by
akistanfil in 1ate May 2002.2% Al-Najjar was identified by the CIA as a
former bodyguard for Usama bin Laden,**” and was rendered with Abu Bakr to CIA custody at a
Country h detention facility on June ], 20022 Ridha al-Najjar was transferred
to DETENTION SITE COBALT on September [JJ| 2002,

) While the CIA was describing to the Department of Tustice why it

{
needed to nse the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah, a paratlel

intemnal discussion at the CIA was tzking place regarding Ridha al-Najjar. An ALEC Station
cable from a CTC officer stated that, on Jupe 27, 2002:

“ALEC/H(S held a strategy session regarding the interrogation of high
priority h detaince Ridha Ahmed al-Najjar in [Country [J). The
goal of the session was to review the progress of the interrogation to date and
to devise a gencral plan as to how best to proceed once the new [Country [
I dctention/debriefing facility [i.c., DETENTION SITE COBALT] is

completed, 2%

@S/ ~F) The meeting participants included individuals who were also
invotved in discussions related o Abu Zubaydah's interrogation, including deputy chief of
ALEC Sration, ISR, IS C ¢ - IR o ch chict of

2% The full Commitiee Study includes a C1A photograph of B waterboard at DETENTION SITE COBALT. While
there are no records of the CIA using the waterboand at COBALT, the waterboard device in the phatograph is
surrounded by buckets, with a bonile of unknown pink sohrion (filled two thirds of the way to the top) and a
walering can resting on the woaden beams of the waterboard. In meetings between the Commitze Staff and the
CIA in the summer of 2013, the CIA was unable to explain the details of the photograph, to inchude the buclets,

mlution and watering can, as well as the waterboard’s presence at COBALT. ‘
* 11443

(1621352 JUL 02). Although the plans at the lime were for DETENTION SITE COBALT m be
awned and operated by the Country §§ gavernment, the detention gile was controlled and overscen by the CLA and
its officers from the day it became operational in September 2002.

Page 51 of 499
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the 1331 A cable followed on July 16,
2002, to the CIA Station in Country [l suggesting possible interrogation techniques to use

against Ridha al-Najjar, including:

o utilizing “Najjar's fear for the well-being of his family to our benefit,” with the cable
explicitly stating that interrogators could not “threaten his family with imminent death™;

e using “vague threals” to creabe a “mind virus” that would cause ai-Najjar to believe that
his situation would continve to get worse until he cooperated; =2

e manipulating Ridha al-Najjar's environment using a hood, restraints, and music; and
s cmploying sleep deprivation through the use of round-the-clock intesrogations.?s

TS/ ~F) The cable went on to note that the “possibility that (al-Najjor) auay
have current threat or lead information demands that we keep up the pressure on him,"2* With
the exception of a brief mention of “diminished retums from the most recent interviews of al-
Najjar," and references to the detaince’s tomplaiits about pliysical ailments, the cablé offérs no
evidence al-Najjar was actively resisting CIA interrogators.**

TS/ - %) Ten days later, on July 26, 2002, CIA officers in Country [, none
of whom had been trained in the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation rechniques, proposed
putting al-Najjar in isolation™ and using “sound disorientation techniques,” “sense of time
deprivation,” limited light, cold temperatures, and sleep deprivation.?” The CIA officers added
that they felt they had a “reasonable chance of breaking Najjar” to get “the intelligence and
locator lead information on UBL and Bin Ladin's family."*® The plan for al-Najjar was
circuluted to senior CIA officers as part of the Daily DCI Operutivns Update, #*?

1 ALEC 1621 35Z JUL 02). The deputy chief of ALEC Statios, [J NG -~ IR
Legnl, , would atet travel 1o DETENTION SITE GREEN (0 obscrve the use of the CIA's
enhanced inferrogotion technigurs ageinsl A bo Zubaydah.

2 The term "mind virus” firsl sppeared in the inrmrogations of Abu Zobaydah. See [l 10086 (201900Z
APR 02).

3 Referenced July 16, 2002, cubie is ALEC [ (1621352 JoL 02).

3 ALEC (1621352 JUL 02)

MALEC (1621352 JUL 02)

4 Atthis time, fuly 26, 2002, Abo Zubaydah was jo isolstion at DETENTION STTE GREEN, Aln 2Zabaydab was
placed in isolation on June {8, 2002, and remained in isolation for 47 days, untif the CIA began subjecting him fo s
enhanced in lechnigues on August 4, 2002,

= 25107 (2609032 JUL 2}

- 25107 (2609032 JUL 02)

7 Email from: {REDACT BDii' bO: Bmi Krongard, Jahn O. Brennan, (REDACTED], {(REDACTED], John H.

Moscman, [REDACTED], REDACTED] ACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED),
[REDACTED], [REDACTED], Jose Rodriguez, Joha P.
Mudd, , [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED),
[REDACTED), [REDACTED|, [REDACTED], [REDACTED), [REDACTED], (REDACTED|, [REDACTED],
[REDACTED), [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED), [REDACTED].

[REDACTED], [REDACTED), [RBDAC]‘EDiI |REDACTED|, IREDACTEDI, [REDACTED], [REDACTED),
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s/ 2) On August S, 2002, the day after Abu Zubaydah's interrogation
using the CIA’s enhanced interrogaton techniques at DETENTION SITE GREEN began, CIA
Headquarters authorized the proposed interrogation plan for al-Najjar, o include the use of loud
music (at less than the level that would cause physical harm such as permanent hearing loss),
worse food (as long as it was netritionally adequate for sustenance), sleep deprivation, and
hooding.*%

(_JNF) More than a month later, on September 21, 2002, CIA interrogators
described al-Najjar as “clearly a broken man” end “on the verge of complete breakdown™ as
result of the isolation.! The cable added that al-Najjar was willing to do whatever the CIA
officer asked.?s*

($SI—IINE) In October 2002, officers from the U.S. military conducted a shart
debriefing of al-Najjar at DETENTION SITE COBALT and subsequently expressed an interest
in a more thorough debsiefing.’® On November [J, 2002, a U.S. military legal advisor visited
DETENTION SITE COBALT and described it as a “CIA detention facility,” noting that “while
CIA is the only vser of the facility they contend it is a [Country *} facility.”264
The U.S. military officer also noted that the junior CIA officer designated as warden of the
facility “*has little to no experience with interrogating or handling prisoners.” With respect to al-
Najjar specifically, the legal advisor indicated that the CIA's interrogation plan included
“isolation in tota) darkness; lowering the quality of his food; keeping him at an uncomfortable
temperamre (cold); [playing music] 24 hours a day; and’keeping him shackled and hooded.” In
addition, al-Najjar was described as having been left hanging—which involved handcuffing one
or both wrists to an overhead bar which would not allow him to lower his arms—for 22 hours
each day for two consecutive days, in order to ““break’ his resistance.” It was also noted gl-

Najjar was wearing a dioper and had no access 1o oilet facilities.?*

xS/ 2+ The U.S. military legal advisor concluded that, because of al-

Najjar's treatment, and the concealment of the facility from the ICRC, milimry participation in

al-Najjar’s interrogation would involve risks for the U.S. military — The legal ndvisor
recommended briefing the CIA's detention and interrogation activilies to U.,S, h

[REDACTED], [REDACTEDY]; subject: ABU ZUBAYDAH - SENSITIVE ADDENDUM TO DCIDAILY 1630
OPS UPDATE - 26 J1ULY; date: July 26, 2002,

4 DIRECTOR - {052309Z AUG 02). The OLLC opinion that reviewed and approved the use of CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques, signed on August 1, 2002, was specific to Aba Zubaydah. The Office of Legal
Counset did not produce legal opinions for al-Najjar or other detainees held by or for the CEA until Aagust 2004.
! [REDACTED] 27297 (210713Z SEP 02)

M2 [REDACTED] 27297 (2107132 SEP 02
3% Navember [, 2002, Memorandum for .
Subject: Legal Analysis of [l Personnel Participating in Interrogation at the CIA Detention Facility in
[REDACTED] (aka "[DETENTJON SITE COBALT]").
%4 November . 2002, Memorandum for
Subject: Legal Analysis of - Pectonne! Padicipating in Interrugation at the CIA Detention Facility in
(REDACTED] (aka “[DETENTFON SITE COBALT]").
28 Noveimber [, 2002, Memorandum for
Subject: Legal Analysis of [JJl] Personnel Participating in Interrogation at the CYA Detention Facility in
[REDACTED] (aka “[DETENTION SITE COBALT)™).
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{combatant command] to alert the command of the risks prior to the U.S. military

mng involved in any aspect of the interrogation of al-Najjar.® According to the CIA
inspector general, Lhe detention and interrogation of Ridha al-Najjar “became the model” for
handling other CIA detainees at DETENTION SITE COBALT.*®" The CIA disseminated one
intelligence report from its detention and interrogation of Ridha al-Najjar.2%

4. Death of Gul Rahman Leads CIA Headguarters to Learn of Unreported Coercive
Interrogarion Technigues at DETENTION SITE COBALT; CIA Inspector General
Review Reveals Lack of Oversight of the Detention Site

SR 2% in November 2002, ALEC Station officers requested that CIA
contract interrogator Hommond DUNBAR, one of the two primary interrogators of Abu
Zubaydah in August 2002, ravel to DETENTION SITE COBALT 0 assess a detainee for the
possible use of the CIA*s cnhanced int jon lechniques ™ While DUNBAR was present at
DETENTION SITE COBALT, he mi“ [CIA OFFICER 1] in the
interrogations of Gul Rahman, a suspexizd Islamic extremist. As reported to CIA Headquarters,
. this interrogation included *'48 hours ol sleep deprivation, auditory overioad, total darkness,
isofation, & cold shower;-aad rough reatment.”--CIA Headquarters-did not approve these - -
interrogation techaiques in advance. Upon receipt of these cables, however, officers at CIA
Headquarters responded that they were "motivated to extract any and sll operstional information
an al-Qa'ida and Hezbi Islami from Gul Rahman” and suggested that “enhanced measures™
might be needed to gain Gul Rahman’'s campliance. CIA Headquarters also requested that a
psychological assessment of Rahman be completed.*™ Prior to DUNBAR's departure from the
deteation site on November . 2002, [afew days before the death of Gul Rahman] DUNBAR
proposed the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques on other detainees and offered
suggestions to [ (C1A OFFICER 1), the site manager, on the use of such techniques.?™*

S/ ~%) On November [ 2002, I (C1A OFFICER 1] ordered that
Gul Rahman be shackled to the wall of his cell in a position that required the delsinee 1o rest on
the bare concrete floor. Rahman was wearing only a sweatshir, h [C1A OFFICER 1]
had ordered that Ratunan's clothing be removed when be had been judged to he uncouperative
during an carlier intervogation. The mexr day, the guards found Gul Rahman's dead body. An
internal CIA review and autopsy assessed that Rahman likely died from hypothermia—in par

2 November | 2002, Memorandum for

Subject: Logal Analysis of [JlfPersonnel Participating in Interrogation s the CIA Detention Facifity in

[REDACTED) (ako “[DETENTION SITE COBALTT'L

27 According to te IG report. "in late July ar eacty August 2002, & senior opertions offices on TOY w [N
inkerTogated a partcularty obsunate detsinee [Richa 2l-Najjar] a1 hmnlim facility

that was used before (COBALT] was opened. The officer dmifted a2 cable (hat proposed rechniques that, ultimaiely,

hecame the model for [COBALT]." Ses April 27, 2005, report by the CIA Inspector Genersl, Death of a2 Detainee [ |

I (2001-7402-(G). See also Interview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interragations for
Countertecrodiam Purposes, , Apeil 30, 2003, Interview Report, 2003.7123-1G, Review of
Intesrogations for Countertertoriam Purposes, , April 2, 2003.

X8 Ser Vohune I and Volume 1M1 for aditional information
W ALEC
70 ALEC
m 29963

Page 54 of 499

=HNOEASSIFER—

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE




UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 21
—HNGEASEHER—

ropsecre/JEINEGEGEEEE - or

from having been forced to sit on the bare concrete floor without pants.?” — (CIA
OFFICER 1’s] initial cable to CIA Headquarters on Rahman's death included a number of
misstatements and omissions that werc not discovercd until internal investigations into Rahman's

death.”

S/ ~=) Thc death of Gul Rashman resulted in increased attention o CIA

detention and interrogation activities in Country by CIA Headquarters. The CTC formally
designated the CTC's Renditions Group®™ as the responsible entity for the management and
mainenance of all CIA interrogation facilites, including DETENTION SITE COBALT, in eady
December 2002.775 Despite this change, many of the same individuals within the CIA—
inctuding DUNBAR, officers at DETENTION SITE COBALT, and officers within ALEC
Station who had recommended the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against
Gul Rahman—remained key figures in the CIA interrogation program and received no reprimand
or sanction for Rahman'’s death. Instead, in March 2003, just four months after the death of Gul
Rahman, the CIA Station in Country [l recommended that CIA OFFICER 1)
receive a “cash award” of $2,500 for his *‘consistently superior work,” [CIA
OFFICER 1] remained in his position as manager of the detention site until July 2003 and
continued to be involved in the interrogations of other CIA detainees. He was formally certified
as u CIA intervogaror in April 2003 after the practical portion of his training requirement was
waived because of his past experience with interrogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT.™

M Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, from || 7eouory 28, 2003, Subject: Death
Inyestigation ~ Gu] RAHMAN. Other contributing factors were identified es dehydration, lsck of food, and

imungbility due to “short chaining.”
R 0> | SR, S Votue T and I for scitional details,

714 As noted, the Renditions Group wes alse known during the program as the “Renditions and Inierragations
Group,™ as well as the “Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Oroup,” and by the initiats, “RDT” and “RDG."
73 DIRECTOR 032336Z DEC 02}
e 34909
T DIRECTOR In late 2003, the CIA convened an A ccountability Board (0 review the
actions of CIA persannel in Ga) Rahman’s denth. The board recommended that the execative direclor “impase a 10
day suspension without pay” on {CIA QFFICER 1], and noted thar this action would “strike the
appropriate balance between: 1) the fact that [CIA OFFICER 11] waos the only individual who made
decisions that led directly, albeit unintentionally, ta Rahman's death, and 2) the significam weight the Board
artached t the mitigating factors at play in this incident." (See Memorandum for Executive Director from [N
I Deputy Director for Science and Technology, re: Report and Recoinmendations of the Special Accountability
Board Regarding the Death of Afghan Detainee Gul Ralman.) On February 10, 2006, however, the CIA Executive
Director K_B, Foggo notified {CIA OFFICER 1] that he intended lo tzke no disciplinary action ageinst
him. Inhis meino describing that decision, the executive dicectar staled: “While not condoning your actions, it is
imperative, in my view, that they... be judged within the operational context that existed at the time of Rehman'’s
detention. Cable maffic reviewed by the board shows conclusively that Headquarters generally was aware of, and
sed no objections (o, the confinement conditions and interrogation techniques being imposed on Rahnwn as late aa
i MNovember. On that date, Headquarters natified [the CIA Station in COUNTRY |fl... that it was ‘motivated io
extract any and all operational information’ from Rahman, that it mted achieving Rahman's cooperation to be of
‘great importance’ and that it acknowledged that Rahman ‘may peed to be subjected to enhanced interrogation
measures to ipduce him to comply.” (See February 10, 2006, Memorandum for {CIA OFFICER
11], CounterTerrarist Center, National Clandestine Service, from Executive Diceator, re! “Accountability Decision.”)
With regard to the death of Gul Rehman, the CIA’s June 2013 Response stares: “Most egregiously, we believe that
CIA leaders erred in not holding anyane formally accountable for the actions and failure of management related to
the deuth of Gul Rehman at [COBALT] in 2002. We understand the reasoning underlying CIA management’s
decision (0 overtum an accountability board recommendation that would have imposed sanctions on the least
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@S/ AF) Later investigations of DETENTION SITE COBALT conducted
by the CIA inspector general and the deputy director of operations following the death of Gul
Rahman found that the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques—and other coercive
interrogation techniques—was more widespread than was reporied in contemporaneous CIA
cables. Specifically, the interrogation techniques that went unreported in CLA cables included
standing slecp deprivation in which a detainee’s arms were shackled above his head, nudiry,
dietary manipulation, exposure to cold iemperatures, cold showers, “rough takedowns,” and, in
at least two inswances, the use of mock executions. ™™

On November 18, 2002, staff fram the CIA’s Office of Inspector
Gereral contacied C Legal, * to indicate their interest in being

briefed by CTC on the detention facility in Country [} Al their ineeting with tve DDO and the
chief of CTC on November [l 2002, the OIG staff explaived that, while in that country on »
separate matter, the staff had overheard a conversation thal included references 10 “war crimes”
and “torture” at a CIA deteniion facility and were therefore seeking to follow-up on this
information. According ro notes from the meeting, the BDO described the “most recent event
conceming Gul Rahman"—his death, which occurred on November JJ} 200277

experienced officer involved. The mo#t junior in the chain of command should not have to bear the full weight of
accountability when lacger, sysiemic problems exist and when they are thrust inko difflcult battlefleld situations by
their supervisors and given a risky and difficult task and little preparation or guidance. Still, it is bard to sccept tiat
a C1A officer doey. not beae a1 least spue responsibility for his.ocheractions-even under-Gying clroymstances.”. . - .
7 Special Review, Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 - October 2003)
(2003-7123-IG), May 7, 2004; Memomndum for Deputy Director of Operations, from , January
28, 2003, Subject: Daoth Investigation — Qul RAHMAN; CIA Inspector General, Report of Investigation, Death of a
Detainee {2003-7402-1G), April 27, 2005. Inspector General records of the interview of a senior CIA
debricfer indicated that, “[d)uring the two weeks of interTogation raining, she heard stories of [COBALT) detainees
being ‘hung for days on end,’ not being fed, mock assassinations, and at least one case of a dewlnee being
repeatedly choked.” The senior debriefer also inforned the Office of Inspector General that, “[3]he heard that while
at[COBALT) ake "ClA OFFICER 2] had hong detainees up for lang periods with theit toes
barely louching the nd,”" (Ser inlerview repaxt, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogalions for Counterserronsm
Purposcs, Aptil §,2003.) DUNBAR described 2 “rough takedown” following the deah of Gul
Rahman at COBALT, “According to [DUNBARY], there were approximately five CIA pfficers from the cenditions
ican. Each one had a vole during the tekedown end it was thoroughly planned and rchearsed, They opened ihe door
of Rahmaa's cell and rushed in screaming asd yeliing for him (o ‘get down.' They dregged him outside, cul off his
clothes and secured hito with Mylar tape. They covered his head with a hood and can him up and down ¢ koot
cormidor adiscen ta his cell, They slepped him end punched him several Gmes. [DUNBAR| stated that although it
was obvious Gty were adt trying 10 hit him es hurd as they conld, a couple of tmes the punches were foiceful. Ag
they ran him along the cormidor, 2 couple of times he fell and they dragged himm theough the diet (the floor outide of
the cells is dirt). Rahman did ecquize a number of abrasions on his face, legs, and hands, b nothing that required
medical stiention. {This may account for the abresions fonnd on Rahman's bady afer his death, Raknen had a
mumber of surfuce abragions on bis shouiders, pelvia, soms, degs, and face.) At this point, Rehman was returned 0
his cell and secuced. (DUNBAR] stated that [CIA OFFICER 1]] [the CIA officer in chusge of
DETENTION SITE COBALT] may have spoken to Rahman far a few moments, but he did not know what

[CTA OFFICER 1]] seid. [DUNBAR] stated that after sorsething like this s done, intervogators should
speak to the prisoner to ‘give them something ta think about.’” (See Memorandum for Deputy Directur of
Opemtions, fromn January 28, 2003, Subject: Death Invesiigation - Gul RAHMAN, pp. 21-22.)
T See Notes of November i, 2002, mecting D/IG [REDACTED)].
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/R~ %) 1n January 2003, CIA Inspector General John Helgerson began a
formal review of the death of Gul Rahman and began & separate review of the entire CIA
Detention and Interrogation Program. The resulting Special Review of Counterterrorism
Detention and Interrogation Activities (“Special Review™) found that there were no guidelines
for the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques at DETENTION SITE COBALT
prior to December 2002, and that interrogators, some with little or no training, were “left to their
own devices in working with deainees."#0

S/ ») The Inspector General's Special Review also revealed the lack of
oversight of DETENTION SITE COBALT by CIA leadership. DCI Tenet stated that he was
“not very familiar” with DETENTION SITE COBALT and “what the CIA is doing with medium
value targets,"**! Associate Deputy Director of Operations stated that he was
unaware that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were being used there.?* In August
2003, CIA General Counscl Scon Muller relayed that he was under the impression that
DETENTION SITE COBALT was only a holding facility and that he had “no idea who is
responsible for [COBALT]."®? Senior Deputy General Counse] John Rizzo informed the OIG
that he knew little about DETENTION SITE COBALT and that his focus was on DETENTION
SITE GREEN and DETENTION SITE BLUE.* CTC Chief of Operations [}

stted that he had much less knowledge of operations at DETENTION SITE
COBALT, and that the CIA’s GREEN and BLUE detention sites were much more important to
him.?*® Finally, Chief of CTC Jose Rodriguez stated that he did not focus on DETENTION
SITE COBALT becausc he had “other higher priorities.”#

5. The CIA Begins Training New Interragators; Interrogation Techniques Not Reviewed by
the Department of Justice Included in the Training Syllabus

0 See Office of Inspector Generul Special Review of Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities

{September 2001 -October 2003), May 7, 2004, p. 52. Accarding to an OIG interview with an analyst who

conducted interrogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT, “indicative of (he lack of intecrogators was the fact that
[CIA OFFICER 1]} enlisted 3 {REDACTED] case officer friend... to conduct intemrogatians at

[DETENTION SITE COBALT] after he completed his [REDACTED] business in *

{See Interview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Inlerrogations for Counterterrorism Puarposes, May

8,2003.) Inspector General records of sn interview with & senior CTA debriefer indicate that the debriefer, “heard

prior to taking the [interrogator] tralning that people at [COBALT] hod debriefed detainees on their own, sometimes

going out to the site at night.” (See Interview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interrogations for Caunterterrorism

Purposes, [N, Arcit 5, 2003.) As described elsewhere, DCT Tenet issued formal intezrogation guidefines

for the program an Janwacy 28, 2003. (See Guidelines on Interrogations Condocted Pursuant to the Presidential

Memorandum of Notification of 17 September 2001, sigaed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence,

Januacy 28, 2003,)

B! [nterview of George Tenet, by [REDACTED], [REDACTED), Office of the Inspecior General, memorandum

dated, September 8, 2003,

1 [nterview of [N, OfTice of the Inspeciar General, Seplember 9, 2003.

43 Interview of Scoft Muller, by [REDACTED], (REDACTED), and {REDACTED)], Office of the Inspecior

General, Avgusl 20, 2003,

4 Interview of John Rizzo, by [REDACTED], [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspecror Qeneral,

August 14, 2003,

5 Interview of [ . Office of the Inspector General, February 11. 2003.

26 Interview of Jose Rodriguez, by [REDACTED)] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, August 12,

2003.
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s/ ~%) The CIA's CTC Renditions Group began preparing for the first
CIA interrogator training course in August 2002—during the period in which Abu Zubaydah was

being interrogated using the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques at DETENTION SITE
GREEN, H the CIA’s chief of interrogations,* and_ the CIA
officer with OTS who had spent JJ] years as a SERE Instructor with JPRA, led the interrogation
raining. The flrst interrogation training, conducted with the assistance of JPRA personnel,
occurred from November 12, 2002, to November 18, 2002.2%* The class included eight students
who were secking to become CIA interragators and three students seeking o support the CIA
interrogation-process.”®® The CIA training program involved 65 hours of instruction and training
on the CIA's enhanced interrogation technigues, including at least two interrogation techniques
whase legality had not been evaluated by the Department of Justice: the “abdominal slap” and
the “finger press.” Although a number of personntel at CIA Headquatters reviewed the waining
materials, there are no CLA records of any CTA officer raising objections to the techniques being
inciuded in the sytlabus.*®

6. Desplre Recommendanion from CIA Anorneys, the CIA Fails to Adequately Screen
Potential Interrogators in 2002 and 2003

. On November Jll, 2002, after the completion of the firgt formal
rrainini class, CTC Legal, , asked CTC artorney

to “[m]oke it known that from now on, CTC/LGL must vet all p:rsmonncl who are
201

enrolled in, observing or leaching — or otherwise associated with — the class,
added:

“Moreover, we will be forced to DISapprove [sic] the participation of specific
personnel in the use of enhanced techniques unless we have ourselves vetted

%7 December 4, 2002, Training Repan, High Value Target Interrogation 2nd Exploitation (HYTIE) Trgining
Seminor 12-18 Nov 02 (pilot running) at 4. See also email &um:H; to: [REDACTED)|,
(REDACTED), &. subjext: Fonnation of & High Yalue Tasget Interrogation reain (descriding initial
fraining plan amd requicements); date: Augast 30, 2002, at 8:30 AM.

™ Docember 4, 2002, Trining Regon, High Yalue Targer Enterrogstion and Exploitasion (HVTIE) Training
Sentinsr 12-18 Nov 02 (pilol ruaning).

2 December 4, 2002, Training Repor, High Yolue Target Interrogation and Exploitation (HVTTE) Treining
Seminar 12-18 Nov 02 (pilod running), at 15.
® See, for example, emai) from: lo:- {REDACTED)|; subject: HVT meining:
decc: October 10, 2002; eineil from: (REDACTED]; to; ) ce: ﬂd
[REDACTED), (REDACTED), {REDACTED]; mbject: HVT iraining: date: October 10, 2002; November 1, 2002,
Memomanduin for: Director, OCI Countertermadist Center, &um_ Chief, Renditions Qroup,
CTC, re: Request for uae of Military Trzinen in Support of Agency Interrogation Course, REFERENCE: Memo for
DACTC from C/RG/CTC, did 26 Aug 02, Same Subject.

Bt Bmail from: L; to: [REDACTEDY; oc: Jose Rodriguez, [(REDACTED],
[REDACTED), subject: EYES OMLY; date: Noveinber ., 2002, at 03:12:01 PM. Az
described above, Gul Rahman likely froze to death at DETENTION SITE COBALT soinetime in the morning of
November [l 2002. 's email, however, appeacs to have been drafied before the guards had
found Gul Rahman’s body and before that death was reported to CIA Headquarters. See [REDACTED] 3021
deseribing the guards observing Gul Rahunao alive in the moming of November i, 2002. Gul
Rahman's death appeaced in cable raffic al least after [ 5 cmail. No records could be identified
to provide the impetus for [N cmai.
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them and are satisfied with their qualifications and suitability for what are
clearly unusual measures thar are lawful only when practiced correctly by
personne] whose records clearly demonstrate their suitability for that role, The
velting process will not be that dissimilar from the checks that are provided by
the OIG, 08, etc. in certain cases before individuals are promoted or receive
awards, and the selection and training of aggressive interrogators certajnly
warran(s a similar vetting process,”?¥?

@SSR ~F) The chief of CTC, Jose Rodriguez, objected to this approach,

stating:

“T do not think that CTC/LGL should or would want to get inw the business of
vetting parucipants, obscrvers, instructors or others that arc involved in this
program. It is simply not your job. Your job is to teli all what are the
accepiable legal standards for conducting inicrrogations per the authorities
obtained (rom Justice and agreed upon by the White House."'™

/R ) Contrary 10 smtements later made by CIA Director Michael
Hayden and other CIA oflicials that “[a]ll those involved in the questioning of detainees are
carcfully chosen and screened for demonsimated ssional judgment and maturity,”*™ ClA
records suggest that the verting sought by ﬁ did not tzke place, The Committes
revicwed CIA recards related to scveral CIA officers and contractors involved in the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program, most of whom conducted interrogations. The Committee
identified & number of personnel whose backgrounds include notable derogatory information
calling into question their eligibility for employment, their access to classified information, and
their participation in CJA interrogation activities. Jn nearly all cases, the derogatory information
was known to the CIA prior to the assignment of the CIA officers to the Detention and
Interrogation Progrum. This group of officers included individuals who, among other issucs, had
engaged in inappropriate detainee interrogations, had workplace anger management issues, and
had reporiedly admitted to sexual assaule.

7. Bureau of Prisons “WOW'ed" by Level of Deprivation at ClIA's COBALT Detention Site

S/ /%) 1 December 2002, the CIA’s Renditions Group sent a team of

recently trained interrogators to DETENTION SITE COBALT o eagage in interrogations. The
intecrogation plans proposed by Lhat team for st least three detainees at DETENTION SITE

LOL; 1o: [REDACTED); cc: Jose Rodriguez, [REDACTED],

¥ Email from:
sect: EYES ONLY; date: November [JJ], 2002, a1 03:13:01 PM.

[REDACTED].

® Email From: Jose Rodriguez; . ECTC/LOL; cc: [REDACTED), [REDACTED],
[REDACTED)], (REDACTED), : subject; EYES ONLY; date: November [l 2002, at 04:27
PM.

™ Transcript of hearing, April 12, 2007 (DTS #2007-1563).

3 The information is described at length in the Corunittes Study o

Volome LI
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COBALT included the use of interrupted sleep, loud music, and reduction in food quality and
quantity. Less than a month after the death of Gul Rahman from suspected hypothermia, the

plans slso called for detainees’ clothes to be removed in 4 facility that was described to be 45
degrees Fahrenheit. CIA Headguarters approved the proposals for these detainees, whom the
CIA described as “Medium Value."™

(M Prior to this, in November 2002, a delegation of several officers

from the Federal Bureau of Prisons conducted an assessmment of DETENTION SITE COBALT.
Following the November ., 2002, through November [, 2002, visit,?” CIA officers in Country
[l remarked that the Federal Bureau of Prisons assessments, along with recomumendations and
training, had “tnade a noticeable improvement on how the day to day operations at the facility

are performed,” and made the detention site 2 “more secure and safer working environment for
officers.™™

@S/ ) On December 4, 2002, offieers at CIA Headquarters met with

individuals from the Federal Bureau of Prisons to learn more about their inspection of
DETENTION SITE COBALT and their training of [ security staff.®® During that
meeting, the-Federal Bureau of Prisens persennel described DETENTION SITE COBALTand
stated that there was “absolutely no talking inside the facility,” that the guards do not interact
with the prisoners, and that “{e]verything is done in silence and [in] the dark."*@ According to &
CIA officer, the Federal Bureau of Prisons staff also commented that “they were *“WOW’ed’” at
fiest by the facility, because:

“They have never been in a facility where individuals are so sensory deprived,
i.e., constant white naise, no miking, everyone in the dark, with the guards
wearing a light on their head when they collected and escorted a detainee to an
intcrrogation cell, detainees constantly being shackled to the wall or floor, and
the starkness of each ccll (concrete and bars). There is nothing like this in the
Federal Burcau of Prisons. They then explained that they understood the
mission and it wag their collective assessment that in spite of all this sensory
deprivation, the detainees were not being treated in humanely [sic]. They
explained that the facility was sanitary, there was medical care and the guard
force and our staff did not mistreat the detainee([s]."*"!

s/ =) By the cnd of December 2002, the CIA Renditions Group that had
visited DETENTION SITE COBALT had concluded that the detention facility’s initial “baseline
conditions™ involved so much deprivation that any further deprivation would have limited impact

™ I : ' I o' :cTor

7 C]A detaines Gul Rahman died at DETENTION SITE COBALT at the end of the Federal Bureau of Prisons visit
o the CTA detenlion gita.

¥ [REDACTED) 30589 (271626Z NOV (02)

9 Email from: [REDACTED): wo: [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED],

{REDACTED]; subject: Meeting with SO & Federl Bureau of Prisons; date; December 4, 2002.

3% Email from: [REDACTED); ro: [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED), R
[REDACTED]; subject: Meeting with SO & Federal Burean of Prisons; date: December 4, 2002.

! Email from: [REDACTED); to: [REDACTED); subject: Meeling with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons; date:
December §, 2002,
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on the interrogations. The team thus recommended that “experts and authariries other than the
individuals who crafted the process™ review the interrogation process and conditions, and thara
legal review be conducted.’ CIA Headquarters does not appear to have taken action on these
recommendations.

8. The CiA Places CIA Detainees in Couniry | Facilities Because They Did Not Meet the
MON Standard for Detention

) In the spring of 2003, the CIA continved t hold detainces at
facilities in Coun who were known not to meet the MON standard for detention. CIA
officer [CTA OFFICER 1] described the arrangemrent he had with Country [Jj

officers in an email, writing:

.. They also happen to have 3 or 4 rooms where they can lock vp people

discretely [sic). I give them a few hundred bucks & month and they use the
rooms for whoever 1 bring over - no questions asked. It is very useful for
hgusing guys that shouldn't be in [DETENTION SITE COBALT] for one
reason or another but stll need to be kept isolated and held in secret
detention.”¥*

( CIA cables indicate that CIA officers transfermed at least four
detainces to these Couniry ] facilities because they did not meet the standard for CIA deteation

under the MON ¥4

&S/ ) 1n 1otal, four CIA detention facilities were established in Country

B ClA records indicate that DETENTION SITE COBALT held a wotal of 64 detainees during
the pericd of its operation between September 2002 and 2004, while DETENTION SITE
GRAY held cight detainees between 2003 and 2003. The CIA later
established two other CIA facilities in Coun : DETENTION SITE ORANGE, which held
34 detainecs between 2004 and 20068; and DETENTION SITE BROWN, which
held 12 detainees between 2006 and 2008,

X? CIA document entifled Renditions Group Interrogation Team (ROIT), Baseline assessment for M VT,
Detninee/Priscner munagement, December 30, 2002. The CIA does not appear to have taken action on this
recormendation.

301 Email from;

ICIA OFFICER 1T to: [REDACTEDY); subject: Thanks and Query re: List of
DETAINEES,; date: March 14, 2003. -

3 The cables did not explain any egal basis for detaining individuals who did not meet the delention regnirements
of the September 17, 2001, MON. HEADQUARTERS ;
41204 ) ALEC [ )

03 2e¢ Volome I for additional information.
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9. DCI Tenrr Extablishey First Guidelines on Detention Conditiony and Interrugation;
Fartnal Consolidation of Program Administration ot CIA Headgnarters Does Not
Resoive Divagreements Ameng CIA Personnel

(_/NF) (n late January 2003, in response to the death of CLA detainee Gul
Rahmuan and the use of o gun and a drill in the ClA interrogations of ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri
(described Later e this summary), DCI Tenct signed the first formal interrogatian and
coafincment guidelines for the program.™ [n conirast to proposals from late 2001, when CIA
persunnel expected that uny deteation fueility would have ta meet U.S. prisen standards, the
confinement guidclines signed in Jannary 2003 set forth iwintmal staadards for a Jetention
fucility. The conlincncte guidetines requiced only that the Facibity he suflicicnt (o meet basic
ticulth necds, meantng that cven a facility like DETENTION SITE COBALT. in which detataces
weee kepl shackied o compleie dackness and isolation, with a backee for human wasie, il
withiut notable heat during the winter mianths, met the stapdard. ™

FF_W-F) The guidetines atso regnired quarterly assessments of the

conditivns at the deteniion facilities. The first quarterly veview of deienrtion facilities covered the
periad from January 2003 tn April 2003, and cxamined conditions at DETENTION SITE
COBALT, us wel) us ar DETENTION SITE BLUE in a different country. Couniry . "W Al thar
time, DETENTION SITE BLUE, which was initially designed for two detainecs, was housing
five dewninces, Nonetheless. the site review team found that condisons st DETENTION SITE
BLUE —including the three purpose-built *holding wnirs™—met “the minimum xtandards set by
the CLA™ in the January 2003 guidance. Detainces received bi-weekly medicul evaluations.
brushed their weth once o day, washed their hands prior to each meal, and could bathe unce a
week. Amenities such as solid food. clothing (sweatshirts, sweatpants, and slippers), reading
materials, prayer migs, and Komns were available depending on the detgineo's dégrec of
cumperation with interrogators,™?

S/ A=) The st quarter 2003 review also found that conditions ut
DETENTION SITE CORBALT sauslicd the Junuary 2003 guidance, citing “significant
inipravements” such is space heaters and weekly medical evaluutions. The review nuied that a
new Tacility was uader coasteaction in Country [l © repiuce DETENTION SUTE COBALT. and
that this new detention facility, DETENTION SITE ORANGE, “will be u quantuwn leap
Forward” because Uit} will incorporate fiexting/aic conditioning, coitventionel pltunhiag,
appropriute lighting, shower. and ksundry facilitics. “H% PETENTION SITE ORANGE upeacd
2004, Although sonw of the cells ar DET EN'I'ION SITE ORANGE included plumbing,

“* Guidelines o taterropations Conducied Parstunt o e Presidential Memumandum of Nodlication o (7
Sepleinher 2004, sipned hy George Teuel, Direcior of Ceatral Tmelligence, January 28, 2003,

“7 Guidelines v Intermigations Conducied Pursuant tu the Presidentiol Memorandum of Notificabon of 17
September 2001, signed by Geurye Tener, Director of Cenwrud Intelligence, Januury 28, 2003

P 1A docunment tided, Quarerly Review of Confinement Conditions for CTA Detainees. 1/28/03- 4/70/03. Muy
22, 2003.

S C1A dimetient titled, Quarterly Review of Confinenent Conditions for ClA Delainees, |/28K0% - 430/03, May
22, 2003.

"9 CIA document titled, Quartarly Review of Conhru:menl Conditions for CIA Detawees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/3. May
22.2003.

.
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deminees undergoing interrogation were kept in smatler cells, with waste buckets rather than
toilet faciliges.)!

(-’PSI—QNF) The DCI's January 2003 interrogation guidelines listed 12

“enhanced techniques” that could be used with prior approval of the director of CTC, including
two—use of diapers for “prolonged periods” and the abdominal slap—that had not been
evaluated by the OLC. The *enhanced techniques™ were orly to be employed by “approved
interrogatars for use with fa] specific detainee,” The guidelines also identified “standard
techniques”—including sleep deprivation up to 72 hours, reduced calaric intake, use of loud
music, isolation, and the use of diapers *‘gencrally not to exceed 72 hours”—that required
advance approvs! “whenever feasible,” and directed that their use be documented. The “'standard
iechrigues™ were described as “techniques that do not incorparate physical or substantial
psychological pressure.” The guidelines provided no description or further Umitations on the use
of either the enhanced ot standard intarrogation techniques.*

@S/ %) Altough the DCI interogation guidelines were prepared as a
reaction to the death of Gul Rahman and the use of vnautharized interrogation techniques on
‘Abd al-Rahim ul-Nashici, they did not reference all interrogation practices that had been
employed at CLA detention sites. The guidelines, for exampie, did not address whether
interragation techniques such as the “rough take down,”*'” the use of cold water showers,?! and
prolonged light deprivation were prohibited. In addition, by requiring advance approval of
“srandard techniques” “whenever feasible,” the guidelines allowed CIA officers a significant
amount of discretion to determine who could be subjected to the CIA’s “standard” interrogation
techniques, when those techniques could be applicd, and when it was not “feasible" to request
advance approval from CIA Headquarters. Thus, consistent with the intermogadion guidelines,
throughout much of 2003, CTA officers (including personncl not trained in Interrogation) could,
at their discretion, strip a detainee naked, shackle him in the standing position for up to 72 hours,
and douse the demince repeatedly with cold water*~—without approval from ClA Headquarters
if those officers judged C1A Headquarters approval was not “feasible.” Jn practice, CIA
personne! routinely applied these typcs of interrogation techniques withoul obtaining prior

HPPI'DVN ‘) 16

n 3741

2 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursisant to the Presidential Mamomaduwn of Notification of 17

September 2001, signed by George Tenes, Director of Central Intelligence, January 28, 2000.

23 For 3 deseription of the “rough takedown,” see Memorandum for Deguty Direcior of Operations, from [
Jonuary 28, 2003, Subject: Demh tnvestigntion — Gul RAHMAN, pp. 21.22.

314 One cald water shower wes descrided by a CIA lingeist: “Rahman was placed back uader the cold water by the

guards at (CtA OFFICER 1]}'s direction. Rahman was so cotd that he could barely orer his aliar,

According to [the on-site finguist], the entire process lasted no more than 20 minutes. [t was inteaded to lower

Rahman's resistance and was nof for hygienic reasons. At the conclusion of the shower, Rahman was moved to ane

of the four sleep deprivation cells where he was left shivering far hours or ovemight with his hand chatnad over his

bead” See CIA Inspector Generul, Report of Jnvestigation, Death of 3 Detainee h (2003-7402-1Q),

April 27, 2005.

313 Water donging was not designated by the CIA as a “stendard™ interrogation technique unul June 2003. In

Januery 2004 water dowsing was recalegonized by the ClA as an “enhanced” imergation techniyue.

316 See Valume 111 for additional information.
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s/ 2 5) The DCI interrogation guidelines also included the first

requirements related to recordkeeping, instructing that, for *‘sach interrogation session in which
an enhanced technique is employed,” the field prepare a *substantially coniemparancous
record... setting forth the nature and duration of each such technique employed, the identlties of
those present, and a citation to the requircd Headquarters approval cable.”'? In practice, these
guidelines were not followed.>'®

(I?Sl_llﬂlf) There were also administrative changes to the program. As noted,
on December 3, 2002, CTC's Renditions Group formally assumed responsibility for the
management and giaintenance of all ClA detention and interrogation Ecilities.”'? Prior to that
time, the {nterrogation program was “joined at the hip” with CTC's ALEC Station, according to
Legol, although another CTC attoruey who was directly involved in the
program informed the CIA OIG that she *“was never sure what group in CTC was responsible for
inlesrogation activities." ™ Even after the formal designation of the CIA's Renditions Group, ™
tensions continued, particularly between CTC personnel who supporied SWIGERT and
DUNBAR’s continued role, and the Renditions Group, which designared [ N = t<

1 pRECTOR [ (3021262 1AN 03); DIRECTOR [ (211702Z JAN 03). Despite the formal record
keeping requirement, the CIA"s Sune 2013 Response argues that detailed reporting on the use of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation lechniquas at CIA detmtion sites was not necessary, stating: “First, the decline in reporling over time
an the use of enhanced techniques, which the Study characterizes as poor or deceptive record keeping, actually
reflects the maturation of the program. In early 2003, a process was put in place whereby interrogators requested
permission in advance for interrogation pluns. The use of these plans for each detainee obviuted the need for
reporting in extensive detail on the use of specific techniques, unless there were deviations from the approved plan.”
As detailed in the Study, the procesa pat In place by the CIA in early 2003 explicitly raquirad record keeping,
including “the natore and duratian of sach such technigue employed, the identities of thase present, and a citatioh to
the required Headquariers approval cable.” That requireinent was neves revised,

" Subsequent to the January 2003 gaidance, many cables repornting the use of the CIA’s enhenced interogation
techniques listed the techniques vaed on a particular day, but did not describe the frequency with which thoss
techniques were employed, nor did ihey integrate Lhe specific techniques inte narretives of the intemrogations. As the
Cl1A interrogation prograin continued, descriptions of the use of the CIA’s enhanced intecrogatian techniques were
recorded jn increasingly summarized form, providing listle information on how or when the echniques were ipplied
daring an interrogarion. There are also few CIA recards detailing the rendition process for derainess and their
tansportation 10 or belween detenlion sites. CIA records do include detainee conunents on their rendidion
cxpevienngs and photgraphs of detainees in the process of being trunsported.  Based on a ceview of the
photographs, dewminees wanaporied by the CIA by sircrafi were typically hooded with theit hands san fect shackiest.
The aetaimess wore large hemdsets (o eliminate Iheir obality o hear, and these headsers were typically affizedio a
demminee’s head with duct lape that ran the cimumiference of the detaines’s head. CIA dewinces were placed in
digpers gnd nOt permilted 1o yse the (avalory on the aircraft. Depending oo the aircrafi, detsineay weve cither
strepped (nio sests during the flights, or kaid down and sirapped to the floor of the phane horizonnily like cargo. See
CIA phatographs of renditions among CIA materints provided to the Coramities pursuant 0 the Comminee's
documem requests, aa well as CIA detzinee reviews in Volume I for zdditional information on the transport of CTA
detainess.

39 DIRECTOR 0323362 DEC 03)
29 Interview of by [REDACTED], [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the lnspector
General, August 20,2003, Interview of . by [REDACTED] and {REDACTED], Office of the

Inspector General, February 14, 2003, CTC Chief of Operations told the Inspectar General that the [ was
handled by the Abu Zubaydsh Task Force See February 11, 2003, interview repart afﬂ Office
of the laspector General.

Tl As nated, the CLA's Rendition Group is variably known as the “Renditions Oroup," the “Renditlons and

Detainees Group,” the “Renditions, Detunlions[ and lntermitims Gmui" and by the injtials, “RDI" and “"RDG."
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CIA’s chief interrogator.>® As late as June 2003, SWIGERT and DUNBAR, operating outside
of the direct management of the Renditions Group, were deployed to DETENTION SITE BLUE
to both interrogate and conduct psychological reviews of detainces.™ The dispute extended to
interrogation practices. The Renditions Group's teadership considered the waterboard, which
Chief of Interrogations was not certified to use, as “life threatening,” and
complained ta the OIG that some CIA officers in the Directorate of Operations believed that, as a
result, the Renditions Group was *“running a ‘sissified” interrogation program.”** At the same
time, CIA CTC personnel criticized the Renditions Group and for their use of painful
stress positions, as well as for the conditions at DETENTION SITE COBALT.*®

( There were also concerns about possible conflicts of interest
related to the contractors, SWIGERT and DUNBAR. On January 30, 2003, a cable from CIA
Headquarters stated that “'the individual at the interrogation site who administers the techniques
is not the same person who issues the psychological assessment of record,” and that only a staff
psychologist, not a contractor, could issue an assessment of record.™?® In June 2003, however,
SWIGERT and DUNBAR were deployed to DETENTION SITE BLUE to interrogate KSM, as
well as to assess KSM's *psychological stability” and “resistance posture.™ As described later
in this summary, the contractors had earlier subjected KSM to the waterboard and other C1A
enhanced interrogatiop techniques. The decision to send the contract psychologists to
DETENTION SITE BLUE prompted an OMS psychologist to write to OMS leadership that

322 Interview of [ BB by (REDACTED]) 2nd [REDACTED), Office of the Inspecior Genersl, April
3,2003. February 21,2003, imerview report, ﬁ, Office of the [nspector General. Hammond
DUNBAR told the Office of Inspector General that there was “intrigae” between the RDG ond him end SWIGERT,
and “there were emails coming to [DETENTION SITE BLUE] that geestioned (his] and (SWIGERT]'s
qualifications.” See [nterview of Hommond DUNBAR, by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED)], Office of the

Inspector General, February ¢, 2003.

¥ Email fron: : to:  cc: I
| ] : : subject: Re: DG Tasking for IC Psychologists
[DUNBAR] and (SWIGERT]; date: Yune 20, 2003, at 5:23:29 PM. MS eapressed concern that “no

professional in the field wonld credit [SWIGERT and DUNBAR's] later judgmeats as psychologists assessing the
subjects of their enhanced measures.” (See¢ email froin: : o e
A R  subject Re:

Tasking for IC Psydmlégisﬁs' DUNBAR azid.SWlGERT; date: June 20, 2003, at 2:19:53 PM.) The CIA's June 2013
Response states that CIA “Headquarters established CTC's Renditions and Detentions Group CTC/RDG aa the
cesponsible entity far all CTA detention gnd intexrogaiion sites in December 2002, removing any latent institutional

confusion.”

¥4 Interyiew of ACTED) and [REDACTED), Office of the Inspectar General,
February 21, 2003. The chief of interrogations, ﬂ. told the Inspector General that the walerboars wes
overused with Abu Zubaydah and KSM and was ineffective in the inlarrogations of KEM, (See Interview of JIJIl}
. by [REDACTED) and [REDACTED] of the Office of the Inspectoc General, March 27, 2003.) One doctor
involved in CIA imeryogations using the waterboard Intenrogation technique siared that [l “hes a hoge bias
against the waterboard b/c he's not approved to use it. The reverse is true of the confract psy gays [SWIGERT and
DUNBAR] wha have 2 vested interest in favor of it.” See email from: to:

cc: [REDACTED); subject: re: More; date: April 11, 2003, nt 08:11:07 AM.
725 March 10, 2003, interview report of , Office of the Inspector General. Interview of [

, by [REDACTED] and [REDACTEDY}, Office of the Inspector General, February 27, 2003. Interview
of by [REDACTED} and [REDACTED), Office of the Inspector General, April 3, 2003. March
24, 2003, interview report ofi Office of the Inspector General

3% DIRECTOR (301835Z JAN 03)

3 I 12168 (3018222 JUN 03)

, by [REL
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“[a]ny data collected by them from detainees with whom they previously interacted as
ingrrogamrs will always be suspect.”** [ OMS then informed the mansgement of
the Renditions Group that “no professional in the field would credit [SWIGERT and
DUNBAR's] later judgments as psychologists assessing the subjects of their enhanced
measures.”™® At the end of their deployment, in June 2003, SWIGERT and DUNBAR provided
their assessment of KSM and recommended that he should be evaluated on a monthly basis by
“‘an expericnced interrogator known o him” who would assess how forthcoming he is and
“remind him that there are differing consequences for ¢ ting or not cooperating.”**® In his
response to the draft Inspector General Special Review, MS noted that “OMS
concems obout conflict of interest. .. were nowhere more graphic than in the sefting in which the
same individuals applied an EIT which only they were approved to employ, judged both its
effectiveness and detainee resilience, and implicitly proposed continued use of the technique - a1
a daily compensation roparied to be $1800/day, or four times that of interrogators who could not
use the tochnique. '

D. The Detention and {nterrogation of ‘ Abd al-Rabim al-Nashiri

1. CIA Interrogators Disagree with CIA Headquarters About Al-Nashiri's Leval of
Cooperation; Interrogators Oppose Continued Use of the CIA’s Enhanced [nterrogation
Technigues

&S/~ ‘Abd sl-Rahim al-Nashiri, ™ assessed by the CIA to be an al-
Qa’ida “terrorist operations planner” who was “intimately involved” in planning both the L/SS
Cole bormbing and the 1998 East Africa U.S. Embassy bombings, was captured in the United
Arab Emirates in mid-Octobér 2002.*> He provided information while In the custody of a
fareign government, including on plotting in the Persian Gulf,** and was then rendered by the

¥ The emzil, which exprassed cancem that SWIGERT and DUNBAR would interfere with on-site psychologists,
stated that, “(a]ithough these guys believe that their way is the only way, there should be an effort to define roles and

responsibilities before their arrogance and narcissism evalve into unproductive eonflict in the field"” See email
trom: (SRS, -: SRRENS SRR, -..>:: MR DG Tuskiag for IC

Psychologists DUNBAR and SWIGERT; date: June 15, 2003, at 4:54:32 PM.
”Emlil from: 00 ) CC: »
Tasking for IC Psychologists DUNBAR and

SWIGERT: date: June 20, 2003, 2t 2:19:53 PM.

wo S 1 2168 (3013222 JUN (3). The CIA’s June 2017 Response siates: “In practice, by Aprit 2003, [CLA]
staff psychologists hag taken over alatost ail of the provisions of suppon to the RDI program. As it concomed
{SWIGERT] and {DUNBAR), however, the appescance of impropriety continned, albeit to 3 lesser degree, broanse
they were occationolly asked to provide inpat (o assessments on dedainees whom they had aod interTogeted™
(emphasis added). The CLA"s Juste 2013 Response is Insccurate. For example, in June 2003, SWIGERT and
DUNBAR provided 2n assesgment op KSM, a detainee whom they had intenrogated.

' Memoraadum for Im?r QGenexal, Attention: Assistant 1G for Investigstions, [REDACTED), from

[REDACTED}, M.D,, | re Draft Special Review-Counterterrorism Detention end

Interrogation Program (2003-7123-1Q), at 13
12 Eqr more information on al-Nashitl, see detainee review of 'Abd al-Rehim al-Nashirt in Volyme TIL

13 ALEC N
™ See

For disscminated incelligence, see
-- ﬁmi fram al-Nashiri while he wus in foreign government custody, see
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CIA to DETENTION SITE COBALT in Country [ on November [ 2002, where he was held
for Jl days before being transferred to DETENTION SITE GREEN on November [} 2002,
At DETENTION SITE GREEN, al-Nashiri was interrogated using the CIA's enhanced
interrogation technigues, including being subjected to the waterboard at least three times.
Drecember 2002, when DETENTION SITE GREEN was closed, al-Nashiri and Abu Zubaydah
were rendered to DETENTION SITE BLUEYY

s/ %) 1n toml, al-Nashiri was subjected to the CEA’s enhanced

interrogation techniques during at least four separate periods, with each period typically ending
with an assessment from on-sile interrogators that al-Nashiri was compliant and cooperative,3%
Officers at C1A Headguarters disagreed with these assessments, with the deputy chief of ALEC '
Siation, ﬂ commenting that DETENTION SITE BLUE interragators should

not make “sweeping statements” in cable traffic regarding al-Nashiri's compliance.’™ Officers
at CIA Headquarters sought m reinstate the use of the C1A’s enhanced interrogation techniques
based onm their belief that al-Nashiri had not yet provided actionable intelligence on imminent
artacks,

s/ %) shortly after al-Nashiri arrived at DETENTION SITE BLUE, ClA
interrogators at the derention site judged al-Nashiri's cooperation and compliance by his
engagement and willingness ro apswer questions, while CIA Headguarters personnel judged his
compliance based on the specific actionable intelligeace he had provided (or the lack thereof).
For example, in December 2002, intctrogators informed CIA Headquarters thar al-Nashiri was
*cooperative and truthful,” and that the *consensus™ at the detention site was that al-Nashir was

336 In

3¢ A)-Nashiri’s time at DETENTION SITE COBALT is not well docomenizd in CTA records. As described
elsewhere, standard operating procedure at COBALT at the fime included total light deprivation, lond continuous
music, isolation, and distary manipulation. Based on ClA records, the other four "enhanced interrogation™ periods
of al-Nashiri took place at DETENTION SITE BLUE on December 5-8, 2002; December 27, 2002 — Jasuary 1,

2003; January 9-10, 2003; and January 15-27, 2003. Sze 10030 (111541Z DEC 02): [N 10079

(2117332 DEC 02); 10140 (031 727Z JAN 03} ALEC (1917292 JAN 03}.

% Email from: ; o {REDACTEDY; cc: I
[REDACTED), [REDACTEDY; subject; [DETENTION SITE BLUE] follow-up; date: December 15,

2002,

30 g0q, far example, ALEC ©723152 DEC 02); ALEC Il (1 303522 DEC 02); ALEC [

(1802472 DEC 02); ALEC (1917292 JAN 03); Q1A Office of Inspestar General, Report of Investigation:

Unauthorized ¥ntervogation Techniques at [DETENTION SITE BLUE], (2003-7123-10], Occber 29, 2000, See
also CIA Qffice of Inspector Gencral report, Counwernemoriem Detention And [nterrogation Actvities (September
2001 - October 20033 (2003-7123-1G), released on kay 7, 2004

Page 67 of 499
~ONCERISIHER—

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class,App. 34
=0 T =t ) g v

: .

“a compliant detainee™ who was not “withholding important threat information.”*! OQfficers
from the CIA's ALEC Station at CIA Headquarters responded:

“it is inconceivable to us that al-Nashiri cannot provide us concrete leads.. ..
When we are able to capture other terrorists based on his leads and to thwart
future plots based on his reporting, we will have much more confidence that he
is, indeed, genuinely cooperative on some level"**2

S/ 2F) Later, siter multiple follow-up debriefings, DETENTION SITE
BLUE officers again wrote that they had “reluctantly concluded” that al-Nashiri was providing
“logical and mtional explanations” to questions provided by CIA Headquarters and thercfore
they recommended “against resuming enhanced measures” unless ALEC Station had evidence
al-Nashiri was lying.**> A cable from the detention site stated:

“without tangible proof of lying or intentional withholding, however, we
believe employing enhanced rreasures will accomplish nothing except show
[al-Nashiri] that he will be punished whether he cooperates or nat, thus eroding
any remaining dcsire to continue cooperating, .., [The] bottom line is that we
think [al-Nashiri] is being cooperative, and if subjected to indiscriminate and
prolonged enhanced measures, there js a good chance he will either fold up and
cease cooperation, or suffer the sort of permanent mental harm prohibited by
the swuatute, Therefore, a decision to resume enhanced measures must be
grounded in fact and not general feclings."*

2. CIA Headquarters Sends Untrained Interrogator to Reswme Al-Nashiri’s Interrogations;
interrogator Threatens al-Nashiri with a Gun and a Drill

s/ ~%) Adter the DETENTION STTE BLUE chief of Base sent two
interrogators back to the United States because of “prolonged absences from family” and the

“fact that enhanced measures are no Jonger required for al-Nashiri,” CIA Headquarters sent
[CIA OFFICER 2], a CIA officer who had not been trained or qualificd
as an interrogator, to DETENTION SITE BLUE to question and assess al-Nashiri.

10030 (1115412 DEC 02)
(180247Z DEC 02)

H3 10085 (2309062 DEC 02)
10083 (230906Z DEC 02)

3 10040 (1221222 DEC 02). Prior to [ [CIA OFFICER 2's] deployment, CIA records
inﬁuded numerous conctrns about [CIA OFFICER 2°s) anger manngcm:n(.)m_ and

For more information on [CIA OFFICER 2] and other CIA personnel in the
program with similar alacming issues in their bacl und, see Volume [{I. The CIA's June 2013 Response states

officers mentioned in the Stod; hould have been
excluded—miich of the atory information was not in fact available to senior managers making assignments 0
ﬂ Notwithstanding the CIA’s June 2013 osgettion, as detailed in Volume 0L, senior
mapagérs were aware of concems related to [CLA OFFICER 2] prior to his deployment.
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s/~ 1n late December 2002, following a mecting at CIA Headquarters

to discuss resuming the nse of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against al-Nashiri,
d the chief of RDG™4—the entity that managed the CIA’s Degention and
Interrogation Program—objected to sending [CIA OFFICER 2] to the detention site
because he “had not been through the interrogation training”™ and because “had
heard from some colleagues that CIA OFFICER 2]] was too confident, had a
lemper, and had some security issues,” later learned from other CIA officials that
“[CTC chief of operations wanted (CIA OFFICER 2]] at
[DETENTION SITE BLUE] over the holidays.” told the Office of Inspector
General that “his assessment is that the Agency management felt that the [RDG] interrogators
were being too lenient with al-Nashiri and that [* [CIA OFFICER 2]] was sent to
{DETENTION SITE BLUE] to *fix' the sitation.™*

(m.qm) B (C1A OFFICER 2) arrived at DETENTION SITE
BLUE on December [ 2002, and the CIA resumed the use of its enhanced interrogation
techniques on al-Nashiri shortly thereafler, despite the fact that {CIA OFFICER 2]
had not been trained, certified, or approved to uze the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques,

(CIA OFFICER 2] wroie in a cable to CIA Headquarters that “[al}-Nashiri responds
well to harsh treatment” und suggested that the interrogators ¢ontinue to administer *various
degrees of mild punishment,” but still allow for *‘a small degree of ‘hope,' by introducing some
‘minute rewards.’ "%

w It was later leamned that during these interrogation sessions,

{CIA OFFICER 2], with the permission and participation of the DETENTION SITE
BLUE chief of Base, who also had not been mained and gualified as an interrogator, used a series
of unauthorized interrogation techniques against al-Nashiri, For example, ﬁ [CIA
OFFICER 2] placed al-Nashiri in a “standing stress position” with “his hands affixed over his
head” for approximately two and a half days.>** Later, during the course of al-Nashiri’s
debriefings, while he was blindfolded, [CIA OFFICER 2] placed a pistol near al-
Nashiri's head and operated a cordless drill near al-Nashiri's body.™* Al-Nashiri did not provide
any additional threat information during, or after, these interrogations,*s!

M4 A3 described, the “Renditions and Interrogations Group,” s also refemed to a3 the “Renditions Group,” the
“Rendition, Detention, and Inmerrogation Groop,” “RDY," and “RDG" in ClA records.
7 Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, [ ENENRGNGEG.

Febroary 23, 2003,

—““& 10140 (031727Z JAN 03

3 Sep email ﬁom:_; to* [ <.v;-c: EYES ONLY — (N onLY
- MEMORANDUM FOR ADDO/DDO; date; January 22, 2003. In an Apxril 12, 2007, Senate Select Commitive on
Intelligence heering, Senator Carl Levin asked the CIA Director if the CIA disputed allegations in an Intemnational
Committee of the Red Cross report that suggested CIA detainees were placed in “{plrolonged siress standing
pasition, neked, arm[s] chained abave the head...." The CIA Director respanded, “Not abave the head. Stress
positions are pert of the BITs, and nukedness were part of the EITs, Senator.” See Senate Select Comminee on
Fntelligence Hearing Transcript, dated April 12, 2007 (DTS #2007-3158).

10 See, for example, CIA Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation: Unzuthorized Interrogation
Techniques at [DETENTION SITE BLUE], (2003-7123-1G), October 29, 2003; email from: [DETENTION SITE
BLUE] coB . - subject: EYES ONLY - h] ONLY —
MEMO FOR ADDO/DDO,; date; January 22, 2003.

3t For additional details, see Volume I1L
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&S/ ~%) Based on a report from CTC, the CIA Office of Inspector General

conducted a review of these interrogation incidents, and issued a report of investigation in the
fall of 2003,** The Office of Inspector General later described additional allegations of
unautharized techniques used against al-Nashiri by [JJ ]l (CIA OFFICER 2] and other
interrogatars, including slapping al-Nashiri multipie times on the back of the head during
interrogations; implying that his mother would be brought before him and sexually abused;
blowing cigar smoke [n al-Nashini's face; giving al-Nashiri a forced bath using a stiff brush; and
using improvised stress positions that cavsed cuts and bruises resulting in the intervention of a
medical officer, who was concerned that al-Nashiri’s shoulders would be dislocated using the
stress positions.™? When intexviewed by the Office of Inspector General, the DETENTION
SITE BLUE chief of Base stated be did nat object to using the gun and deill in the interrogations
because he believed [l (CIA OFFICER 2] was sent from CIA Headquurters “to resolve
the maticr of al-Nashiri's cooperation” and that he believed [l (C1A OFFICER 2) had
permission (o use the interrogation techniques.®* The chief of Base added that his own on-site
approval was based on this and "the pressure he felt from Headquarters w obtain imminent threat
information from al-Nashiri on 9/11-style artacks.™> In April 2004, (CIA OFFICER
2} and the chicf of Base were disciplined.’*®

3. CIA Conrracror Recommends Continued Use of the CIA's Enkanced Interrogation
Techniques Against Al-Nashiri; Chief Inzerrogator Threatens 1o Quit Because Additional
Techniques Might “Push [Al-Nashiri] Over The Edge Psychologically,” Refers to the
CIA Program As a "Train Wreak [sic] Waiting to Happen"

32 CIA Offiee of Inspector Genernl, Report of Invesligation: Unauthorized Interrogation Tecliyues a(
{DETENTION SITE BLUE], (2003-7123-IG), October 29, 2003.

34 C1A Office of Ingpector Genersl, Special Review — Counterterrorism Delention and Interrogation Program,
(2003-7123-1G), May 2004,

134 C1A Office of Inspector Genenl, Report of Investigetion: Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques at
(DETENTION SITE B8LUBY, (2003-7123-1G), October 29, 2003.

15 CIA Office of Inspector General, Report of Tnvestigation: Unauthorized Intecrogation Techniques at
[DETENTION STTE BLUE|, (2003-7123-KG), October 29, 2003.

’“— [CIA OFFICER 2] seoeived n one-year Letter of Reprimand, wes suspended for five days without pay.
and was prohibited from promotions, within-grade step increases, quali increases, Of permanent nhry
inauus amag lha one-year periad. The decimion did not affect [CIA OFFiCE.R 2's] eligibilé

June 20, 2005, the CIA director of transnational issues, aware of [CtA QFFICER 2's) pmblermm:
backgto«nd :ppmved _[CIA OFFICER 2's] emplaymcnt ona Cla commcl because the t was

} The chicf of Base received a two-year Letter of
Reprimand and a ten-day suspension without and was prohibited from receiving any bonua awards from the
CIA during the period of reprimand. On ﬁ 2003, irior ta the iﬁilemzntqann of the ﬁibltianal this
individoa] retired from the CIA, See

Fopskcnny/ R O F RN
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( On January fJ], 2003, CIA contractor DUNBAR arrived at
DETENTION SITE BLUE to conduct a “Psychological Interrogation Assessment” to judge al-
Nashiri's suitability for the additiona! use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques and
develop recommendations for his interrogation. The resulting interrogstion plan proposed that
the interrogators would have the “latitude to use the full range of enhanced exploiration and
interrogation measures,” adding that *the use of the wawr board would require additional support
from™ feflow CIA conmactor Grayson SWIGERT. According to the intemrogation plan, once the
inrrogators had eliminated al-Nashiri’s “sense of eontrol and predictability” and established a
“desired level of helplcssness,” they would reduce the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques and transition to & debriefing phase once again*¥

(We: receiving the proposed interrogation plan for al-Nashiri on
January 21, 2003, , the CIA's chief of interrogations—whose presence had
previously prompted al-Nashiri to rembie in fear***—emailed CIA colleagues to notify them that
he had “informed the front office of CTC™ that he would “no longer be associated in any way
with the interrogation program due to serious reservation[s] [he had] about the current state of
affairs” and would instead be “retiring shortly.” In the same email, [l wrote, “Tt)hisis a
Lrain wreak [sic] waiting to happen and I intend to get the hell off the train before it happens.™*

drafted a cable for CIA Headquarters to send to DETENTION SITE BLUE raising a
number of cancerns that he, the chief of interrogations, believed should be “entered for the
record.” The CIA Headquarters cable—which does not appear to have been disseminated w
DETENTION SITE BLUE—included the following:

“we have serious reservations with the continued use of enhanced techniques
with [al-Nashiri) and its long term impact on him. [Al-Nashiri] has been held
for three months in very difficult conditions, both physically and mentally. It
is the assessment of the prior interrogators that [al-Nashiri] has becn mainly
truthful and is not withholding significant information, To continue to use
enhanced rechnique([s} without clear indications that he [is] withholding
important info is excessive and may cause him to cease cooperation on any
level. {Al-Nashiri] may come to the conclusion that whether he eooperates or
not, he will continually be subjected to enhanced techniques, therefore, what is
the incentive for continued cooperation. Also, both C/CTC/RG [Chief of CTC
RDG and HVT Int r d} who
departed [DETENTION SITE BLUE] in anuary, believe continued
enhanced methods may push [al-Nashiri] over the edge psychologically,

" I 10267

¥ Acconding ta a December |2, 2002, CIA cable, al-Nashiri “visibly and markedly trembles with fear every time be

sees 1" See 10038 {122119Z DEC {2).

17 Email from: ; to: ; cc: [REDACTED); subject: Re: dete: Janoary 22, 2003,
Despite this notification, did not immediately resign from the interrogation

¥ Email from: to: {REDACTED], )

[REDACTED), (REDACTEDY; subject: CONCERNS OVER REVISED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR
NASHIRE; date: January 22, 2003, — reforenced in the passage as a “HVYT [nterrogator,” was the chief

of interrogations.
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S/ F) The draft cable from [ 2150 reised “conflict of

responsibility” concems, stating:

“Another area of concern is the use of the psychologist as an interrogator. The
role of the ops psychologist is to be a detached observer and serve as a check
on the interrogator to prevent the interrogator from any unintentional excess of
pressure which might cause permanent psychological harm to the subject. The
medical officer is on hand 19 provide the same protection from physical actions
that might harm the subject. Therefore, the medical officer and the
psychologist should not serve as an interrogator, which is a conflict of
responsibility. We note that [the proposed plan] contains a psychological
interrogation assessment by“ psychologist [DUNBAR] which
is to be carried out by interrogator [DUNBAR]. We have a problem with him
conducting both roles simultaneously,™®!

J/NE) Rather than releasing the cable that was drafted by [l C1A
Headquarters approved a plan to reinstitute the use of the CLA's enhanced interrogation
techniques against al-Nashiri, baginning with shaving him, rcmoving his clothing, and placing
him in a standing sleep deprivation position with his arms affixed over his head.**? CIA cables
describing subsequent interrogations indicate that al-Nashirt was nude and, at times, “put in the
standing position, handcuffed and shackled.”*® According to cables, CIA interrogators decided
to provide al-Nashiri clothes to “hopefully smbilize his physiological symptoms and prevent
them from deteriorating,”** noting in a cable the next day that al-Nashiri was suffering from a
head cold which caused his body to shake for approximately ter minutes during nn
interrogation.’®*

E) Beginning in June 2003, the CIA cansferred al-Nashin o five
different CIA detention facilities before he was transferred to U.S. military custody on
September 5, 2006.>% In the interim, he was diagnosed by some CIA psychologists as having
“anxjety” and “major depressive™ disorder,’® while others found no symptoms of either
iliness.**® He was a difficult and uncooperative detainee and engaged in repeated belligerent .
acts, including attempts to assault CIA detention site personnel and efforts to damage items in his

*! Email from: : to: [, (REDACTED],

{REDACTED], [REDACTED]; subjeci: CONCERNS OVER REYISED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR
NASHIRI; date: January 22, 2003. As noted above, personnef from CIA’s Office of Medicat Services raised the
same concernd about medicat and psychotogical personne! serving both to assess the health of a detainee and to
participate in the interogation process. i

%2 pIRECTOR [ (2016592 1AN 03); DIRECTOR [ (230008Z JAN 03

¥ 10289 (2412032 JANM}._ 10296 (2511132 JAN Q3), * 10306 (261403Z JAN 03)
A 10309 (261403Z JAN 03)

35 10312 (2708542 JAN 03)
%6 HEADQUARTERS [JIJN (0319452 SEP 06); I 1242 (0507442 SEP 06); HEADQUARTERS [l

(0516132 SEP 06)
11247 (141321Z APR os);Tg (117002 pec o4); NI

%7 See, for example,
2169 (251133Z MAR 05%; 11701 (191640Z MAY 03);
1756 (190800Z SEP 03).

2709 (271517Z APR 06); [l 3910 (2418522 JAN a6y,
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cell > Qver a period of years, al-Nashiri accused the CIA staff of drugging or poisoning his
food, and complained of bodily pain and insomnia.*® At one point, al-Mashiri ladnched a short-

lived hunger strike that resulted in the CIA force feeding him rectally.?”

=/ 2 =) 1n Ociober 2004, 21 months after the final documented use of the

CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against al-Nashiri, an assessment by CIA contract
interrogator DUNBAR and mnother CIA imerrogator cancluded that al-Nashiri proyided
“essentially no actionable information,” and that “the probability that he has much more 10
contribute is low."*™ Qver the course of al-Nashiri’s detention and interrogation by the CIA, the
CIA disseminated 145 jnielligence reports based op his debriefings, Al-Nashiri provided
information on past operational plotting, associares whom he expected 1o participas in plots,
details on completed operations, and background on al-Qa’ida’s structure and methods of
operation > Al-Mashiri did not provide the information that the CIA's ALEC Station sought
and belicved al-Nushitk posscssed, specifically perishable threat information to help [CIA]
thwart furure attacks and capture additional operatives.?™

E. Tensions with Country I Relating to the CIA Detention Facility and the Arrival of New
Detainees

PJNF) According to CIA records, three weeks after [ NG
and political leadership of Country ] agreed 1o host a CIA detenuion facility, the CTA

informed the U.S. ambassador, because, as was noted in a cable, by not doing so, the CIA was

1142 (0413582 AUG 06): 1543
3051 (3012352 SEP 05); 102%
2673 (021451Z AUG 05);
1716 (1807427 SEP

o),
370 §ce, for example, 1356 (011644Z UL 04); ﬂo (1409172 Nov 04); I
1959 {1 11700Z DEC 04); 1962 (1210292 DEC 04); B 1959 {1 1Y700Z DEC 04);
izﬂsz (2115582 JAN D5); 1091 (0318352 NOV 03);*
1266 (0523097 JAN (4); 1630 (271440Z MAR (M4),
m 1203 (2317092 MAY 04); 1202 (231442 MAY' (M)
m 1843 (2713562 OCT 04). In the final years of al-Mashiri's detention, most of the intelligerce
requirements for al-Nashiri involved showing al-Nashiti photographs. In Jone 2005, the DETENTION SITE
BLACK chief of Hase suspended even these debriefings hecause it was “the very, very rare moment” that al-Nashiri
wauld recognize a pholograph, and because the debxiefings often were the “catalyst” for his ontborsts. See

2474 (2516222 JUN 05).
13 While still in the cotiody of a foreign government, prior to his rendition to CLA custody, al-Nashiri providsd
details on muttiple terrorist plofs in which he was involved prior to his detention, including the attacks against the
U5S Cole and the MY Limburg, plans to sink ol rankess in the Simit of Hommwz, plans to aitack warships docked ut

ports in Dubai and Jeddah, and his cas'mi of a Dubai amusement park. This information was disscminated in

intelli . [ 36595 36726 A
. For disseminated intelligence, see '
s TA
1_ . eparting from al-Nashiri while he was in the
igm 2 ' : 70866 [N

For digsenvinated

3% 8og. Tor example, 1029 (291 750Z JUN 06);
{11 1600Z AUG (4); 1716 {180742Z SEP 4},
(291750Z JUN 06); 2474 (251622 JUN 05);
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“rixking that hc hear of this initistive” fiom Country [] officials 7* As way the casc in other host
countries, the ambassador in Country [J] was told by the CIA ol to speak with any other Stare

Department official about the arrangement.*

(S } Prior to the opening of the CIA detendan Facility in Country | I}
C1TC Legal, . wamned of possible legal ucdons aguinst ClA :

emplaycecs in conntries thal “tuke a diffcrent view of the detentivn and intecrogation practices
ciployed by [the CIAL™" He further recommended against the establishment of CIA facilitics
in countrics rhat 374

s advice was not hecded and, in Deceinber 2002, the two individuals then being
detained by the CTA in Country BAbu Zubayah and *Abud al-Rahin a3-Nashiri) were
trapsderred o Country 157

s/ - The agteement o host a CIA detention facility in Countr
created multiple, ongoing difficultics between Country [and the €1A. Counay [

prapased a written “Mcemarandum af Undecstanding” covering the relative roles and
responsibiliries of the CIA and || JNEEJJEE. «hich the CIA uliimately refusell to sign.
Foui months after the detcoban site began hosting C1A detainees, Country [ rejected the transtor
of NG i included Khalid Shaykh Muhammad, The decision was
reversed only after the U.S. smbassudor intervencd with the pulitical leadership of Country l on
the C1A"s behalf ¥ The Following month, the ClLA provided Sl nillion to Country s

2 aficr which _ ufficials, speaking for ond the

Country I political leadership, indicated that Counary [l] was now flexible with regard to the
nuniber of CIA detainees ut the Facility and when the facility would eventuaily be closed.™ The
tacility, which was described by the CIA as “over capacity,” wus nonetheless closed, as had been
pievipusly ageeed, in i [the fall af] 2003.%

H0

) According to CTA cablcs, | officials in

hich they acknowled 1383

[Country [} officials were “exacmely upsct™* at the
CIA™s inability ta keep secrets and were “deeply disappainted” in pot having had meore warnin
¥ n Py LY A B

HREDACTED) 84200

" HRECTUR

wr L0640

¥ The CIA insisted be rectueted) in e Conumiltee Study pritr (o the Sty
bewng refuculed to the LS. Senate from the off-site reseurch Facility.

A 78275 DEC 02)

* [(REDACTED] 1888
*1 | REDACTED| 2666
® HEADQUARTERS
** [REDACTED] 3280 | Accurding tu 1he cable, the CIA Station speculted that the shange of
position whs “at lzast semewhat attributoble, . 10 our gift of Sl mition...»

M4 S Vatume | for addlitional dekiils

W REDACTED| 7526 ([REDACTED] [REDACTED])
W REDACTEDR] 7849 {| REDACTTED] |REDACTEDD)
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of President Bush's September 2006 public acknowledgment of the CIA program.’®” The CIA
Staclon, for iy pars, Beacsibodi e SRR o+ » “vecices biow” o the
bilateral relationship,**

F. The Detention and Intesrogation of Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh

1. Ramazi Bin Al-Shibh Provides Information While in Foreign Governmenr Custody, Prior
to Rendition so CiA Custody

As early as Seprember [5, 2001, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was assessed
by the CIA to be s facilitaror for the Sepicmber 11, 2001, attacks and an associate of the 9711
hijackers.® While targeting anacher termorist, Hassan Ghal, [l Pakistani officials
unexpeciedly captured bin al-Shibh during raids in Pakistan on September 11, 20027 On
September [l 2002, bin al-Shibb was rendered to a foreign govemnment, e
Approximately five months lazer, on February [ 2003, bin al-Shibh was rendercd from the
custody ofh to CIA custody, becaming the 41* CJA detainee.™?

s/~ As with Abu Zubaydah and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, personnel at

CIA Hesdquarters—often in ALEC Station—averestimated the information bia al-Shibh would
have access to within al-Qa’ida, writing that bin al-Shibh “likely has critical informauon on
upcoming attacks and locations of senior al-Qa'ida operatives."** Later, after bin al-Shibh was
interrogated asing the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques for an estimated 34 days, the
CIA's ALEC Siation concluded that bin al-Shibh was nort a senior member of al-Qa’ida and was
not in a position to know details about al-Qa’ida’s plans for future attacks,’™ In another parallel,
officers at CIA Headquarters requested and directed the continued use of the CIA's enhanced
interrogation technlques against bin al-Shibh when CIA detention site personnel recommended
ending such measures,**

' (REDACTED] 9210 (2310432 SEP 06}

M (REDACTED] 7839 ((REDACTED}]). Email frour [REDACTED); to [REDACTED); subject: BOMBSHELL;
date: [REDACTED). Email from: (REDACTEDY; t: [REDACTED). [REDACTED]; subject: CIA Prisons in

; dute: [REDACTED]. Enwil from: (REDACTED) to: (REDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: [ think
had 1o react (REDACTED). date: [REDACTED}

(222334Z SEP 0i); 92557 (ASSEP 01)
(2923452 AUG 02); ALEC (111551Z SEP 02). The CIA represented to policyavkers

and others—insccuratety—that “ss a result of the vee of EITs” Abu Zabaydah provided informstion on Ranwi bin
al-Shibh that played 2 “key roke in the ulfimate capture of Ramzi Bin ai-Shibh.” See pection of this summary oo the

“Capiure of Ramzi bin sl-Shibh" and Voluine IJ for additional details.
» s«-zzsxnh_ 22sos [ SN o>+

3 ALEC (1302062 SEP 02); ALEC (222334Z SEP 01); 92557 (15SEPOL); ALEC
(2701322 JUL 02), 97470 (281317Z MAR 02)

ALEC (302240Z JUN 05)
5 ALEC (1314442 FEB 03)
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(m Ramzi bin al-Shibh was initially interrogated by a foreign
government.™ Whils officers at CIA Headquarters were dissatisfied with the intelligence
production from his five months of defention in foreign government custody, CIA officers in that
country were satisfled with bin al-Shibh’s reporting.>®” Those CIA officers wrote that bin al-
Shibh had provided information used in approximately 50 CIA intelligence reports, including
information on potential future threats, to include a potential attack on London's Heathrow
Airport and al-Nashiri's planning for potential operations in the Arabian Peninsula. The CIA
officers [l lio-couniry] also noted that they found bin al-Shibh's information to be generally
accnrate and that they “found few cases where he openly/clearly misstated facts."*™ In a cable
to CIA Heedquarters, the CIA officers in_pleﬂm country where Ramuzi bin al-Shibh was
being held} concluded, “‘overall, he provided what was needed.” The same cable stated that bin
al-Shibh's interrogation was similar to other interrogations they had partcipated in, and that the
most ciective interrogation tool was having information available to coafront him when he ied
to mislead or provide incomplcte information.™ Personnel at CIA Headquarters concluded in
2005 that the most significant intetligence derived from bin al-Shibh was obtained during his
dercntion in foreign govemment custody, which was prior 10 his rendition to CIA custody and
the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.*®

2. laterrogation Plan for Ramui Bin Al-Shibh Proposes Imunediare Use of Nudisy and
Shackling with Hands Above the Head; Plan Becomes Template for Future Detalnees

w Despite the aforementioned assegsments from CIA officers in
concering bin al-Shihh’s cooperation, officers at CIA Headquarters decided the C1A
should obtain [l cuscody of bin al-Shibh and render him to DETENTION SITE BLUE in
Country "“" On February I. 2003, in anticipation of bin al-Shibh's arrivil, interrogators at the

detention site, led by the C1A's chicf interrogator, — prepared an interrogation plan
for hin al-Shibh.“” The plan became a tsmplate, and subsequent requests to CLA Headquarters
to uge the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against other detainces relicd upon near
identical Janguage *®

T ALEC 113512 SEP (2)

» DIRECTOR DEC 02)
- 22888 (2408452 FEB 03)

e 22888 (2408452 FEB 03)

%0 According 10 3 2005 CIA assessment, the “most significaat™ reporting from Ramzi bin al-Shibh oa potential
future steacks was background infonmation related (o a-Qe’ida’s plans (o attack Heathwow Aispont. According to the
CIA, Ramzi bin al-Shibh provided “eseful iniell; " including an “overview of the plof™ thet was en vsed in
lllemleuogmmofom«deum {Se¢ ALEC {302240Z JUN 05).) Ramzi bin al-Shibk idod the
oeity of this information in mid-Oclober 2002, while in forcign govemment custedy. See CIA E—

10361
3 This included Khuled Shaykh Mohammed (EMll10654 (0309042 MAR 03)); Hamball
1310 (1018252 SEP 03)); Abu Yasir al-Jaza’iri ; Abd al-Latif al-
Bag i illi 1243 (1520492 AUG
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The interrogation plan proposed that immediately following the
psychological and medical assessments conducted upon his arrival, bin al-Shibh would be
subjected o “sensary dislocation.™™ The proposed sensary dislocation included shaving bin al-
Shibh’s head and face, exposing him to loud noise in a white room with white lights, keeping
him *‘unclothed and subjected to uncomfortably cool temperatures,” and shackling him “hand
and foot with arms outstretched over his head (with his feet firmly on the floor and not allowed
to suppon his weight with his arms).”*5 Contrary to CIA representations made later to the
Committee that detainezy were elways offered the opportunity to cooperate before being
subjected (o the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques, the plan stated that bin ab-Shith would
be shackied nude with his arvos overhead in a cold room prior to any discussion with
interrogaiors or any assessment of his Jeve! of cooperation.*™ According to a cable, only after
the interrogators determined thai his *initial resistance level Ihld] been diminished by the
conditions” would the questioning and interrogation phase begin. ™

ES/JE ) The interrogation phase described in the plan included near
constant interrogations, as well as continued sensory deprivation, a liquid diet, end slcep
deprivation. In addition, the interrogation plan stated that the CIA’s enhanced intetrogation
techniques would be used, including the “attention grasp, walling, the facial hokd, the facial
slap... the abdominal slap, cramped confinement, wall standing, siress posidons, steep
deprivation beyond 72 hours, and the waterboard, as appropriate to {bin al-Shibh’s] level of

resistance, ™8

(FSHIR %) Bosed on versions of this interrogation plan, at least six detainees

were stripped and shackled nude, placed in the standing position for sleep deprivation, or
subjected to other CIA enhanced intarrogation techniques prior to being questioned by an
interrogator in 2003.5% Five of these detainees were shackled naked in the standing position
with their hands above their head immediately after their medical check ' These interrogation

JAN 04)); Adnan af-Lib 1738
217%

See Yolume I for detailed mfommadion on ClA representagons 10

"’oh
9 This ‘m!uded Audullnh DIRECTOR I N £ 03)): Abu Yosic al-foza'irh AR
3 M

APR (3)}; Abu Hudhaifa 38576
MAY 03)); Hainbaii 124 L (L51912Z AUG 03)); and Majid Khan
46471 (2412422 MAY 03); 39077 (2717192 MAY 03)).
*9 For ndditional information, see Volume 1. Inan April 12, 2007, Senste Select Committes oo Intelligence
hesring, Senator Levin asked the CLA Director if the CIA disputed allegationa in an International Commitees of the
Red Croys report that soggested CIA detainees were placed in “[plrolonged stress standing position, naked, arm{s]
chained above the head...” The ClA Director sesponded, “Not above the head. Stress positions are part of the EITs,
and nakedness were part of the EITs, Senator.” Senale Select Committee on Intcliigence, Hoaring Transcript, dated

April 12,2007 (DTS #2007-3158),
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plans typically made no reference to the information the interrogators sought and why the
detainee was believed to possess the information.*!*

3. CIA Headquaners Urges Conrinted Use of the CIA's Enhanced Interrogaiion
Techniques, Despite Interrogators’ Assessment That Rawnzi Bin Al-Shibh Was
Cooperative

@S >'F) ¥ hen CIA interrogators at DETENTION SITE BLUE assested
that bin al-Shibh was cooperative and did not have additional knowledge of future attacks,*’?
CIA Headquarters disagreed and instructed the interrogators to continue using the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques, which failed to elicit the information sought by CIA
Headquarters.*’* On February 11, 2003, interrogators asked CIA Headquarters for questions that
ALEC Station was “85 percent certam [bin al-Shibh ] will be able 1o answer,” in otder to verify
bin al-Shibh's level of cooperation.*'* The interrogators stated that information from Abu
Zubaydah and al-Nashiri suggested that bin al-Shibh would not have been given 3 new
assignment or wrusted with significant informacion given his high-profite links to the September
11, 2001, attacks.*'> They further stated that bin al-Shibh had “achieved substantial notoriety
after 11 Seprember,” but was still unproven in al-Qa’ida circles and may have “been privy o
information more as a bystander than as an active participant,”**$

@/ >%) The CIA's ALEC Station disagreed with the assessment of the

detention site personnel, responding that it did not believe the portrayals of bin al-Shibh offered
by Abu Zubaydah and al-Nashir were accurate and that CIA Headquarters assessed that bin al-
Shibh must have actionable information due to his proximity to KSM and CIA Headquarters’
belief that bin al-Shibh had a histery of withholding information from interrogators. ALEC
Station wrote;

*“As base [DETENTION SITE BLUE] is well aware, Ramzi had long
been deliberately withhiolding and/or providing misleading information to
his interrogators in [a foreign government).... From our optic, it is
imperative w focus Ramzi exclusively on two issues: 1) What are the
next attacks plunned for the US and 2) Who and where arc the operatives
inside the United States, "¢V

' Ser Volume T for additional information,

o 10452 (1217232 FEB 03}

U3 ALEC {131444Z FEB 03) i

- 10446 (111 754Z FEB 03). The Commitiee was jnformed thal the ClA's standard practios during
coercive intarvogations was (0 83k questions (o which interrogstors slrendy kmew the anawery in order to assexs the
dewinee’s kevel of caoperation. The Commitiee was foriher informed that only after delainees were assexsed to be
cooperstive did intervogators ask questions whose answers were unknawn to the CJA. See, for example, Trenscript
of SSCI Hearing, April 12, 2007 (testimony of CIA Director Michae| Hayden) (DTS #2007-3158).

ans 10452 (1217232 FEB 03). In Jure 2002, Ramzi bin al-Shibh participated with KSM in an interview
with the al-Jazecra television network on the 9/11 attacks. DIRECTOR (1121362 SEP 02).

44 10452 (1217232 FEB 03)

“17 ALEC (1314442 FEB 03). Contcary to the statement in the CIA cable, as described, CIA officers in the
country where Ramzi bin al-Shibh was held prior to being rendered to CIA custody wrote that Ramezi bin al-Shibh

had provided information used In approximately 50 CIA intellizence reports, ingtuding information on potential
%Mm
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@S/ ~5) The ALEC Station cable stated that bin al-Shibh had “spent
extensive tire with [KSM],” and “‘must have heard discussions of other targets.” The cable
added that *HQS strongly believes that Binalshibh was invoived in efforts on behalf of KSM to
identify and place aperatives in the West.” The February 13, 2003, cable concluded:

“We think Binalshibh s uniquely positioned to give us much needed
critical information to help us thwart large-scale attacks inside the United
States, and we want to do our utmost to get it as soon as possible. Good
luck, 418

s/ %) CiA officers at DETENTION SITE BLUE therefore continued to

use the CIA"s enhanced interrogation techniques against bin al-Shibh for approximately three
additional weeks after this exchange, including sleep deprivation, nudity, dietary manipulation,
facial holds, attention grasps, abdominal slaps, facial slaps, and walling.*® Bin a!-Shibh did not
provide the information sought on “operatives inside the Undted States™ or *‘large-scale attacks
inside the United States.”**

4. Information Already Provided by Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh in the Custody of a Foreign
Government Inaccurately Anributed ta CIA Interragations; Interragarors Apply the
CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Techniques to Bin Al-Shibh When Not Addressed As “Sir”
and When Bin Al-Shibh Complains of Sromach Pain

( ) CIA records indicate that the CIA interrogators at DETENTION
SITE BLUE questioning Ramzi bin al-Shibh were unaware of the intelligence bin al-Shibh had

reviously provided in foreign government custody, even though
“and the intelligence from those interrogations had been disseminated by
the CIA. On multiple occasions, personnel at the detention site drafted intelligence reports that
contained information previously disseminated from interrogations of bin al-Shibh while he was
in foreign government custady, under the faulty understanding that bin al-Shibh was providing
new information.**!

futoee threals, to include 8 polential attack on London's Heathrow sirport and el-Nashiri's plaoning for potential
operations in the Arabian Peninsuls. The [Jll C1A officers in that country also nored that they found Ramzi bin
u1-Shibh's informalion fo be generally accurate, and that they “found few cases where he openty/clearly misstated
facts.” The ClA officers in concluded, “overall, [Ramzi bin al-Shibh] provided whm was needed.” See
22888 (240845Z FEB 03),

18 ALEC (1314442, FEB 03)
99 See, for exampte, [ 10525 (2008402 FEB 02) and I 10573 (2411432 FEB 03). For furher
dertail, see the detainee review of Ramzi bin al-Shibh in Volume I
0 See detainee review of Ramzi bin sl-Shibh in Volume I for additional information.
421 See, for example, CIA

20817 (describing the foreign government’s intercogators® “plun

to ask Binalshibh ta clanfy his statements that Mohamed Atta, Marwan el-Shetthi, and Ziad Jarrah could aot a
on the wisdom of targeting nuclear facilities™): 10568 (2315142 FEB 03); [ 20817 ﬂ
Ro-l : CIA

Page 79 of 499
=HNEEASSHHER—

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 46
= SRS S R—

Fopspe ek I 2o po

@S/HER 2> Ramzi bin al-Shibh was subjecied to interrogation technigues and
conditions of confinement that were not approved by CIA Headguarrers, CIA interrogators used

the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques for behavior adjusement purposes, in response to
perceived disrespect, and on several occasions, before bin al-Shibh had an opportunity to
respond to an interrogator’s questions or before a question was asked. The CIA’¢ enhanced
interrogation techniques were applied when bin al-Shibh failed 10 address an interrogator as
“sir,” when interrogators noted bin el-Shibh had a *“blank stare™ on his fuce, and when bin al-
Shibh complained of stomach pain.“ Purther, despite CIA policy af the time to keep detainces
under cons@nt light for security purposes, bia al-Shibh was kept in total darkness to heighten his
sense of fear *¥

S/EIEE 2F) CIA psychological assessments of bin a}-Shibh were slow Io
recognize the onset of psychological problems brought about, according to later CIA
assessments, by bin al-Shibh’s long-lerm social isolation and his anxiery that the CIA would
retumm (0 using ils enhanced interrogation techniques against him, The symptoms included
visions, paranoia, insomnia, and attempts at self-harm.2* In April 2003, a CIA psychologist
stated that bin al-Shibh "*has remained in social isolation™ for as long as two and half years and
the igolation was having a “clear and escalating effect on his psychological functioning.” The
officer cantinued, “in [bin al-Shibh's] case, it is important to keep in mind thar he was previously
a relatively high-functioning individual, meking his deteriaration aver the past several months
more alarming.™%* The psychologist wrote, “significant alterations to RBS*(s] detention
environmant must occur soon to prevent further and more serious psychological disturbance.,
On Seprember 5, 2006, bin al-Shibh was transferred to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo
Bay, Cubn,*” After hls arrivel, bin al-Shibh was placed on anti-psychotic medications,*®®*

1426

The CIA disseminatad 109 intelligence reports from the CIA
interrogations of Ramzi bin al-Shibh.*® A CIA assessment, which included intelligence from his

@ 10582 (2420262 FEB 03); I 10627 (2819492 FEB 03)

i 105214 (191750Z FEB 03). The cable refered 1o keeping bin al-Shibh in darkness 25 0 “standard
interrogation techaique.” The zame coble states that during the night of February I§, 2003, the light went owt in bin
a1-Shibh's cell and that “[wihen security personne] aerivad to replace the buld, bin al-Shibh was cowesing in the

comes, shivering. Security personnel noted that he appoared relicvad as soon a8 the light was eplaced ™
mﬁ‘lm 0213192 OCT 04); HEADQUARTERS 232 NOV osnm
(1712252 NOV 04, me 04), 1930 (0616202 DEC 04);

2207 (111319Z APR 05); 2210 (141507Z APR 05); 2535 (0518052 JUL 03);
2589 (1208572 JUL 05); 2830 (2913042 AUG nsx*zmu'/msz NOV
831Z NQY 04); CIA document entitled, “Detdinee Talking Paints foc )CRC Retaual, il
i 2210 (141507Z APR 05); 2535 (051805Z JUL 0S); 710
(1415072 APR 0S); 35 (051805Z SUL 05); 2830 (2913042 AUG 08);

1930 (061620Z DEC 04); 2210 (141507Z APR (5}
a3 2210 (1415072 APR 0S)
Na 2210(141507Z APR D5)

@ HEADQUARTERS [ (031945Z SEP 06
a8 SITE DAILY REPORT - 24 MAY 07: 8904 (182103Z APR 08)
2 See Yolume IT for additional information.
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time in foreign government custody, as well as his repocting in CIA custody before, during, and
after being subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques,**® concluded that:

““Much of {bin al-Shibh's] statements on the 11 September attacks have been
speculative, and many of the details conld be found in media accounts of the
atiacks that appeared before he was detained. In the few instances where his
reporting was unique and plausible, we cannot verify or refute the
information... he has been sketchy on some aspects of the 9/11 plot, perhaps in
order to downplay his rolc in the plot. His information on individuals is non-
specific; he hos given us nothing on the Saudi hijackers or others who played a
rofe... The overall quality of his reporting has steadily declined since 2003.™%

G. The Detention and Interrogation of Khalid Shaykh Muhammad

{. KSM Held in Pakistani Custody, Provides Limited Information; Rendered to CIA Custody
at DETENTION SITE COBALT, KSM Is Immediarely Subjected to the CIA's Enhanced
Interrogation Techniques

(¥SI-¢IN¥) The capture of KSM was atiributable 10 & siﬂe CIA source who

first came to the CIA’s attention in the spring of 2001.* The source »
led the CTA and Pakistan autharities directly to KSM. KSM was held in Pakistani
custody from the time of his capture on March 1, 2003, to March [J, 2003, and was interrogated
by CIA officers and Pakistani officials. According to CIA records, while in Pakistani custody,
KSM was subjected to some sleep deprivation, but there are no indicatioas of other coercive
interrogation techniques being used.*? While KSM degied knowledge of artack plans and the
locations of Uszma bin Laden and Ayman al-Zawahiri,*** he did provide limited information on
various al-Qa’ida leaders and operatives who had already been captured. KSM's willingness to
discuss operatives when confronted with information about their capture—behavior noted by
CIA officers on-site in Pakistan—was a recurring theme throughout KSM's subsequent detention
and interrogation in CIA custody **

&S/JE »5) Lcss than two hours after KSM's capture, anticipating KSM’s
arrival at DETENTION SITE COBALT, the chief of interrogations, ﬁ sent an email
1o ClA Headquarters with the subject linc, *Let's roll with the new guy.” The email requested
permission to “press [KSM] for threat info right away.”*® Later that day, CIA Headquarters
authorized to use a number of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against

™ Ramzi bin al-Shibh was immediately subjected to the C1A"s enhanced interrogation techniques at DETENTION
SITE BLUE.

1 ALEC M (302240Z JUN 05)

32 For more details, ses section of this summary an the captare of KSM and additlonal information in Volume LI
<o 41403 (020949Z MAR 03)

- 41484 (031315Z MAR 03)

a3 41564 (0413072 MAR 03); IR 1 592 (051050Z MAR.03). For details onh KSM's
detention in Pakistani custody, see the KSM detainee review io Yolume [H.
V6 Email from: [REDACTED); 10:
date: March 1, 2003, at 03:43:12 AM.

i subject: Let's Roll with the new guy,
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KSM. The cable from CIA Headquarters did not require that non-coercive interrogation
techniques be used first*”” On March [| 2003, two days before KSM's arrival at the detention
site, CTA Headquarters approved an interrogation plan for KSM.#®

(SISA'_UN-F) According to CIA records, interrogators began using the CIA’s

enhanced interrogaton techniques at DETENTION SITE COBALT a “few minutes™ after the
questioning of KSM began. KSM was subjected to facial and abdominal slaps, the facial grab,
stress pogitions, standing sleep deprivation (with his hands at or 4bove head level), nudity, and
water dousing.** Chief of Interrogztions I 2(so ordered the rectal rehydration of
KSM without a determination of medical need, a procedure that the chief of interrogations would
later characterize as illustrative of the interrogator’s “1otal control over the detainee.™* Ac the
end of the day, the psychologist on-sile concluded that the interrogation team would likely have
more suceess by “avoiding confromtations that allow {KSM] to tansform the interrogation into
batiles of will with the intecrogamice.”™*! KSM's reporting during his first day in C1A custody
included an accurate description of a PaYistani/Brilish opertive, which was dismissed as having
been provided during the initial “‘throwaway’ stage™ of information collection when the CJA
believed detsinees provided false or worthless information. 2

S7 DIRECTOR. 012240Z MAR 03)
o 34354 (JIIII MA R 03); DIRECTOR [ (N M AR 03)

-9 34491 (0514002 MAR 03)

w 34491 (051400Z MAR 03); Interview of IR by (REDACTED) and

[REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, 27 March 2003,
w 34575 NN

4 4xhalid Shaykh Muhammad's Threat Reporting ~ Precious Truths, Surrounded by a Bodyguard of Lies,” ICT,
April 3, 2003. K8M also named three individuals who, he said, worked on an al-Qa‘ida anthrax program that was

still in fw “earliest stages.” They wereled, he said, by “Omar” who bad been arrested in the cotnicy of
The group also lncluded Abu Bakr al-Filistini. (See 34475 ) KSM
would (oter state that *“Yazid" lod ul-Qa'ida's anlhoux efforts. (See 10768 (1209372 MAR 03).) Yaxid

Sufaat, who hed been in [foreign govemment] custody since 2001, had long been suspected of

icipating in al-Qa’ida chemical and biological activities. (See email from: [REDACTED]; to:
.*cc:-

(REDACTED|, [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], (REDACTED].
subject: FOR COORD by noan please: Yazid Sufaat PDB; date: March 14, 2003, ar 09:05 AM; email frona:
[REDACTED]; 10 (REDACTED; subject: Re: [l RESPONSE - INDIVIDUALS CONNECTED TO
USAMA BIN LADDN ASSOCIATE YAZID SUFAAT; date: March 6, 2003, st 12:50:27 PM; (NN
email from! 0 {REDACTED], SUBJECT: Re: KSM on WMD; dote: March 12, 2003, ®
08:28:31 AM) A draft PDB prepaged oo March 17, 2003, states that “Sufsat’s own claims to I (Foreign
government] authoritses and personal besckground tracks with KSM's assertions ™ (See “KSM Guarding Most
Sensitive Infoomation,” Labelad “For dhe President Only 18 March 2003,” stamped 0319 kstmupdate.doc 17 March
2003.) On Apni! 3, 2003, an I(CT anulysis staied that KSM “likrely judges thet information relased o Sufaat siready
has been compromised since hig amest.” (See *Khalid Shaykh Muhammad's Threat Reporting ~ Presious Try
Surraunded by @ Bodyguard of Lies” ICT, April 3, 2003.) CIA analysis from 2005 stated that ._vhs,
- (a foreign govemnment holding Sufaat} was likely to have known details of Yazid's involvement in si-
Qa'ida’s anthrax program by early 2002, althongh that information was not provided at the time to the CLA. (See
CIA Directorale of Intelligence; “Al-Qa’ida’s Anthrax Program; Cracks Emerge in a Key Reporting Sweam; New
Insights into Yazid Sufaar’s Credibility * (DTS #2005-3264).) Al-Filistini was later
captured and detgined by the CLA, While being subjected to the C[A's enhanced interrogation rechniques he
changed his description of al-Qu'ids"s enthrax éfforts multiple times. On August 1, 2003, Abu Baks ai-Filistini, also
known as Samr al-Barq, told CIA interogatocs that “we never made anthrax.” At the time, he was being subjecred
o the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques and was 1ok that the harsh treatment would not stop until he “wold
the ruth.” According Lo cobles, erying, al-Barg then said “T made the anthrax.” Asked if he waz lying, al-Barqg sald
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) On March 5, 2003, and Murch 6, 2003, while he was still at
DETENTION SITE COBALT, KSM was subjected to nudity and sleep deprivation. On March
5, 2003, KSM was also subjccted ta additional rectal rehydration, ™ which [JJJOMS,
*, described as helping to “clear a person’s head” and effective in getting KSM
to talk.** On Macch 6, 2003, ﬂ adopted a “*softer Mr. Rogers’ persona” after the
interrogation team concluded that the CTAs enhanced interrogation techniques had caused KSM
to “clam up."** During this session KSM was described as “more cooperntive,” and the day’s
intcrrogation was deemed the “best session held to date™ by the imerrogation wam.“® During
this period KSM (abricated information on an individual whom he described as the protector of
his children.“? That information resulted in the capturc and CLA derention of two innocent
individuals.*“?

2. The CiA Transfers KSM 1o DETENTION SITE BLUE, Annicipates Use of the Waterboard
Prior ro His Arrival

s/ A7) Witin hours of KSM's capture, ALEC Station successfully argued
that CTA conmactors SWIGERT and DUNBAR should take over the interrogation of XSM upon
KSM's arrival at DETENTION SITE BLUE*® On March 3, 2003, C1A Headquarters approved
an interrogation plan indicating thet KSM “will be subjected to immediate interrogation
techniques,” and that “the interrogation techniques will increase in intensity from standard to

that he was. ARter CIA interrogators “demonstrated the penalty for lying,” al-Bam again staied that “1 made the
anthrax” end then immediately recanted, and then again siated that he made anthrax. (Ss« [N 1015 120572
AUG 03).) Two days later, al-Barq staied ther he had lied about the anthrax production “only beenuse he thought

that was what it ators wanted " See 1017 (Q30812Z AUG 03).
443 34’75
4 Emall fom: ; to: [REDACTEDY; cc: [REDACTED], subject: Re:
Departure; dute: Maech 6, 2003, at 7:11:59 PM; email from: to: [REDACTED]; w:h
subjees: Re: Update; date: March 6, 2003, at 4:51:32 PM.
34573 (0617512 MAR 03});
e 3457 (0617512 MAR 03}
1 Jn June 2004, KSM described his reporting as “all lies.”
1281 {130801Z JUN 04).
8 The tweo individuals, Ssyed Habib and Shaistah Habiballoh Khas, entered CIA custody in Apeil and July 2003
respectively, and were released in August and 2004, ively. (s«“mz
 emait ﬁom:W ACTED], (REDACTED); ssbject:
planned release of (DETENTION SITE ORANGE] detainee Syed Habily; and
CIA document, “Additional Details for DCIA oa Sayed Habib's Amest and Detention.”) The CIA’s June 2013
Reaponse states that e delention of the two individuals “can only be considered ‘wrongful’ after the fact, not in the
ligh of credible information avaliabie at the Hmne and in @ context in which plot disruption was deemed an urgent
national priority.” The ClA's June 201 3 Response further stetea that KSM's reporting on March 8, 2003, was
“crediie” becavse, al the time, “(CIA] assasted that Khalid Shaykh Mubammad (KSM) had moved to 3 more
coopersiive posture as his interrogation progressed.” A review of CIA records indicates that the CIA subjeeted
KSM to the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques the following day. The use of he techni continued ontil
March 25, 2003, and included 183 applications of the waterboard. See o7t &

9 Interview of
2003. Emil to: : oc: (REDACTED),

{REDACTED], s , [REDACTED],
{REDACTED]}, [REDACTEDY]; subject: KSM planning; date: March 1, 2003, at 07:07:33 AM.

34614 (0715512 MAR 03)
34614 (0715512 MAR 03)
34569 (0617222 MAR 03},
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enhanced techniques commensurate with [KSM's] level of resistance, until he indicares inidat
cooperation."™* On March [, 2003, the day of KSM’s arrival at DETENTION SITE BLUE, the
on-site medical officer desccibed the use of the waterboard on KSM as inevitabie:

*[T]he team here apparently looks to use the water board in two different
coniexts, One is a3 a ol of regression and control in which it is vsed up front
and aggressively. The second is to vet information on an as nceded basis.
Given the various pressures from home vs what is happening on the ground, !
think the team’s expectation is that [KSM) will [be] getting treatment
somewhere in berween. [ don't think they believe that it will be possible to
entirely avoid the warer board given the high and immediate threat to US and
allicd interests. 1t is an ineresting dynamic because they are well aware of the
toll it will take on the 2am vs. the detainec. The requirements coming from
home are really unbelicyable in ierms of breadth end detail."*!

@S/ %) Mcanwhile, OMS completed draft guidelines on the use of the

CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques, specifically addressing the watcrboard interrogetion
technique. These guidelines were sent to the medical personne] at the detention site. The
guidelines included a warning that the risk of the waterboard was *‘directly related to number of
exposures and may well accelerate ag expasures increase,” that concerns about cumulative
effects would emerge after three to five days, and that there should be an upper limit on the total
number of waterboard exposures, “perhaps 20 in a week." CIA records indicate that, as of the
day of KSM's arrival at DETENTION SITE BLUE, the interrogation team had not reviewed the
draft OMS guidelines.*s?

S/ k) <5M amived at DETENTION SITE BLUE at approximately 6:00
PM local ime on March ] 2003, and was immediately stripped and placed in the standing sleep
deprivation position,* At 6:38 PM, after the medical and psychological personnel who had
taveled with KSM from DETENTION SITE COBALT clearcd KSM for the C[A's enhanced
interrogation echniques, the demntion site requested CIA Headquarters’ approval to begin the
ineerrogation process.** The detention site received the approvals at 7:18 PM,*** at which point
the interrogators began using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on KSM.**

( Between March || 2003, and March 9, 2003, contractors
SWIGERT and DUNBAR, and 2 CIA interrogstor, [, used the C1A's enhanced
interrogation techaigues against KSM, including nudity, standing skecp deprivation, the attention

= (0654 ©30904Z MAR 03). DIRECTOR [ (0454447 MAR 03). The initial approval was for
SWIGERT and ClA intetroganx The suthoeizalion was extendad 1o DUNBAR on Marck [}

2003. DIRECTOR
o IR 50! Technique: dote: March

St Emmil from: [REDACTED). to2
§ 2003, at 3:51:09 AM,

432 Bmgil from: [REDACTED!; to: [ NG - NG «:bjcct: Re: Technique; date:
March i 2003, at 3:22:45 PM.
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grab and insult slap, the facial grab, the abdominal slap, the kneeling stress position, and
walling.'” There were no debriefers present. Acgording to the CIA interrogator, during KSM's
first day at DETENTIQN SI1TE BLUE, SWIGERT and DUNBAR first began threatening KSM's
children.*** JCYC Legal, later told the inspector general that
these threats were legal so long as the threats were “conditional.™* On March 9, 2003, KSM
fabricated information indicating that Jaffar al-Tayyar and Jose Padilla were plotting together®®
because, us he explained on April 23, 2003, he “felt some pressure to produce information about
operations in the United States in the initial phases of his interrogation.**!

PAW) On March ] 2003, Deputy Chief of ALEC Station [

and a second ALEC Station officer, “ arrived at DETENTION SITE
BLUE to serve as debriefers. The detention site also reportedly received a phone call from CLIA
Headquarters conveying the views of the CIA’s Deputy Director of Operations James Pavitt on
the interrogation of KSM,*2 Pavitt later told the inspector general that he *did not recall
specifically ordering that a detainee be waterboarded right away,” but he *“*did not discount that
possibility.” Acconding to records of the interview, “Pavitr did recall saying, ‘I want to know
what hec knows, and I want to know it fast.""™ The on-site medical officer later wrote in an
email that the CTA interrogators “felt that the [waterboard] was the big stick and that HQ was
more or less demanding that it be used early and often.”™*

3. The CiA Waterboards KSM at Least 183 Times; KSM's Reparting Includes Significant
Fabricated Information

/B~ F) On Maxch 10, 2003, KSM was subjected to the first of his 15

separnte waterboarding sessions. The Rrst waterboarding session, which lasted 30 minutes (10
more than anticipated in the Office of Legal Counsel's August 1, 2002, opinion), was followed
by the use of a horizontal swess position that had not previously been approved by CIA

Headquarters.** The chief of Base, worried about the legal implications, prohibited the on-site

S 073 I
3 1074] {100917Z MAR 03)

by [REDACTED] and {REDACTED, Office of the Inspector General, Apel 30,
by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED)], Office of the Inspector Genersl,
October 22, 2003.

5% CIA Inspecior General, Special Review, Counterterrorism Dedention and Interrogation Program (2003-7123-1G),
Jamuary 2004, :

0 h 10740 (0923082 MAR 03), disseminated o« || NNNNENREEE. SN 1074! (100917Z MAR
03)

< D 11577 izamaz APR 03}, disseminuicd as

2 Jnterview of . by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, 30 Aprif
“zﬁ’ﬂﬁ:'{ewiew of James Pavily, by _ and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, August 21,
E[Emul teom: [N .- N - B sub;-ct: More; date: Apil
L?’%ﬁ;ﬁ; miszuz MAR 03)
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mcdica}“ officer ftorn reporting on the interrogadon directly to OMS outside of official CIA cable
traffic. .

@s/AER »*) On March 12, 2003, KSM provided information on the Heathrow
Airpart and Canary Wharf plotting. KSM stated that he showed a sketch in his notebook of a
building in Canary Wharf (a major business district in London) to Ammar al-Baluchi.*®’ He also
provided statzraents about directing prospective pilots to study at flight schools,*® and stated that
Jaftar al-Tayyacr was involved in the Heathrow Plot.*® KSM retracted all of this informution
later in his detention. ™ There are no CIA records indicating that these and other resractions
were assessed to be false.

S/ ~F) Tt March 12, 2003, reporting from KSM on the Heathrow Airport
plotting was decmed at the time by CIA interrogators to be an effort by KSM to avoid discussion
of plotting ingide the United States and thos contributed to the decision to subject KSM to two
waterboarding sessions that day.'”' During these sessions, KSM ingested n significant amount of
watcr, CIA records swte that KSM's “sbdomen was somewhat distended and he expressed woter
when the abdomen was pressed. ™7 KSM's gastric contents were so diluted by water that the
medical officer present was *not concerned about regurpitared gastric acid damaging KSM'*s
esophagus.™”? The officer was, however, concerned about water intoxication and dilution of [“
electrolytcs and requested that the jnterrogators use saline in future waterboarding sessions.™
The medical officer later wrote to -ﬁOMS that KSM was “ingesting and aspiration {sic]
a LOT of water,” and that *'[i]n the new technique we are basically doing a serics of near
drownings.”™*? During the day, KSM was also subjected to the attention grasp, insult slap,
abdominal slap, and walling 4"

s/ ~F) On March 13, 2003, after KSM again denied that al-Qa’ida had
operations planned for inside the United States, CIA interrogators decided on a “'day of intensive

% Eail fom: (REDACTED]: ¢o: [T TG c: IR st R« MEDICAL SITREP
3/10; date: March 1, 2003, at 8:10:39 AM.

“ 10798 (131816Z MAR 03), disseminated as

- 10778 (1243492 MAR 03), disseminated 22

o 10778 (2215497 MAR 03), disseminated as

ae 12141 immzmu 03); [ 12939 (0315412 JUL 04); 10883 (1621272 MAR 03),

dissemiosed as .
o I 10787 (1307152 MAR 03). The ClA wonld her represem that the informatioa KSM provided on the
Heathrow plonting was on example of the effectiveness of the waterboard iaterrogation echnique, listing the
Heathrow Plot as one of the “plons discovered as a result of E1Ts™ in a bricfing on the waterbourd for (he President
in November 2007. See docurnem enlitled, “DCIA Talking Points: Watsrboard 06 November 2007, dated
November & 2007, widy the actaion the document was “sent 1o DCIA Nov. 6 in preparatian for POTUS mesting.”
mi 10800 (1319059Z MAR 03)

7 Intexview of_ by [REDACTED] and {REDACTED), Office of the Inxpector General, May 18,
2003.

“ I 10800 (1319092 MAR 03); Interview of [ MMBEN by [REDACTED) and [(REDACTED],
Office of the Inspectar May 15, 2003.

5 Email from: to: . -: ISR bjcct: Moce; dato: April
10, 2003, av $:59:27 PM. Emphasis in the original.

o QI 10787 (130716Z MAR 03)
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waterboard sessions.™?’ During the first of three waterboarding sessions that day, interrogators
responded o KSM’s efforts to breathe during the sessions by holding KSM’s lips and directing
the water at his mouth.*”™ According to a cable from the detention site, KSM “would begin
signaling by pointing upward with his two index fingers as the water pouring approached the
cstablished time limit.” The cable noted that *“[t]his behavior indicates that the subject remains
alert and has become familiar with key aspects of the process.™™ CIA records state that KSM
“yelled and rwisted” when he was secured to the waterboard for the second session of the day,
but “appeared resigned to tolerating the board and stated he had nothing new to say” about
terrorist plots inside the United States. ™

(rs/HNEN €) Prior 1o the third waterboard session of that calendar day, the on-

site medical officer raised concerns that the waterboard session—which would be the fourth in
14 hours—would exceed the limits included in draft OMS guidelines that had been distributed
the previous afternoon,”®! Those draft guidelines stated that up to three waterboard sessions in a
24-hour period was acceprable. ™ Ar the time, KSM had been subjected to more than 65
applications of water during the four waterboarding sessions berween the afterncan of March 12,
2003, and the moming of March 13, 2003. In response to a request for approval from the chief
of Base, CTC attomey assured detention site persannel that the medical officer
“is incorrect that these guidelines have been approved and/or fully coordinated.”®

scnt an email to the detention site authorizing the additional waterboarding session,*®™ Despite
indications from that the detention site personnel would receive a formal authorizing
cable, no such authorization from CIA Headquarters was provided. At the end of the day, the
medical officer wrote MS that “[t]hings are stowly evolving form [sic] OMS being
viewed as the institutional conscience and the limifing factor to the ones who are dedicated to
maximizing the benefit in a safe manner and keeping everyone's butt out of trouble.” The
medical officer noted that his communication with &OMS was no fonger “viewed with
suspicion.™?? On the afternoon of March 13, 2003, KSM was subjected 1o his third waterboard
session of that calendar day and fifth in 25 hours. CIA records note that KSM vomited during
and after the procedure 4%

' I (0804 immoz MAR 03); JIEI 10750 (1309462 MAR 03)

8 Tntesview of by (REDACTED] and [REDACTED), Office of the Inspector General, April 10,
2003. The interviewee was a CIA interogator for KSM at the CIA derention site.

i 10790 (130946Z MAR 03)

40 10791 {131229Z MAR 03
48 Email from: (REDACTED]; to: j cc: \ Jose

!
Rodriguez; subject: re: Eves Only - Legal and Political Quand(]ry; dete: March [3, 2003, at 11:28:06 AM.
2 Email from: : to: [REDACTED]; w% subject: Re: MEDICAL SITREF
¥10; date; March 12, 2003, at 2:09:47 PM.
5 Email from: ; to: [RRDACTEDY; cc: [N, . /-

Rodrigoez; subject: Re: EVES ONLY - Legal and Political Quandary; date: March 13, 2003, at 8:01:12 AM.
44 Proaij from: : to: [REDACTED]; ec: Jose Rodriguez, I INENENGEGEG. R
[ h subject: EYES ONLY — Use of Water Board; date: March 13,

2003, at 08:28 AM.
%5 Email fram: [REDACTED]; to: —; cc: [ . 5cbjcct: Re: Sizte cable; date:

ing the extra mile ta
; ce:

March 13, 2003, at 1:43:17 PM. The previous day, the medical afficer had written thet "I am
try ta handle this in a non confrontational mamner.” Bmuil fror: (REDACTED]; ro:
'; subject: Re; MEDHCAL SITREF %10; date: March 12, 2003, at 5:17:07 AM.
455 10803 (131929Z MAR 03)
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/IR ~=) Shortly thereafter, CIA Headquarters began reevaluating the use of
the waterboard interrogation technique. According to a March 14, 2003, email from an
interrogator who was not at DETENTION SITE BLUE, but was reviewing cable traffic, the
“[o]verall view seems 10 be™ that the walerboard “is not working in gaining KSM['s)
compliance.”**” The deputy chief of the CIA interrogation program responded in agreement,
Bdding that “{a]gainst KSM it has proven ineffective,” and thut “[t]he potential for physical harm
is far greater with the waterboard than with the other techniques, bringing into question the issue
of rigk vs, gain...." The deputy chief further suggested that the watrboard was
counterpsoductive, stating that “{w]e scem to have lost ground” with KSM zgince progress made
at DETENTION SITE COBALT, and as a result, the CIA should “consider the possibility" that
the introduction of the waterboard intermogation technique “may poison the well."®* The email
in which these sentiments were expresscd was sent to ﬂ the CTC atomey
overseeing the interrogation of KSM. Despite these reservalions and assessmenis, the
waterboarding of KSM continued for another 10 days “®

s/ ~%) On March 15, 2003, KSM was waterboarded for failing 1o confirm

references in signals intercepts on al-Qa'ida’s efforts to obtain “nuclear svitcascs,™°
Subsequent signals intercepts and infarmation from a foreign government would later indicate
thet the nuclear suitcase threat was an orchestrated scam 4! KSM was waterboarded a second
time that day after failing o provide information on operations against the United Scates or on al-
Qa’ida nuclear capabilities,” During the waterboarding sessions that day, the application of the
interrogation technique further evolved, with the interrogators now using their huinds to maintain
a one-inch deep “pool” of water over KSM's nose and mouth in an effort to moke it impossible
for KSM to ingest oll the water being poured.*® At one point, SWIGERT and DUNBAR waited
for KSM to talk before pouring water aver his mouth 4

7 Email from: [ - I --: B BN | REDACTED),
[REDACTED)]; subject: 12 Summary of KSM Watzrboard Sessions — As of 1000 HRS 14 Mar 03; date: March 14,
2003, at 10:44.12 AM.

“% Emai) from: o: SR --: . B (REDACTED), (REDACTED),

. subject: re Summary of KSM Waterboard Sessions — As of {000 HRS 14 MAR 03; date: March
14,2003, 30 02:02:42 PM,

¥ See detailed review of these sessions in Volume I

+o SN 10631 (1515102 MAR 03): [N 10841 (1520072 MAR 03): IR 10845 (161038Z MAR
03; Interview of_ by (REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspecior General,
May 15, 2003.

1 The ariginsl reporting. s al-Qa’ida had purchased ouclear seitcases in Yemen, wa luer detgemined to be
based on an effon by unknown Yemenis to scll *'suitcase weapons™ to al-Qa'ida. ALQa'ida ives concluded
that the offer was a scam. See 74492 (250843Z fUL 01), disserminated as %; nod
HEADQUARTERS {092349Z DEC 04).

- 10841 (152007Z MAR 03);

#1 Emal from: [REDACTED)]; to:
date: March 15, 2003, at 3:52:54 A M. Interview of by [REDACTED] and (REDACTED],
Office of the Inapector Jeneral, Moy 15, 2003. See also interview of by (REDACTED] and
[REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, May 15, 2003. The descriptions of the uge of the walerbourd
intemrogation technigne agalnst KSM were provided by these two on-site medical officera.

 Imervisw nf&. by (REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the tnspeator General, May 15,
2003.

s subject: Ra: Sitrep as of AM 3/15;
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{ On the aftermoon of March 17, 2003, and into the moming of
March 18, 2003, . O MS, exchanged emails with the medice) officer

at DETENTION SITE BLUE on the waterboarding, of KSM. According to | . the
waterboard inrerragatian technigue had “moved even further from the SERE model."#%
also wrote:

“Truthfully, though, I don’t recall that the WB {waterboard]} produced anything
actionable in AZ [ Abu Zubaydah] any eadier than another technique might
have. This may be different with KSM, tan that is still as much a statement of
faith as anything else - since we don’t seem to study the questian as we go...
it's been many more days of constant WB repetitions, with the evidence of
progress through most of them not being actionable intel but rather that *he
looks like he’s weakening.” The WB may actually be the best; just don't like
to base it on refigion. ™

@/ 25 On March 18, 2003, KSM was confronted with the reporting of
Majid Khan, who was then in the custody of a foreign government,*” regarding plotting against
gas statipns inside the United States, information that KSM had not previausly discussed, In
assessing the session, DETENTION SITE BLUE personnel noted that “KSM will selectively Lie,
provide partial truths, and misdirect when he belicves he will nat be found out and held
accountable.” On the other hand, they wrote that “KSM appears more inclined to make accurate

* Ennil o; [REDACTED}; from: [, subjcct: Re: Medical jimitations of WS - draft thoughts; date;
March 17,2003, at 01:11:35 PM.

#¢ Eynalt from: (NN o: (REDACTEDY; cc: NI, subject: Oct 18; date: March 18,
2003, at 10:52:03 AM.

*7 Majid Khan, who was arrested on March 5, 2003, provided extensive information prior o being rendered to C1A
ctistody. This incladed infonnation on lyman Faris, Uzhzir (Paracha) and his father, Aafia Sidiqql, his ransfer of
a1-Qa'ida funds fo » Bangkok-based Zubair, and his discussions with KSM regarding various proposed plots. Majid

Khan also provided assistance to the CIA in its efforts to locate Ammar al-Baluchi, including through Abu Talha al-
hl‘.ﬂﬁs

13908 (2602512 MAR

41772 (1212302 JUL 03); ' : ;
; to: [REDACTED], subject, “Re: i hope the
approvals for ephenced comes through quickly for this guy... this does not look good™; date: June 30, 2003.) A

June 2006 CIA email staled that Majid Khan said he “fabricated 2 lot of his early [CIA] interrogation reporting
stop,.. what he calfed ‘torture.” According o the email, Khan stated that he was *hung up” for approximately one

day in a sleep deprived position and thai he provided * thing they wanted (o hesr to get ort of the situation.”
(See cnal from: mmcmmﬁ W [REDACTED],
{REDACTED], [REDACTED], . snbject: : request for prozac; date: June 16, 2006.) As
detailed in this summary and in more detail in Volume I, the CIA ipaccuraiely atiributed information provided by
Majid Khan in foreign govemment custody  the CIA in jons of KSM.
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disclosures when he believes people, emails, or other source material are available to the USG
for checking his responses.™?®

S/ F) The same day, KSM provided additional information on the

Heathrow Airport plotting, much of which he would recant in 2004.*” KSM also discussed
Jaffar al-Tayyar again, prompting the detention site personnel to refer to the “all-purpose™ al-
Tayyar whom KSM had “waven... into practically every story, each time with a different
role."® After KSM had included al-Tayyar in his discussion of Majid Khan's gas station plot,
KSM debricfer [l wrot in an email that *{tJoday [al-Tayyar's] working with Majid
Khan, yesterday the London crowd, the day before Padilla - you get the point,”®! Beginning the
evening of March 18, 2003, KSM hegan a periad of sleep deprivation, most of it in the standing
position, which would last for seven and a half days, or approximately 180 hours.5%

s/ ~F) On March 19, 2003, the interrogators at the detention site deeided

to waterboard KSM due to KSM's inconsistent information about Jaffar al-Tayyar's passport.5®
According to CIA cables, after assuming his position on the waterboard, KSM “seemed to lose
control” and appearcd “‘somewhat frantic,” stating that he “had been forced to lie, and ma[k]e up
stories about” Jaffar al-Tayyar because of his interrogators.”® KSM then stated that his

- reporting on al-Tayyar's role in Majid Khan's plotting was a “complete fabrication” and that al-

Tayyar had been compromised as an operative and that as a result, al-Tayyar could not be used
for a terrorist operation.’® In response, the interrogators told KSM that they only wanted to hear
him speak if he was revealing information on the next attack.®™ Deputy Chicf of ALEC Station
ﬁ later told the inspector genernl that it was around this time that contract interrogator
DUNBAR stated that “he had not seen a ‘resistor’ [sic] like KSM, and was ‘going to go to school
on this guy.” % According o CIA records, the interrogators theil “devote[d] all measures to
pressuring [KSM] on the single issue of the ‘next attack on America,’ including attention grabs,
insult slaps, walling, water dousing, and additional waterboard sessions.

rs/E~F) On Macch 20, 2003, KSM continued to be subjected to the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques throughout the day, including a period of “intense questioning

- 10884 (1821402 MAR 03)

w 10883 (182127Z MAR 03), disseminated a5 || | N NNENEEEE: W 22539 (031541 Z JUL 04). CIA
records indicate that CIA officers believed that KSM's recantations were credible. See¢ KSM detainee review in
Volume IIE. -

soo [N 10884 (1821402 MAR 03)

%1 Emait-fromi: tREDACTED), OFFICE: [l to: fREDACTED]; subject: IAFAR REQUEST: datc: March
(8, 2003, at 08:16:07 PM. .

0 10884 (182140Z MAR 03); [JJIJE 10888 (1908052 MAR 03); [ 10999 (2608352 MAR
03); 10960 (2409502 MAR 03)

503 10892 (191503Z MAR 03); [ 10902 (2010372 MAR 03)

4 10902 (201037Z MAR 03)

5 10894 (1915132 MAR 03); [ 10902 (201037Z MAR 03)

o 10902 (201037Z MAR 03)
%7 Interview of by [(REDACTED)] and [REDACTED), Office of the Inspector General, April 3,
2003. '

o NN 10902 (2010372 MAR 03); [ 10500 (1919072 MAR 03); I 10896 (1915242 MAR
03)
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and walling."*® KSM was described as *{t]ired and sore,” with abrasions on his ankles, shins,
and wrists, as well as on the back of his head.*™® He also suffered from pedal edema resulting
from extended standing.**! Afier having concluded that there was “no further movement" in the
interrogation, the detention site personnel hung a picture of KSM's sons in his cell as a way to
“[heighten] his imagination concerning where they are, who has them, {and] what is in store for
them.”

512

The waterboarding of KSM on March 21, 2003, and March 22,
2003, was based on @ misreading of intelligence provided by Majid Khen by Deputy Chief of
ALEC Station i According to a cable from the CIA's &. Khan,
who was in foreign government custody, had stated that KSM wanted 1o use *“two to thiee
unknown Black American Muslim converts who were currently training in Afghanistan,” to
“conduct auacks” on gas stations in the United States, and that “KSM was interested in usin
anyone with US status to assist with this operation.”'* Upon receipt of this reporting, *
wrote in an email “i love the Black American Muslim at AQ camps in Afghanuistan {sic] ...
Mukie [KSM] is going to be hatin® life on this one.”*"* However, her subsequent questianing of
KSM was not based on Khan’s actual reporting, which was about potential operatives already in
Afghanistan, but rather something Khan had not said—that KSM directed him to make contact
with African-American converts in the United States >* According to CIA records, ina
“contentious™ session that fasted for howrs and involved the use of the CIA's enhenced
inerrogation techniques, KSM “flatly denicd™ any efforts to recruit African-American Muslim
converts, KSM was then waterboarded.’'® Later in the day, facing the threat of a second
waterboarding session, KSM “relented and said that maybe he had told Khan that he should sce
if he could make contact with members of the Black American Muslim convert community."”
The CIA interrogators then returned KSM to the standing sleep deprivation position without a
second waterboarding session.?”

S/EE ~=) The next day, March 22, 2003, interrogators subjected KSM to

“intense” questioning and walling, but when KSM provided no new information on African-
American Muslim converts or threats inside the United States, he was subjected to additional

10916 2108452 MAR 03); [ 10521 (211046Z MAR 03)

10916 (210845Z MAR 03)

10909 (201913Z MAR 03)

by (REDACTED) and [REDACTED], Officz of the [nspector Genexal, October
10917 (210907Z MAR 03).

1434Z MAR 03)

314 Bmaii ta: : from: [REDACTED] OFFICE: DETENTION SITE BLUE]; subject: Re:
Majid Khan; date: March 20, 2003, 2t 03:40:17 PM. The cabke was formally sent to DETENTION SITE
BLUE via ALEC [ (210015Z MAR 03).

n3 10932 (212132Z MAR 03)

516 10932 (2121322 MAR 03); [N 10922 (211256Z MAR 03}
in 10932 (2121322 MAR 03)
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waterboarding.>'® An hour later, KSM stated that he was “resdy (o talk.”s!® He told the CIA
interrogators that he had sent Abu Igsa al-Britani to Montana to recruit African-American
Muslim converts, a mission he said had been prompted by discussions with a London-based
shaykh whose bodyguards had families in Montana.*¥® KSM also stated that he tasked Majid
Khan with attending Muslim conferences in the United States to “spot and assess potential
extremists” who would assist in the gas smtion plot.’*' In June 2003, KSM admitted that he
fabricated the story about Abu Issa al-Britani and Montana, explaining that he was “under
‘enhanced measures’ when he made these claims and simply told his interrogators what he
thought they wanted to hear."**? 1n August 2003, KSM reiterated that he had no plans to recruit
or use “black American Muslim” converts operationally.’® In December 2008, he denied ever
asking Majid Khan to recnit convents or atiend Istamic conferences. ¢

s/ = On March 24, 2003, KSM underwent his fifteenth and fina!

documented walerboarding scssion due o his “intransigence” in failing to identify suspected
Abu Bakr al-Azdi operations in the United States, and for having “Jied about poison and
biologica) warfare programs.”*™ KSM was described in the scssion as being “composed, stoic,
and rcsigned.”¥2

That evening, the detention site received two reports. The first
recounted the reporting of Majid Khan, who was still in the custody of a foreign government, on
Uzhair, who ran the New York branch of his father’s Karachi-based impoft-expart business, and
on Uzhair’s father.’?’ According o Khan, his meetings with the two were facilitated by Ammar
al-Baluchi.’® The second report described the reporting of Iyman Faris, who was in FBI
custody, on a plot to cut the suspension cables on the Brooklyn Bridge and exploration of plans
to derail trains and conduct on artack in Washington, D.C.5® KSM, whom detention site
personnel described as “boxed in" by the new reporting,”™ then stated that Uzhair's father, Sayf
al-Rahman Paracha, had agreed o smuggle explasives into the United States.”' As described

s I 10941 (2215062 MAR 02). JEEII 10950 (222127Z MAR 03). One cable trom DETENTION
SITE BLUE hypothes(zed ¢hat KSM was lying in order to force the CIA inrerrogstors to apply the C(A 's enhanced
inlewogation echniques: “[T]he enhanced meagures ceswiting from his lying in [sic] details could be » resistance
struwegy (0 keep (e inteqrogation (rom theeatening issvesx. .. {KSM'3] apparcnt willingness to provoke and incur the
ute of enhanced measyres may repressnt o calcelaled strolegy 1o cither: (A) redirect the colurse of the imterogation:,
or (Bi 1o ameaspt (0 cultivaie some doubd thal he had knowledge of any amvent or futare operations agaimst the US.”
See

10950 (2221272 MAR 03),
;;: 10950 (2221272 MAR 03)

disseminated as
a4 10942 (221610Z MAR 03), dissemivered 2: [[NNEG
=1 12095 (222049Z JUN 03}

g 12558 (041938Z AUG @3
= 31148 (1719192 DEC osnﬁalm {(171919Z DEC 05), disseminated oy [ NG

- 10983 (242321Z MAR 03); 10972 (2411222 MAR 03)
s 10974 (241834Z MAR 03); 105983 (242321Z MAR 03)
%27 See the sections of this summary and Volume Il on the Identification and Arrests of Uzhair and Saifullch

Pamcha.
02z 13890 A 10984 (242351Z MAR 03)

2 WHDC (2422262 MAR 03), 10983 (242321Z MAR 03)
30 10983 (242321Z MAR 03)
e 10984 (2423512 MAR 03), disseminated as
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elsewhere in this summary, the purported parties to the agreement denjed that such an agreement
exisied. ¥ In confirming Paris's reporting, KSM exhibited what the Interagency Intelligence
Commirtee on Terrorism would later describe as an effort to “‘stay obvious/general” and “provide
littte information thet might enable the US to thwart attacks.™*?

/SR ~) With the exception of sleep deprivation, which continued for one

more day, the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques against KSM stopped abruptly
on March 24, 2003.5* There are no CIA records directing the interrogation team to cease using
the CTA’s enhanced inicrrogation techniques agrinst KSM, nor any coniemporaneous
documentation explaining the decision. 3

4. After the Use of the CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Techniques Against KSM Ends, the
CIA Conrinues 1o Assess That KSM Is Withholding amd Fabricating Information

TS/ ~=) On April 3, 2003, the Interagency Intefligence Committee on

Terrorism produced an assessment of KSM's intellipence entided, “Precious Truths, Surrounded
by & Bodyguard of Lies.” The assessment concluded that KSM was withholding or lying about
terrarist plots snd operatives targeting the United States. It also identificd contradictions
between KSM's reporting on CBRN and other sources. ™

(“FNF) On April 24, 2003, FBI Directar Robert Mueller began seeking
direct FBI access to KSM in order to betier understand CIA reporting indicating threats to U.S.
cities. 3 Despite personal commitments from DCI Tenet to Director Mueller that sccess would

be forthcoming, the CIA's CTC successfully formulated a CIA position whereby the FBI would

2 According to one cable, KSM did not volunteer the purported smuggling ploe, but rather was ssked aboul if by
interrogators. (See ALEC I (0522302 MAY 03). All pacties to the purported plot - Parscha and Ammar al-

Baluchi — depied any agreoment had been reached. DIRECTOR 181929 JUN 03), disseninared us [l
*wm (3016002 MAY 03): SR 13585 (171502 JUL 03);
DIRECTOR (1819292 JUN 03), disseminated os : 39239
(3016002 MAY 03); ALEC I (012248Z APR 03).) With regard Io the explosives smmggling reporting, the
formes chief of the Bin Ladin Unit wrote in n Mmcch 2003 email: “again, another ki op worthy of the Jamentable
knockleheads, .. why ‘srouggie’ in explosives when yoo can get Lhem hore? neitber fevtilizee for bombs or cegular

cxplosives are that hard 1o come by. ramzi yousef came & cons with a suilcase and hundred bucks and

Whm«m here. this be true, bul it just secms damn odd to pe.” See amsil froor:
g T e
hig%ﬂn. anctiver ksm op warlhy of the larnentable; date: March 25, 2003, a2 6:29:08 AM.

m 10983 (2423502 MAR (3). “Khalid Shaykh Mubsmmad's Theest Reporting ~ Precious Traths,
Sumrounded by a Sodyguard of Lies,” RCT, Apeil 3, 2003.

534 Sleep deprivation was extended for an additional day, elthoogh it was intecrupted by “csinepping.” See [
10999 (260835Z MAR 03).

4 For additiona! details, see KSM detainee review in Volume [ML

3% “Khalid Shaykh Muhammad's Threat Reporting ~ Preciaus Truths, Surrounded by & Bodyguard of Lies," OCT,

April 3, 2003,
B Email from: : 1o: L ce: James L. Pavit; [N /oh» B. Moseman;
Joze Rodriguer; ; and , subject: Mueller’s Interest [n FB] Aocess 10 KSM;
date: Apel 24, 2003, at [0:59:53 AM. :
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not be pravided access to KSM until his anticipated transfer to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, Neither
the CIA nor the FBI knew ut the time that the transfer would not occur until September 20065

@S/ ~5) Between April 2003 and July 2003, KSM frustrated the CIA on &
number of fronts, On May 7, 2003, efter more than two months of conflicting reporting, ALEC
Station concluded that KSM *“consistently wavers” on issues of UBL's location, protectors, and
hosts, and that his infarmation “conveniently lack([s] sufficient detail [to be] actionable
intelligence."** On June 12, 2003, C1A Headquarters indicated that it “remain[ed] highly
suspicious that KSM is withholding, exaggerating, misdirecting, or outright fabricating
information on CBRN issues."* At the end of April 2003, KSM was shown pictures of the
recently captured Amimnar pl-Baluchi and Khallad bin Attash, after which he provided additional
information related (o their plotting in Karachi.*! ALEC Station wrote in a May 20, 2003, cable
that “{wle congider KSM's long-standing omission of [this] information & be a senous concern,
especially as this omission may well have cost American lives had Pakistani authoritics not been
diligent in following up on unrelated criminal leads that led to the capture of Ammar, bin Attash,
and other pcobable operatives involved in the artack plans,™?

@S/ »F) in Msy and June 2003, Ammac al-Baluchi and Khatkd bin Attash
provided reporting that contradicted KSM's statements about the Heathrow Airport plotting and
included information that KSM had not provided.™* After KSM was confronted with this
reporting, Deputy Chief of ALEC Station wrote in an email, “OK, that's it....
yet again he lies and ONLY ADMITS details when he knows we know them from someone

9 Memorandum for: James L. Pavitt; _; Jose Rodriguez; - —:
from: subject: Update: Ditector Mueller - DCI Tenet Conversation on KSM; date:; June 4, 2003,
a105:47:32 PM. Note for: James L. Pavitt; from: || GGG <c: Jose Rodriguez,
, subject; Director Mueller Plans to Call DCI on KSM Issue; date: May 21, 2003, at 08:40:22 PM, In
addition to the FBI, senior CIA officers, including CTC's representatives to the FBI, complained abour the
limiations on the dissemination of intelligence derived from CIA interrogations end the impact those limitations had
on coupteptertorism analysis. The CTC's representative (o the FBI described this to the O1U as 8 “‘serious coacern.”
He stated that the compartmentation of interrogution information resulted in
delays in dissemination thal could result in information being “missed.” He alsa stated that the CiA's

compartmentation of Information prevented him from providing to the FBI “some insight inlo the value/credibility
of inlelligence repors.” {See inlerview ofﬂ, :;g— Office of the Inspector Generul,
Augnat (8. 200].) Among the other CIA officers expressing these concems were the deputy chief of CTC's Al-
Qa'kda Deportinent, whe told the OIG that limited access to tional traffic “has had an impact on (aaalysts’ | full
koowledge of activities, and thus their analyses™ (See Meamarandum for the Recand; subject:
Mecting with Deputy Chicf, Cowntenerrorism Center Al-Qa’ida Departimen; July 2§, 2003.) The Direcior of
Analysis & CTC described onalysts’ limited eccess (o infarmalion as a “continuing problem.” (See August 18,
2003, Memoraadum far {ke Record, meeging with Connterterorism Ceater, Diractor of Anelysis, Office of the
Inspector Geoerat.) The CIA's Deputy Director of Intelligence told the OIG that limitstkons on the dissemination of
operational information preveneed the “full cadre of analysts” from reviewing the intetligence and that, as s result
“we're tosing anatytic ability (o look at [fareign inteliigence] in a fimely manner.” See intecview of _
B by (REDACTED] and [REDACTED), Office of the Inspecior General, September 12, 2003

S ALEC 0720022 MAY 03)

% DIRECTOR {12)850Z JUN 03

ul mu (3017102 APR 03); _ 11448 (301141Z APR 03)

M ALEC (0220122 MAY 03). See information in this summary and Volume U on the “Karachi Plot™ for
additional information.
M3 Sor detainee reviews for Ammar al-Baluchi and Xhatiad bin Attash in Volume UI for additional information on
the reporiing the detainees provided.
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clse.”™ On April 19, 2003, KSM was questioned for the first time about summer 2002
reporting frorm Masran bin Arshad, who was in the custody of e foreign government, regarding
the “Second Wave” plot. Informed that bin Arshad had been detained, KSM stated, “l have
forgotien about him, he is not in my mind at all.”™** In response, ALEC Station noted that it
“remain{e}d concerned that KSM's progression towards full debriefing status is not yet apparent
where it counts most, in relation to threats to US interests, especially inside CONUS."* [n June
2003, almost three months after the CIA had stopped using its enhanced interrogstion ®chniques
against KSM, senior ALEC Station and RDG offficers met at least twice t0 discuss concems
abaut KSM's lack of cooperation.’4” As an ALEC Station cable noted af the time, “KSM’s
patrern of behavior over the past three months, trying to control his environment, tying and then
admitting things only when pressed that others have been caught and have likely admited the
plot, is a cause for concern."** In an email, one CIA officer noted that “what KSM's doing is
faurly typical of other detainees... KSM, Khallad [bin Atrash], and others are doing what makes
sense in their situation - pretend cooperation.™*

@S/~ ) 1n the (ali of 2003, after KSM's explanetions about how fo deerypt
phone mumbers related to Bricish operative Issa al-Britani {(KSM did not identify the operative as
“Issa al-Hindi," or by his true name, Dhiren Baros) yielded no resuits, and afver KSM
misidentified another individual, known not to be Issa, as Isza, Deputy Chief of ALEC Swtion
stated jn an email that KSM was *'obstructng our ability to ecquire good
information,” noting that KSM “misidentific[s} photos when he knows we are fishing" and
“mislcads us on telephone numbers."° Later, after KSM's transfer to DETENTION SITE
BLACK, ALEC Station wrote thar KSM “may never be fully forthcoming and honest” on the
topic of UBL's whereabouts %! Despite repcated challenges, KSM maintained that he lacked

information on UBL's location."?

* Memocandusn foe: 1 froon: [N +-bjccc:
Action detainee branch; date: June 12, 2003 (eimphasis in the original).
i 11319 {1914452 APR 03), disscminsted us

[REDACTED]; subject: Re: KSM's passive restreint — please et me know if you

have comments for a_memg 1o the DCI: date: June 24, 2003, at 1:27:06 PM.
30 Fymail from: : bo: 1
[REDACTED); ce: ; subject: KSM and Khallad Jssues;

date: October 16, 2003, at 5:25:13 PM,

51 ALEC 1119322 NOV 03)

s 10400 (16! 754Z NQV 02). KSM, who was with Ayman al-Zawahiri the dey before his March |,
2003, captore, first informed the CIA of this fact more than a month later, on April 3, 2003, See [N 11139

{051936Z APR 03).
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FS/ER > KSM wes ransferred to DETENTION SITE N on

B 2005,%% to DETENTION SITE BROWN on March [}, 2006, and to U.S. military detention
at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, on September 5, 2006.5%% The CIA disseminated 831 intelligence
reports from the interrogations of KSM over a period of 3.5 years. While KSM provided more
intelligence reporting than any other CIA detainee (nearly 15 percent of all CIA detainee
intelligence reporting), CIA records indicate that KSM also received the most intelligence
requirements and attention from CIA interrogators, debriefers, analysts, and senior CIA
leadership. Further, as noted, a significant amount of the disserminated intelligence reporting
from KSM that the CIA identified as important threat reporting was later identified as
fabricated.>%

H. The Growth of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program

1. Fifty-Three CIA Detainees Enter the CIA’s Detention and Interragarion Program in 2003

s/ %) Vhile the CIA held detainees from 2002 to 2008, early 2003 was
the most active period of the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program. Of the 119 detainees
identified by the Committee as held by the CIA, 53 were brought into custody in 2003, and of the
39 detainees the Committee has found to have been subjected to the CIA's enhanced
interrogation rechniques, 17 were subjected to such techniques between January 2003 and
August 2003. The CIA's enhanced interrogations during that time were primarily used at
DETENTION SITE COBALT and DETENTION SITE BLUE.**? Other interrogations using the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques took place at a CLA [l in Country [, at which
at least one CIA detainee was submerged in a bathtub filled with jce water.3%®

s/ ~F) 1n 2003, CIA interrogators sought and received approval to use the

CIA's énhanced interrogation techniques against at least {ive detalnees prior to their arrival at a
CIA detention facility.®®® In two of those cases, CIA Headquartcrs opproved the usc of the CIA's

7847 [N I - I 1= A DQUARTERS

2214 (D505392Z SEP 06)

5% See KSM detainee review in Vojume FHL

B7 Fdr more information, see delainge reviews and reports in Yolume III for Ramzi bin al-Shibh, Muhammad Umar
‘Abd el-Rahman ska Assdallsh, Abu Khalid, Khalid Shaykh Mohammad, Mustafa Ahmad al-Hawsawi, Aba Yasir °
al-Jaza'iri, Suleiman Abdullah, Abu Hazim, Al-Shara’iya akn Abd zl-Kedim, Ammar al-Baluchi, Khallad bin Attash,
Laid Ben Dohman Saidi ska Abo Hudhaifa, Msjid Khan, Mohd Farik bin Amin aka Abu Zubair, Same Hilmi Abdut
Latif al-Barq, Bashir bin Lap aka Lillie, and Riduan bin Isomuddin aka Hambali.

332 For example, Abu Hudhaifa was subjected to this technique at the safehouse. (See email from: [REDACTED);

to: [REDACTED]: subject: Memo; date: March 15, 2004,) The incident was re 1o the CIA in; enecal.
Sve et o SRR, IR, - (=0 7D, AR, SR
subject: our tefcon; at: March 17, 2004, at 11:24 AM. See afso claims related to the treatment of
Mpujid Khan, See Briefing for the Senate Select Comrmitiee an Tntelligence,
Implementation of Central Intelligence Ageney Secret Detention and Interrogation Program, March 14, 2008,

%9 DIRECTOR [ (0122142 MAR 03); DIRECTOR [ (040049Z MAR 03): DIRECTOR [

(252003Z MAR 03); DIRECTOR -ilszmz MAY osi }mnniu.mmns (102352Z SEP 03)
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enhm;:oed interrogation rechniques before they were requested by CIA personnel at the detention
sites,

2. The CIA Establishes DETENTION SITE BLACK in Country ] and DETENTION SITE
VIOLET in Country |}

{ The CIA entered into an agrecment with the
in Country J to host & CIA detention facility in 002.% In .
CIA Headquarters invited the CIA Station in Cmi to identify ways ro support the

B i Councry | to “demonsirate 10 and the highest levels of the [Country

govermment that we decply appreciare their cooperation and support™ for the detention
3 The Siustion responded with an ] milfion “wish list™

““’ CIA Headquarters provided the Station with $§ million more than was

rexjuested for the purposes of the subsidy.® CIA desinees were transferred o

DETENTION SITE BLACK in Couniry [l]in the fall of 2003 %6

In August 2003, the U.S. ambassador in Country J] sought to
coontact State Department officials w cnsure that the State Department was aware of the CIA
detention facility and-its “'potential impact on our policy vis-a-vis the [Country .]
government.">* The U.S, ambassador was told by the CIA Station that this was not passible,
and that no one st the State Department, including the sceretary of state, was informed about the
CIA detention fucility in Counery []. Describing the CIA’s position as “unacceptable,” the
ambassador then requestad a signed document from “at least the President’s National Security
Advisor” describing the authorities for the program, including a statement that the CIA's
intrrogation techniques met *“legal and human rights standards,” and an explicit order to him not
to discuss the program with the seeretary of state.>’ CIA Headquarters then sought the
intervention of Deputy Secretary of State Richard Armltage, who called the U.S, ambassador.
Deputy Secretary Armuitage told the CIA to keep him and the secretary of state informed so that
they would not be caught unaware when an ambassador raised concerns.

Nearly a ycar later, in May 2004, revelations about U.S. detainee
abuses at the U.S. military prison in Abu Ghraib, lraq, prompied the seme U.S. ambassador in
Country [ff 1o seek information on CIA detention siandords and inrerrogation methods, ™ In the
fall of 2004, when [} US. ambassador o Country ] sought documents suthorizing the
program, the CTA again sought the intervention of Deputy Secremry Armitage, who once again

*2 DIRECTOR I (0122142 MAR 03); DIRECTOR [l (040049Z MAR 03)

% HEADQUARTERS
%3 IREDACTED} 575%

* HEADQUARTERS
i wactess. Wl detainees arrived in Country |
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made “strong remarks” to the CTA about how he and the secretary of state were *“cut out of the
NSC [National Security Council] clearance/coordination process™ with regard to the CIA
program, According to CIA records, Armitage also questioned the efficacy of the program and
the value of the intelligence derived from the program.™™® While it is unclear how thch
ambassador’s concerns were resolved, he later joined the chief of Station in making a
presentation © Country .‘s _ on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. The
presentation talking points did not describe the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, but
represented that “[w)ithout the fufl range of these interrogation measures, we would not have
succeeded in overcoming the resistance of [Khalid Shaykh Muhammad] and other equally
resistant HVDs.” The 1alking points incloded many of the same inaccurate representations®”
made to U.S. policymakers and others, attributing 1o CIA detninees critical information on the
“Karachi Plot,” the “Heathrow Plot,” the “Second Wave Plot,” and the “Guraba Cell™; as well as
inelligence releted to Issa al-Hindi, Abu Telha al-Pakistani, Hambali, Jose Padilla, Binyam
Mohammed, Sajid Badat, and Jaffar al-Tayyar. The presentation also noted that the president of
the United States had directed that be not be informed of the locations of the CIA detention
facilities to ensure he would not accidenrally disclose the information 5™

In a separate country, Country [}, the CIA obtained the approval of
the and the political leadership to establish a derention facility before
informing the U.S. ambassador.’” As the CIA chief of Station stated in his request to CIA
Headquarters 10 brief the ambassador, Country ['s nd the

robably would ask the ambassador about the CIA detention facility.!" After.
_—umw briefing the for
months, to the consternation of the CIA Station, which wanted political approval prior to the
arrival of CIA detainees.’™ The Il Councy Ml official outside of
the aware of the facility, was described as

“shocked,” but nonetheless approved.”’

By mid-2003 the CIA had concluded that its completed, but still
unused “holding cell” in Country ] was insufficient, given the growing number of CIA detainees
in the program and the CIA s interest in interrogating mulriple detrinees at the sare decention
site. The CIA thus sought to build a new, expanded detention fecility in the country.’” The CIA

™ Lotus Notes message from Chief of Sucion [ITNENGEG COPS; copied in; email from:
10: (REDACTED], (REDACTEDY; cc: [REDACTED],
subject: ADCI Telking Poins for Caill 1o DepSec Armitage; date: at 7:40:43 PM.

The CIA's Juoe 2013 Response states that “with regard to the Sludy’s claims that the State Depanment was ‘cut on’

of information refating to the program, the recoed shows tat the Seoretary of State, Deputy Secretary of Stale...
were awars of the sites m the time they wese opertionnl.” As detailed throughout the Commitse Srudy, CIA
records indicate the secretary of state was not informed of the CIA detention site locations. Dwring meelings with
the CiA in the summer of 2013, the Committee requested, but was 1ot provided, documentary evidence 1o support
the assertion in the CIA’s June 2013 Response.

7' See relevant sections of this summary and Yolume I for additiona] detnils.

STHEADQUARTERS ACTED}

3 [REDACTED] 64105
s [REDACTED) 30296
378 See Volume | for additionsl details,

78 [REDACTED] 4076 [REDACTED]; [REDACTED] 32266 [REDACTED]
77 HEADQUARTERS
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also offered $ff million to the (NN « inti for
m.

According to a CIA cable, however, the

While the plan to construct the
the CIA and

accurately—that the planmn had been
received its first CTA detsinees, h
informed the CIA of Country [ “probably bas en
incomplete notion [regarding the facility’s) actual function, i.e., hc probably believes drat it is

some sort of | center. 582

3. ArLeast 17 CIA Detainees Sub;eczed to the CIA's Enhanced Interrogasion Techniques
Without CIA Headquarters Authorization

( CIA cables from the spring of 2003 and afterwards describe
multiple examples of interrogation practices at CIA detention sites thet were inconsistent with
the CIA's detention and Interrogation guidelines. CIA officers at DETENTION SITE
COBALT~lcd principally by Chief of Interrogations {so described a number
of interrogation activities in cables that were not approved by CIA Headquarters, CIA
Headquarters failed o respond, inquire, or investigate:

* Cables revealing thot the CIA's chief of interrogations used water dousing ageinst
desainees, including with cold water and/or ice water baths, as an interrogation technique
without pricr approval from CIA Headquarters;™?

™ HEADQUARTERS

% [REDACTED] 4088

0 9¢w Volume [ for sdditional desails.

! [REDACTED) $293 . See also [REDACTED] 5327 !

%2 REDACTED)] 5417 . See Volume 1T for additions!

details on inces in Count

u 39042 (I MAY 03); 38596 (201220Z MAY 03);
39582 (0417432 JUN 03); 38557 (191641Z MAY 03);
38597 (201225Z MAY 03); 19101 [ mAY 03).

Water dousing was categorized us o “standard” interrogation technigue in June 2003,
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e (Cables and records indicating that CIA detainees who were undergoing or had undergone
the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were subjected to rectal rehydration,
without evidence of medical necessity, and that others were threntened with ;384

» Cables noting that groups of four or more interrogators, who required practical
experience to acquire their CIA interrogation “certification,” werc allowed to apply the
CJA's enhanced interrogation technigues as a group against a single detaince;*® and

W See 34491 (0814002 MAR 03); interview of

REDACTEDT of the Qffice of the Ins General, March 27, 2003;
email from: to: {REDACTED]; «c:
at 4:51:32PM;, 12385 (2220452 JUL 03);

addition 10 the rectal rehydration o feeding of l-Nashiri, KSM and Mayid Khaa, descrided elsewhere, there is &1
keast oo record of Aba Zuba ceceiving “rectal fluid resuscitation™ for “pariially refusing liguids * (See
10070 ) Mtwaml-)nbbnruswbpdedlowhﬂwnm referred (o in a2
cable 35 an “enema,™ but was later acknowled, lohcmnl See
, email from: IRBDACTED], [REDACTED]),
[REDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: Re: TASKING — Fw daie: March 30, 2007; DTS -1 S02.)
Rarnzi bin al-Shibh, Khallad bin Attash and Adnun ai-Libi were threatened with réctal rehydeation. (See
10415 . I 2385 (222045Z JUL 03); email from: L to:
; subject: Medical Evaluation/Update JI047); date: Macch || 2004.) CIA medical officers discussed
rectal rehydration as 8 means of behavior control. As one officer wrow, “[w]hile IV {nfusion is safe and effective,

we were impressed with the encillary effectiveness of rectal infusion on ending the water refusal in a similar case.”
(See e miﬁ o I -.tic: =:: SN o-5)
date: Febeuary il 2004,) The same officer provided a description of the procedure, writing that “[¢legarding the
rectal tube, if you place it and open up the IV tubing, the flow will self regulate, gloshing up the large intestines.”

Referenr,:ing the experience of the medicl officer who subjected KSM to rectal rehydration, the officer wrote that,

“[w]hat | infer ia that you get a tobe up gs far as you can, then open the IV wide. No need to squeeze the bag ~ let
svity do the work " See e rom RSN - I
H , and [REDACTED], February 27, 2004, Subject: Re: (048).) The same

email exchange included a description of a previons appiication of the technique, in which “we used the Jargest Bwal
[sic] tube we had.” (See emeil from: [REDACTED]; to  cc: [REDACTED]L [
h IREDACTED), [REDACTED]; subject: Re: (048); date: February [l

2004, at | 1:42:16 PM.) As described in the context of the rectal Feeding of 21-Nashiri, Ensure was infused into al-
Mashiri “in a forward-facing position (Trendlenberg) with head lower than torso.” (See SN 203 (2317092
MAY D4).} Majid Khan's “lunch tray,” consisting of hummus, pasta with tauce, nuts, eod raising was "pureed” and
recially infused. (See {231839Z SEP 04).} The ClA's June 201 3 Response docs
not address e use of rectsl feeding with CIA defainecs, but defends the ase of rectal rehydrtion &9 a “well
scknowledged medical iechnique.® CIA leadershig, incloding Geaeral Counsel Scott Muller aod DDO James Pavitr,
was also alerted to sllegations that rectal exams were conducted with “excessive force™ on two detainess af
DETENTION SITE COBALT. CIA attomey was asked to fotlow vp, akhough CIA reconds do ot
indicate any resofution of the inquiry. CIA records indicase that one of the detainees, Mustafa al-Howsewi, was balex
diagnased with chronic hemonhoids, an anal fissure, and tomatic rectal profapse. See emall fros:
[REDACTEDY; to (REDACTED}; ¢ [REDACTED]; subj ACTIONS
from the GC Update this Momin date at 12:15 PM; email fromu:
[REDACTEO]; cc: REDACTED], [REDACTED], {REDACTED), subject: A ONS M the
GC Update this Moming: 3 , at 1:23:31 PM,; email from:
[REDACTED]; ec! (REDACI'ED], subject: Re: ACTIONS from the GC Update thil Moml
REQUEST FOR STATUS UPDATE; date: December [} 2003, ac 10:47:32 AM; [Jiil] 3222 H
HEADQUARTERS
3 See, for example,
(201133Z MAY 03);

38130 (121722Z MAY 03);
38127 (121714Z MAY 03

3Blst
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& Cables revealing that the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques were used at CLA
thar were not designated as CIA detention sites, 6

s/ 2F) in the first half of 2003, the CIA interrogated four detainees with

medical complications in their lower exiremities: two detainees had a broken foot, one demainee
had a sprained ankle, and one detainee had a prosthetic leg.® CIA inmrogators shackled each
of thesc detinees in the standing position for sleep deprivation for extended periads of time until
medical personnel assessed that they could not maintain the position. The two detainees that
each had a broken foor were also subjected to watling, stress positions, and cramped
confinement, despite the note in their interrogation plans that these specific enhanced
interrogation techniques were not requested because of the medical condition of the detainees. ™
CIA Headquarters did not react to the site’s use of these CTA enhanced interrogation techniqucs
despite the lack of approval.

@/ ) Over the course of the CIA program, at least 39 detanees were

subjected to one or more of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.®® CIA records
indicate that there were at least 17 CIA detainees who were subjected to one or more CIA
enhanced interrogation techniques without CIA Headquarters approval. This count includes
detainees who were approved for the use of some rechniques, but were subjected 1o unapproved
techniques, as well as detainees for whom interrogators had no approvals to use any of the
techniques. This count also takes into account distinctions between techniques categorized as
“enhanced™ or “standard” by the CIA at the time they were applied.”® The |7 detainees who

131326z MAY 03); [ 2555 2012162 MAY 03); SRR 3126
(121709 MAY 03),
58 Soe, for example,

r;—sms
H MAY 03); email from: ACTED]; to:
[REDACTED]: sub mos-soss-H 39101

MAY 03): 37708 (051225Z MAY 03); 39077 (2717192

MAY 03); 39009 (2811012 MAY 03).
387 For more details, see detainee reviews for Muhannmad Umar ‘Abd al-Rahtman aka Asadallsh; Abu Hazim al-Libi;
Al-Shara’iya gka Abd al-Karim; and Khallad bin Artash.

%8 The two detainees were Abu Hazim al-Libi and Al-Shara‘iya nka Abd al-Karim.

9 This is a canservative estimate. CIA records suggest that the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques may have
also been used against five additional detpinees at DETENTION SITE COBALT in 2002, which would bring the

nuniber of CIA detainees subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques to 44. Those addilional
detainces wcre— {DETAINEE R}, who was approved for the CTA’s enhanced
interrogation technigues, but whose records do not refer © the use of the techniques (ALEC [N dREREEE
D): Ayob Mucshid Ali Salih and Ha'il Aziz Ahmad Al-Maythali, whose records refer to a lack of sleep, but not the
application of sleep deprivation 28132 (1011432 OCT 02); *
27964 (071949Z OCT 02)); Bashir Nasic Ali al-Marwalah, who later to]d debriefers thm, when he was first
captured, he “had to stand up for five days straight and answer tions” and *was alsc forced to Strip naked and
stand in front of a female interrogator” Hm (2315212 APR 03)); and Sa'id Salth Sa'id,
who later told debriefers that he was “mistreated and beaten by Americans whiie blind-folded and stripped dawn to
his underwear in [ See 13386 (0901542 JAN 03)). Sce alre detaines reviews in
VYolume 111 for more information,

% The CIA's June 2013 Reaponse objects to the Committee’s count, erguing that “[n]o more than seven detainecs
received enhunced techniques prior o written Hesdquarters approval.” The CIA's June 2013 Response then asseris

that “the Study miscounts because it confuses the use of standard techniﬁes that did not require prior approval at the
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were subjected to techniques without the approval of CIA Headquareers were: Rafiq Bashir al-
Hami,”®' Tawfiq Nasir Awad al-Bihandi, ¥ Hikmat Nafi Shaukat,** Lufti al-Arabi al-Gharisi,*™
Muhammad Ahmad Ghulam Rabbani aks Abu Badr, ™3 Gul Rahman,* Abd al-Rahim sl-

time they were edministered with ethanced techniques thar did.”” This statement o the CIA's Juae 2013 Responee s
insccurate. irst, peior to Sanuary 2003, dee CIA hext not yet designated any oechalque us 2 “sodacd™ technique.
Beczuse sleep deprivalion was included in the Augest 1, 2002, OLC memorendum approving the use of the C1A’s
enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Zubsydah, the Commitree included, among the |7, CIA detainees
subjecied to sleep deprivation without CTA Headquarters authorizarion prior to Jmuary 2003, In Jacuary 2003,
slecp deprivation under a specific lime limit was categorized as a “standard” CJA interrogation techniqoe. Second,
the January 2003 guidelines state that odvance CIA Headquarters apprava| was required for “standard” teckniques
“whenever feasible,” For thia reasan, the Committee did not include cases wher CiA inlerrogators failed to obsain
autharization in advance, but did acquire approval within several days of initinting the use of the “standard™
techniques. Finally, waior dousing wis not churacterized as a “standard” technique until June 2003, (Ser
DIRECTGOR 2115182 JUN 03); DIRECTOR Il (302126Z JAN 03): DIRECTOR (3117022

JAN 03); 39582 (041743Z JUN 03).) In numerous cases prioe to June 2003, waier
dousing was expllcitly describad In CIA cables us an “enhanced” interrogation technique. (See, for example,
DIRECTOR (101700Z FEB 03).) The Cominittee thus included, among the 17, CIA dettinees subjected to

waler dousing prior to June 2003 without CIA Headquarters authorization. The dislinction betwesn standard and
enhanced imerrogation fechnigues, which began in Januery 2003, was eliminated by CIA leadership in 2005, See
Yatume [ and Volume L1 for additional delails.

! Rafiq Bastir al-Mami was subjected w 72 hours of slee ivation between his arvival at DETENTION SITE

COBALT and his Octobers [l 2002, intervogation. See w297

1 Tawfiq Nasir Awad a!-Bitiani was subjecied 30 72 hours of s ivation betwoen his errival at DETENTION
SITE COBALT and his October [J| 2002, interogation. See 28452

%) C1A cables from October 2002 noted that Shaukat was “tired from his regimen of limited sleep deprivanon.” See

293381

B gfii a)-Acabi al-Gharisi onderwent st leasi two 43-honr sessions of feprivacion in 2002, See
I 2o M&mﬁ

%5 Abu Badr was subjected to forved standing, attention snd cold lerpemures willout blaskets in
November 2002, See 29963 5
¢ CJ A interrogators used sleep deprivation, facial stap, use of caid (including cold oells and cold showers), “bard
* dietary manipalation, hudity, and [i ivation on Gul Rebman, See
29520

interview of [CIA OFFICER 1], Decerber 19,
2 aterview of Harunond DUNBAR, Jarmacy 9, 2003; Memorandam for Deputy Directar
of Operations, from . Janoary 28, 2003, Subject: Death Investigation ~ Gul RAHMAN; CIA
Inspector Genegal, Repost of {nvestigation, Death of a Detainee h (2003-7402-1G), Aprit 27, 2005; und
CIA [napector Genenal, Special Review, Counterterrocism Detention And Interrogution Activities (September 2001 -
Orciober 2003), May 7, 2004,

2002;
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Nashiri,”” Ramzi bin al-Shibh,®® Asadallah,** Mustafa al-Hawsswi,’® Abu Khalid,%" Laid bin
Duhman #ka Abu Hudhaifa,” Abd al-Karim,*® Abn Hazim,* Sayyid Ibrahim,** Abu Yasic
al-Jaza'iri,*® and Suleiman Abdullah.®” In every case except al-Nashiri, the unauthorized

®7 Abd al-Rahim al-Nashici was subjected to unapproved pudity and approximately two-and-a-half days of sleep

deprivation in Deceniber with his arms shackled over his head for a5 long as 16 hours. Sez email from:
DETENTION SITE BLUE] : to: _; subject: EYES ONLY -

10!

ONLY -- MEMQ FOR ADDO/DDO; date: January 22, 2003,
% The facial hold was used against Ramzi bin al-Shibh multiple times without approval. Ser 10415
e e o 10429 (1012157 FEB 03 10573 (241143Z FEB 03); 10582
(2420262 FEB 03); 10591 (252002Z FEB 03); 10602 (262020Z FEB 03); 10633
(0115372 MAR 03); and 10704 (071239Z MAR 03). .
* Interrogators used water dousing, audity, and cramped confinement on Asadallah withowt having sought or
recei ved authorization from CIA Headquarters, Bathing detninees did not require authorization by CIA
Headquarters;, however, as described in CIA cables, the application of “bathing”™ in the case of Asadallah was done
punitively and was used a5 an intecrogation technique. Nudity was also used in conjunction with water
dousing/bathing and later as an interrogation technique, without al fram CIA Headguariema. See

34241 | and 34310*
0 Mustafa al-Hawsawi was subjected 1o water dousing without approval from CTA Headquarters. See NN
(081207Z APR 03),

'V Interrogators used slecp deprivation against Abu Khalid prior to seeking zuthorization from CIA Headquarters,
and then failed to obtain such suthorization. See 35193 [N --d
WSS - - . Abu Khatid had been in CIA custody for 17 days prior to

the use of the technique. Advance authorization from CJA Headquarters was therefore "feasible,” and thus required

under the guidelines,
%2 Atu Hudhaifs was subjected o baths in which ice water wes used, suinding sleep deprivation for 66 hours that
was discontinued due to a swollen leg attributed to prolonged standing, nudity, snd dietary manipulation. (See email
to: [REDACTED], : and
; subject: our telecom; date: March [, 2004; CIA Office of Inspector General Report; 2005-8085-1G;

; 39042 I MAY 03); and

MAY 03}.'). No request or approval for the use of standard or

¢nhanced intervogation techniques could be located in CIA records.
3 Abd al-Karim, who suffered from a foot injury incurred during his captere, was subjected to cramped

confinement, siress positions, and walling despite CIA Headguarters having not ved their use. See
DIRECTOR ia-mm 03); end nmwroadhﬂ

@ Abu Hazim, who aiso had a fool injury incurred during his capture, was subjected to walling, despite CTA
Headguarters having not approved its use. (m& 36908 ﬂ, and

“ 37410 (291828Z APR 03).) Nudity, distary manipulation, and facial grosp were used on
Abu Hazim at least 13 prior to receiving appeoval. See 37411 (291829Z APR 03);
37410 (201828Z APR 03); 37493 h

DIRECTOR AY 03).
5 CIA cables indicate that Sayyid Ibrahim wos subjected to sleep deprivation from January 27, 2004, to January 30,

2004, which exceeded the 48 hours ved by CIA H arters, See HEADQUARTERS (2721552
JAN 04); 303 AN 04); 129 N AN 04); 1303
AN 04); 1311 AN 04). ]
During March 2003 interrogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT, Abu Yasir al-Jaza'iri was “bathed,” a terma
uzed to describe water dousing, which was contidered at the time to be an enbanced interrogation technique. (See
35558 I MAR 03).) Water dousing had nof been approved, and the subsequent

request, by DETENTION SITE BLUE, to use the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques on al-Jaza'ini, did not

include water dousing. See 109%0
7 Intervogators requested approvals to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on Suleiman Abdullsh,

including water dousing. CTA Headquarters then ved other techniques, but not water dousing. (See
ﬁscssg DIRECTOR Suiciman
Abdullah was nonetheless subjected to water dousing. See
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interrogation techniques were detailed in CIA cables, but CIA Headquarners did not respond ar
take action against the CTA personnel applying the unauthorized interrogation techniques,®®

s/ ~5¢) This list docs not include examples in which CIA intemrogators
were authorized 10 use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, but then implemented the
echniques in a manner that diverged from the authorization. Examples include Abu Zubair®®
and, a5 desiled, KSM, whose interrogators developed methods of applying the waterboard in a
manner that differed from how the technique had previously been used and how it had been
described to the Depariment of Justice. This count also excludes additional allegations of the
unauthorized use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques '

s/ %) Over the course of the CIA's Deation and Interrogation Program,
numerous delainees were subjecicd to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques by untrained

interrogators. As noled, the CIA did not condact its first raining course until November 2002,
by which time at least ninc detainees had alrcady been subjecied to the techaiques.®' The DCT's
Janugry 28, 2000, guidelines, which siated that the CIA’s enbanced interrogation techniques

% The CTA's June 2013 Rasponse states that the CIA “canducied ar lesst 29 inveatigatiaus of RD)-relased condact,
plus two wide-ranging reviews of the program. .. one invalved the death of an Afghan netional who was beapen by a
contracror. The individual involved was prosecured by the Departement of Justice and convicted of a felony charge.
Anather casa involved a contractor who slapped, kicked, ond struck detginees while they were in military custody.

.. [Tlhe contractor was permimated from the CTA, had his security clearances revoked, and was placed on a
coptrackr wateh list." However, the two specific examples provided in the CIA's June 2013 Response refer o
detainess who wero never pan of the CLA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. On November 6, 2013, the CIA
provided a list of “1G In vestigations Conceming Detention, Interrogations, and Renditions.” The list of 29 included
14 investigations thot were difectly related o the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. Four additional
investigations were related to detaintes who tlaimed tiu:y hiid been subjected to abuse in transit from CIA dustody
to U.5, military custody ar Quantanamo Bay. The remaining 11 investigations were unrelated to the CIA 5
Detcntion and Interrogation Propruw. See DTS #2013-3250.

3 CIA chief of interrogations, h placed a broomstick behind the knees of Zubair when Zubair was in 2
uress position on his knees on the floor. Although stress positions had been approved for Zubair, the use of the
broomstick was not approved. See April 7, 2005, Briefing far Blue Ribbon Panel, C1A Rendition, Detention, and
Intervogation Progroms, af 22.
$1¢ Majid Khas has claimed that, in May 2003, he was subjected to immersion in @ tub that was fifled with (oe and
water. (See H Briefing for the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, [mplementation
of Central Intelligence Agency Secret Detetion and Intercogation Program, dated March (4, 2008.) While CIA
eables 8o 4l confirm bathing or water dousio Moflm;ﬂm—.wbmwd Abu Hudnaifs 1
whege i

to: (REDACTED
our tefecon; date:
subject: Moo, date: ) Ayob Murshid Ali Satth amd Ha'il Aziy Ahn
2 nol having slept, al i is unclear from CIA records whether CIA ind taocs kept them awalke. (See

28t32 (101143Z OCT 02} and 27964 (0719492 OCT 02).)

Bashir Nasri All al-Marwalah told debriefers st Guantanamo Bay that he was “tortured™ at OETENTION SITE
COBALT with five days of continual standing and nudity. (See & 14353 (2315212 APR
03).) Sa'd Setib Sa'id likewise informed debriefers at Guantanama that he was “beaten™ white blind-folded in CIA
custody. (See 13386 (090154Z JAN 03).) Sixtcen other detainces wese held at
DETENTION SITE COBALT between September and December 2002, a pertod during which expodure to the
CIA's enhanced interrogation techaiques such as sleep deprivation and qudity cannot be determined based on the
lack of details in CIA cibles and related documents.
11 December 4, 2002, Training Report, High Value Target Interrogation and Exploitation (HYTIE) Training
Semioar 12-18 Nov 02 (pilot minning).

a-Mayihal were Goscribed
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“may be employed only by approved interrogators for use with specific detainees,” raised the
additional issue of approved techniques used by unapproved interrogators.'? The January 28,
2003, DCI guidelines did not explicitly require CIA Headquarters o approve who could use the
CIA's “standard” interrogation techniques, including techniques that were not previously
considered “standard™ and that would larer be reclassified as “enhanced” intetrogation
techmiques. Rather, the DCI guidelines required only that “all personnel directly cngaged in the
interrogation™ be “appropriately screened,” that they review the guidelines, and that they receive
“appropriate training” in the implementation of the guidelines.®3

4. CIA Headquarters Authorizes Water Dousing Wirfiour Deparmment of Jussice Approval;
Application of Technique Reporied as Approximating Waterboarding

S/ %) ClA Headquartess approved requests to use water dousing, nudity,
the abdominal slap, and dietary manipulation, despiie the fact that the technigues had not been
revicwed by the Depertment of Justice " Interrogators used the water dousing echrique in
various ways. At DETENTION SITE COBALT, detainees were ofien held down, naked, on 2
terp on the door, with the tarp pulled up around them ro form a makeshift b, while cold or
refrigemted water was poured on them.*” Others were hosed down repeatedly while they were
shackled naked, in the standing slcep deprivation position. These same detainecs were
subsequently ploced in rooms with iemperatures ranging from 59 to 80 degrees Fahrenheit. ¢

1 DIRECTOR 3021267 JAN 03); DIRECTOR [ (311702Z JAN 03). For examgple, on May ||
2003, CIA inlerrogator gpplied three facial attention grabs, five facial inguit slaps, and tyen
abdominal siapy to Abd al-Karim, under the supervision of CIA interrogator H‘GA OFFICER (1.
(See 37821 h.) N oot been approved by CIA He
to employ the CJA's enhanced intemmogation techniques on al-Karim; approval had only been provided for
CIA OFFICER 1] to use the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques. (Ses DIRECTOR
} On CIA interrogator , under the supervieion of
interrogation of Abd al-Kardm in which interr osed the facis] attention grab, facial insult slap, and abdominal
slap against al-Kacim, (Sec 38583 ﬂ] P 35 not been
approved by CIA Meadquactess to employ the CIA's enhanced interogation techniques against Abd al-Kavim. In
anather example, on DETENTION SITE COBALT requested appraval for certificd interrogators
and {CIA OFFICER 1] to use the CIA"s enhanced intetvogation cechni
Khallzd bin Attash, ad for three other intecrogators, and

ulso use the techas “ander the ditect supervision of senior centified interogator " (See
—3832“) Later thyat day, CTA Headquaners approved the use of CIA’s enhanced

ntcrrogation i againat Khallad bin but the approval cable did not inclode val for participation
by or wnder s supervision. (Sce omacroxﬂrlszzm MAY
03)) On May 17 and 18, 2003, and used the C1A's enhaaced inderrogation techniques on bin
Afash under the & ision of' iacloding facial grabs, factal insult s abdominal walling, and
water dousing. See IBSST (191641Z MAY 03); “ 38597

(201225Z MAY 03).
63 DIRECTOR (3021262 JAN 03); DIRECTOR I 311702Z JAN 03). The DCI guidelines provided
no further information, other then to nole that the screening shonld be “from the medical, psychologicsl, and
security sandpoins.”

3 Sev, for sxampls, OIRECTOR [ (1017002 FEB 03).

615 In the case of Aby Hudhgifa, and allegedly Majid Kban, interrogulars placed the detainee in an actual b in e
CiA I when employing water dousing that included ice water.

98 CIA cable records ofien describe the detsinees as naked zfter the wader dousing, while other records omit such
detail. See Yolume LI for additional information.
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Other accounts suggest detainees were water doused while placed on g waterboard.*'” Although
CIA Headquariers approved the use of the “water dousing" interrogation rechnique on several
detainees, interrogators used it extensively on a number of detainees without seeking or
obtaining prior authorization from CIA Headquarters.$'®

{ In interrogation sessions on April 5, 2003, and April 6, 2003,
senior CIA interrogator and another interrogator used the water dousing
technique on detainee Mustafa al-Hawsawi at DETENTION SITE COBALT, Al-Hawsawi later
described the session to a different CIA interrogator, , who wrote that al-
Hawsawi might have been waterboarded or subjected 1o treatment that “could be

indistingwshable from the waterboard."*'® An email from [he interrogaror staied that;

“We did not promp al-Hawsawi — he described the process and the table on
his own. As you know, 1 have serious reservations about walering thent in @
pronc position because if not doae with care, the net effect can approach the
effect of the water board. If one is held down on his back, on the wble or on
the floor, with water pourcd in his face 1 think it goes beyond dousing and the
effect, 10 the recipient, cauld be indistingvishable from the water board.

1 have real probleros with putting one of them on the water board for *dousing.’
Purting him in a head down artitude and pouring water around his chest and
face is just too close to the water board, and if it is continued may lend o
problems for us,"*®

@S/ »7F) S<veral months later, the incident was referred 1o the CIA inspector
general for investigation. A December 6, 2005, inspector general report summarized the findings
of this ipyestigation_indicating that water was poured on al-Hawsawi-while-ho-was lyiag-on the-- —
floor in a pronc position, which, in the opinion of at least one CIA interrogator quoted in the
report, “can easily approximate waterboarding.”®! The OIG could not corroborate whether al-
Hawsawi was strapped to the woterboard when he was interrogated sl DETENTION SITE
COBALT. Both of the interrogatars who subjected al-Hawsawi to the CIA's enhanced
interrogation techniques on Aptil 6, 2003, said that al-Hawsawi cried out for God while the

7 Eanail fm using [N (%D ACTED) sccoun; to: (NN
mb}ecl Al-Hawsawi Incident; date: Novesmber 21, 2003.
9 Boc lddmondduliu see V.

olume )8
“'mlfm mmsmcml acooist; to: [ NEGEENR
awi Incident; date: Novembar 2173003, =~~~

“° Emnl from: llEDACTEDI accoun; to:

mbjeet Al-Hawsawi Incident; date: Novenber 21, 2003, Volume O of the
Cammmee Smdy inchdu & CIA photograph of & wooden waterboard et DETENTION SITE COBALT. As detailed
in the full Committee Study, there ave no records of the CIA using the waterbaard (nterrogation mchnigue al
COBALT, The warrboard device in the photwgraph is surrounded by buckels, with a bottle of unknown pink
solutian (filled two thirds of the way m the top) and a2 walering can resting an the wooden beams of waterboard. In
meetings batween the Committee stufT und the CILA in the summer of 2013, the CLA was anshle to expluin the deteils
of the photogeuph, to inclnde the buckets, solution, and watesing can, as well ux the waterboard’s presence at
DETENTION SITE COBALT.

€1 CJA OIG Dispatition Memorandum, “Alleged Use of Unanthorized Interrogation Techniques” OIG Cuse 2004-
7604-1G, Decernber &, 2006,
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water was being poured on him and one of the interrogators asserted that this was because of the
cold temperature of the water, Both of the interrogators also stated that al-Hawsawi saw the
waterboard and that its purpose was made clear © him. The inspector general report also
indicates that al-Hawsawi’s experience reflected “the way water dousing was done at
[DETENTION SITE COBALT],” and that this method was developed with guidance from CIA
CTC atormeys and the Cl1A’s Office of Medical Services.$2

@S/ F) During the same time that a)-Hawsawi claimed he was placed on

the waterboard in April 2003, a CIA linguist claimed that CIA detainee Abu Hazim had also
been water doused in a wai that nrpmximated waterpoarding 2*

a linguist in

, 2003, untii [ 2003, 101d the OIG the:

from

Coun

was used on Abu Hazim, a cloth covered Abu Hazim's
(CIA OFFICER }}] poured cold water dircedy on Abu
ist] said thet when Abe
removed the cloth eo

*when waler dousi
face, and
Hazim’s face to distupe his breathing. [The lin
Hazim wmed blue, Physician's Assistamt
that Abu Hazim could breathe.”

/SR F) This allegation was reported to the CIA inspector general on
August 18, 2004. The CIA reported this incident as a possible criminal violatdon on September

7 CIA OIG Disposition Memorandam, “Alleged Use of Unantborized Interrogation Techniques™ 0IG Case 2004-
7604-1G, December 6, 2008.

%3 An accusation reluted Lo an edditional detaines was included in a Sepiember 8, 2012, Human Rights Warch repon
entitied, “Delivercd [nto Enemy Hands.” - The report asserta that documents and interviews of former detainces
conimadict C1A claims thet “anly three men in US vustody had been waterboarded.” Specifically, the report states
that Mohammed Sharoeiya, aks Abd al-Kurim, “provided detailed and credible testimony that he was waterboarded
on repeated ocogions during US inerrogations in Afghenistan.” According to the report, Mohemuned Shoroeiyn
stated thal 2 hood was placed over his head and he was strapped to 2 “wooden board.” The former ClA detainee
stated that afoer being sirapped to the warerhoand, “then they start with the water pousing... They star fo pour water
10 the point where you feel like you are suffocating.” As detailed in the fall Committes Study, Mohammed
Shoroeiya, aka Abd al-Kaam, was rendered to CIA custody at DETENTION SITE ‘ on Agrit i 2003.
While shere are no CLA records of Mohammed Shoroeiya, aka Abd al-Karim, being subjected to the walarboard at
DETENTION SITE the foll natore of the CIA interrogations at DETENTION STTE [ cemains
tarpely unknown. Detaloees ot DETENTION SITE were subjected o 1ochniques that were not recorded
in cable leallfic, including wmipte periods of steep deprivaiion, required standing, loud music, sensory deprivation,
extended isolstion, reduced quantity and quality of food, mudity, and “rough treziment.” As dwi’oﬂm m
of the Comruince Study inciudes 3 CIA photograph of a woodzn waerboard ot DETENTION SITE . AS
detaded in ibe full Commitiee Study, there are no recards of the CIA using the waterbosrd interrogation technique af
DETENTION SITE JJllJlll 7ve watesboard devics in the photograph is samounded by buckets, with a botthe of
unknown pink sofatiom (filled two thirds of the way to the top) and 2 watering cao resting on the wooden beams of
walerbaard. [n meotings berween the Committee staff and the CIA iz the summer of 2013, the CLA woa uasdle ©
explain the demila of the photograph, 1o include the buckers, solution, and wateding can, as wefl us e waterboard’s
presence at DETENTION S[TE ﬁ In response to the allegations in the Septewmber 2012 Human Rigtus
Watch repart, the CIA siated: “The agency has been on the record that there are theee substantiated cases in which
detainces were sobjecied to the waterboarding technique under the program.” See "Libysn Allegrs Waterbowding
by Cl1A, Report Says,"" New York Times, September 6, 2012.

S4CIA (G Disposition Mema, “Alleged Use of Unnuthorized Techniques.” dated December 6, 2006, 2004-77117-
16.
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10, 2004, to the U.S. Attorey's Office in the Eastern District of Virginia.®® The inspector
genenl report concluded that there was no corrobomtion of the linguist's allegation, stating,

“{tlhere is no evidence that a cloth was placed over Abu Huzim's face during water dousiag or
that his breathing was impaiced."s

3. Hambali Fabricates Information While Being Subjected to the CIA's Enkanced
Interrogation Techniques

(w-lf) In the summer of 2003, the CIA captured three Southeast Asian
operatives: Zubair,™’ Lillie,®® and Hambali. {These captures are discussed later in Lhis

summary in the section entitled, “The Capture of Hambali.**)*®

{ ) In August 2003, Hambaoli was captured ond wansferred to C1A
costody.®™ Despite assessmenis thal Hambali was cooperative in the jnterview process without
“the use of more intrusive standard inerogation procedures much less the enhanced measures,”
Cl1A inlerrogatocy requested and oblained approval ta vse the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques on Hambali approximately s month aftcr his tensfer to C1A custody 5" in late 2003,
Hambsli recanted most of the significant information he had pravided to intcrrogators during the
use of the CIA's enhanced interragation techniques, recantations CIA officers assessed to be
credible.%*? According to a CIA cable:

€3 CIA 1G Dispasition Mema, *Alleged Use of Unauthorized Techniques,” duted December 6, 2006, 2004-777(7-
t6.
76 C1A 1G Dispoaition Memo, “Alleged Use of Unauthorized Techniques,” dated December 6, 2006. 2004-77717-
L6

w 884 A
m-tr.'sl 7 _; IR 57426 (111223Z AUG 03). Lillie was subjected to the

ClA's interrogation technigues almost immediately upon. his arvival at DETENTION STTE COBALT o -
Auguost li], 2003. He was “strl of his clothing,” and “placed in 2 cell in the standing sleep deprivation position,
in darkness.” (See & 1242 (1519142 AUG 03).) A day later an interrogation plan for
Lillie, including the use of the CIA's eahanced interrogation techniques, was submitted to CIA Headquarters on
Aogust [} 2003, (See 1243 {152049Z AUG 03).) CIA Headquasters approved the use
of the CIA’s enhanced in ton techniques on Litlie on the followiag day, Augusi [l]. 2003. (Sse
HEADQUARTERS [N AUG 03).) As described, the Committce's eount of defainecs subjected to
unauthorized lechniques did nof include detainees such as Lillie, who were subjecied 10 the CIA’s “standord"
tzchniques prior (0 authodzation Fom CIA Headguarters, but for whom suthorization from CIA Headquarters was
acqmmd shortly llmuner As noted, the Jasuery 2003 guidelines requeed advance approvel of such lechniques
feasi

A 5717 NN B <>+« I

*Hambali Capture.” For additional.deeils, see Volume II.

auG 03); NN < N - UG 03).
The cable also notad tbat CIA conttacior Hammond DUNBAR had arived at the detention site and was
participating in Hambali's intervogations as an inemrogerar. The “psychalogical assessment™ portion of the cable
was apribyted to a CIA saff psychologm however, and not to DUNBAR.

&2 CJA officers interrogating Hambali in November 2003 wrote about Hambali's “account of trow, through

stare ments read to him and constant repetition of questions, he was made aware of what type of answers his
questioners wanied. [Hambali] said he merely gave onswers that were similar to whet was being wiked and what he
inferred the interrogator or debriefer wanted, and when the pressure subsided or he was tald that the information he
gave was okay, [Hambali] knew that he had provided the answer that was being sought.” The cable states, "Base

aszesses [Hanbali]'s admission of previous fabrication to be credible. |Hambali]‘s admiasion caume after thres
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“he had provided the false information in an atlempt to reduce the pressure on
himself ... and 1o give an account that was consistent with what (Hambali]
assessed the questioners wanted to hear.”

(=3 - =) CIA officers later suggested that the misleading answers and

resistance to interrogation that CIA interrogators cited in their requests to use the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques against Hambali and an associated CIA detainee, Lillie, may
not have been resistance (o interrogation, but rather the result of issues related to culture and
their poor English language skills.®*

6. After the Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Technigues, CIA Headquarters
Quesrions Detention of Detainee and Reconmends Release; Detainee Transferred ro U.S.
Military Custody and Held for An Additional Four Years

@S/ ~) 1n Ocrober 2003, the CIA interrogared Arsala Khan, an Afghan

national in his mid-fifties who was believed to have assisted Usama bin Laden in his escape
through the Tora Bora Mountains in late 2001.% After 56 hours of standing slecp deprivation,
Arsala Khan was described as barely able to enunciate, and being “visibly shaken by his
hallucinations depicting dogs mauling and killing his sons and family.” According o CIA
cables, Arsala Khan “stated that [the interrogator] was responsible for killing them and feeding
them to the dogs."®%

S/ ) Arsala Khan was subscquently allowed to sleep.® Two days later,

however, the interrogators returned him to standing sleep deprivation. After subjecting Khan o
21 additional hours of slecp deprivation, interrogators stopped using the CIA’s enhanced

weeks of daily debeiefing sessions with [the gnse officer] cerried out almost entirely in Bahaya Indonesia. [Hambali)
has consistently warmed to {the case officer's] discussions with him, and has provided to [the case officer]
additional information that he had avoided in the past... More tellingly, [Hambeli] has opened up considerably to
[the case officer] aboul his fears and imotivations, and hes taken to trasting the case officer] at his word. [Hambali]
looks to [the case officer) as his sole confidant and the one perton who has [Hambali]’s interest in mind...." Sez
1142 (3010552 NOV 03). This cable appears to have been retransmifted the following doy mx

1144 (Q10823Z DEC 03). :

1142 (301055Z NQV (3)
1072 (110606Z OCT 03); 1075 (1118287 OCT 03); [JJ 1142 (3010552 NOV 03);
1158 (081459Z DEC 03); 1604 (191232Z JAN 04). Afer an Indonesian
speaker was deployed to debrief Humbali, the debriefer "got the distinct impression {Hambali] was just cespanding
‘yes' in the typical Indonestan cultural manner when they [sic] do not comprehend a question.” The CIA cable then
noled that, “(j]ust to clarify, [the Indanesian spoaking debricfer] then posed the same questiop in Indonesian,” and
*[wlithout pause, [Hambali] replied with a direct contradiction, claiming that on 20 September 2001, he was in
Karachi, not Qandabar.” (s.;_ 1075 (111828Z OCT 03),) A January 2004 cabie stated that “Lillie ia of
limited value,” adding that “fh]is English is very poor, and we do not have a Malay linguist.” See

1604 (191232Z JAN 04). See also detainee reviews in Yolume [Tl for additional informarion.

1006Z OCT 03). The informatlon was also relensed in [
CIA records indicate that the CIA's intervogations of Arsala Khan resulied

in one disseminated isteili , derived from information Khan provided the day he experienced the
hallucinations. See , via CYA WASHINGTON DC ﬁ

i 1393 (zolooszocrmi
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interrogation tcc.hnuiuc% “|dJue to lack of information fron [Arsala Khan] pinning him direetly
to a reeent activity, Three days after the reporting about Khan's hallucinations, and after the
interrogators had already subjeeted Khan to the additional 21 bours of stunding sleep deprivation
{beyond the initial 36 hours), CIA Headquarters sent a cable stating thar RRG and the Office of
Medical Services believed that Arsala Khan should not be subjeeted to additionul standing slecp

deprivation beyond the 36 houls because of his hallucinations ®*

s/ ) Afier spproximately a moath of detention and die extensive use of

the CIA's enhapced {nterrogation techaiqucs on Arsala Khan, the CTA concluded that the
*deraince Arsala Khag docs not appear to be the subject involved in... current plans or acavirtics
against U5, personnel ar Facilitics,” and recommended thut he be released (o his village with a
cash payment.*® CIA inlerrogators at DETENTION SITE COBALT instcad transferred him to
U.S. militry cusiody, where be was held for an additional four ycurs despite the devclopmeat nf
significant intelfigence indicating that the source who repoacd that Arsala Khan bud sided
Usama bin Laden had o vendetta sgainst Arsola Khan's family.®?

7. A Year Afler DETENTION SITE COBALT QOpens. the CIA Reports *Unsettling Discovery
Thut We Are Holding a Number of Detainees About Whon We Know Very Litte ™

(MI In the fall of 2003, CIA officers began to tike a closer look at the
CIA detainces being held in Country [l raising concerns about both the number and types of
detainees being held by the CIA, CIA officers in Country B provided a list of CIA detainees to
CIA Headguurters, resulting in the obscrvation by C1A Headquarters that they had not previously
had the names of abl 44 CIA detainecs being held in that country, At the direction of CIA
Icadquarters, the Station in Countuy I ‘complcted an exhaustive search of all available rocords
in an attcnpt to develop a clearer understanding of the [CIA | detainees.™ A Decenmber °003
cable from the Station in County ] to C1A Heudyuarners sited thar: -+ - R

“In the process of this research, we have made the unsettling discovery that we
arc holding a aumber of desainces ahout whom we know very little. The
majority of {CIA| delainees in [Country i huve not been debricfed for months
and, in some cases, for over a year, Many of them appear 1o us to have ao
further intelligence value for [the CIA| and should more properly be numed
over to the JULS. inilitaryl, to |Country Il authorities or 1o third countries for
fusther investigation and possibly prosecution. In a fow cascs, there does not
appcat to he crough evidencc to vontinué incarcceation, and, if this is ia fact
the case, the detainees shoakl be refcased. ™

R}
¥ HEADQUARTERS
“2 HEADQUARTERS
o See, for example,

Page 110 of 499

e b

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 77
=kl ki

M Records indicate that all of these CIA deminecs had been kept in

solitary confinement, The vast majority of these detainees were later released, with some
receiving CIA payments for having been held in detention

8. CIA Detention Sites in Country . Lack Syfficiens Personnel and Translators to Support
the Interrogations of Detainees

@S/~ Throughout 2003, the CIA lacked sufficient personnel and

adequate translators to conduct debriefings and interrogations in Country . Because of this
personnel shortage, a number of detainees who were transferred to CIA custody were not
interrogated or debriefed by anyone for days or weeks after their arrival at CIA detention
facitities in Country ]} As noted in a cable from the CIA Station in Country {J} in April 2003:

“Station is supporting the debriefing and/or interrogation of a large number of
individuals.,. and is constrained by a lack of personnel which would aliow us
to fully process them in a imely manner,"®*

1. Other Medical, Psychological, énd Behaviora] Issues

1. CIA Interrogations Take Precedence Over Medical Care

While CIA Headquarters informed the Department of Justice in
July 2002 *that steps will be taken to ensure that {Abu Zubaydeh’s] injury is not in any way
exacerbated by the use of these [enhanced interrogation] methads,”** CIA Headquarters
informed CIA interrogators thar the interrogation process would take “precedence™ over Abu
Zubaydah's medical care.**” Beginning on August 4, 2002, Abu Zubaydah was kept naked, fed a
“bare bones” liquid diet, and subjected 1o the nan-stop use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques.®*® On August 15, 2002, medical personnel described how Abu Zubaydah’s
intzrrogation resulted in the “steady deterioration” of his surgical wound from April 2002.%° On

3 This included Sayed Habib (Il Zamein (“a nominal payment™), Modin Nik Mohammed (SJillp, end Ali
Saeed Awadh (; ). See Volume M for additional details.

#M For detailed infonmation, see Volume I11.

. 36229 (060943Z APR 03). See also detainee reviews for Lillie, Hambali, Mustafa al-
Hawsawi, and Suleiman Abdullzh.

#6 See Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting Genernl Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Jay Bybee,
Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, August |, 2002, Interrogation of el Qaeda Operative.”

71 ALEC (182321Z JUL 02)

3 See Abu Zubaydsh detinee review in Yolume I8 for additional informatian, as well as email from:
[REDACTED], to: and {REDACTED), subject: 13 Aug Clinicsl; date: Aogust 15, 2002, a1 06:54
ABL.

%% An email o OMS sraled: "“We are corrent}y providing absolure minimum wound care (as evidenced by the steady
deteriaration of the wound), { Abu Zubaydah] has no opportunity to practice any form of hygienic self care (he's
filthy}, the phyeical narure of this phase dictates multiple physical stresses (his reaction (o taday's aclivity is |
believe the calprit for the superior tion), and nutrition is bare bones (six cans of ensure daily).” See
email from: [REDACTED)], to: and {REDACTED), subject: 15 Aug Clinical, date: August 15,
2002, at 06:59 AM.

Page 111 of 499
—HNOEASSHHES—

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 78
“HNCERS S —

o e I ot

August 20, 2002, medical officers wrote that Abu Zubaydah's wound had undergone
“significant” deterioration % Later, after one of Abu Zubaydah's eyes began to deteriorate,®y!
CIA officers requested a test of Abu Zubayduh’s other eye, stating that the request was “driven
by our intelligence needs vice humanitarian concer for AZ.” The cable relayed, "“[wle have a
lot riding upon his ability to s¢e, read and write."®?

TS/ F) In April 2003, CIA detainees Abu Hazim and Abd al-Karim each
broke a foot while trying 10 escape capture and were placed in casts.*® CIA cables requesting
the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on the two detninees stated that the
interrogators would “forego cramped confinement. airess positions, walfing, and vertical
shackling (due 1o [the deminees'] injury)."™** Notwithstanding medical concerns relaied 10 the
injuries, both of these detainees were subjected to one or more of these CIA enhanced
interrogation techniques prior to obtrining CIA Headquarters approval %

) In the caze-of Abu Hazim, on May 4, 2003, che C1A regional
medica) officer examined Abu Hazim and recommended that he avoid all weight bearing
activities for an additional five wecks due to his broken fool.8 In the casc of Abd al-Karim, on
April 18, 2003, s CTA physician assistant reccommended that al-Karim avoid extended standing
for “'a couple of weeks."S” Six days later; on April 24, 2003, CIA Headquarters reviewed Xx-rays
of al-Karim’s foot, diagnosing him with a broken foot, and recommending no weight bearing and
the use of crutches for a toral of three months. ™ Despite these recommendations, on May 10,

o I 10647 (201331Z AUG 02); I 10654 (21 13182 AuG 02); [ 10679 (2509322
AUQ 02)
lost the eye. See [ 11026 (0707292 OCT 02).

36862 (IBT3S22ZAPRDI). ~ 7™
To aceommodote Abu Huzim's and Abd al-Karim’s injuries, the cable stated that, rather than being shackled
standing during sleep deprivation, the detainees would be “seated, sscured 1o a cell wall, with intennirtent
disruptions of normal sleeping patiera.” For water dousing, the detainees’ injured legs would be "wr in
lastic.” The mquests were approved. See DlRECl'ORh DIRECTOR

63 With regard 0 Abu Hazim, oo April 24, 2003, 2n additional CIA Headquartecs approval cable was sant to
DETENTION SI{TE COBALT suthorizing intetrogsiar to use the attention grasp, facial imsult
slap, zbdominal slap, water dousing, and slee jvation up to 72 houss; the cable did o1 approve the use of
walling or the facial hold. (See DIRECTOR Despite the lack of spproval, walling waz
usadiw&buﬂnino.Apdlz&n the facial kold was msed on April 27, 2003;

37411 (2918292 APR 03); 37410 (291828Z APR 03); o
37509 0243092 MAY-03).) A May 10, 2603, CIA Headguarters cable approved walling and the fecial
grasp. {Sea DIRECTOR & MAY 13).} Abd al-Karint was also subjected t0 unapproved CIA
enhanced interrogation techniques thut the detention site initially indicated would pot be used duc to the detalnee's
injuries, Without spproval from C1A Headquarters, CIA & subjected Abd al-Kearim to crumped
confinsnient on April 19-20, 2003; shess positions on April 21, 2003; and walling os April 21, and 29, 2003, (See
317021 (221703Z APR 03); 37152 (231424Z APR (3);
37202 (250948Z AFR (3); 37508 (0213052 MAY 03).) On
May 10, 2003, CTA Headquarters pproved an expanded list of CIA enhanced integrogation techoiques that couid be
used against Abd al-Karim, including walling and stress positions. Sev DIRECTOR & MAY ).
MAY 03)
35862 (181352Z APR 03)

&4 DIRECTOR
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2003, CIA interrogators believed that both Hazim and al-Karim werc “strong mentally and
physically due to [their] ability to sleep in the sitting position,™¥ On May 12, 2003, a different
CIA physician assistant, who had not been involved in the previous examinations determining
the need for the detainees to avoid weight bearing, stated that it was his “opinion™ that Abu
Hazim's and Abd al-Karim's injuries were “sufficiently healed to allow being placed in the
standing sleep deprivation position."®® He further reported that he had “consulted with [CIA's
Office of Medical Services] via secure phone and OMS medical officer concurred in this
assegsment,®! CIA Headquarters approved the use of standing sleep deprivation against both
detainces shonly therealter,%? As a result, both detainecs were placed in standing sleep
deprivanon. Abu Hazim underwent 52 hours of standing slecp deprivation from June 3-5,
2003,%° and Abd al-Karim underwent an unspecified period of standing slecp deprivation on
May 13, 2003 %*

s/ R %) CiA dctaince Asadaliah was lefi in the standing sleep deprivation
position despite & sprained ankle. Later, when Asadallah was placed in stress positions on bis
knees, he complained of discomfort and asked to sit. Asadallash was told he coutd not sit unless
he answered questions wuthfully, %

2. CIA Denainees Exhibit Prychological and Behavioral Issues

S/ -5 Psychological and behavioral problems experienced by CIA

detainees, who were held in austere conditions end in solitary confinement, also posed

38262 (1505412 MaY 03); NN 25161 (1313252 MAY 03)

38161 (1313262 MAY 03)
38161 (1313262 MAY 03)
%1 See DIRECTOR MAY 03) for Abu Hazim; and DIRECTOR [JEIND N A Y 02) for

Abd al-Karim.
- 39582 (041743 JUN 03); [N 9556 (0609552 JUN 03)
e 38365 (1706522 MAY 03)

5 Asadaltah was alse placed in a “smeil isolation box™ for 30 mimiss, without authorization and without discussion
of how the technique would affect his ankle. 34098 ‘
I .+ 34310 )

While CIA reconds contain information on other detainee medical pomplainis (see Volume T}, those records also
suggest thal detoince medical complaints could be underreponied in CIA tedica? cecords. For example, CIA
medical records coneistenly repont that CIA detainee Rorazi bin al-Shibh had no medicel complaion. However,
CIA intervogation records indicate that whes bin al-Shibh had previoosly compinined of aiments (0 CIA perconael,
be wal subjected 1o (ke CIA ‘2 erhanced ion technijues and tokd by CIA i tors dut bis mesdicel
condition waa not of concera to @e CIA. ";umh 10591 asmmm';'ﬁ 10627 ZBIMIZ
FEB 0).) [n sestimony on Aprit 12, 2007, C1A Director Michael Hayden referenced medical cure of detainees in
the comexz of ihe (CRC reponrt 0o CIA desentions. Hayden teatified to the Commitiee: “The reedical section of the
[CRC report concludes that the association of CIA medical officem with the inteTrogation peogrem is *contrary to
internalional standards of mexdical ethics.' That is just wrong. The rale of CIA medical officers in the detainee
program is and always has been and always will be to ensure the safety and the well-being of the detninee. The
placement of madical officers during the interogation techniques represent an extra megsyre of crurion. Oue
medical officers do not recommend the employment or continuation of any procedures or techniques. The allegation
in the repart that # CEA medical officer threatened a detainee, stating that medical cere wes conditional on
cooperation is blatantly false. Health care has always been administercd based upon dewsines neads. Tt's nefthec
policy nor prectice (o link medical care to any other aspect of the defainee program.” This testimony was
incongruent with CIA records.
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management challenges for the CIA 5 For example, later in his detention, Ramzi bin al-Shibh
exhibited behavioral and psychological problems, including visions, paranoia, insomnia, and
actempts at self-harm.*’ CLA psychologists linked bin al-Shibh's deteriorating mental state to
his isolation and inability to cope with his long-term detention.®® Similarly, *‘Abd al-Rahim al-
Nashiri's unpredictable and disruptive behavior in detention made him one of the most difficult
detainees for the CIA to manage. Al-Nashiri engaged in repeated belligerent acts, including
throwing his food tray,%® attempting to assault detention site personnel, ™ and rying to damage
iterns in his cell.?”! Over a period of years, al-Nashiri accused the CIA siaff of drugging or
poisoning his food and complained of bodily pain and insomnia.5’? As noted, at one poing, ak-
Nashiri lzunched a short-lived hunger strike, and the CIA responded by force feeding him
rectally.*” An October 2004 psychological assessment of al-Nashiri was used by the CIA to
advance its discussions with National Security Council officials on establishing an “eadgame™
foc the program.®* Tn July 2005, CIA Hendquarters expressed concern regarding al-Nashiri's
“continued state of depression and uncooperative attitude.”™ Days later a CIA psychologist
assessed that al-Nashiri wos on the “verge of a breakdown.™¢

S/ >:5) Bcginning in March 2004, and continuing until his rendition to

U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay in September 2006, Majid Khan engaged in o series of
hunger strikes and attempts at self-mutilation that required significant attention from CIA
detention site personnel. In response to Majid Khan's hunger strikes, medical personnel

*8 Eor additional details, see Volume N1
< [N 1759 (0243192 OCT 04); HEADQUARTERS 040023Z NOV 05); m
{171225Z NOV 04; 1878 (140915Z NOV 04); 1930 (061620Z DEC 04);
2207 (111319Z APR 05); 10 (1415072 APR 05); 2535 (0518052 JUL 0S);

2589 (1208572 JUL 03); 2830 (291304Z AUG 05); * 1890 (112252 NOV
1393 (200831Z NOV 04); CIA document entitled, “Detainse Talking Points for ICRC Rebuttal, (2

QTZAPR 05); 2535 (051B05Z-TUL-O5K, -
2535 (0S1805Z JUL 05); 2830 (2913042 AUG 05);

1930 (061620Z DEC 04); 2210 (1415072 APR 05)
2210 (1415072 APR 05); [N 2535 051805z rut os). [N 2830 (2313042 AUG
)

[}

05

“’-69! (0816092 SEP 04); 1716 (1807422 serm);muuu

os); 2023 (LSLTISZ SAN 05); 2515 (301946Z JUN 05); 1i30

(282019Z NOV 03)

_ 1029 (2917502 IUN 06); 1142 {041358Z AUG os);- 1543 (1 11600Z AUG 04);
1716 (1807422 SEP 04); 3051 (301235Z SEP 05); 1029 (291750Z SUN 06,

T See. for exsmple, [N 2474 (2516222 JUN 05); JEEININN) 2673 (0214512 guooa,;d

1716 (180742Z SEP O4).

1356 (oumzmw;‘aoumm nov o4); B
1962 (1210297 DEC 043, 1959 (1117002 DEC 0d):
" 1091 (0318352 NOV 03); *
1266 (0523092 JAN 04); 1630 (271440Z MAR 04).
-3 _nzo; (2317092 MAY 04); 1202 (231644Z MAY 04). CIA records indicuie hat 8t

least five delainees were subjected to rectsl rehydration or rectal feeding: Abu Zubaydah, Abd al-Rakim al-Nushiri,
Khalid Shaykh Mohamsmad, Majid Khan, and Marwan al-Tsbbor. See Volume I for addiriona detailz.

™ Email from: d, 1o [l {DETENTION SITE BLACK| ce:

subject: Interrogutor Assessments/Request for Endgame Views; date: October 30, 2004,

s HEADQUARTERS [ (2822172 JUL 05)

76 C1 A Sametime exchange, duted 29/JULADS 08:01:51 — 08:50:13; between [N -~ W
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implkemented various rechniques to provide fluids and nurrients, including the use of a
nasogastric rube and the provision of intravenous fluids. CIA records indicare that Majid Khan
cooperated with the feedings and was permitted 10 infuse the fluids and autrients himself 7
After approximarely three weeks, the C1A developed a more aggressive treatment regimen

“without unnecessary conversation.™"* Majid Khan was then subjected to involuntary rectal
feeding and recral hydration, which included two bortles of Ensure, Later that same day, Majid
Khan’s “lunch tray,” consisting of hummus, pasta with sauce, nuts, and raisins, was “pureed”
and rectally infused.*™ Additional sessions of rectal feeding and hydration follawed,* In
addition o his hunger strikes, Majid Khan engaged in acts of self-harm that included artempting
to cut his wrist an two oocasions,®' an attempt ta chew into his arm at the inner elbow, 2 an
attempt to cut a vein in the top of his foot,** and an attempr to cut into his skin at the elbow joint
using a filed toothbrush,5

J. The CIA Secks Reaffirmation of the CJA’s Detention and Interrogation Program in 2003

1. Administration Statements About the Humane Treatment of Detainees Raise Concerns at
the CIA About Possible Lack of Palicy Suppert for CIA Interrogation Activities

Es/HE =) On several occasions in early 2003, CIA General Counse] Scott

Muller expressed concem to the National Security Council principals, White House staff, and
Department of Justice personnel that the CIA's program might be inconsistent with public
statements from the Administration that the U.S. Government's treatment of detainees was
“huroane.”®5 CIA General Counscl Muller therefore sought to verify with White House and
Department of Justice personnel that a February 7, 2002, Presidential Memorandum requiring the
U.S. military to reat detainees humanely did not apply to the CIA.%8 Following those

1183 (161626Z SEP 04); 3184 (161628Z SEP 04);
3190 (181558Z SEP (4); 3196 (201731Z SEP (4);
3197 (2017312 SEP 04); 3206 (211819Z SEP 04);

3135 (120625Z SEP D4); 3181 (161621Z SEP(4)
3237 (230552Z SEP 04)
3240 (231839Z SEP (4)
3259 (261734Z SEP 04), The CIA's June 2013 Response stales that “rectal
rehydration' is a “well acknowledged medical technique to address pressing health issues.” A fotlow-np CIA
document provided on October 25, 2013 (DTS #2013-3152), states that “{flrom a health’ perspective, Majid Khan
became uncooperative an 31 Apgust 2004, when he initiated a hunger strike and before Te underwent rectal
rehydration... CIA assesses that the use of rectal rehydration is a medicatly sound hydration technique....” The
mssertion that Majid Khan was “uncooperative” prior 1o ractal rehydration and rectal feeding is insccurate. As
described in CIA records, prior to being subjecred to recual relrydrarion and rectal feeding, Majid Khen cooperated
with the nas ric feedings and was pennitted to infugs the fluids and nutrients himself.

3694 (3018002 NOV o4); [N 242 (191550Z MAR 05);
4250 (2212132 MAR 05)

3724 (031723Z DEC 04)

3835 (260659Z DEC 04)

4614 (073358Z JUN 05)

685 February 12, 2003, MFR from Scott Muller, Sobject: “Humane" treatinent of CIA detainces; March 7, 2003,
Mewmoranduin for DDCIA from Muller, Subject: Proposed Response to Human Rights Watch Leteer.

636 January 9, 2003, Draft Memorandum for Scott Mueller {sic], General Counsel of the Centra! Infelligence Agency,

from John C. Yoo, Deputy Assistani Auoﬁ General, Office of Leﬁ Counsel, ve: Application of the President’s
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discussions in carly 2003, the White House press secretary was advised to avoid using the term
“humane treatment” when discussing the detention of al-Qa'ida and Taliban personnel.*?

/SN A F) (o mid-2003, CIA officials also engaged in discussions with the
Department of Justice, the Department of Defense, and attorneys in the White House on whether
representations could be made that the U.S, Government complied with certain requirements
arising out of the Convention Against Tarture, namely that the treatment of detainees was
consistent with constitutional standards in the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.®? In
late June 2003, after numerous inter-agency discussions, William Haynes, the general counse) of
the Department of Defense, responded to a leder from Scnator Patrick Leahy stating that it was
U.S. policy to comply with these standards.®® According to 8 memarandum from the CIA’s
ﬂrrc Legal, the August 1, 2002, OLC opinion provided a legal
“safe harbor” for the CIA's use of its enhanced interrogation techaiques.®® The August 1, 2002,
opinion did not, however, address the coastitutional standards described in the letrer from
Wiiliam Haynes,

&SR ) in july 2003, after the White House made a nimber of statements

agsin suggesting that U.S. treatment of detainees was “humanc,” the CIA asked the national
security ad visor for policy reaffirmation of the CIA"s use of its enhanced interrogation
techniques, During the time that request was being considered, CIA Headquarters stopped
approving requests from CIA officers to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. ®!
Because of this stand-down, CIA interrogators, with CIA Headqguarters approval, instead used
repeated applications of the CIA’s “standard” interrogation techniques, These “standard”
techniques were coercive, but not considered to be as coercive as the CIA’s “enhanced”
interrogation techniques. At this time, sleep deprivation beyond 72 hours was considered an

Pebrusry 7, 2002, Memozandum on the Getleva Convention {IIT) of (049 1o The Relepsz oF an 6] Qaedhd Detxines o'~~~

the Custody of the CIA. The maemorandum stated that neither al-Qa'ida nor Taliban detpinees Qualified as prisoners
of war under Cieneva, and that Common Article 3 of Geneva, requiring humane treatment of individuals in o
conflict, &id not apply to al-Qa’ida o Taliben deminees

47 Mareh 18, 2003, Mesmorandum for the Record from . Sobicct: mecting with DOJ and NSC
Legul Adyiser,

8 See, for example, March 18, 2003, email from: [ ENEER 1o: Scot Muller; subject: Memorandum for
Ihe Recard - Telcon with OLC; date: March 13, 2003; email from: Scoit W. Moller; to: Stantey M. Moskowisz, John
H. Maseman; o¢; Joha A. Rizzo, JIIR scbjc<:: Interregations; due: April 1, 2003,
1:18:35 PM,; enwil frony: tu; Scott Maller; cc: John Rizzo, [REDACTED), (REDACTED).
[REDACTEDY}; subject: Black lewer law on Jaterrogations; Legal Principles Applicable to CIA Dezeation and
taterrogation of Ceprired Al-Qa’ida Personnel; date: Apnil 17, 2003.

&% June 25, 2009, Leter from William §. Huynes, T, General Caunsel of the Department of Defenge to Parick
Leshy, United States Senate.

@ June 30, 2003, Memorendum for the Recowd o [ Svbject: White House Meeting on

Eahanced Techniques (DTS #2009-2659).
®1 Sa, for example, omait from: h-, w: [REDACTED] snd (REDACTED); aubject: FY1 - Drsft
Paragraphs for the DCT on the Legal Lssues on Interrogation, as requested by the General Counsel; dute: March 14,

2003; lune 26, 2007, Statement by the President, United Nations International Day in Support of Victims of Tortare,
http:/iwww.whitchouse.gov/newsireleases/2003/06/20030626-3 . tm; email from: Iohn Rixzo; o: John Moseman,

s cc: Buzzy Krongard, Scott Muller, William Harlow; subject: Today's Washington Poat Piece on
Adrinistration Detainee Policy; date: Tune 27, 2003, July 3, 2003, Memarunium for National Security Advisar
fram Direcior af Central Intefligence George J. Tenet, Subject: Reaffirmation of the Centra) Tatolligence Agency's
Inerrogation Program.
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“enhanced” interrogation technique, while sicep deprivation under 72 hours was defined as a
“standard” CIA inlerrogation technique. Te avoid using an “enhanced” interrogation technique,
CIA officers subjected Khallad bin Attash to 70 hours of stapding sleep deprivation, two hours
less than the maximum. Afier allowing him four hours of sleep, bin Atiash was subjected to an
additional 23 hours of standing sleep deprivaiion, followed immediatcly by 20 hours of seated
sleep deprivation.®?

&s/S ) Unlike during most of the CIA’s inierrogation program, during the
time that CIA Headquarters was secking policy reaffirmation, the CIA responded w Infractions
in the intermogation m as repocied through CIA cables and other communications.
Although , the chief of the interrogations program in RDO, does not appear to have
becn investigated ar reprimanded for training interrogators on the abdominal slap before its use
was approved,®? tralning significant numbers of new interrogators 1o conduct interragations on
potentially compliant detainees,™ or conducting large numbers of water dousing on detainees
without requesting or obtaining authorization;* the CIA removed his certification 1o conduct
interrogations in late July 2003 for placing a broom handle behind the knees of a detinee while
that detainee was in a stress position.¥® CIA Headquarters also decertified two other
imerogaiors, ISR 11 OFFICER 1) SRS v the same perio,
although there are no official records of why those decertifications occurred.®?

2. The CIA Provides Inaccurate Informartion to Select Members of the National Security
Cowurcil, Represents that *Termination af This Program Will Result in Loss of Life,
Passibly Extensive”; Policymakers Reauthorize Progyram

S/ 25) On July 29, 2003, DCI Tenet and C1A General Counsel Mukler

attended a meeting with Vice President Cheney, National Security Advisor Rice, Artorney
General Asheroft, and Whitz House Counsel Genzales, among others, seeking policy

%1 Bin Attash has one leg, which swalled during standing sleep deprivation, resulting in the transition to seated gleep

deprivation. He way dlgo subjected ro nudity and dictary menipulation during this period, Sec [N 12371

@IZINZ UL 03) -‘IHZ?.HS {222045Z TUL D3); and h 12389 (232040Z JUL 03).

@1 HVT Training and Curmriculum, November 2, 2002, at 17.

B HYT Training and Curriculnm, November 2, 2002, at 17

@S See, for cxample, {0168 {092 130Z JAN 03); Interview Report, 2003-7)23-1G, Roview of

Interrogations for Counterterroriem Purposes, . Aprl 7, 2003; CIA Office of Tnspacior General,

Specisl Review: Countertervarism Detention and Intertogation Activities

7123-1G), May 7, 2004; 10168 (092130Z TAN 03}
; 34§79 (2622007 FEB 03);

34340
35025 (1613212 MAR 03).

Aptil 7, 2003, Briefing for Blue Ribbon Panel: C1A Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Programs =i 22;
Memoranduin for Chief,_ via CTC Legal from Chief, CTC/RDG, Iuly 28, 2003,
Subject: Decettification of former Interrogatar. Document oot signed by because be was “not
available for signawre.”

#7? See Memorandumn for Chief, [ INEEIIEENN. v al from Chief, CTC/RDG, July

28, 2003, Subject: Decertification of former Intemrogator, signed by [CIA OFFICER 1] on July

29, 2003; and April 7, 2005, Briefing for Blue Ribbon Paoel: CIA Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Programs
at 22; Memorandum for Chief, — vis Jll CTC Legal from Chief, CTC/RDG, July 28,
2003, Subject: Decertificstion of former Interrogator,

34757 (1017422 MAR 03); and

CTC
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reaffirmation of its coercive interrogation program. The presentation included a list of the CIA's
standard and enhanced interrogation techniques. CIA General Counsel Muller also provided a
description of the waterboard interrogation technique, including the inaccurate representation
that it had been used agninst KSM 119 times and Abu Zubaydah 42 times.** The presentation
wamed National Security Council principals in attendance that “termination of this program will
result in loss of life, possibly extensive.” The CIA officers further noted that 50 percent of CIA
inizlligence reports on al-Qaida were derived from detainee reparting, and that “major threats
were countered and attacks averted” because af the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques. The CIA pruvided specific examples of “atacks averted” as a reselt of using the
CIA’s enhanced inlerrogation techniques, including references to the U.S. Consulste in Karachi,
the Heathrow Plot, the Second Wave Plot, and Tyman Faris.® As described later in this
summary, and in greaier detail in Volume I1, these claims were inaccurate. After the CIA's
presentation, Vice President Cheney siated, and Natonal Security Advisor Rice agreed, that the
CIA was executing Adminismation policy in carying out its inlerrogation program,™

The National Security Council principals at the Suly 2003 briefing
initizlly concluded it was “not necessary or advisable 10 have a full Principals Comminee
meeting tn review and ceaffirm the Program.”™! A CIA emaif noted that the official reuson for
not having @ full bricfing was to avoid press disclosures, but added that:

*it is clear to us from some of the runup meetings we had with [White House]
Counsel that the [White House] is extremely concerned [Secretary of State]

% CIA records indicate that KSM received at least 183 applications of the waterboard rechnique, snd thet Abu
_ Zubaydeh received-stteast'83 applicarions of tre waterboard tectimigne. ITARei! 2003, CLA Taspector Genersl Johy
Helgerson asked Oenersl Counsel Scolt Mulier about the repetitious use of the waterboard. In early June 2003,
White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales and the Yice President’s Counsel, Dayid Addington, who were awure of the
inspecior general's concerns, atked Mulier whether the number of waterboard repetitions had besn 1o highin light
of the OLC guidance. This question prompted Muller to seek information on the use of the waterbourd on Abu
Zobaydah and KSM, (See imerview of Scon Muller, by (REDACTED], [REDACTED), [REDACTED] end
{REDACTED), Office of tbe Inspector General, August 20, 2003; and email from: Scott Muller; to: John Rizzo; cc:
SRR <=0 0), MMM (REDACTED), subiect.“Repor from
Gitmo lrip (Not proofread, as usual)™; date: Juoe | 2003, 05:47 PM) As Mulier told the OIG, be could not keep up
with cable tmffic from CJA detainee interrogations and inssead received monthly trichiags. Acoarding o OIG
cecords of the inlerview, Muller “said he does not know specifically how [CIA goidelines os interrogsicas) changed
because he dnes not get that far down into the weeds,” aod “each dewsinee is different and tose in the field have
sonte [ndmde.” (Ses interview of Scotl Muller, Office of the Inspocior Generol, August 20, 2003.) Denpite this
record and olhers detniled in the Full Committce Study, the CTA's June 2013 Response asserts that the CIA's
“confinernent condkions and weatreent of high profile detainees like Abu Zubaydeh were closely scrutinized at all
levels of management from the outset.”
3 August 5, 2003 Memorendum for the Record from Scatt Muller, Subject: Review of Intervogation Program on 29
luly 2003; Briefing stides, CIA laterrogation Program, Tuly 29, 2003.
0 August 5, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from Scott Muller, Subject: Review of the [nterrogation Program
on 29 July 2003, A beefing slide describing the “Pros™ and “Cona” assaciated with the program listed the following
under the heading “Con": {I) “Blowback due to public perception of ‘humune treatment,' (2) “ICRC continues to
anack USG policy on detainees,” and (3) “Congressional inquiries continue.” See Yolume 1 for additional details.
! Apgust S, 2003, Memarsndum for the Record from Scott Muller, Subject: Review of Interrogation Progrum July
29, 2003.
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Powell would blow his stack if he were to be briefed on what's been going
on."?

SR %) National Security Advisor Rice, however, subsequently decided
that Secretary of State Colin Powell and Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld shouid be
briefed on the CIA interrogation program priar lo recesification of the covert action.™® As
described, bath were then formally briefed on the CIA program for the first tithe in a 25 minute
briefing on September 16, 2003,™

) On September 4, 2003, CIA records indicate that CIA officials may
have provided Chairman Roberts, Vice Chainnan Rockefeller, and their staff directors a briefing
regarding the Administration’s reaffirmation of the program.™ Neither the CLA nor the
Committee has a conemporaneous report on the content of the briefing or any confinmation that
the briefling occurred.

K. Additional Oversight and Qutside Pressure in 2004: ICRC, Inspector General, Congress,
and the U.S. Supreme Court

I. ICRC Pressure Leads to Detainee Transfers; Department of Defense Official Informs the
CIA that the U.S. Government "Should Not Be in the Position of Causing People to
Disappear”'; the CIA Provides Inaccurate Infformation on CIA Detainee 1o the
Department of Defense

{ ) In January 2004, the ICRC sent a letter to || I
Indicaring that it was aware that the United States Government was holding

unacknowledged detainees in several facilities in Country ff] “incommunicado for extensive
periods of time, subjected to unacceptable conditions of intemment, to ill treatment and torture,
while deprived of any possible recourse,” ™ According to the CIA, the letter included a “fairly
complete list” of CIA detainees to whom the ICRC had not had access.”” This prompted CIA
Headquarters to conclude that it was necessary to reduce the number of detainees in CIA
custody.™ The CIA subsequently wransferred at least 25 of its detainees in Country fJ] to the
U.S. military and foreign governments. The CIA alsa released five detajnees.”®

™ Eynsi! from: John Rirzo; ta: ; subject: Rump PC an interrogations; date: july 3§, 2003.

3 August 5, 2003, Memorandun for the Record from Seott Muller, Subject: Review of lmer:mgmon Program, July

29, 2003,
™ September 26, 2003, C1A Memorandum for the Record from Muller, Subjecs: CIA Interrogation Program.

M5 September 4, 2003, CIA Memarandum for the Record, Subject: Member Briefing.
* Jannacy 6, 2004, Latter from
|

7 HEADQUARTERS
™ HEADQUARTERS
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SR 2%) The CIA provided a factually incorrect description to the

Department of Defense concerning one of the 18 CIA detainees transferred to U.S. military
custody in Macrch 2004. The transfer letter described CIA detainee Ali Jan as “the most trusted
bodyguard of Jaluluddin Hagqani (a top AQ target of the USG)"” who was caprured in the village
of& on June . 2002.7'° Although there was an individual named Ali Jan captured in
the village of on June [l 2002, CIA records indicate that he was not the detaince
being held by the CIA in the Country facility. The Ali Jan in CIA custody was
apprehended circa early August 2003, during the U.S. military operation _ in
Zormat Valley, Paktia Province, Afghnnistan.”? CIA records indicate that Ali Jan was
wansferred 1o CIA custody after his satellite phone rang while he wns in military custody, and the
ranstator indicated the caller was speaking in Arabic.™* Afier his ransler to U.S. milimry
custady, Al Jan was evenwally released on July || 2004.™

{_«ﬂm In response to the ICRC's formal complaint about detainees being
kept in Country [ without ICRC scoess, State Departmient officials met with senior ICRC
officials in Geneva, and indicated that it was U.S. policy ro eacourage all counsries to provide
ICRC uccess to detainees, including Country JJ7° While the State Depaniment made these
offictal representatons to the ICRC, the CIA was repeatedly directing the same country to deny
the ICRC access to the CIA detainces, In June 2004, the secretary of state ordered the U.S.
ambassador in that country to deliver a demarche, “in essence demanding [the country] provide
full access to all [countr;r—] detainees,” which included detainess being held at
the CIA’s behest.”" These conflicting messages from the United States Government, as well as
increased ICRC pressure on the country for failing to provide access, created significant tension
between the United States and the country in question.””’

Es/JEN /) Later that year, in advance of a National Security Gouneil— - - — —— -

Principals Commirtee mecting on September 14, 2004, officials from the Deparument of Defense
catled the CIA to inform the CIA that Dcputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz would not
support the CIA’s position that notifying the ICRC of all detainees {n U.S. Government custody
would harm U.S. national security. According to an internal CIA email following the call, the
deputy secretary of defense had listened to the CIA’s arguments for nondisclosure, but believed
that it was time for full notificadon. The email stated that the Department of Delense supported
the U.S. Government's position that there should be full disclosure to the ICRC, unless there
were compelling reasons of military necessity or national security. The email added that the

1% March 4, 2004, Letter from Jose Rodriguer, Director, DCT Counterterrorist Center @ Thomas O'Connell,
Assistant Secretacy of Defense, Special Operations/Low Intensity Conflict.

7 See 180219

2 2296 (1017052 09

b 2296 (1017092 04}

7H Details in June {3, 2008, Letter to ICRC, ces ing 1o 2004 ICRC nore verbale.

75 m
e HEADQUARTERS”. During this same period, countries whose nationals were in

CIA custody were issuing demarches, issued a demarche to Country [l in 2004, and
issued a demarche to the U8, in 2004. See 2274

92037, and 93291
717 For mare information, see Volume 1.
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Department of Defense did not believe an adequate articulation of military necessity or national
securily reasons warranting nondisclosure existed, that *DoD is tired of ‘tmking hits’ for CIA
"ghost detainees,' and that the U.S. government “should not be in the position of causing people
to ‘disappear.78

@+ A7) Despite numerous meetings and communications within the

executive branch throughout 2004, the United States did not formally respond to the January 6,
2004, ICRC letter untii June 13, 2005.79

2. CIA Leadership Calls Draft Inspector General Special Review of the Program
“Imbalanced and Inaccurate,” Responds with Inaccurate Informarion; CIA Seeks to
Limir Further Review of the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program by the Inspector
General

/A ~F) The CIA's Office of the Inspector General (OIG) was first
informed of the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program in November 2002, nine months
after Abu Zubaydah became the CIA’s first detainee. As described, the information was
conveyed by the DDQ, who also informed the OIG of the death of Gul Rahman. In January
2003, the DDO further requested that the OIG investigae allegations of unauthorized
interrogation techniques against *Abd al-Rehim al-Nashiri, Separately, the OIG “received
information that some employees were concerned that certain covert Agency activities at an
overseas detention and interrogation sire might involve violations of human rights,” according to
the OIG’s Special Review.™

/SN ~) During the course of the OIG's interviews, numerous CIA officers

expressed concens about the CIA’s lack of preparedness for the detention and interrogation of
Abu Zubaydah.”™ Other CIA officers expressed concem about the analytical assumptions
driving interrogations,’?? as well as the [ack of Janguage and celtural background among

™ B} from: (REDACTED]; to: John Rizzo, ACTED}; cc: [REDACTED), I, (REDACTED),
{REDACTED]), [REDACTED)], [REDACTED],[“. Jose Radriguez, John P, Mudd, [REDACTED],
{REDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: DoD’s position on CRC notification; date; September 13, 2004.

' June 13, 2005, Letter to ICRC, responding © 2004 ICRC note verbaie.

0 Special Review, Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Adtivities (September 2001 ~ October 2003)
(2003-7123-1G), 7 May 2004, (DTS #2004-2710).

' The chief of Statiom in the country Lhat hosted the CIA’s fimt detention site told the OIG that *[t]he Reports
Officers did not know what was required of them, analysts were not knowledgeable of the warget, translators were
not netive Arab speakers, and at least one of the {chiefs of Base] hed limited field ience.” See lnierview repon
of [REDACTED), Office of the Ingpector General, May 20, 2003, According to of CTC Lagal,
there was no screening procedure in place for officers assigned 10 DETENTION SITE GREEN, Sez interview of

I -y [REDA CTED] and {REDACTED, Office of the Inspector General, February 14, 2003, Sze
also interview of Office of the Inspector General, March 24, 2003.

R In nddition 1o the statements to the OIQ described sbove, regarding the interrogntion of Abu Zubaydsh, CTA
officers expreased more general coneems. As noted, the assuinptions at CIA Headquarters that
Abu Zubaydah “knew everyming obout Al-Qa’ida, including details of the next anack™ reflected how “the ‘Analyst
vs. Interrogator” issue ha{d] been around from ‘day one.™ (See interview of Dffice of the
Inspecior General, February 27, 2003.) According to Chief of Interrogations . subject matter expests
often provided interrogation requirements that weee “not valid or well thought out,” providing the example of
Mustafa al-Hawsawi. (See interview of , Office of the Inspector Geoera!, April 7, 2003.) Senior CIA
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members of the interrogation teams.’* Some CIA officers described pressure from CIA
Headguarters to use the CIA’s erhanced interrogation techniques, which they attributed to faulry
analytical assumptions about what detainees should know.™* As the chief of RDG,
h stated to the OIG in a February 2003 interview:

“CTC docs not know a lot about al-Qa’ida and as a resuit, Headquarters
analysts have constructed ‘models’ of what al-Qa’ida represents to them.
h noted that the Agency does rot have the linguists or subject
malter experts it needs. The questions sent from CTC/Usams bin Laden
(UBL) to the interrogators are based on SIGINT {signals intelligence] and
other intelligence that often times is incompleiz or wrong. When the detainee
does not regpond o the question, the assumption at Headquarters is that the
deainec is holding back and knows’ more, and consequently, Heodquarners
recommends resumption of ETTs. This difference of opinion between the
interrogators and Headquariers as to whether the detsinee is ‘compliant’ is the
type of ongoing pressure the interrogation team is exposed to.

belicves the waterboard was used ‘recklessly’ — ‘o many times’ on Abu
Zubaydah at [NETENTION SITE GREEN], hased in part on faulty
intelligeace." ™

interrogator [N t'd the OIG that interrogators “suffered from a lack of substeative requitements from
CIA Hesdquarters,™ and that "in every case so far, Headquarters’ model of what the detsinee should know iz
ﬂawed.“.h wld the OTG that “T do not want to beat a man up based on what Headquarters says he should
know,” commenting that, “I want my best shot on something he (the detainee) knows, pat a fighing expedition on
things be should know." (See interview of d Office of the [nspector Genersl, April 30, 2003.) Two
interviewees1old the OYG that requirethents Were somefitiés bisid orn inaccuckte or impoperly Lrainsluted {narcepts
See interview of interrogator h Office of the Inspector Genernl, March 24, 2003; Interview ofi
[former ehicf of Station in the country that hosted the CIA's first detention site], Office of the L—
Inspeetor General, May 29, 2003,
™ One interviewee noted that several interrogators with whom he had worked intisted oo conducting interrogations
&n English to desmonstrate their doyminance over the detninee. (See interview report of ‘, Office of
the inspectar Gepersl, Masch (7, 2003.) The ClA’s June 2013 Response ocknowledges thal “[tjhe program
continued to face challenges in sdentifying sufficient, qualified staff -- panticulardy anguage-qualified personnel — as
requircments im involvement i Imeq increased ™
} of CTC Lezal, “{i[ie seventh floor [ClA lzadesship] can complicare the proceas
because of (he miadse! that interrogations are ihe silver bullet {and CIA leadership is} expecting immediate reashs.”
See intexview of Office of the Inspector General, February 14, 2003,) Senior Inteswogetar
provided the example of Khallad bin Allash, who, he wid the OIG, weas determined by the chicf of Base at
DETENTION SITE BLUE not to “warmaat™ the CIA’s eohanced inerrogation sechaignes. According o
debriefer [N c2'tcd ALEC Sudon and old thera to “go to the mat™ in advocatiag for the use of the CIA’s
enhanced (ntecrogstion techniques. claiming that bin Attssh was holding back information, {See interview of
- Office of the Inspector General, April 30, 2003.) _dmccibcd the “inherent tension
that occasionally exists between officers at the intesrogation facifities and those at Headquartera who view e
detainees gre withholding information.” JI provided the example of Abu Yassir alJaza'lrl. (See interview
of S, Office of the Inspector General, May 8, 2003.) ﬁ also described dissgreements on
whether to suhject detainees to the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques a8 a “field versus Headquarters issue.”
(See interview of Qffice of the Inspector General, August 18, 2003.) As described, intetviewees dlso
described pressure from C1A watters refated to the interrogations of KSM and Abu Zuboydsh.
75 Interview Mﬂ Office of the Inspector General, February 21, 2003,
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(FS/HE ) One senior interrogator, MMM, informed the OIG that
differences between CIA Headquarters und the interrogators at the CIA detention siles were not

part of the afficial record. According to *“all of the fighting and criticism is done aver
the phone and is not put into cables,” and that C1A “[c]ables reflect things that are ‘all rosy.' w726

s/ 2 5) As is described elsewhere, and reflected in the final OIG Special
Review, CIA officers discussed numerous other topics with the OIG, including conditions at -
DETENTION SITE COBALT, specific interrogations, the video taping of interrogations, the
administration of the program, and concerns about the lack of an “end game™ for CIA detainecs,
as well as the impact of possible public revelations conceming the exisicnce and operation of the
CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.’’

s/ > F) 1n January 2004, the CIA inspector general circulated for comment
to various offices within the CIA a dreft of the OIG Special Review of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program. Among other marters, the OIG Special Review described divergences
between the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues as applied and as described to the
Department of Justice in 2002, the use of unauthorized technigues, and oversight problems
related to DETENTION SITE COBALT, The draft OIG Special Review elicited responses from
the CIA's deputy director for operations, the deputy director for science and technology, the
Office of General Counsel, and the Office of Medical Services. Several of the responses—
particularly those frorn CIA General Counsel Scott Muiler and CIA Deputy Director for
Operations James Pavitt—were highly critical of the inspector genexal’s draft Special Review.
General Counsel Muller wrote that the OIG Special Review presented *“an imbalanced and
inaccurate picture of the Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Program,” and claimed
the OIG Special Review, “[o]n occasion,” “quoted or summarized selectively and misleadingly™
from CIA documents.”™ Deputy Director for Operations James Pavitt wrote that the OIG
Special Review should have come to the “conclusion that our efforts have thwarted atiacks and
saved lives,” and that “EITs (including the water board) have been indispensable to our
successes.” Pavitt attached to his response a document describing information the CIA obtained
*as a result of the lawful use of EITs"” that stated, “[tlhe evidence points clealy to the fact that
without the use of such techniques, we and our allies would {have] suffered major terrorist

76 Interview of [ . Oftice of the inspector General, April 30, 2003.

77 DDO Pavitt described passible public revelations related (o the CIA's Detention and Intesrogation Program as
“the CIA"s worst nightmare.” Inierview of James Pavitt, Office of the Inspectar General, September 21, 2003,
According ta OIG records of an interview with DCI Tenet, *Tenet believes that if the general public were 1o find cut
abaut this program, many would belicve we are torturers.” Tenet added, however, that his “only potential moral
dilemma would be if more Americans die at the hands of terrorists and we had someone in our custody who
possessed jnformation that could have prevented deaths, bt we had not obtained such information,” Sew interview
aof George Tenet, Office of the fnspector General, memorandum dated, September 8, 2003.

™ See C1A Memorandum from Scott W, Muller, Genere] Counsel, to Inspector General re [nterrogation Program
Special Review, dated February 24, 2004 (2003-7123-1G). .
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attacks involving hundreds, if not thousands, of casnalties.”™ A review of CIA records found
that the representations in the Pavitt materials were almost entirely inaccurate.”

(m In addition to conveying inaccurate information on the operation,

management, and effectiveness of the CIA program, CIA leadership continued to impede the
OIG in its efforts to oversee the program, In July 2005, Directar Goss sent a memorandum to the
inspector general to “‘express several concems regarding the in-depth, multi-faceted review” of
the CIA's CTC. The CIA director wrote that he was “increasingly concemed abaut the
cumulative impact of the OIG’s work on CTC's performance,” adding that “1 believe it makes
sense to complete existing reviews. ,. before opening new ones.” Director Goss added, “[tJo my
kmowledge, Congress is satisfied that you are meeting its requirements” with regard to the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program.”' At the time, however, the vice chairman of the Senate
Select Comminee on Intelligence was seeking a Committee investigation of the CIA program, in
part because of the aspects of the program that were not being investigated by the Office of
Inspector General.”” In April 2007, CIA Director Michael Hayden had his “Senior
Councilar”—an individual within the CIA who was accountable only to the CIA director—
canduct a review of the inspector general's practices. Defending the decision to review the OIG,
the CIA told the Committee that there were “morale issues that the [CIA] director needs to be
mindful of,” und that the review had uncovered instances of *bias™ among OIG personnel against
the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program.” In 2008, the CIA director announced the .
results of his review of the OIG to the CIA work force and stated that the inspector general had
“chosen to take a number of steps to heighien the efficiency, assure the quality, and increase the

transparency of the investigative process.””™

3. The CIA Does Not Satisfy Inspector General Special Review Recommendation to Assess
the Effectiveness of the CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Techniques

S/ 2 ¥) The final May 2004 OIG Special Review included a
recommendation that the CIA’s DDO conduct a study of the effectiveness of the CIA’s
interrogation technigques within 0 days. Prompted by the recommendation, the CIA tasked two
senior CIA officers fo lead “an informal operational assessment of the CIA detainee program.”
The reviewers were tasked with responding to 12 specific terms of reference, including an
assessment of “the effectiveness of each interrogation lechnique and environmental deprivation”

729 Memorandum to the Inspector General from James Pavitt, C1A's Deputy Director for Operations, dated Februacy
27, 2004, with the suhject line, “Comments to Draft [G Special Review, ‘Counterterrorism Detention and
Interrogation Program’ (2003-7123-1G),” Awachment, “Successes of CIA’s Countenerrorisin Detention and
Interrogation Activides,” dated February 24, 2004,

10 Por additional information, see Yolume [L

Bl July 21, 2005, Memorandum for Inspector General from Pocter J, Goss, Director, Centrat Intelligence Apency re:
New IG Work Impacting the CounterTerrorism Center.

P2 Transcript of business meeting, April 14, 2005 (DTS #2005-2810).

B3 Committee Memorandum for the Record, “Staff Briefing with Bob Deitz on his Inquiry inta the Investigative
Practices of the CIA Inspector General,” O¢tober 17, 2007 (DTS #2007-4166}; Commirtee Memoranduin for the
Record, “Notes from Mectings with John Helgerson and Bob Deitz in lawe 2007 and early 2008" (DTS #2012-4203);
Committee Memarandum for the Record, “Siaff Briefing with CIA Inapectar General foha Helgerson™ (DTS #2007 -
4165).

™ Leder from DCIA Michael Hayden o Senator John D. Rockefeller IV, January 29, 2008 (DTS #2008-0606),
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to determine if any techniques or deprivation should be “added, modified, or discontinued."”
According to a CIA memorandum from the reviewers, their review was based on triefings by
CTC personnel, “‘a discussion with three senior CTC managers who played key roles in running
the CIA detainge program,” end a review of ning documents, including the OIG Special Review
and an article by the CLA contractors who developed the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques, Hammond DUNBAR and Grayson SWIGERT.™ As described in this summary,
and in more detail in Yolume II, these documents contained numerous inaccurate representations
regarding the operation and effectivencss of the CIA program. There are no records to indicate
the two senior CIA officers reviewed the underlying interrogation cables and inmlligence records
rclated to the represermations. Their resulting assessment repeated informarion found in the
documents provided to them and reported that the “CLA Detainee Program is a success,
providing unigue and valuable intelligence at the taectical leve] for the benefit of policymakers,
wer fighters, and the CIA's covert action operatmrs,” The asscssment also reported tmt
regulations and procedures for handling detsicecs were “adequate and clear,” and thal the
program had responded swifily, fairly, and completely to deviations from the souctured
program.™ Nonetheless, the 2ssessment came to the conclusion that detention and
interrogations activitics should not be conducted by the CIA, but by “experienced U.S. law
enfarcement officers,” stating:

“The Directorate of Operations (DO) should not be in the business of runaing
prisons or ‘temporary detention facilities.” The DO should focus on its core
mission: clandesting intelligence operations. Accordingly, the DO should
continue to hunt, capture, and render targets, and then exploit them for
intelligence and ops leads once in custody. The management of their
incarceretion and interrogation should be conducted by appropriately
experienced U.S, law enforcement officers, because that is their charter and
they have the training and experience."””®

(m The pssessment noted that the CIA program required significant

resourees at a time whean the CLA was already stretehed thin. Finally, the suthors wrote thet they
“suongly believe” that the president and congressional oversight members should receive a

% May 12, 2004, Memorzndum for Deputy Dicecior for Operations from Chief, Inforomtion
Operasions Center, 3nd Hemney Crumpton, Ciiict, Nations) Resources Division, vis Associate Deputy Direcior for
Operations, with the subject line, “Operational Review of CIA Detairee fro *

8 May 12, 2004, Memonmduen for Deputy Disector for Opertions from Chief, Information
Operations Center, and Heary Crumpron, Chief, National Resources Division, vis Associate Deputy Directos for
Operalions, with the subjest line, “Opectional Review of CIA Detaimes Progaam.” The CIA’s June 2013 Response
states, “(wle acknowledge that the Agency ecred in permitting the contracton (o gaacss tha effiectivenear of enhanced
techniques. They should not kzve been considered far suck a role given their financial interest in continued
contracts from CIA

1 May 12, 2004, Meinorandum for Deputy Directar for Operations from [IJ M. Chicf. Information
Operatlons Center, und Heary Crumpion, Chief, National Resources Division, via Associate Deputy Director for
Operations re Operationsl Review of CIA Detainee Program. For additional infazmation, see Volume IL

% May 12, 2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations fror SR, Chicf, iformation
Operations Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, National Resources Division, via Associale Deputy Dicestor for
Operations re Operational Review of CiA Detginee Program.
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comprehensive update on the program, “[gliven the intense interest and controversy surrounding
the detainee issue.""”

s/ %) On Januvary 26, 2005, DCI Goss forwarded the senior officer
review o Inspector General John Helgerson.™ The DCI asked whether the review would satsfy
the inspector general recommendation for an independent review of the program.”! On Jaouary
28, 2003, the inspecior general responded that the senjor officer review would not satisfy the
recommendation far an independent review.™? The inspector general also responded o a
concern raised by MS that studying the results of CIA interrogations would
amount to human experimentation, stating:

“[ fear there was a misunderstanding. QG did not have in mind doing
additional, guinea pig research on human beings. What we are recommending
is that the Agency undertake a careful review of its experience o date in using
the various iechnigques and that it draw conclusions about their safety,
effectiveness, etc., that can guide CIA officers as we move shesd. We make
this recommendation because we have found that the Agency over the decades
has continued (o get itself in messes related to interrogation programs for one
overriding reason: we do not document and leam from our experience - each
generation of officers is left to improvise anew, with problematic results for
our officers as individuals and for our Agency. We are not unaware that there
are subtleties 10 this maiter, as the effectiveness of techniques varies among
individuals, over time, as administered, in combination with one another, and
soon. All the more reason to document these important ﬁm!ings.""3

@S/ ~F) In November and December 2004, the CIA responded to National
Secunity Advisor Rice’s questions about the effecliveness of the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques by aaserting that an effectiveness review was not passible, while highlighting
examples of “[kley intelligence” the CIA represented was obtained after the use of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques. The December 2004 memorandum prepared for the nationat
secunity advisor entitled, “Effecti veness of the CIA Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques,”

begins:

™ May 12, 2004 Messorndum (o Deputy Director far Operatioas from SN Ctee!. ioformation
Operations Ceoter, and Herry Cruropeon, Chief, Natiooal Resourees Division, via Associetc Deputy Director (or
Openations re Operalional Review of CIA Detamee Program.

™ See Volume I for additional imfonnasion.

™! Emnaif from: John Helgerson; to; Porter Goss, cc: Jose Rodriguez, Iohn Rizvo, [REDACTED),
[REDACTEDY; subject: DCI Question Regarding OIG Report; date: January 28, 2005.

M2 Emuil from: John Helgersun; to: Porter Goss, . cc: Jose Rodriguez, Jobn Rizao, {REDACTED],
[REDACTED); subjext: DC1 Question Regarding OIG ; January 28, 2003.

* Brmail from: John Helgerson; ro: Porter Gw.&; ce: Jose Rodriguez, John Rizze, [REDACTED),
{REDACTEDY]; subject: DCE Question Regarding OIG Report; date: January 28, 2005, The ClA’s June 2013
Response maintains that “[a) systematic study over time of the effectiveness of the techniques would have been
encumbered by & nuniber of foters,” lacluding “Federal policy on the protection of human subjects und the
impracticability of esteblishing an effective contral group.”
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“Action Requested: None, This memorandum responds to your request for an

independent study of the foreign intelligence efficacy of using enhanced

interrogation technigues, There is no way to conduct such & study, What we

can do, however, if [sic] set forth below the intelligence the Agency obtained

from detainees who, before their interrogations, were not providing any
information of intelligence [value].”™*

s/~ F) Under a section of the memorandum entitled, “Results,” the CIA
memo asseris that the “CIA’s use of DOJ-approved enhanced interrogation techniques, as part of
a comprehensive interrogation approach, has enabled CIA to disrupt terrorist plots [and) capture
additonal terrorists,” The memoarandum then lists examples of “[k]ey intelligence collected
from HVD interrogations after applying interrogation techmiques,” which led to “disruptefed]
terrorist plots™ and the “capture [of] additional terrorists.” The examples include: the “Karachi
Plot,” the “Heathrow Plot,” “the *Second Wave' plotting, the ideatification of the “the Guraba
Cell,” the identification of “Issa al-Hindi,” the arrest of Abu Talha al-Pakistani, “Hambali’s
Capmre,” information on Jaffar al-Tayyar, the “Dirty Bomb" plot, the amest of Sajid Badat, and
information on Shkai, Pakistan. CIA records do not indicate when, or if, this memorandum was
provided to the national security advisor.™®

(ISI_‘INF) A subsequent CIA memorandunt, dated March 5, 2005, conceming

an upcoming meeting between the CIA director and the national security advisor on the CIA's
progress in completing the OIG recommended review of the effectiveness of the CIA's enhanced
interrogation techniques states, “we [CIA] believe this study is much needed and should be
headed up by highly respecred national-level political figures with widely recognized reputations
far independence and fairness.”™*®

) On March 21, 2005, the director of the CTC formally proposed the

“establishment of an independent ‘blue ribbon’ commission... with a charter to study our
EITs.”™ The CIA then began the pracess of establishini a ianel that included -
— and

Both panclists received briefings and papers from CI1A
persannel who participated in the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. [the
first panelist] wrote: “It is clear from our discussians with both DO and DI officers that the
program is deemed by them to be a great success, and I would concur. The EITs, as part of the
overall program, are credited with enabling the US to dismpn terrorist plots, capture additional
terrorists, and collect a high volume of useful intelligence on al-Qa'ida (AQ).... There are
accounts of numerous plots against the US and the West that were revealed as a result of HVD

4 December 2004 CIA Memorandum to “National Security Advisor,” from “Dicecior of Ceniral Intelligence,”

Subject: “Effectiveness of the CTIA Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques.”

™5 December 2004 CIA Memorandam to “Nationa! Security Advisor,” from “Director of Central Intelligence,”
Subject: “Effecti veness of the CIA Counterterroriat Intermogation Techniques.” [talics io original,

™ March 5, 2005, Talking Points for Weekly Meeting with National Security Advisor re CIA Proposal for
Independent Study of the Effectiveness of CTC Interrogation Program’s Enhanced [nterrogation Techniques.
™7 March 21, 2005, Memorandum for Deputy Disector for Operations from Robert L. Grenier, Director DCT
Countertervorism Center, re Proposal for Fuli-Scope Independent Study of the CTIC Rendition, Detention, and
Interrogation Prograims,
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interrogations.” He alsa observed, however, that “[n]¢ither my background nor field of expertise
particularly lend themselves to judging the effectiveness of interrogation techniques, taken
individually or collectively.”?* & [the second panelist] concluded that “there is no
objcctive way to answer the question of efficacy,” but stated it was possible to *make some
general observations” about the program based on CIA personnel assessments of “the quality of
the intelligence provided” by ClA detainees. Regarding the effectiveness of the CIA's enhanced
interrogation techniques, he wrote: “here enters the epistemological problem. We can never
know whether or not this intelligence could have been extracted though alternative procedures.
Spokesmen from within the organization firmly believe it could not have been,”™*

4. The CIA Wrongfully Detains Kholid Al-Masri; .CIA Director Rejects Accountability for
Officer Involved

(4‘8!_#1-11) After the dissemination of the draft CIA Inspector General Special

Review in early 2004, approvals from CIA Headquarters to use the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques adhered more closely to the language of the DC] guidelines. Nonetheless, CIA
records indicate that officers at CLA Headquarters continued to fail to properly monitor
Justifications for the capture and detention of detainees, as well as the justification for the use of
the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on particular detainees.™?

) For example, on January [} 2004, the CIA rendered German
citizen Kbalid al-Masri to a Country . facility used by the CIA for detention purposes. The
rendition was based on the determination by officers in the CIA's ALEC Station that “al-Masxi
knows key information that could assist in the capture of other al-Qa’ida operatives that pose a
serious threat of violence or death to U.S. persons and interests and who may be planning
terrorist activities.”™! The cable did not state that Khalid al-Masri himself posed a serious threat
of violence or death, the standard required for detention under the September 17, 2001,
Memorandum of Notification (MON),

s/ =) ClA debriefing cables from Country [l] on January 27, 2004, and

January 28, 2004, note that Khalid al-Masri “seemed bewildered on why he has been sent to this
particular prison,””*? and was “adamant that {CIA] has the wrong person.”™® Despite doubts
from CIA officers in Country [J]] about Khalid al-Masri’s links to terrorists, and RDG’s
concurrence with those doubts, different components within the CIA disagreed on the process for
his release.” As later described by the CIA inspector general, officers in ALEC Station
continued to think that releasing Khalid al-Masri would pose a threat to U.S, interests and that

8 September 2, 2005 Memorandum feom [N to Director Porter Goss, CIA re Assessment of EITs
Effectiveness, For additional information, see Yohime. T1.

* September 23, 2005 Memorandum from io the Honarable Porier Goss, Director, Central Intelligence
Agency re Response 1o Requeat from Director for Assessment of ETT Effectiveness. For additional information, see
Yolume I

73 For additignal information, see Volume IIL.
1

AN 04); ALEC [N I 7 AN 04)

2
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74

(0223412 APR (4)

Page 128 of 499

NP W hd AP WA D

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 956

WV WA WIS TR

monitaring should be required, while thase in the CIA’s JJJilif Division did not want to notify
the German governient about the rendition of a German citizen.”™ Becguse of the significance
of the dispute, the Natonal Security Council settled the matter, concluding that al-Masri should
be repatriated and that the Germans should be told about al-Masri's rendition,”

(TFINF) On May 1| 2004, Khalid al-Masri was transferred from Country [i]
to T After al-Masri arrived in , CIA officers released him and sent him toward
a fake border crossing, where the officers told him he would be sent back to Germany becanse he
had entered [ iflegally.™® At the time of his release, al-Masti was provided 14,500

Euros,” as well as his belongings.™

s/ %) On July 16, 2007, the CTA inspecior gencral issued a Report of

Investligation on the rendition and detention of Khalid al-Masri, concluding that “[a]vailable
intedligence information did not provide a sufficient basis (o render and dewin Khalid al-Masti,”
and that the “Agency’s prolonged detention of al-Masti wes unjustified.”’® On October 9, 2007,
the CIA informed the Comnmittee that it “lacked safficient basis to render and detain al-Masr,”
and that the judgment by operations officers that al-Masri was associated with terrurists who
poscd a threat to U.S. intcrests "‘was not supported by available inwelligence.” The CIA director
nonetheless decided that no further action was warmanted against _, then the
depury chief of ALEC Station, who advocated for al-Masri's rendition, because “([t}he Divector
strongly helie ves that mistakes should be expected in a business filled with uncertainty and that,
when they result from performance that meets reasonable standards, CIA Jeadership must stand
behind the officers who make them.” The notification also stated that “with regard to
counterterrorism operations in general and the al-Masri matter in particular, the Diroctor believes
the scale tips decisively in favor of accepting mistakes that over connect the dots aguinst those
that under connect them.”76?

%5 CTA Office of Inspector Genemi, Report of Investigation, The Rendition snd Detention of German Citizen Khalid.

al-Masri (2004-7601-1G), July 16, 2007
7% CIA Office of lnspector General, Report of Investigation, The Rendition and Detentian of German Cibzen Khalid

al-Masri (2004-7601-1G), July 186, 2007.
57 2507

% Using May 2004 & vates, this umounted {0 spproximately $17.000.
e 42655

*t CIA Office of Inspector Geveral, Report of Investigation, The Rendition and Detemion of German Citizen Khalid
al-Masti (2004-7601-1G). Jsly 16, 2007,

M1 Refeming to and a mecond CTC offices named in the OIG's Report of [nvestigation, the
notificasion to Congress stated that the dircctor “does ot belicve that... the performznce of the two nemed CTC
officers fafl below a reasonobte fovel of professionatism, skill, end ditigence as defined in C1A"s Stsndard for
Emplayee Accounwbility.” The notification alzo stated that there waa 2 *high threst cavironment™ ot the tiroe of the
rendition, which “was essentially identical to the one in which CTC employees, iocluding the two in question here,
previoysly had been sharply criticized for not connecting the dots prioe to %11." The notification scknowledged “an
insufficient legal jostification, which failed to meet the siandard prescribed in the (MON|,” and refecred to the acting
general counsel the task of assessing legal advice and personal eccounubility. Based on recommendstions from the
inspector general, the CLA “doveloped a tempiate for rendition proposals that makes clear what informuation is
required, including the intelligence basis for that informanion.” (See Congressional notification, with the subject,
“CIA Respoase to Q10 Investlgation Regarding the Rendition and Detention of German Citizen Khalid al-Masri,”
dated October 9, 2007 (DTS #2007-4026).) The last CIA defainee, Muhammad Rahim, had already been rendered

to C1A custody by the time of this notification. The CIA’s June 2013 Rasionse poinis to a review of analytical
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3. Hassan Ghul Provides Substantial Information—Including Information on a Key UBL
Facilitator—Prior to the CIA's Use of Enhanced Interrogation Techniques

s/ ) # foreign authorities captured Hassan
Ghul in the Traqi Kurdistan Region on January [}, 2004.7* After his identity was confirmed on

January [l} 2004, Ghul was rendered from U.S. military custody to CIA custody at
DETENTION SITE COBALT on January Jl], 2004.7° The detention site interrogators, who,
according to CIA records, did not use the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques on Ghul, sent
at Jeast 21 intelligence reports to CIA Headquarters based on their debriefings of Hassan Ghul
from the rwo days he spent at the facility.®

S/ %) As dctailed in this summary, and in greater detail in Voluare .

CIA rocords indicate that the most accurate CLA detainee reporting on the facilitator who led to
Usama bin Laden (UBL) was acquired from Hassan Ghul—prior to the use of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques.”™ Ghul speculated that “UBL was likely living in (the]

tzining orising out of the al-Maso reodition, buat states thal, “[njonerbeless, we coocede that It s gifficult in
hindsight o understand how the Agency could imake such & mistake, 1ake 00 [ong £0 correct it, delermine that a
flawed fegsl interpretation conwribumd, 2nd ia the end ooly hold accounmble three CTC anorneys, rwo of whoin

received only an oral adimonition.”™
= I 7 753  HEADQUARTERS S RN JAN 06)
* HEADQUARTERS AN 04). The CIA confirmed that the individual detained matched the

biographical data on Hassan Ghul, Khalid Shaykh Muhammad and Khallad bin Attash confirmed that a photo
provided was of Ghul. Ses 1260 JAN 04).
NS 1642 AN 04); DIRECTOR,
ne 54194 UAN 04);
released as HEADQUARTERS | AN 04);
later released as HEADQUARTERS |- AN 04);
04), later released a8 HEADQUARTERS j AN 04);
JAN 04), laler released as HEADQUARTERS | AN 04);
04) 1850 AN 04);
AN 04); 1652 AN 04), later celeased as
DIRECTOR | AN 04); 1654 AN 04):
1655 AN 0O4), Izter released ns A
1657 AN 04); 1677
1679 JAN 04);
1681

FEB 04);

CIA : BB 04); )
1656 PAN 04).

As the disseminetion of 21 intetligence reports suggests, information in CIA records indicstes Hasson Ohul was
cooperative prios 10 being subjected to Ihe CIA's enhanced inferrogation techniques. In an interview with the CRIA
Office of Inspector Genecal, a ClA officer faméliar with Ghul's initial interrogations stated, “He sang like a tweetic
bird. He gpened up right awsy and was cooperutive from the oufset.” (See Deceraber 2, 2004, interview with
{REDACTEDI, Chief, DO, CTC UBL Department, ) CIA records reveal that Ghul's
information on Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti was dissaminated while Ghul was at DETENTION SITE COBALT, prior to
the initiation of the CIA's enhanced Interrogation techniques. On Apeid 16, 20113, the Council on Foreign Raladons
hosted a forum in relation to the screening of the film, “Manhunt.”” The farum included former CIA offtcer Nadn
Bakas, who atates in the flim that Hassan Ghul provided the critical information on Abu Ahmad al-Kowaiti to

Kurdigh officlals prior to entering CIA cus(odi. When asked about the inlzmition techniques used by the Kurds, |
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Peshawar area,” and thal “it was well known that he was always with Abu Ahmed [al-
Kuwaiti]."™ Ghul described Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti as UBL's “closest assistant,”™ who
couricred messages to al-Qa’ida’s chief of operations, and listed al-Kuwaiti as one of three
individuals likely with UBL.™ Ghul further speculated that:

“UBL's security appartus would be minimal, and that the group likely
lived in 8 house with a family somewhere in Pakistan.... Ghul speculated
that Abu Ahmed likely handled all of UBL's needs, including moving
messages out to Abu Faraj [al-Libi]...."™

(!SJ-NF) During this same period, prior ko the use of the CLA's enhanced

intcrrogation techniques, Ghul provided infarmation refated m Abu Musab al-Zargswi, Abu
Farzj al-Libi (including his role in delivering messages from UBL), Jaffar al- Tayyar, *Abd al-
Hadi al-Iraqi, Hamza Rabi's, Shaik Sa’id al-Masri, Sharif al-Masri, Abu ‘Abd al-Rahman sl
Najdi, Abu Tatha al-Pakistani, and numerous other al-Qa’ida opematives, He also provided
infoermation on the locations, movements, operational security, and training of al-Qua’ida leaders
living in Shkai, Pakistan, as well as on the visits of other leaders and operatives (0 Shkai.””
Ghul’s reporting on Shkai, which was included in at least 16 of the 21 inteiligence reports,”
confinned earlier reporting that the Shkai valley served as al-Qa’ida’s command and control
center after the group’s 200) exodus from Afghanistan.”™* Notwithstanding these facts, in March

Bukos siated: “...honestly, Hassan Ghal...when he was being debriefed by the Kurdish government, he titerslly
was sitting there having tea. He was in a safe house. He wasn't locked up inacell. He wasn't hondeuffed
anything, He was—he was having & free flowing conversation. And there’s—you know, there's articles in Kurdish
papers about son of thelr interpretation of the story and how forthcoming he was." (See
www.cfr.org/countetemarism/fitin-screening-manhum/p30560.) Given the unusaally high number of inwelligence
reports disseminated in such @ shon time period, and the statements of foaner CIA officer Bakos, the Comminee
requested additional information fram the CIA an Ghul's inferrogstion prior (o entering CIA castody. The CIA
wrute on Qctober 25, 2013: "We heve not identified any informetion in our baldings suggesting shat Masean Gul
Ara provided informalion on Abo Ahmad while in [foreign] custody.” No information wis provided oo Hasssn
E.bul's intetligence reposting while in U.S. military deteption. See DTS #2013-3152,

)
74 Emnail from: [REDACTEDY]; to; [REDACTEDY]; subject: Re: Detainee Profile on Hassan Ghul for coord; date:
December 30, 2003, at 8:14:04 AM.
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2008, the CIA represented to the Deparunent of Justice that Hassan Ghul's reporting on Shkal
was acquired “qfter” the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques,’®

s/ %) Atter two days of questioning at DETENTION SITE COBALT
and the dissemination of 21 intelligence reports, Ghul was transferred to DETENTION SITE
BLACXK,™ According o CIA records, upon arrival, Ghul was “shaved and barbered, stripped,
and placed in the standing position against the wall” with *his hands above his hesd” with plans
to lower his hands afier two hours.”’ The CIA interogators at the detention site then requested
to use the CIA's enhanced interrogation technigues on Ghul, writing:

“{the] interrogation team believes, based on [Hassan Ghul's) reaction to the
initial contact, that his al-Qa’ida briefings and his cadlier expeniences with U.S.
military interrogators have convinced him there are limits to the physical
contact interrogators can have with him. The interrogation team believes the
approval and employment of enhanced measures should sufficiently shift
{Hassan Ghut's) paradigm of what he expects to happen. The lack of these
increasd [sic] measures may limit the team's capability to collect critical end

reliable information in a imely manwer."”’®

( CIA Headquarters appraved the request the same day.™

Following 59 hours of skeep deprivation,™ Hassan Ghul experienced hallucinations, but was toid
by a psychologist that his reactions were “consistent with what many others experience in his
condition,” and that he should calm himself by telling himself his experiences are normal and
will subside when he decides to be truthful.™® The sleep deprivation, as well g other enhanced
interrogations, continued,™ as did Ghul's hallucinations.”™ Ghul also complained of back pain
and asked to see a doctor,”™ but interrogators responded that the “pain was normal, and would
stop when [Ghul] was confirmed as talling the truth.” A cable states that "[i]ntervogators told
[Ghul} they did not care if he was in pain, but cared only if he provided complete and truthful
infarmation.”” A CIA physicion assistant later observed that Hassan Ghul was experiencing
“notable physiological fatigue,” including “abdominal and back musele pain/spasm, ‘heaviness’
and mild paralysis of arms, fegs and feet [that] are secondary to his hangiag position and extreme

™5 March 2, 2008, Memovasdum for Steve Bradbury from ([N B 1.<2») Grovp, DCI
Cauniestarronist Center, re: Effectiveness of the CIA Couaterterrorial Ineemogarion Techniques. lualics in mmnl
Rx adgitionsl representations, see Volame J).

JAN 04)
AN 04); [N 1312 BRI SAN 04). The CIA's June 20)3 Response

states that when hellucimtions occarmed dunn; sieep deprivation, “medical personnel intervened 1o ensure 3
detaines would be nilowed a period of sleep.” As describied in this summary, and more esteratvely in Volume ML,
CIA regords indicate that medical personne! did not always intervene and aliow detyinecs to sleep after experiencing
halluzinations.

i 1299
L 1299

JAN 04)
JAN 04), Sze Volume IIT for similar staternents mode to CIA detainces.
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degree of sleep deprivation,” but that Ghul was clinically stable and had “essentially normal vital
signs,” despite an “occasional premature heart beat” that the cable linked to Ghul's fatigue.™
Throughout this period, Ghul provided no actionable threat information, and as detailed later in
this summary, much of his reporting on the al-Qa’ida presence in Shkai was repetitive of his
reporting prior 10 the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques. Ghul also provided no
other information of substance on UBL facilitator Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti.”* Nonetheless, on
May 5, 2011, the CIA provided a document to the Committee entided, “Detainee Reporting on
Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti," which lists Hassan Ghul as a CIA delainee who was subjected to the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques and who provided *“Tier One” information “link[ing]
Abu Ahmad to Bin Ladin."™ Hagsen Ghul was
later relcased.”™

6. Other Detainees Wrongfully Held in 2004; CIA Sources Subjected to the CIA’s Enhanced
Interrogation Technigues; CIA Officer Testifies thar the CIA Is “Not Awhorized” “w0 Do
Anyrhing Like What You Have Seen” in Abu Ghraib Photographs

@S/ F) In March 2004, the CIA ook custody of an Afghan aational who
had sought employment at a U.S, military base because he had the same name (Gul Rahman) as

an individual believed 1o be targeting LI.S, military forces in Afghanistan.™' During the period
in which the Afghan wos detained, the CIA obtained signals intelligenece of their true target
communicating with his associates, DNA resulis later showed conclusively that the Afghan in
custody was not the target. Nonctheless, the CIA held the detainee in solitary confinement for
approximately a month before he was reteased with a nominal payment.™?

m In the spring of 2004, after two detainces were wansterred to CLA

custody, CIA interrogators proposed, and CIA Headquarters approved, using the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques on one of the two detainees because it might cause the detainee to
provide information that could identify inconsistencies in the other detainee’s story.” After
both detainees had spent approximately 24 hours shackled in the standing sleep deprivation
pasiton, CIA Headquarters confirmed that the detainees were former CIA sowrces.”™ The two
detainees had tried to contact the CLA on multiple occasions prior to their detention to infarm the
CIA of their activities and provide intelligence. The messages they had sent to the CIA

» IR >o: B /AN 09

7 See Vohrme (I for additional infamation

72 See CIA letter 1o the Scnate Select Commities on Intelligence, dated May 5,201 |, which includes » docoment

eumled "Bnckgwnd Demminee Infotmation on Abu Ahmed al-Kowsiti,” with 2a accompanying six-page chart
pocting on Abnu»uedu-xnwmﬁ"mmmn -2004).

7! The individual detained and the individual believed to be targeting U.S. forces were different fren the Gul
Rahmen who died at DETENTION SITE COBALT.

»t 2035

» 2186 ((REDACTED))

™ ALEC {{REDACTED])

Page 133 of 499
~HNCTASSIRED-

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE




UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 100

WU RIININIRT AL

FrorsEcre I

B - rot translated uncil after the detainees were subjected to the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques.™’

@S/ 2:5) During this same period in carly 2004, CIA interrogators

interrogated Adnan al-Libi, a member of the Libyan Islamic Fighting Group. CIA Headquarters
did not approve the use of the C1A’s enhanced techniques against al-Libi, but indicated that
interrogators could use “standard” interrogation techniques, which included up to 48 hours of
sleep deprivation,™® CIA interrogators subsequently reported subjecting Adnan al-Libi to sleep
deprivation sessions of 46.5 hours, 24 hours, and 48 hours, with a combined three hours of sleep
between sessions.™’

m Beginning in late Aprif 20{4, a number of media outlets published

photographs of detainee abusc af the Department of Defense-run Abu Ghraib prison in Iraq. The
media reports caused members of the Committee and individuals in the executive branch to focus
on detainee issues. On May §2, 2004, the Committee held a lengthy hearing on detainee issues
with Deparument of Defense and CIA witnesses. The CIA used the Abv Ghraib abuses as a
coatrasting reference point for irs detention and interrogation activities. In a response to 2
question from a Committee menuber, CIA Deputy Director McLaughlin said, ““we are not
authorized in {the CIA program] to do anything like what you have seen in thase
photographs,"’™ In response, a member of the Committee said, “I understand,” and expressed
the understanding, consistent with past CIA briefings to the Committee, that the “norm”™ of CIA's
interrogations was “transparent law enforcement procedures [that] had developed to such a high
level... that you could get pretty much what yon wanted.” The CIA did not cortect the
Committce member's misunderstanding that CIA interrogation techniques were similar to
techniques used by U.S. law enforcement.™

7. The CIA Suspends the Use of its Enhanced Interrogation Techniques, Resumes Use of the
Techniques on an Individual Bavis; Interrogations are Based on Fabricated, Single
Source information

@S/ ) in May 2004, the OLC, then led by Assistant Attorney Genersl
Jeck Goldsmith, informed the CIA's Office of General Counsel that it had never formally opined
on whether the use of the CLA's enhanced interrogation techaiques in the CIA’s program was

™ HEADQUARTERS [l ((REDACTED)). For more information oo AL-TURK) and AL-MAGREBI, ser
Yolume 0L

™ Sew Yolume | and 11, including HEADQUAW In November 2003, CtA
Genecal Counsel Scout Muller sent 2n email to suggesting “changing (be sloep deprivation finc
as [sic] berween eahanced and standard from 72 to 48 bours.” {See November 23, 2003, email from Scott Moller to
cc: John Rlzzn, Subject: Al-Hewsawi Incident) On January 10, 2004, CIA Headquarters
informed CIA detention sites of the change, stating that sleep deprivation aver 48 hours would now he considered an
“enbanced™ interrogation technique. See HEADQUARTERS 1017132 JAN 04),
”’*uas (091823Z MAR 04); 1889 (0913362 MAR 04).
There is no indicarion in CTA records that CIA Headquarters addressed the repeated use of “‘standard” sleep
deprivation againat Adnan al-Libl, For more information, see Volume I detainee report foc Adnan al-Libi,

™ Transcript of Senate Select Commintes on Intelligence hearing, May 12, 2004 (DTS #2004-2332).

™ Transcript of Senale Seleet Commitiee on lntdliimce hearini. Mai 12, 2004 (DTS #2004-2332).
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consistent with U.S. constitutional standards.®® Goldsmith also reised concerns about
divergences between the CIA's proposed enhanced interrogation techriques, as described in the
Augost 1, 2002, memarandum, and their actual application, as described in the CIA Inspectar
General's Special Review. ™! In late May 2004, DCI Tenet suspended the use of the CIA’s
“enhanced” snd “standard” interrogation techniques, pending updated approvals from the
OLC.*? On June 4, 2004, DCI Tenet issued a formal memorandum suspending the use of the
CIA's interrogation techniques, pending policy and legal review.*™ The same day, the CIA
saught reaffirmation of the program from the National Security Council.** Nationa] Security
Advisor Rice responded, noting that the ""next logical su:‘ggs for the Attarney General 1o
completle the relevant fegel enalysis now in prepamation.”

(m On Junc [} 2004, a foreign government cepturcd Janat Gul, an

individual believed, bascd on reporting from a CJA source, to have information sbout al-Qa’ida
plans (o attack the United Staces prior w the 2004 presidential clection. ™ In October 2004, the
CIA source who provided the information on the “pre-election™ threat and implicated Gul and
others admitted to fabricating the information. However, as early as Macch 2004, CIA officiuls
internally expressed doubts about the validity of the CIA source's information ™

S/ %) On july 2, 2004, the CIA met with National Security Advisor Rice,
other National Security Council officials, White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, as well as the
attorney genecal and the deputy anomey general, to seck suthorization to use the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, specifically on Janat Gul.® The CIA represented that C1A

*0 May 25, 2004, Talklng Points for DCT Telephone Conversation with Attarney Grenersl: DOJ's Logal Opinion re
CIA's Counterterrorist Progrom (CT) Intermogation. Letter from Assistant Attomey General Jack L. Goldemith ITI 1o
Director Tenet, Junpe 18, 2004 (DTS #2004-2710).

80t May 27, 2004, lener from Axsistant Attarmey General Goldamith to General Counsel Muller,

2 May 24, 2003, Memoranduin for the Record from [ . sobjcct: Memocandum of Meeting with the
DCT Regarding DO!’s Statement that DOJ hes Rendered No Legal Opinion on Whether CIA’s Use of Enhanced
Intecrogation Techniques would meet Constitutional Standards. Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operutions
from Director of Central Imielligence, June 4. 2004, re: Suzpension of Use of Inierrogation Techniques.

3 June 4, 2004, Meinorandum for Deputy Director for Operatious from Direcior of Central Intelligence, re:
Suspension of Use of Inietrogation Techniqees. On June 2, 2004, George Tened infonned the President chat he
intended i regign from his position on Joly 11, 2004. The White Hoose anoounced the reaignetion on June 3, 2004,
™™ June 4, 2004, Memorandum for the Nallooa! Secority Adyisor from DCI Georpe Tenet, re: Review of CIA

Inkesrogation Program.
2 Junc 2004, Menorandum for 1he Monorable George ). Tenet, Direcior of Cemral IeSigence from Condoleerza

Rice, Assistani to the President for Nations! Secusiy Affsin, re: Review of CIA's Inl n Program.
AL i e

na
YI'The former chief of the CIA's Bin Ladin Unit wrote in a March [} 2004, email that the reporting was “vague”
and “worthiess i wmus of aclionable intelligence™ He suggested that the reparting "would be an casy way [for sl
Qa'ida] to test" the loyaly of the source, given al-Qe’ida’s knowledpe that leaked threa Ing “causes panic in
Washington." (See email feom: to: ({REDACTED],
subject: could AQ be testing [ASSET Y] and [sowrce neme REDACTED[?;
date: March i§ 2004, st 06:55 AM.) ALEC Station officer expressed simifar doubts in

responae 1o the email. See email from: s to: ; ce

ﬁ {REDACTED)], ubject: Re: could AQ be testing {ASSET Y] and [sourve name
REDACTED]?; date: March [, 2004, m 07:52:32 AM). See alsoh 1411

4 fuly 2, 2004, CIA Memorandum re Meeling with Nationa! Adviser Rice in the White House Situation Room, re

* Interrogations and Detainee Janat Gal, July 2, 2004,
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“interrogations have saved American lives,” that more than half of the CIA detainees would not
cooperate until they were interrogated using the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques,*® and
that “unless CIA interrogetors can use a full range of enhanced interrogation methods, it is

unlikely that CIA will be able to obmin current threat information from Gul in a timely
manner."*" Janat Gul was not yet in CIA custody,®!!

) On July 6, 2004, National Security Advisar Rice sent a
memorandum o DCI Tenet stating that the CIA was “permitted to use previously approved
enhanced interrogation methods for Janat Gul, with the exception of the waterboard.” Rice
offered “10 assist (the ClA] in oblaining additional guidance from the Anomey General and NSC
Principals on an expedited basis” and noted the CIA's agreement to provide additional
informalion about the walerboard technique in order for the Department of Justice to assess irs
legality. Rice's memorandum further documented that the CIA had informed her that “Gul
likely has information about preelection rerrorist artacks agzinst the United Swates as a result of
Gul's close tics to individuals involved in these alleged plot.™!?

S/ %) 1n o meeting oo July 20, 2004, National Security Council

principals, including the vice president, provided their autharization for the CIA 1o use its
enhzanced interrogation techniques—again, with the exception of the waterboard—on Janat Gul
They also directed the Department of Justice to prepare a legal opinion on whether the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques were consistent with the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to
the U.S. Constitution.®? On July 22, 2004, Attomey General John Ashcroft sent a letter to
Acting DCI John McLaughlin stating that nine interrogation techniques {those addressed in the
August 1, 2002, memorandum, with the exception of the waterboard) did nat violate the U.S.
Constitution or any statute or U.S, treaty obligations, in the context of the interrogation of Janar
Gul.*™* For the remainder of 2004, the CIA used its enhanced interrogation techniques on three
detainees—Janat Gul, Sharif el-Masti, and Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani—with individualized
approval from the Department of Justice. 5!

@S/ A+) Aler being rendered to CIA custody on July [} 2004, Janat Gul

was subjected to the C1A's erhanced interrogation techniques, including continuous sleep
deprivation, facial holds, attention grasps, facial slaps, stress positions, and walling,®'® until he

*™® At the time of ihis C1A eepresentation, the CIA had held ot feasi 109 detninees and subjected at least 33 of them
(30 pescem) W the CLA's enhanced intervogation techniques.

0 July 6, 2004, Mesnorandum from Condoleezzs Rice, Assistant io the President for Nalional Security Affair, to
the Homarable Geoege Tenct, Divecior of Ceniral Inteligence, re Janat Gal. C1A Request for Guidance Regarding
Inlerrogation of Jans G, Suly 2, 2004.

¥ Foe additional dewils, see Volome i1

012 jnly &, 2004, Memarandum fror Condoleezze Rice, Assisiant to the Presidest for National Security Affairs, to
the Homorsble George Tendd, Director of Central [nielligence, re Janat Gul.

&3 July 29, 2004, Memarandum for the Recond from CIA General Counsel Scoit Multer, “Principals Meeting
refating to Jenat Gul oa 20 July 2004.”

€14 The one-paragmph lstter did not provide legal analysis or substantive discussion of the inrerrogation techniques.
Letter from Attorney General Ashcrofi to Acting DCI McLaughlin, July 22, 2604 (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 4).

813 See Volume [Tl for additional details.
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experienced auditory and visual hallucinations.®” According to a cable, Janat Gul was “not
oriented to time or place” and told CIA officers that he saw “his wife and children in the mirror
and hod heard their voices in the white noise."#! The questioning of Janat Gul continued,
although the CIA ceased using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques for several days,
According to a CIA cable, “[Gul] asked to die, or just be killed."*"® After continued
interrogation sessions with Gul, on August 19, 2004, CIA detention site personnel wrote that the
interragation “team does not believe [Gul] is withholding imminent threat information.”®® On
August 21, 2004, a cable from CIA Headquarters stated that Janat Gul “is believed™ to possess
threat information, and that the “use of enhanced techniques is appropriate in arder to abtain that
information.”®?! On that day, August 21, 2004, CLA interrogators resumed using the CIA’s
enhanced interragation techniques against Gul.®™ Gul continued not to provide any reporting on
the pre-election threat described by the CIA source.®? On August 25, 2004, CIA interrogators
sent a cabie to CIA Headquarters stating that Janat Gul “msy not possess all that {the CIA}
believes him to know.”* The interrogatars added that *many issues linking [Gul) to al-Qaida
are derived from single source reporting” (the CIA source).*” Nonetheless, CIA interrogators
continued to question Gul on the pre-election threat, According to an August 26, 2004, cable,
after a 47-hour session of standing sleep deprivation, Janat Gul was returned to his cell, allowed
to remove his diaﬁ. iivun a towel and a meal, and permitted to sleep.’® In October 2004, the

CIA conducted a of the CIA source who had identified Gul as having knowledge of
attack planning for the pre-election threat. || NI ¢ CIA source admirted to

fabricating the information.*” Gul was subsequently ransfesred to a foreign government. On
I} o e C1A tha Janat Gul had been releasod =5

@S/ ~F) )anat Gul never provided the threat information the CIA originally
told the National Security Cauncil that Gul possessed. Nor did the use of the CIA”s enhanced

interrogation techniques against Gul produce the “immediate threat information that could save
American lives," which had been the basis for the CIA to scck authorization to use the
techniques. As described elsewhere in this surmmary, the CIA’s justification for employing its
enhanced interrogation techniques on Janat Gul—the first detaines to be subjected to the
technigues following the May 2004 suspension—changed over ime. After having initially cited
Gul's knowledge of the pre-election threat, as reported by the CIA’s source, the CIA began
representing that irs enhanced interrogation technigues were required for Gul 1o deny the
existence of the threat, thereby disproving the credibility of the CIA source.*®

€2 Memorapdum for Joho A, Rizzo,
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Antoroey Genersl, Office of

Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Lotelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
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s/ ) On August 11, 2004, in the midst of the interrogation of Janat Gul
using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues, CIA attormney * wrote a {etter

to Acting Assistant Attomey General Dan Levin with “brief biographies” of four individuals
whom the C1A hoped to detain, Given the requirement at the time that the CIA seek individual
approval from the Deparmment of Justice before using the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques against a detainee, the CLA [ener states, “{w]e are praviding these preliminary
biographies in preparation for a future request far a legal opinion on their subsequent
interrogation in CIA control.” Two of the individuals—Abu Fargj al-Libi and Hamza Rabi’a—
had not yet been captuced, and thus the “biographies” made no reference to their inerogations
or the need to use the CIA’S enhanced intervogation techniques. The third individual, Abu Tatha

al-Pakistani, was in foreign government custody. His debricfings by a foreign govemment, [l
* were described in the feter 28 “only moderately effective” because Abu
Talha was “distracting fthase questioning him] with nancritical information that is truthful, but is
not related to operutionsi planning.” The fourth individual, Ahmed Khaifen Ghailsni, was also
in fareign government custody and being debriefed by foreign government officials

. According t the letter, Ghailani’s feeign pavemment debriefings were “ineffective”
because Ghailani had “denied kmowledge of current threats.” The letter described reporting on
the pre-election threat—much of which came from the CIA source—in the context of all four
individuals.**® Ahmed Ghailani and Abu Faraj al-Libi were eventually rendered to C1A cusmody
amd subjected to the CIA's enhanced interrogation techoiques.

S/ ¥) On September [l 2004, after the CIA had initiated a

counterintelligence review of the CIA source who had reported on the pre-elecdon threat, bur
prior to the CIA source’s - the CIA took custody of Sharif al-Masri, whom the C1A
source had reported would also have information about the threat.*! Ineelligence provided by
Sharif al-Masri while he was in foreign government custody resilted in the dizsemination of
more than 30 CIA intelligence reports. ™ After entering CIA custody, Sharif al-Masri expressed
his intent to cooperate with the CIA, indicating that he was frightened of interrogations becouse
he had been roctured while being intervogated in i.“’ The CIA nonetheless
sought approval 1o use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against al-Masri because of
his failure to provide information on the pre-clection threar.®

(IFSI—UNF) After :pﬁroximme!y a week of infenogating al-Masri using the

ClA's enhanced intcrrogation techniques, including skeep deprivation that coincided with

United Stwates Obligetions Under Articke 16 of the Conventinn Against Torture fo Cenain Techniques that May Be
Used in the Inemrogation of High Value ol Qaeda Detaineex, at 11, See section of this sommary and Yolume O
ensitled, *The Assertion ot CUA Detainees Subjacted o Enhanced Intervogntion Techniques Help Velidate CLA
Sources.”
20 L_etter from [ Assistont General Counse), to Dan Levin, Acting Assirunt Anorney General,

, 2004,
B wASHINGTON
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auditory hallucinations, CIA interrogators reporied that al-Masri had been “motivated to

icipate” at the time of his arrival.™®* Despite al-Masri's repeated descriptions of torture in
“ the CIA transferred al-Masri to that government's custody after approximately three
months of CIA detention.®¢

@S/ 2:5) As in the case of Janat Gul and Sharif al-Masri, the CIA's requests
for OLC advice on the use of the CIA’s enhenced interrogation technigues against Ahmed

Kbhalfan Ghailani were based on the fabricated reporting on the pre-¢lection threat from the same
CIA source.®™ Like Janat Gul and Sharif al-Masri, Ghailani also experienced auditory
hallucinations following sleep deprivation.®® As described in this summary, after having opined
on the legality of using the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques on these three individual
detainees, the OLC did not opine again on the CIA’s enhanced interrogation program until May
2005,

8. Country .De!ains Individuals on the CIA's Behalf

=S/ ~¢) Consideration of a detention facility in Country ] began in [
2003, when the CIA sought to transfer Ramzi bin al-Shibh from the custody of a foreign
government ta CIA custody.®™ | . +1ich had not yet informed the
country's political leadership of the CIA's request to establish a clandestine detention facility in
Country |, surveyed potential sites for the facility, while the CIA set aside $f] million for its
construction.®? In 2003, the CIA armranged for a “tempocary patch” involving placing two
CIA detainees (Ramzi bin al-Shibh and *Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri) within an already existing
Country [] detention facility, until the CIA’s own facility could be built.®! That spring, as the
CIA was offering millions of dollars in subsidies to hin Countries i B and B5¢

ns _ 3289 — For mare information, ree¢ Volume ITL detaines report for

Sharif al-Masri,

6 HEADQUARTERS so2
7 See letter from Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Dan Levin, Amini Assistant Attomey

General, Angust 25, 2004 (DTS #2009-1809). (Note: At various times dusing this period is identified as
both CIA associate general counsel and C Legal). See aiso aletter from , Assistant
General Counsel, to Dan Levin, Acting Assistant Attorncy General, Septembey 5, 2004 (DTS #2009-1809). A CIA
email sent prior (0 the CIA's request for advice from the OLC indicated rhat the judgment that Ghailani hed
knowledge of terrarist plotting was speculative: “Although Ghailani’s role in operational plaaning is nnclear, his
respected role in al-Qa’ida and presence in Shkaij as receatly as October 2003 may have provided him some”
knowledge about ongoing attack plannin inst the United States homeland, and the operatives involved." (See
emait from: CTC/UBLD (formerly ALECﬂ: w: [REDACTED],
[REDACTED], [REDACTED), {REDACTEDY; subject: derog information for ODDO on Talha, Ghailani, Hamza
Rabi"a and Abu Faraj; datz: August 13, 2004.) Ghailani was rendered 1o CJA custody on September ‘004 {See
_ 072 .) The C1A began using its enhanced interrogation lechnigues

on Ghailani on September 17, 2004, as the CTA was iniliating its counterinteltigence review of the source who
provided the false reporting on the pre-glection threat. See 3189 (181558Z SEP ();
HEADQUARTERS N 4267 04).

2 [(REDACTED] 3221
1% (REDACTED} 22343
= HEADQUARTERS
4 HEADQUARTERS
2 While CIA Headquarters offered $f million to Country fJ] for hosting a CIA detention facilicy, NN
precluded the opening of the facility. Ounly $§| mitlion was made available to the CIA Station for suppart to the
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CIA Headquarters directed the CIA Station in Coun ta “think big" about how CIA
Headquarters coutd support Country Jfs ﬂ“’ After the Station initially
submitted relatively modest proposals, CIA Headquarters reiterated the directive, adding that the
Station should provide a “wish list."™* I 03, the Station proposed a more expansive S}
million in h subsidies, subsidy payments, intended in part as
compensation for suppert of the CIA detention progmm, rose as high as $. million. By
ﬁ 2003, after an extension of five months beyond the originally agreed upon timeframe
for concluding CIA detention activities in Country [, both bin al-Shibh and al-Nashir had been
transferred out of Country J] to the CIA detention facility at Guantanama Bay, Cuba.#4?

9. U.S. Supreme Court Action in the Case of Rasul v. Bush Forces Transfer of CIA
Detainees from Guantanamo Bay ro Couniry

=S/} »F) Beginning in Seplember 2003, the CIA held a number of detainess
at CIA facilities on the grounds of, but separate from, the U.S. military detention facilities at
Guantanamo Bay, Cube.*® In early January 2004, the CIA and the Department of Justice began
discussing the possibility that a pending U.S. Supreme Court casa, Rasul v. Bush, might grant
habeas corpus rights ta the live CIA detainees then being held at a C[A detention Facility at

_ although ClA Headquarters osked the CIA Station to “advise if additional funds may be needed to
keep [the facility] viable cver the coming year and beyond,” CTA Healquarters added, “we cannot have enough
blacksite hasts, and we are loathe to let one we have slip away.” Coun never hosted CIA detainess. See
HEADQUAR ] . (r:DACTED] 5298 HEADQUAR

W ALEC I 0:). In = interview on the CIA program, [N roted thai the
program had "“more money than we collld pussibly spend we thought, and it tomed out to be accurate.” 1o the same
interview, he stated that “if one ease, we gave ({30,000
f and José [Rodriguez]
. Ve never counted it. I'm not abont to count
that kind of money for a receipt.” The boxes conlained one hundred dollur bills. midenlify the
recipient of the million. See transcript of Oval Histary Interview, Inlerviewee: {RI) - October

13, 2006, Interviewer: [REDACTED] and [REDACTED!.
B4 ALEC
o |

H6 See DTS #2010-2448.

&? [REDACTED)] 2498 ’

3 Apcil [, 2003, Memocandum-for Director, DCT Counterterrorist Center, from

Renditions and Detainces Group, via
Chief, Subjeck:

Detention Facility at Guantanama. See alse DIRECTOR

Chicf
Counterterrorist Center, Chief of Operations, [

f ko Relocate High-Value Detainees fo an Interim
CIA detainees were held at
two facilities at Guantanamo Bay, DETENTION SITE MAROON and DETENTION SITE INDIGO. {See

Quarierly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detzinees,
CIA derention facitity, DETENTION STTE RED

3 _
and September t, 2006, Memorandom of Agreement Between the Department of Defense (DOD) and the Central
Intelligence Agency (CIA) Concerning the Detertion by DOD of Certain Terrorists at a Facility at Guantanama Bay
Maval Station,
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Guantanamo Bay.®® Shortly after thesc discussions, CIA officers approached the [ NG

in Country [fto determine if it would again be willing to host these C1A detainces, who would

remain in CILA custody within an already existing Counay [ facilicy, * By January [JJ] 2004, the
in Country J] bad agreed to this arrangement for a limited period of time.*!

s/~ F) Mcanwhile, CLA General Counse! Scott Muller asked the

Department of Justice, the National Security Council, and the White House Counse! for advice
on whether the five CIA detainees being held at Guanmnamo Bay should remain at Guantanamo
Bay or be moved pending the Supreme Court’s decision,®? After consultation with the U.S,
solicitor general in Februaty 2004, the Department of Justice recommendexd that the CIA move
four deminees out of a CIA detention facility at Guantanamo Bay pending the Supreme Court’s
resolution of the case.™* The Department of Justice concludexd that a fifth detainee, Ibn Shaykh
al-Libi, did not need to be wansferred because he had originally been detalned upder military
autharity and had been declared to the ICRC.®* Nonetheless, by April [ 2004, all five CIA
detainces were transferred from Guanianamo Bay to other CTA detemion facilitics. 33

{ ) Shortly after placing CIA detainees within sn already existin
Coun facility for a second time, {ensions arose between the CIA and - Country
556 1n ] 2004, ClA detainces in a Country [ facility claimed to hear cries of

pain from other detainees presumed to be in the
facility.3? When the CIA chief of Stalion approached the

3 Email from: Scote W. Mutler; to: [ IJEEEI (RECACTED]; cc: [REDACTED]; subject: Detainees in

Girmo; date: January §, 2004.
1 520 HEADQUARTERS ]I IREDACTED] 1845 I 1 C1A’s tong-
had warmed was a drain on the Station's resources,

term faciiity in Couniry J], which the CIA Station in Count

had nat yet been completed. See [REDACTED] 1785
) (REDACTED) 1075

1 Email from; Scott Muller; io: James Pavitt, , et George Tenet, Jahn McLaughlin, {REDACTED],
[REDACTED), . [REDACTm: subject: CIA Deminees at GITMO: dare;
February ], 2004.
B3 Emeil from: Scott Muller; to: James Pavit, ﬂc Tenet, John McLaughlin, [REDACTED],
(repacTeD], NG b sabject: C1A Datalnees at GITMO; dute:
February l, 2004.

3 B mail from: Scott Muoller; ro: James Pavitt,
[REDACTED),

¢c: George Tenet, Johtt McLeughlin, (REDACTED),
sibject: CLA Detainees st GITMO; date:

[REDACTED] i8%8 -
438 See, for example, (REDACTED) 1679 _' For edditional details of the C1A's intesactions with

Country |, see Volume L.

87 Among the defainees making this claim was fbn Shaykh ai-Libl, who had previously been rendered from ClA
custody to JIIE. ~ Libyen national, Thn Shaykh al-Libi reported while in-:ustody thar Ireq
was supporting ai-0Qa’ida and providing aasisiance with chermical and biological weapans. Some of this information
was cited by Secretary Poweli in his speech to the United Nations, and was used as e justification for the 2003
invasion of Imq. Tbn Shaykh al-Libi recanted the claim after be was rendered o CIA custody on February l. 2003,
claiming that he had been tortored by the and only told then what he assessed they wanted to hear, For
more details, see Yolume [T While in Coun g1-Libi told CIA debriefers that the “sobbing amd yelling™ he
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about the accounts of the CIA dewinees, the [l stated with “bitter
dismay™ that the bilateral relationship was being “wested.”8”™ There were also counterintelligence
concems relating to CIA detainee Ramzi bin al-Shibh, who had at ted to influence a Country
l officer®™ These concems contributed to a request from in [N
2004 for the CIA to remove all CIA detainees from Country i

In 2004, when the chief of Station in Country [ again
approached the with allegations from ClA detainees
about the mistreatment of Country ] detainees in the facility, the chief of Station
received an angry response that, as he re to CIA Headquarters, “starkly illustrated the

" According to the chief of Station, Country [ saw the CIA as

“querulous and unappreciative recipients of their cooperation,”! By the end of
2004, relations between the CIA and Country ldetcriorated, particularly with regard to
intelli'g‘inoe cooperation.®? The CIA detainees were transferred out of Country [ in

2005.

in Country | insisted, over the CIA’s opposition, to boef Country |f's on

the effort to establish a more permanent and unilateral CIA detention facility, which was under
coanstruction. A proposed phone call to the from Vice President Cheney to
solidify support for CIA operations in Country | was complicated by the fact that Vice President
Cheney had not been told about the Jocations of the CIA detention facilities. The CIA wrote that
there was a “primary need” to “eliminate any possibility that could

explicitly or implicitly refer to the existence of a black sike in [the country]” during the call with
the vice president.®™ There are no indications that the call occurred. The of
Country [ nonctheless approved the unilaterat CIA detention facility, which cast million, but
was ncver used by the CIA * By [l 2006, the C1A was working with Country B
decommission what was described as the “aborted™ project.®

heard reminded him of what he previously endored in custody and it sounded to him [ike a prisoner had
been tied up and beaten. See [REDACTED] 1989

&8 {REDACTED] 2010
1) [(REDACTED)] 2010 ;
%0 [REDACTED] 2317 . The CIA's June 2013 Response states that “{i]t was only as leaks
detailing the program began to emergé that foreign partners felt compellad to alter the scope of heir involvement”
As described above, the tensions with Country §f were unrelated to press leaks.

1 IREDACTED)] 2602
%2 Se¢ FREDACTED] 2318 (REDACTED] 31281 [ENENEENE: = [REDACTED]
2783 Country [ officials refused to provide the CIA with counterterrorism information,
including information abtained through CIA-funded _ see (REDACTED] 31231 [

3 HEADQUARTERS
B HEADQUARTERS
&5 [REDACTED] and DG, “Evolution of the Program.™

%6 [(REDACTED] 3706 {(REDACTED] [REDACTED
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L. The Pace of CIA Operations Slows; Chief of Base Concerned About “[nexperienced,
Marginal, Underperforming™ CIA Personnel; Inspector General Describes Lack of
Debriefers As “Ongoing Problem”

(*SA—IM) In the fall of 2004, CIA officers began considering “end games,” or
the final disposition of detainees in CIA custody. A draft CIA presentation for National Security
Council principals dared August 19, 2004, identified the drawbacks of ongoing indefinite
detention by the CLA, including: the need for regular relocation of detainces, the “tiny pool of
potential host countries” available “due to high risks,” the fact that “prolonged detention without
legal process increases likelihood of HVD health, psychological problemis [and) curtails intel
flow,” criticismu of the U.S. govemment if legal process were delayed or denied, and the
Lkelihood that the delay would “complicat, and possibly reduce the prospecis of successful
prosecutions of these detinees."®? CIA draft talking points produced 8 mosuh later state that
rransfer to Department of Defense or Department of Justice custody was the *‘preferred endgame
for 13 detainees cwrrenily in [C1A] control, none of whom we believe should ever leave USG

cusiody, %

s/ ~%) By the cnd of 2004, the overwhelming majority of CIA
detainces—113 of the 119 identified in the Committee Study—had already enzred CIA custody.
Most of the dewinces remaining in custody were no longer undergoing active inlerrogations;
rather, they were infrequently questioned and awaiting a final disposition. The CIA took custody
of only six new derainees between 2008 and January 2009: four detainces in 2005, one in 2006,
and one—the CIA’s final deminee, Muhammad Rahim—in 2007 5%

) In 2004, CIA detzinees were being held in three countries: at
DETENTION STTE BLACK in Country [ at the JJl facility in
Counuy [, as well as at detention facilities in Country Jlf. DETENTION SITE VIOLET in
Country [ opened in early 2005.*™ On April 15, 2005, the chicf of Base at DETENTION SITE
BLACK in Country . sent the management of RIKG an email expressing his concems about the
detenton sitc aad the program in genesal, He commented that “we have seen clear indications
that various Headquarters clements are experieacing mission fatigue vis-2-vis theic intcraction
with the program,” resulting in a “deckine in the overall quality and level of experience of
deployed personnel,” and a decline in "“level and quality of requirements.” He wrowe that
because of 1he length of ime most of the CIA detainecs had been in detendon, “{the] deminces
have been all but draincd of sctionable intelligence,” and their remaining value was in providing
“information that can be incorporated into stratzgic, analytical think picces that deal with
motivation, structuce and goals.” The chief of Base observed shat, during the course of the year,
the detention site transitioned from an inelligence production facility to a long-tcrm detention
facility, which raised *‘a host of new challenges.” These challeages included the nced o address

(

¥ CIA PowerPoint Presentation, CIA Detinees: Endgame Options and Plans, dated August 19, 2004
%2 September 17, 2004, DRAFT Talking Points for the ADCI: Endgame Options and Plans for C1A Detalneea.
% The CIA (ook custody of Abu Farsj al-Libi, Abu Munthir al-Magrebi, lorshim Jan, and Abu Je'far 8l-lraqi in

2005, and Abd al-Hadi el-traqi in 2006,

870 The first dexainees sirived in Count in 2003. CIA dewinees were held within aa exigting Counlry
[ facitity in Country [ from Jii o 2003, and then sgain beginning in [JJll 2004. For sadltionss

information, se¢ Volume 1.
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the “natucel and progressive effects of long-term solitary confinerent on detainees” and ongoing
behavioral problems. 3!

s/ %) With respect to the personnet at DETENTION SITE BLACK, the
chief of Base wrote;

“I am concerned at what appears to be a lack of resolve at Headquaners to
deploy 10 the field the brightest and mast qualified officers for service ar [the
detention site]. Over the course of the last year the quality of personnel
(debriclers and [security protective officers]) has declined significantly. With
regard o debriefers, mast are mediocre, a handfult [sic] are exceptional and
more than a few are basically incompetent. From what we can delermine there
is no established merhodology as to the selection of debriefers. Rather than
took for their best, managers sccm 1o be selecting either problem,
undecpecforming officers, new, tolally inexperienced officers or whomever
seems o be willing and able to deploy al any given time. We see no evidence
that thought is being given to deploying an “‘A-Team." The result, quite
naturally, is the production of mediocre or, 1 dare say, useless intetligence....

We have scen a similar detedoration in the quality of the sequrity personnel
deployed to the site, ... If this program truly does represent one of the agency’s
most secret activities then it defies logic why inexperienced, marginal,
underpecforming and/or officers with potentially significant
[counterintelligence] problems are permitted to deploy to this site. 1t is also
impartant that we immediately inact (sic] some form of rigorous training
program.”?

@S/~ A CIA OIG sudit completed in June 2006 “found that personnet
assigned to ClA-controlled detention facilities, for the most part, complied with the standards
and guidclines in carrying out their duties and responsibilities,” The QIG also found that,
“except for the shortage of debriefers, the facilitics were staffed with sufficient numbers and
types of personnel.” The luck of debriefers, however, was described as “an ongoing problem™
for the program. According to the audir, there were extended periods in 2005 when the ClA's
DETENTION SITE ORANGE in Country i had either onc or no debricfers. Ac least twice in
the summer of 2005, the chief of Station in that country requested additiona] debriefers, waming
that intelligence collection could suffer. Months later, in January 2006, the chief of Base at the
deweation site edvised CY{A Headquarters that “the facility still tacked debriefers to suppaon
intelligence coflection regquirements, that critical requicements were ‘stacking up,” and that gaps
in the debriefing of derainees were impacting the quantity and quality of intclligence reparting
and would make the work of future debriefers more difficult. "

) Email from: (REDACTED) (COB DETENTION SITE BLACK); to: [ NI
subject: Generat Conuments; date: April 15, 2005.

1 Email from: [REDACTED) (COB DETENTION SITE BLACK); to: [ N NNNNNEEEE D

HEER :.bjct: Genecat Comiments; date: Apsif 15, 2005.

3 Report of Audit, CIA-controlled Detention Facilities Operated Under the 17 Septeimber 200) Memorandum of

Nolification, Report No. 2005-0017-AS, June 14, 2006, at DTS # 2006-2793. As further degcribed in the
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M. Legal and Operational Challenges in 2005

i, Department of Justice Renews Approval for the Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Technigues in May 2005

(M) On May 10, 2005, the new acting assistant attomey general for

QLC, Steven Bradbury, issued two legal memoranda. The first analyzed whether the individual
use of the CIA’s 13 enhanced interrogation techniques—including waterboarding, as well as a
number of interrogation techniques that had been used in 2003 and 2004, but had not been
analyzed in the original August 1, 2002, OLC memorandum—were consistent with the criminal
prohibition on torture.¥”* The second memorandum considered the combined use of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques. ™ Both legal memoranda concluded that the use of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques did not violate the torture statute.

SR ) On May 26, 2005, the CIA inspector general, who had been

pravided with the two OLC memoranda, wrote a memo to the CIA director recommending that
the CIA seek additional legal guidance on whether the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques
and conditions of confinement met the standard undey Article 16 of the Convention Against
Torture.¥® The inspector general noted that “a strong case can be made that the Agency’s
authorized interrogation techniques are the kinds of actions that Article 16 undertakes to
prevent,” adding that the use of the waterboard may be *cruel" and “extended detention with no
clathing would be considered ‘degrading’ in most cultures, particularly Muslim.” The inspector
general further urged that the analysis of conditions was equally important, noting that the
inspector general’s staff had “found a number of instances of detainec treatment which arguably
violate the prohibition on cruel, inhuman, and/or degrading treatment.”7”’

Committee Study, the Inspector General audit described how the CLA's detention facilities were not equipped to
provide detainees with medical care. The audit described unhygienic food preparation, including m a facility with a
“rodent infestation,” and noted that a physician assistant attributed symploms of acute gastroiniestinal iliness and
giardiasis experienced by six staff and a detainee to food and water contamination. The audit further identified
insufficient guidelines covering possible detainee escape or the death of o defaines,

84 See Memorandam for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy Genemt Counsel, Centsal Intelligence Agency, from Steven
G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2340-2340A to Ceriain Technigues That May Be Used in the Interrogation of 8 High Value at
Qaeda Detainee.

5 See Memorandum for John A, Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven
G. Brudbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application
af 18 U.S.C. §§ 2340-2340A to the Combined Use of Certsin Technigues That May Be Used in the Interrogation of
High Value ol Qaeda Detainees.

576 May 26, 2005, Memorandum for Director, Central Inelligence Ageacy, from Jahn Helgerson, Inspecior General,
re; Recommendation for Additional Approach to Department of Justice Concerning Legal Guidance on Interrogation
Techniques.

7 May 26, 2005, Memorandum for Director, Centnsl Intelligence Agency, from John Helgerson, Inspector General,
re: Recominendation For Additional Approach to Department of Justice Conceming Legal Guidance on Interrogation
Technigues,
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s/ ~%) On May 30, 2005, a third OLC memorandum examining U.S.
obligations uader the Convention Against Torture was completed 2™ The conclusions in this
opinion were based largely on the CIA’s representations about the effecriveness of the CIA
interrogation program in obtaining unique and “otherwise unavailable actionable intelligence."”
As described later in this summary, and in more detail in Volume II, the CIA’s effectiveness
represenmations were almost entirely inaccurate.

2. Abu Faraj Al-Libi Subjected to the CIA s Enhanced Interrogation Technigues Prior to
Department of Justice Memorandum on U.S. Obligations Under the Convention Against
Torture; CIA Subjects Abu Faraj Al-Libi to the CIA's Enhanced Intervogation
Technigues When He Complains of Hearing Problems

&S/ %) On May 2, 2005, when Aby Faraj al-Libi, al-Qa’ida’s chief of
operations, was captured in Pakistan, the OLC had not yet issued the three aforementioned May
2005 legal memoranda.*™ CIA officers described Abu Faraj al-Libi’s capture as the “most
important al-Qa’ida capaure since Khalid Shaykh Muhammazd."®*® Shortly after at-Libi's
capture, the CIA began discussing the passibility that Abu Faraj at-Libi might be readered to
U.S. custody ®!

s/ %) On May . 2005, four days before the rendition of Abu.Faryj al-
Libi to CLA custody, Directar of CTC Robert Grenier asked CIA Director Porter Gass to send a
memorandum to the national security advisor and the director of national intclligence “informing
them of the CIA's plans m take custody of Abu Faraj al-Libi and to employ intenrogation
techniques if warranted and medically safe.”®® On May 24, 2005, the White House informed the
CIA that a Nationai Security Council Principals Committee meeting would be neccssary
discuss the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Famj al-Libi, but the
trave} schedule of one of the principals was delaying such a meeting.** CJA Director Gorr
instructed CIA officers to proceed as planned, indicating that he would call the principals
individually and inform them that, if Abu Faraj al-Libi was found not to be cooperating and there
were no coniraindications ro such an interrogation, he would approve the use of all of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation technigues other than the waterboard, without waiting for a mecling of

1 Sew Memorandum for Joha A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Canasel, Centrsi atelligance Agency, [foin Sieven
G. Bradbary, Principel Deputy Assistant ARaroey General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2008, Re: Application
of United States Obligmions Usder Anticle 16 of the Conveniion Agaimat Torture o Cerisin Techniques that May Br
Used in the Interrogation of High Vetue 1) Qaeds Detainees.
™ Far raare information on Abu Faraj af-Libi’s detention and inferragation, see Yalame L
¥ HEADQUARTERS (251840Z MAY
©t See, for example, {dascribing meetings on May 6 and 7, 2005).
a7 May -, 2005, Memocandum for Director, Central Intelligence Agency, via Acting Deputy Director, Centrel
Intelligence Agency, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operatioas from Robert Grenier, Director, DCI
Connterterrariat Center, re: Entctrogation Plan for Abu Farzj al-Libi.
28 Email from: , to: Robert Grenier, Jobn Mudd, fREDACTED], [REDACTED

(REDACTED], =4
{REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTEDY); subject: Possible significant delay in BITs for AFAL; date: May 24,
2005.
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the principals.*® Abu Faraj al-Libi was rendered to CIA custody at DETENTION SITE
ORANGE an May Il 2005,%* and transferred to DETENTION SITE BLACK on May [l
2005. '

s/ ~F) On May [J, 2005, CIA Director Goss formally notified National

Security Advisor Stephen Hadley and Director of National Intelligence (DNI) John Negroponte
that Abu Faraj al-Libi would be rendered to rhe unilateral custody of the CIA. ¥ Director Goss’s
memorandum stated:

“[sJhould Abu Faraj resist cooperating in C1A debricfings, and pending a
finding of no medical or psychological contraindictations {sic], to
interrogation, I will authorize CIA trained and certified interrogators to employ
one or more of the thirteen specific intermogation techniques for which CIA
recently received two signed legal opinions from the Department of Justice
(DOJ), Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) that these techniques, both individually
and usecd collectively, are lawful %8

(FS/{NEE ) The memorandum from Director Goss described Abu Faraj al-Libi
as holding the third most important position in al-Qa'ida, and “play[ing) a leading role in
directing al-Qa’ida’s global operations, including attack planning against the US homeland,”
Abu Faraj al-Libi was also described a5 possibly overseeing al-Qa’ida’s “highly compartmented
anthrax efforts.”%?

On May [l 2005, one day after al-Libi's arrival at DETENTION
SITE BLACK, CIA interrogators recejved CIA Headquarters approval for the use of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Raraj al-Libi.® ClA interrogators began using the
CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Faraj al-Libi on May 28, 2005, two days before
the OLC issued its memorandum analyzing whether the techniques violated U.S. obligations
under the Convention Against Torture.*!

&/ -5 The CIA interrogated Abu Faraj al-Libi for more than a month
using the CIA’s enhanced interrogarion techniques. On a number of occasions, CIA
intervogators applied the CIA's enhanced interrogation kechniques to Abu Faraj al-Libi when he

4 Ernail fmrn 0: Robert Grenier, John Mudd, [REDACTED], {REDACTED
i . e, TR S - S

[REDACTED], [REDACTED]}, [REDACTED]; subject; Possible significant delay in ETTs for AFAL; date: May 24,

2005.

i 4526

" 6131 Y

87 Memorandum for Assistant ta the President for National Secudity Affairs, Director of National Intelligence, from
Panter Goss, Director, Central Inteliigence Agency, May [l 2005, re: Intervogation Plan for Abu Faraj al-Libi.

88 Memorandum for Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, Direcior of National Intelfigence, from
Poner Goss, Director, Central Intelligence Agency, May ] 2005, re: Inrerrogation Plan for Abu Faraj al-Libi,

*9 Memorandum for Assixtant io the President for National Security Affuirs, Director of National Intelligence, from
Portex Gass, Director, Centval Intelli A May JJ] 2005, re; Interrogation Plan for Abu Faraj al-Libi.

=0 HEADQUARTERS I
- 2336 (282003Z MAY 05)
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complained of a loss of hearing, repeatedly telling him to stop pretending he could not hear
well. ™ Although the interrogators indicated that they believed al-Libi's complaint wes an
interrogation resistance technique, Abu Faraj al-Libi was fitted for a hearlng aid after his transfer
to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay in 2006.5% Despite the repeated and extensive use
of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Faraj al-Lib{, CIA Headquarters
continued to insist throughout the summer and fall of 2005 that Abu Faraj al-Libl was
withholding information and pressed for the renewed use of the techniques. The use of the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Abu Faraj al-Libi was eventually discontinued
because CIA officers stated that they had mo intelligence to demonstrate that Abu Faraj al-Libi
continued to withhokt information, and because CIA medical officers expressed concem that
additional use of the CIA'a enhanced intecrogation techniques “may come with unacceptable
medical or psychological risks.™™ Afier the discontination of the CIA s enhanced
interrogation techniques, the CIA asked Abu Faraj af-Libi about UBL facilitator Abu Ahmed al-
Kuwaii for the first time.®* Abuy Faraj al-Libi denied knowledge of al-Kuwaid &

3. CIA Acquires Two Detoinees fram the U.S. Military

aS/HE P Another legal issue in late 2005 was related to the U.S. Department
of Defense’s involvement in CIA detention activities, In September 2005, the CJA and the

Department of Defense. signed a Memorandum of Understanding on this subject,”™ and the U.S. -
miliry agreed to transfer two detainees, Ibrahim Jan and Abu Ja'far al-Iraqgi, to CIA custody.
Buoth were held by the U.S. military without being registered with the ICRC for over 30 days,
pending their transfer to CIA custody,*™ The transfer of Abu Ja’far al-Iraqi took place
notwithstanding Department of State concerns that the transfer would be inconsistent with
:—:w-w—%ﬂ%@wwm&m@%. 3 i maln-camipitied tother———

law of armed conflict, including the Geneva Conventions.™

Orces-4n-Lag g

™ Email from: o: >
F (REDACTED), (REDACTED],
Response to DDO Tasking of 7 July on Abu Farsj ntemrogation 2008, at 06:15 PM.

®3 DIRECTOR (1218472 JUL 05); HEADQUARTERS [ AN 043; 20361
(2912322 JAN 04); DIRECTOR [ (0405222 MAY 04)

= I 25454 (131701 Z SUL 0S)

97 Memorandum of Undersianding Concerning DOD Support to C1A with Sengiti ve Caplure end Detention
Operetions io the War on Terrotiam.

% 2og cnail from: [REDACTED], [IIEGNGE: r: [REDACTED], [REDACTED); c¢:
I (REDACTED], (REDACTED), [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTEDY]; subject: DoD Request for
a lst of HV Ts nat to be {asved ISN numbers, The email stted: “In conjunction with discussions between CILA and
DoD over the weekend regarding our request to have the military render loruhim Jan to our custody and NOT
issuing him an ISN nember, DoD bas requested ClA provide a list of HVTs 1o whoin, If captured, the milltary

should NOT issue ISN numbers” (¢mphesiz in original). See 1505 QCT 05).
=% July [l 2005 Memorendum for Joint Staff from re: Interim Guidance
Regarding (| i
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/AR %) In late 2005, during the period the U.S. Senate was debating the
Detainee Treatment Act barring “cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment,”™® the
CIA subjected Abu Ja'far al-Iraqi to its enhanced interrogation techniques,’®! A drsit
Presidential Daily Brief (PDB) stated that Abu Ja’far al-Iraqi provided “almost no information
that could be used to locate former colleagues or disrupt attack plots"—the type of information
sought by the CTA, and the CIA"s justification for the use of its enhanced interrogation
techniques.”® Later, the statement thet Abu Ja'far al-Iragi provided “slmost no information that
could be used to locate former colleagues or disrupt alack plois™ was deleted from the deaft
PDB.? Abu Ja’far al-Iraqi remaincd in CIA custody until early September 2006, when he was
transferred to U.S. milimry custody io Irag.™

4. The CIA Seeks “End Game™ for Dewminees in Early 2005 Due to Limited Support From
Liaison Partners ’

0 E mail from: (REDACTED); to: [N, (2:0ACTED), REDACTED); cc: [
[REDACTED], (REDACTEDY}; Subject: McCain Amendment on Detaines Tresmment; date: October
6, 2005, ot [2:37 PM.
%I According to CIA records, Abu Ja'fur al-Iraqi was subjected o nodity, dietary imanipulation, iasult atags,
abdominal slaps, aitantion grasps, facial holds, wailing, stress positions, and water dousing with 44 degree
Fahrenheit water for 18 sninutes. He was shackled in the standing position for 54 hours as pent of slesp deprivation,
and experienced swelling in his lowes lega requiring blood thinner and spirul ace bondages. He was moved toa
sifting position, and hig ylexp deprivation was extended to 78 hours. Afier the swelling subsided, he wus provided
with more blood thinner and was returmed fa the stauding position. The sleep deprivation was extended to 102
hours. After four houm of sleep, Abu Ja'far al-Iragi was subjected to an additional 32 hours of sleep deprivation,
alter which CIA Hesdquuriers infornmed interrogators that eight hours was the minimum rest period between slesp
deprivation sessions exceeding 48 hours. In addition to the swelling, Abu la'far a1-Imaqi also experienced an edema
on his heud due to walling, sbrasions on his neck, and blisters on his ankles from shackles, See
DEC 08); 1313-Dsc 05);-18191)EC05'
DEC 05); 1848 DEC (5); HEADQUARTERS

additiopal infonnation on Abu Ja'far al-Tragi in Volume HI,
%1 pDB Drefl titled: Dais: Deceinber

13, 2005, ALT (D#: -2132586. Diractor Goss notifiext the pational security advisor that ke had authorized the use of
the YA's cnhanced intarogation techniques on Ao Ja™far a1-Iragi boeause “CIA believea that Abu Jo'far possesses
conaidersble operational information about Abu Mu'sab al- 1" See December 1, 2008, Memorandum for the
National Security Advisor, Dicector of Notonal Imtelligence, from Parter Gass, Cenual (ntelligence Agency,
subject, “Countertesrorist Int t:on Techni e

1 DB Deafi titied: Date: December 16, 2005, ALT
ID: 20051217 PDB on Abo Jafar al-lzaqi. Urging the change 10 the draft PDB, ane of e intarvogatomn involved in
Abu Ju'far al-lragi's inevrogstion wrote, “II we aliow the Director © give this PDB, at il is wrillen, (0 ihe Preskient,
1 would imagine the President would sy, ' You asked me to risk ruy presidency on youe interrogstions, and now you
give me this that imiplies the intcrrogations are not working. Wiy do we bothex?' We think the tone of the PDB
should be rwesked. Some of the conclusions, based an our experts’ observalions, should be amended. The ghuss is
half full, not balf empty, and is getting more full every day.” See email from: [REDACTED|

; to: [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED]; ce: [REDACTED], [REDACTED], (REDACTEDI:
subject: PDB on [Abu Ja'fur al-Iragi); date: December 15, 2005, at 12:23 AM.

m h 2031 In June 2007, inaccurate information about the effectivensss of the CIA™S

enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Ja'fur al-Iraqi was provided to the Cornmitiwe, See CIA Resﬁe 10

Senate Select Committez on Inteitigence Questions for the Record, June 18, 2007 (DTS #2007-2564),
32732 OCT 05): 12707 OCT 05); 32726 [ ocT 05).
32810 OCT 05); 32944 OCT 05).
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(_INF) In early 2005, the CIA again sought an “endgame” policy far its

deminees, clting its unstable relations with host governments and its difficulty in identif ying
additional countries to host CIA detention facilities.™ Talking points prepared for the CIA
director for a meeting with the national security advisor made the following appeal:

“CIA urgently nceds [the President of the United States) and Principals
Commitiee direction to esmblish a long-term dispositlon policy for the 12
High-Value detainees (HVD)s we hold in overseas detention sites, Qur liaison
partmers who host these sites are deeply concemned by [REDACTED)™ press
icaks, and they are increesingly skeprical of the [U.S. government’s)
cormmitment to keep secret their cooperation. ... A combination of press leaks,
international scrutiny of alleged [U.S. govemment] detainee abuse, and the
perception that [U.S. govermment] policy on detainees lacks dircction is
eroding our partncrs’ trust in U.S. resolve 10 protect their jdentities and
supporting rofes. If a [U.S. government] plan for long-term [detainee)
disposition does not emerge soon, the handful of liaison partners who
cooperae may ask us ta close down our facilities on theic territory, Few
countries are willing to sccept the huge riska associated with hosting a CIA
detention site, so shrinkage of the alceady small pool of willing candidates
could force s to curtail our highly successful interragation and detention
program. Fear of public exposurc may also prompt previously cooperative
liaison partners not to accept custody of detainees we have captured and
interrogated, Establishment of a clear, publicly announced [detainee]
‘endgame’ - one sancuoncd by (the Presxdent of the Umtcd Stntcs] and

enthusiasm forhelpmg the US in the War on Terrorism, nac7

s/ »:%) 1« March 2005, talking points prepared for the CIA director for

discussion with the National Secunty Council Principals Committee statcd that it was;

" The C1A's June 2013 Response blates thet an “impornand facor”” contribuding 10 the slower prace af CIA detention
operations was al-Qa’ida’s relocation ko the FATA. which “made it significantly more challenging {for the Pakistaoi
government] [o mount Cagiusn aperations resulting in rendiions and delentions by the RD1 program.” A review of

CIA records by the Committee found that tegal, policy, and other operational concerns dominated imernat
deliberstions about the program. n 2005, CIA officers asked officials to tender two desainees to CIA
castody, coe [N e2d oo IR acither
detulnce was tronsfeered to CIA cusiody. mmm lu!obulniﬁgcumy deininéed held by a forei

duting this period was becomi that

* In March 2006, Directoc

Goss testified 1o the Committes that tack of was the limiting factor in taking custody of additional detainees.
See HEADQUARTERS ; HEADQUARTERS ; email from:
[REDACTED), to: . cc: [REDACTED)], [REDAClﬂ)}.

[REDACTED REDACTED], {REDACTED], REDACFED REDACTED]; aul : for cooed, pis: DACIA
talki re rewdition of
67 HEADQUARTERS and transcript of Senate Select

Comunittee on Intelligence beiefing, Macch 15, 2006 (DTS #2006-1308).
%06 Text redacted by the CIA prior to provision to Committee members at the 11.S. Senate.

%7 See C1A document daled, Japuary 12, 2005, entitled, “DCI Talking Points far Weekly Maeting with National
Secunity Advisor.”
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“only a matter of tinme before our remaining handful of current blacksite hosts
concludes that [T.S, government] policy on [detainees] lacks direction and,..
[the blacksite hosts] ask us to depart from their soil.... Continuation of status
quo will exacerbate tensions in these very valuable relationships and cause
them to withdraw their critical support and cooperntion with the [U.S.
govemment],"*%®

S/ =) During this period, the U.S, solicitor general, however, expressed
concern that if CIA detainees were transferred back to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, they might be
entitled to file a habeas petition and have access to an attorney.’® Meanwhile, the National
Security Council continued to discuss a public roll-out, and as described later in this summary,
the CIA engaged the media directly in order to defend and promote the program.**®

(/I 2=) The question of what to do with the remaining detainees in CIA

custody remained unresolved throughout 2005, during which time the CIA pursued agreements
with additional couniries to establish clandestine CIA detention facilities.”! The Detainee
Treatrment Act was passed by Congress on December 23, 2005, as part of the National Defense
Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2006, That day, the CIA suspended its intesrogation program
again.”'? As described later in this summary, in February 2006, the CIA informed the National
Security Council principals that the CIA would not seek continued use of all of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques.”'?

5. Press Stories and the CIA’s Inability to Provide Emergency Medical Care te Detainees
Result in the Closing of CIA Detention Facilities in Countries || and

(M) In October 20035, the CIA [earned that Washington Post re r

Dana Priest had information about the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program,

The CIA then conducted a seties of
negotiations with the Washington Post in which it sought to prevent the newspaper from
publishing information on the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program.?* Fearful that

" See CJA Talking Poinis for Principals Commiiter Meeting on Long-Term Disposition of High-Yalue Detainees,
8 March 2005, , .
3% See email from: [ w: Jobn Rixzzo; subject: Meeting this am with WH connsel on endgame

planning; date: January 14, 2005.

#'% Email from: : t0: : cc: (REDACTED/, [N (REDA CTED), Jobn

A, Rizzo, subject: Re: Brokaw interview: Take one;
date: April 14, 2005, ut 9:22:32 AM. In 2006, Vice President Cheney expeessed reservations ebout any public
release of information regarding the CIA program. Ses CTA Memorandam for the Record from [REDACTED],
C/CTCHR subject, “9 Masth 2006 Principals Committee Meeting on Detainecs.”

Mt Negotiations with Coanicies [J] and [ to host CIA detention facilitiea are described in this summary, and in
greater detail in Volume L

"2 HEADQUARTERS [l 232040z DEC 05)

#13 BDCIA Talking Points for 10 February 2006 Un-DC re Futare of the CIA Counterterrorisi Rendilion, Detention, .

and Interrogation ram - Interrogation Techniqoes.
M HEADQUAR HeADQUAR [ N 1=~ DQUARTERS
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the CIA recommended the
immediate transfer of CIA detainees to Department of Defense custody.’'® When the
Department of Defense rejected the proposal, the National Sccumy Council directed the CIA to

repare other options.?'® Meanwhile, two U.S. ambassadors, one in and another in
&. inquired whether Secretary of State Rice had been briefed on the impending
Washington Post article and sought to speak to the seeretary herself to ensure that the CIA
program was authorized. According w CIA documents, Secretary Rice was not aware of the
specific counmries where the CIA detention facilities were located.®”” In liew of a phone call from
Secretary Rice, the CJA recommended that the State Department’s Counterterrorism Coordinator
and former CTC DDO, Henry Crumpton, call the ambassadors.?'® The Washingion Post
published on article about CIA detention sites on November 2, 20051

The publication of the Warhingron Past article resulted in a

demarche (o the United States from which also suggested that
ibuti coold be in jeopacdy ® The United Stakes also

921 Acconding to a CIA cable, U.S.

representati ves to feared that *if another shoe were to drop,” there would be

considerable ramifications fot U.S. relations with on a number of issucs that

depended on U.S. credibility in the area of human rights. The representatives also “qucsuomd

whether the gravity of this porential prablem is fully appreciated in Washington.'¥%2

received 8@ demarche from

%% The other options put forward by the CIA were transfer of CIA delamces —. whlch the CIA
- de aine | LA 8 nosed | A = ,..h.. T
Pnnclpa 8 Meeling (2008).

“detainees. Sae ¢

%% HEADQUARTERS
7 Taiking Points for Dr.-J.D. Croach for telephone calls to Ambassadocs in [REDPACTED] regarding possivithy of
forthcoming Dana Priest press article; email from: to: (REDACTED], [REDACTED],

[REDACTEDY; cc: [REDACTED), [REDACTED); subject: Phone Call with State/L re Ambassadors who want to
speak to the SecState; date: a1 06:45 PM.
93 Email from: 0! [REDACTED), [REDACTED), [REDACTED]; cct [REDACTED),

[REDACTED); subject: Phone Call with State/L re Ambaszadors who want io to the SecState; date: Ociober
24, 2005, m 06:45 PM; email from: (REDACTED]; to: [REDACTEDF; cc: IREDACTEDY,
[REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: Phone call from SAICT
Amb. Hank Crurnpton to Ambassador in ; date: Novembey 1, 2005, st 6:13:21 PM.
Afier the subscquent press revelations, the U.S. ambassador in Country [ asked again sbout wheiher the secretary of
:um..dmwmmmgmcmsmmmmlnmmmmmnngu,s officials outsids
of the CIA “would be a significant te from corent .~ See CTED EDACTED].

and HEADQUAR

: Memorandum from D/CIA Goss to Hudley, Townsend und Negrupante,
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The CIA catalogued how the Washingion Post story created
tensions in its bilatera] countertzrrorism relations with [ eics and determined that:

“{t]he article is prompting our partners to reassess the benefits and costs of
cooperating with the [U.S. government] and CIA. These services have

conducted aggressive, high-impact operations with CIA against... targets,
including H We no longer expect the services to be as
aggressive or cooperalive,”

In April 2006,
informed CIA officers that press stories on the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program led
the I government 1o prahibit [l from providing “informacon that could lead to the
rendition or detention of al-Qa’ida or ather terrorists 0 U.S. Governiroen! custody for
inteaogadion, including CIA and the Department of Defense. ™

) Media leaks alsa crealed tensions with covatries that had hosted or
continued to host CIA detendon facilities. For example, leaks prompted Country [ officials to
conyey their intent to communicate directly with the Deparnments of Justice and State, The
then formally demarched the U.S, government."™® As late as [JIl} 2009, the df
Country [ raised with CIA Director Panetta the “problem of the secret detention facility™ that
had “tested and strained” the bilateral partnership. The [ EJ NI of Country [ also stated
that assurances were neaded that future cooperafion with the CIA would be safeguarded %%

( ) After publication of the Washinglon Post article, _
Country [f demanded the closure of DETENTION SITE BLACK within [ hours.”" The CIA

transferred the [l remaining CIA detsinees out of the facility shortly thereafter.%%

713 (REDACTED]
™ See email from: ¢ to: [REDACTED]; cc: [REDACTED), [REDACTED), [REDACTED],
{REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], (REDACTED), [REDACTED); subject:

sensitive do not focward - diaft intel; date: April 7, 2006, at (4:12:59 AM. Ses afso September 2, 2006, Fua from
DOACTC, to Sreve Bradhury, John Belfioger T, Steve Cambone, forwarding September 1, 2006
Memarandum, “Anticipaied Foreign Reactions to the Public Annocancement of the US Secret Tervorist Detention

Cenwec.” [ had begun mising kegal and poticy conoems refated to {an ial) sepport and assistance 1 the
CIA in renditian, detention, end interragation operstions in March 2005. icess indicaled thal believed
the International Covenant on Civil and Political Righis and the prohibited
Il trom siding or assisting in these CIA operations. For additional logal concerns about
Renditions amd Detention, see email from: [REDACTED], COS 10: John A. Ri o¢: ACTED),
{REDACTED], (REDACTED); subject: more from Re: visit; date: % ot
11:09 AM.

©5 “[REDACTED] anicle fallout.” According to CIA records, the [N of Country [} wes "very angry”
aboat press reports, which, he believed, would be “expioited by mdical elements™ 1o “fomenl incressed hostility
townrd [Country [} gowernment.” [REDACTED) DIRR REDACTED]; [REDACTED] [N
[REDACTED). CIA records further state that the press reporting woukd “put considerable strain on the
relationship.” (See “[REDACTED)] anticle fallour.”) Despite this record, and othex records in the full Commiites
Study, the CIA’s June 2013 Responss states: “[wle found no evidence that the RDI program in any way negatively
affeceed US relations overall with Coun b

¥ [REDACTED] 2328
717 [REDACTED] 7885 ([REDACTED] [REDACTED))
Vit IREDACTED] 4895 ((REDACTED] [REDACTED
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Country officers refused to admit CIA detainee Mustafa
Ahmad al-Hawsswi to a local hospital despite earlier discussions with country representatives
about how a detainee’s medical emergency would be handled.®® While the CIA understood the
officers’ reluctance to place a CIA detainee in a local hospital given media reports, CIA
Headquarters also questioned the “willingness of to participate as originally
agreed/planned with regard to provision of emergency medical care™®! Afier failing to gain
assistance from the Department of Defense,”™ the CIA was forced to seek assistance from three
third-party countries in providing med:cal care to al-Hawsawi and four other CJA detainees with
acute ailments. Ultimately, the CIA million for i

the reauncat of paid the ximatel
for the treatment of A 94 und made arrangements for“

and 335 The medica) issues resulied in the closing
of DETENTION SITE VIOLET in Country 2006.5% The CIA then transferred its
remaining detsinees to DETENTION SITE BROWN. At that point, all CIA detsinecs were
located in Country [

w Meanwhile, the pressures.on the CIA's Detention und Interrogation

Program brought about by the Washington Post story prompted the CIA to consider new options
among what it called the *[d]windling pool partners willing to host C1A Blacksites."%?
The CIA thus renewed carlier efforts to establish a detention facility in Country . The CIA had
earlier prowded SI m:lhon to Counu—y I in pnpamtlon fora pote nual CIA

, who was not concerned about the CIA‘s detention of terrorists in his
country, but wanted assurances that the CIA intcrrogation program did not include the use of

" HEADQUARTERS [l ((RECACTED] {REDACTED])). Sce aiso HEADQUARTERS [l
{{REDACTED) (REDACTED).
W REDACTED) 5014
™ HEADQUARTERS
2 S CIA Reqquest Latier 1o DOD for Medical Assistance, dated JJJ I 2006, fom DCIA Porter Goss. Thix
betizr wan weitien four days after the CIA Headquancrs cable cotiag the emerging difficulnes in retying on hosi-
country medical care. See alro CIA document emitled, Summary and Reflectons of Chief of Medical Services on
OMS Panticipation in the RD1 Program. While the document is undaied, it includes information updated Lthrough
2007.

m 7 See CIA documeat enmﬁ “0OMPENSATION TO [l FOR MEDICAL TREATMENT,” dote not listed.

ns See aiso CIA document entitled, “"COMPENSATION TO LIAISON FOR
MEDICAL TREATMENT," date not listed, which indicates that the total compensalion provided was
"3 Summary and Beflectons of Chief of Medical Services on OMS Participation in the RDI Program,
96 See Votume I for additional details,

W 4118 . HEADQUARTERS [N
938 £90¢ CIA Countersrocist Randition, Detainee, and Interrogation Program; dated nry 2006, “Un-DC"
Meeting slides.

939 Transeript of Oral History [aterview, [nterviewee: —(RJ] October 13, 2008, nterviewer:
[REDACTED] and [REDACTED).
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torrure.*? In providing his spproval, the agreed o a request from the chief
of Station not 0 inform the 11,5, ambassador in Coantry i ¥*! The ClA also reached an

agreement with another country, Country . to establish a CIA detention facility in that counwry
and arranged with the leadership of Country . not to inform the U.S. ambassador there.™ The

CIA ultimately did not detnin individuals in cither councry.

(:PSA_ANF) Tn late October 2008, days before the publication of the
Washington Post acticle, the CLA asked a separate country, Country |}, to temporarily house JJi
CIA detainees.™ The chief of Station briefed the U.S, ambassador in Country JJ], who requested
that the National Security Council and the Whitc House be briefed on the plan*** There are no
CIA records to indicate the briefing occurred, Country [JJ's d then provided
approval, while secking assurances that the CIA would develop a contingcnci ilan in case the

detention site was exposed in the press.”¥? While the CIA Sration and the

B consider=d & in Country JJ}, CIA Headquarters directed that a
long-term CIA detention facility be established E’W
approved a plan to build a CIA detention facility but

noted his ongoing concerns about the lack of a CIA “exit strategy.”*

(m The lack of emergency medical care for detainees, the issue that
had forced the closing of DETENTION SITE VIOLET in Country [ll, was raised repeatedty in
the context of the construction of the CIA detention facility in Country [}, On March [, 2006,
CIA Headquarters requested that the CIA Stazion in Country [ ask Country [} to arrange discreet
access to the nearest haspital and medical staff. The cable stated that the CIA “iook(s] forward
to a favorable response, prior to commencing with the construction of our detention facility.”*’
Construction nonetheless began on the facility without the issue of emergency medical care
having been resolved. In 2006, after the deputy chief of the CIA Station in Country B the
deputy chief of RDG, and an OMS officer met with Bl officers, the Sration reported
that the establishment of emergency medical care proximal to the site was “not tenable.** In
Juty 2006, an OMS representative informed the chief of at
CIA Headquarters that the facility in Couniry J]*should not be acrivated without a clear,
committed plan for medical provider coverage.®*?

™l [REDACTED] (938
™ [REDACTED] 1938
™2 [REDACTED] 3145
MIHEADQUARTERS
™ IREDACTED] 8481
™3 [REDACTED] 6481
6 [REDACTED) 6877 . [REDACTED] 650 NN
! HEADQUARTERS
& [REDACTED] 7670
M3 See ernait fron: [REDACTED]; to:
-; subject: CT meefing re, ; date: 57
discassion is also referenced in Memorzndum for the Record; t0: C/CTCHE: from:
c/cTCIFRDG; subject: Site Visit to Recommendations. As described, in June 2006, the CTA
inspector general issued an audit that concluded that while C1A detention fecilities lacked sufficient debriefers, they
“were constructed, equipped, and staffed o securely and safely contain detainees and prompt intalligence
exploilation of detaineea.” The audit funther detennined that the facilities “are not equipped to provide medical

treatment to detainees who have or develui serious ﬁswal or mental disorders, and operable plans are not in place
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By the time a CIA team visited the Country [J] detention site in late
2006, the CIA had already invested S| million in the new facility, Describing the absence of
adequate emergency medical care options as “unacceptable,” the chief of RDG recommended in
a draft memo that construction efforts be abandoned for this reason.®® The following day, an
edited version of the same memo described the issue as a “challenge,” but did not recommend
that the CIA cease construction of the facility.”>! The resulting CIA detention facility, which
would eventually cost Sl million, was never used by the CIA. Press reposts about the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program that appeared in and [l cventually forced the CIA
to pass possession of the unused facility to the Conntry Jlj government %

(/R 2% 1n cardy January 2006, officials at the Department of Defense
informed CIA officers that Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld had made a formal decision not to
accept any CIA detainees at the U,S, military base at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.®>® At the time, the
CIA was holding 28 detainees in its two remaining facilities, DETENTION SITE VIOLET, in
Country [}, and DETENTION SITE ORANGE, in Country JJ** In preparation for a meeting
with Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld on January 6, 2006, CIA Director Goss was provided a
decument indicating that the Department of Defense’s position not to allow the transfer of CIA
detainees to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay “would cripple legitimste end game
planning” for the CIA.’® The talking points for that mecting suggéstéd thit Director Goss tell
Secretary Rumsfeld that the:

“only viable ‘endgame” for continued US Govemment custody of these most
dangerous terrorists is a transfer to GTMO. .. [a]bsent the availability of

GTAMO snd

-z LA Lol ) ousto (=]

transferring those detainees no longer producing intelligence to third countries,

to provide inpatient care for detainees,” and concluded tivat CJA detention Facilities were not equipped to provide
emergency medical care to detainees. The audit team did not visit the facility in Cauntry [l| but stated, with regard
to another country, Counlry., that “CiA funds have been wasted in constructing and equipping a medical facility
that was laker determined not to be a viable option for providing inpatient care for detniness.” See Report of Audit,
ClA<ontrolled Detention Facilities Operated Undet the 17 Sepreinber 200 Memorandum of Notitication, Report
No. 2005-0017-AS, June 14, 2006, ot DTS # 2006-2793. The CIA's “ supervised the
CIA's Renditions and Detention Qroup. o -

i , Memorandum for the Recard, to; C/CTCHE from: CZCTCIIFRDG. re: Site Visit to
and Recommendations.

. Memorandum for the Record, to: CCTO from: CCCTHIIIFRDG. re: Site Visit
and Recommendations (2),

952 Congressional Notification: Central [ntelli Agency Response ta Hogt Couniry Government Order to Vatate
an Inactive Blacksite Defention quity.m (DTS #2009-3711); SSCI Memorandum for the
Record, ]G, C1A Document, RD1 Program Background Brief for Leon Panetta, 2009.

91 DCTA Talking Paints for 6 January 2006 Breakfast with Secretary of Defense, re: SecDef Refusal ta Take CIA
Detainees on GTMO.

¥H 5ge CIA Memo, “As of 01 January 2006, thera were 28 HYDs in CIA custody.” As noted above, DETENTION
SITE VIQLET in Country [} would be ctosed in [l 2006.

#1 DCIA Talking Polnts for § Jannary 2006 Breakfast with Secretary of Defense, re: SecDef Refusal to Take C1A
Desainees on GTMO.

Page 156 of 499

- =HNOABSHHED—

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 123

A T2 LTI T S

which may release them, or [the CIA itself may need to] outright release
themn. ™%

\ ) After Secretary Rumsfeld declined to reconsider his decision not ©w
allow the mansfer of CIA detainces to U.S. milirary custody at Guantanamo Bay, CIA officers
proposed elevating the issue tw the president. CIA officers prepared talking points for Director
Goss to meer with the president on the “Way Forward” on the program on January 12, 20065
The talking points recornmended that the CIA director “stress that absent a decision on the long-
term issue {so called ‘endgame’} we are stymied and the program could collapse of its own
weight."*" There are no records to indicate whetber Director Goss made this presentation to the
president.

(“l_/NF)‘ In 2005 and 2006, the CIA transferred detainees from its custody 1o

at least nine countries, includi

, as well as to the U.S. military in Iraq. Many of these
detainees were subsequently released.* By May 2006, the CIA had 11 detainees whom it had
identified as candidates for prosecution by a t1.5. military commission. The remaining detainees
were described as having “repatriation options open.”®¢

6. The CIA Considers Changes to the CIA Detentrion and Interrogation Program Following
the Detainee Treatmen: Act, Hamdan v. Rumsfeld

GSA—M) Following the passage of the Detainee Treatment Act in December

2005, the CIA conducted numerous discussions with the National Security Council principals
about modifications 1o the program that would be acceptable from a policy and legal standpoint.
In February 2006, talking points prepared for CIA Director Goss noted that National Security
Advisor Stephen Hadley:

*asked to be informed of the criteria CIA will use before accepting a detainee
into its CIA Counterterrorist Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Program,
stating that he believed CIA had in the past accepted detainees it should not
have."%!

&S/ > 5) The CIA director proposed future criteria thar would require not

only that CIA detainecs meet the standard in the MON, but that they possess informaation about
threats to the citizens of the Unired States or other nations, and that detention in a C1A facility

35 DCIA Talking Points for § January 2006 Breakfast with Secrefary of Defense, re: SecDef Refesal to Take CIA

Detainces on GTMO.
7 DCIA Talking Points For 12 January 2006 Meeling with the President, re: Way Forwaad on Countertexvorist

Rendition, Detention snd Inkerrogation Program.
938 DCIA Talking Points for 12 January 2006 Meeling with the President, re: Way Forward on Counlerterrorist

Rendition, Detention and [aterrogation Program,
%3% See Volume § for ndditional details.
0 May 1B, 2006, Deputies Commiliee (Un-DC) Meeting, Preliminary Deiainee End Game Options, Fosr sdditianal

information, se¢ Volume .
%! DCIA Telking Points for 9 February 2006 Un-DC, re: Future of the CIA Counrerterrarist Rendition, Detention,
and [nterrogation Program - Detainees.
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Declaration of Dr. Sondra S. Crosby

1. I am a licensed physician in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and am board certified
in the specialty of Internal Medicine. I graduated from the University of Washington School of
Medicine, and received my clinical training at the Boston City Hospital (now Boston Medical
Center) residency program in Internal Medicine. Currently, I am an Associate Professor of
Medicine and Public Health, at the Boston University Schools of Medicine and Public Health, in
the Departments of Medicine, and Health Law, Bioethics, and Human Rights, and a member of
the Section of General Internal Medicine at Boston Medical Center.

2. My clinical practice focuses on care of asylum seekers and refugees, most of whom have
experienced torture. I have taught extensively on the medical care and evaluation of refugees
and survivors of torture, and I have given invited presentations throughout the United States and
internationally on various topics related to caring for survivors of torture. I have taught and
mentored Istanbul Protocol evaluation and documentation in Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan; Dushanbe,
Tajikistan; Istanbul, Turkey, Reyhanli, Turkey, Almaty, Kazakhstan, and Amman, Jordan as a
medical consultant for Physicians for Human Rights. I have given workshops on the preparation
of medical affidavits and have lectured in the Asylum Officers Basic Training Course in
Lansdowne, VA on medical forensic findings in asylum cases.

3. In addition, I have published scholarly papers in The New England Journal of Medicine,
The Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA), Annals of Internal Medicine, The
British Medical Journal, The Journal of General Internal Medicine, The Laryngoscope, The
British Journal of Ophthalmology, and Urology among others, on my work in caring for

survivors of torture.

4. I have been qualified as an expert witness in United States Immigration Court in Boston,
Federal District Court for the District of Columbia, and the Military Commissioni Court in
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba (United States v. Al-Nashiri). I have written over 300 affidavits
documenting medical and psychological sequelae of torture.

5. I have evaluated and examined nearly 1000 survivors of torture in my medical practice. I
am consultant to Physicians for Human Rights, and have evaluated the effects of torture, cruel,
inhuman, and degrading treatment and displacement on Darfuri women living in a Refugee
Camp in Chad, and former detainees in US detention at Guantanamo Bay, and at other sites in
Iraq and Afghanistan. Furthermore, [ have served as a medical forensic expert for the Bahrain
Independent Commission of Inquiry, investigating allegatlons of torture.

6. I am co-founder and director of the Forensic Medical Evaluation Group, a
multidisciplinary group at Boston University School of Medicine and Boston Medical Center,
providing evaluation and documentation of physical and psychological evidence of torture and
abuse,

7. On March 7, 2012, 1 was appointed by the Department of Defense as an expert in the
field of internal medicine and the treatment of victims of torture to consult with defense counsel
representing Abd Al-Rahim Al-Nashiri and to conduct an evaluation of Mr. Al-Nashiri’s
physical and mental condition.
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8. I have reviewed both classified and unclassified records including records of Mr. Al-
Nashiri’s treatment while in the custody of the CIA. T have met with Mr. Al-Nashiri on multiple
occasions at Guantdnamo Bay. | have evaluated Mr. Al-Nashiri for approximately 30 hours. My
medical evaluation (physical and psychological) was based on the Istanbul Protocol, which is the
international standard for the medicolegal investigation of torture.

9. I have spoken with Barry Rosenfeld, a psychologist also employed by the Al-Nashiri
defense team. Dr. Rosenfeld did a mental status evaluation of Mr. Al-Nashiri at the request of the
defense. '

10.  Thavereviewed the publicly available findings of the military competency board that
evaluated Mr. Al-Nashiri at the request of the prosecution. I concur with the competency
board’s findings that Mr. Al-Nashiri suffers from Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (“PTSD”) and
major depression. : ’

L. | have also reviewed the unclassified SSCI Torture Report and the declassified CIA
Inspector General Investigation, which were both released by the Government and detailed
certain aspects of the CIA’s Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation (“RDI””) program. These
reports revealed that Mr. Al-Nashiri was waterboarded, subjected to mock execution, anal rape,
and other forms of torture. According to these reports, the goal of the RDI program was to
induce a detainee to a state of “learned helplessness.” A concept coined by experimental
psychologist Dr. Martin Seligman in the 1960s, inducing “learned helplessness” consisted of
restraining dogs and subjecting them to random and repeated electric shocks. Dogs that could not
control or influence their suffering in any way “learned” to become helpless, collapsing into a
state of passivity. Dr. Seligman found that if a researcher inflicted uncontrollable pain on a dog
over a long enough period of time, the animal abandoned any attempt to escape its confinement
or avoid further pain, even if given the opportunity. Mr. Al-Nashiri was in essence, broken down
in the same way as the dogs in the experiments.

12. Based on my own evaluation of the records made available to me, my conversations with
Dr. Rosenfeld and my own evaluations of and conversations with Mr. Al-Nashiri personally, it is
my conclusion that Mr. Al-Nashiri suffers from complex posttraumatic stress disorder as a result
- of extreme physical, psychological, and sexual torture inflicted upon him by the United States. In
my opinion, the CIA also succeeded in inducing “learned helplessness” in Mr. Al-Nashiri. The
result is that Mr. Al-Nashiri is most likely irreversibly damaged by torture that was unusually
cruel and designed to break him. Indeed, in my many years of experience treating torture victims
from around the world, Mr. Al-Nashiri presents as one of the most severely traumatized
individuals I have ever seen. Making matters worse, there is no present effort to treat the
damage, and there appear to be efforts to block others from giving him appropriate clinical care.

13.  The physical and psychological diagnoses of Mr. Al-Nashiri are compelling. One
suffering from complex PTSD would be expected to be hyperviligent, suffer from intrusive
recollections and flashbacks, sleep disorders, nightmares and other recognized sequalae of
torture. Mr. Al-Nashiri displays every symptom of complex PTSD. He suffers chronic
nightmares, the content of which, while classified, in my opinion directly relate to the specific
physical, emotional and sexual torture inflicted upon Mr. Al-Nashiri while in US custody. He
experiences flashbacks, which are triggered frequently by reminders of torture.

2
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14, The torture experienced by Mr. Al- Nashiri has fractured his trust in humanity, which has
damaged his ability to interact with all humans, including counsel, doctors, other detainees, and
even family. While much of Mr. Al-Nashiri’s treatment remains classified, there is no question
that Mr. Al-Nashiri was tortured at the hands of the CIA and that his current symptoms and poor
health directly relate to that torture.

15. My physical examination of Mr. Al-Nashiri strongly supported his account of torture.
This examination included a detailed history of historical and current physical symptoms, in
addition to examination findings, including scars. Many of his physical ailments, notably
chronic pain, can be linked to torture techniques utilized during his detention.

16.  Despite the passage of time between Mr. Al-Nashiri’s direct torture in CIA custody and
the present, he shows little sustained improvement. Although, even in the best of circumstances,
the horrific and calculated nature of his torture would be expected to have long lasting effects,
there are multiple factors that are unique to Guantanamo and the military proceedings against
him that are further exacerbating his symptoms and suffering.

17. A principal factor in Mr. Al Nashiri’s current condition is that Guantanamo itself was one
of the so-called “black sites” in which Mr. Al-Nashiri was hcld, during his_period of secret
detention in the RDI program. It is difficult to overstate the pervasive consequences of this. On a
periodic basis Mr. Al-Nashiri is confronted with reminders (visual, audible) of his time in CIA
custody. Seeing these reminders particularly when shackled as he often is while moved to and
from meetings with counsel and to court, triggers traumatic stress and causes him intense
anxiety, dissociation, and painful flashbacks to his experience of torture.

[8.  His deterioration is exacerbated by the lack of appropriate mental health treatment at
Guantdnamo. Based on my assessment and vast experience caring for survivors of torture, the
physical and mental health care afforded to him is woefully inadequate to his medical needs. A
significant factor in my opinion is that medical professionals, including mental health care
providers, have apparently been directly or indirectly instructed not to inquire into the causes of
Mr. Al-Nashiri’s mental distress, and as a consequence, he remains misdiagnosed and untreated.
Any discussion of his experience of torture, which is the primary cguse of his most chronic
physical and mental ailments, appears to be off limits. I base this opinion on my review of
medical records and the public testimony of “Dr. 97,” who was Mr. Al-Nashiri’s attending
mental healthcare provider until recently. Dr. 97 changed his diagnosis of Mr. Al-Nashiri from
PTSD to Narcissistic Persanality Disarder shortly in advance of a hearing that involved the
adequacy of Mr. Al-Nashiri’s medical care. This is professionally irresponsible and is
representative of the quality of mental health care that Mr. Al-Nashiri receives.

19.  Lack of adequate mental health treatment is exacerbating Mr. Al-Nashiri’s suffering and
instability, and he continues to suffer from ongoing PTSD symptoms including somatic
complaints, nightmares, hyperviligence, flashbacks, numbing, and a host of other symptoms.

20. The procedures and circumstances of the Mr. Al-Nashiri conditions of confinement and
military trial process are sources of triggering events. The lack of treatment has left Mr. Al-
Nashiri with out the tools necessary to self-regulate his emotional responses to triggering events
that others may not perceive. Without realizing it, guards, military trial personnel and even Mr.
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Al-Nashiri’s defense team may do or say things that seem benign, or at least manageable in
terms of their emotional valence, but which are profoundly and disproportionately upsetting to
Mr. Al-Nashiri. The absence of an adequate mental health support system in Guantdnamo causes
each of these episodes to exacerbate Mr. Al-Nashiri’s complex PTSD.

The environment in Guantanamo lacks stability or any sense of relative safety. This lack of
stability profoundly exacerbates Mr. Al-Nashiri’s complex PTSD. I understand from public court
filings that the policies and procedures within the detention facilities are highly variable and
unpredictable. This appears to be at least partially the result of an unstable command
environment. Most of the detention personnel are stationed in Guant4namo for only 6 to 18
months. In addition, multiple chains of command are responsible for various aspects of his
detention, the military trial process, and his health care. A key strategy of the CIA's RDI program
was to keep the detention facility's policies and procedures unpredictable in order to induce
helplessness. Whether deliberate or not in Guantanamo, the effect on Mr. Al-Nashiri is the same.

21.  This chronic uncertainty conspires to present him with ever-changing rules and
procedures, whose rationales are obscure to the point of arbitrary. While healthy adults might be
able to accept that this atmosphere of uncertainty is now only incidental and a consequence of
bureaucratic mismanagement, Mr. Al-Nashiri has no way of differentiating this from the
government’s prior deliberate efforts to destabilize his personality. Whatever the genesis of the
chronic uncertainty, the effect is the same. There is an almost daily retraumatization of Mr. Al-
Nashiri and no adequate mental health care to provide him the tools to deal with that.

22. At present, the military trial process is a principal driver of this instability. Rules
governing hearings and how the issues will be dealt with are highly fluid and unpredictable.
Moreover, the military judges have responded to defense requests pertaining to Mr. Al-Nashiri's
conditions of confinement by stating that they have no power to control the various agencies that
impact Mr. Al-Nashiri’s well-being, such as the command that is responsible for control over the
facility where Mr. Al-Nashiri is housed or the medical staff at Guantanamo. To be clear, | have
no insight into the merits on any issue other than issues pertaining to Mr. Al-Nashiri’s health
care. However, in my opinion, the inability or unwillingness of the presiding judge to act on the
merits of issues directly impacting Mr, Al-Nashiri’s conditions of confinement and consequently
his mental health contributes to a general atmosphere of arbitrariness that, given the stakes
involved, exacerbates his trauma.

23.  Given that the military trial is seeking to impose the death penalty against him, the ad hoc
character of the proceedings causes Mr. Al-Nashiri profound anxiety. This anxiety is exacerbated
by the fact that often his own defense counsel are typically unable explain or predict the course
of the proceedings to him, to articulate applicable rules and standards, or set reasonable
expectations for what will transpire. Indeed, given the ad hoc nature of the proceedings, it is
unclear if or when a trial will occur.

24.  One of the most destabilizing aspects of the military trial process is the lack of continuity
of Mr. Al-Nashiri’s defense team. Only one of his lawyers who were present at the beginning of
the proceedings in 2011 remains. I understand that this is a consequence of military personnel
rules. But Mr. Al-Nashiri is ill equipped to understand, let alone cope with, the loss of lawyers
with whom he has developed relationships of varying degrees of trust. Particularly significant in
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my opinion is the loss of CMDR Brian Mizer with whom Mr. Al-Nashiri had a particularly
trusting relationship. CMDR Mizer’s departure, over Nashiri’s objection, is particularly
damaging. He also had a relationship with Ms. Nancy Hollander, which was involuntarily
severed. While other lawyers have departed with Mr. Al-Nashiri’s understanding, the chronic
turnover in his defense team contributes to the lack of stability in his world. This has a
significantly deleterious effect on his ability to cope with circumstances and undermines his
ability to trust others who claim to be helping him.

25.  Another aspect of the military trial process that cayses a great deal of anxiety and
traumatization is his periodic exclusion from the proceedings. When the military commission

- goes into “closed session,” not only is Mr. Al-Nashiri excluded from the courtroom, but his
attorneys are prevented from explaining to him what transpires or providing specifics as to why
the session was closed in the first place. This in my opinion seriously interferes with his ability to
trust his attorneys. What is more, he is generally aware that sessions are closed when issues
relating to his torture are being discussed. This causes him acute distress associated with his
exclusion from a discussion of his own experiences.

26.  In my opinion, a capital trial of Mr. Al-Nashiri in the current Military Commission
regime will have a profoundly harmful and possibly long lasting effcet upon him, in-addition to
the permanent harm already inflicted. While [ would expect a capital trial in any court to be
stressful, my knowledge of the more predictable procedures of federal confinement and trials
causes me to believe that the contemplated military trial is stressful on a different order of
magnitude and, given Mr. Al-Nashiri’s situation and fragile psychological state induced by
torture, exponentially more harmful.

27.Indccd, Thave serious doubts about Mr. Al-Nashiri’s ability remain physically or
mentally capable of handling the physical and emotional stress of the military trial process. As
things stand, hearings in Guantianamo have lasted no more than a few days a week, perhaps one
week per month. When a trial, expected to last several months, begins and trial proceedings are
held daily and particularly when issues surrounding his torture are litigated in an adversarial
setting, I fear that Mr. Al-Nashiri will eventually decompensate. Without adequate mental health
support and in light of the unusual and unpredictable character of the proceedings, there is a
strong likelihood that this decompensation will have a permanently disabling effect on his
personality and his capacity to cooperate meaningfully with his attoerneys.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United
States ol America that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on October 24, 2015.

Sondra S. Crods¢, M.D
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Center for Forensic Behavioral Sctences
Walter Reed National Military Medical Center
6000 MacArthur Bhd, Ste 1059, Bethesida, MD 20814

o

28 March 2013

Memorandum For: Mr, Richard Kammen, civilian learned council, and CDR(S} Stephen Reyes,
JAGC, USN

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al
Nashiri: ISN#10015

1. IDENTIFYING INFORMATION

Mr. Nashin is a 47 year-old single, Middle Eastern, male of Saudi Arabian and Yemeni decent
who has been in US custody for approximately ten years. Mr. Nashiri is currently incarcerated at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba,

2. REASON FOR REFERRAL

Mr. Nashiri is referred for the purpose of conducting a Sanity Board in accordance with Rules
for Military Commission (R.M.C.) 706. According to the supporting documentation provided
with the Sanity Board Order, a government motion dated 15 November 2012 raised concern that
the accused may not be competent to stand trial due to a mental condition, The government’s
inquiry is based on several comments made by the accused during a motions hearing on 24
October 2012 referencing his “bad nerves” and poor treatment/threats from the guards which
preclude him from attending court proceedings. The current Board is comprised of one
psychiatrist and one psychologist assigned to the Center for Forensic Behavioral Sciences
(CFBS) at Walter Reed National Military Medical Center (WRINMMC) and one psychologist

assigned to United States Army Recruiting Command (USAREC): Lieutenant Colonel (LTC
David Johnson, M.D., Major (MAJ)_Psy.D., and MAJ

Psy.D., respectively.
The Sanity Board Order requires that the following three questions be addressed by the Board:
a. Is the accused presently suffering from a mental disease or defect?
b. What is the clinical psychiatric diagnosis?
c. Does the mental disease or defect render the accused mentally incompetent to

understand the nature of the proceedings against him or cooperate intelligently in or conduct
his defense?

l!hsiei_l'\ll a4 Lai l\.l.o’ll—l"l—‘uul. NI

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 130 v
SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

3. LIST OF CHARGES
CHARGE I: VIOLATION OF 10 U,S.C. § 950t(17), USING TREACHERY OR PERFIDY

Specification: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 12 October 2000, in the conlext of and associated with hostilities, invite the confidence
and belief of one or more persons onboard USS COLE (DDG 67), that two men dressed in
civilian clothing, waving at the crewmembers onboard USS COLE (DDG 67), and operating a
civilian boat, were entitled to protection under the law of war, and intending to betray that
confidence and beliel, did thereafter meke use of that confidence and belief to detonate
explosives hidden on said civilian boat alongside USS COLE (DDG 67), killing 17 persons {see
Charge II for 2 list of deceased) and injuring one or more persons, all crewmembers onboard
USS COLE (DDG 67).

CHARGE II: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950t(15), MURDER IN VIOLATION OF THE
LAW OF WAR

Specification: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 12 October 2000, in the context of and associated with hostilities, in violation of the law of
war, to wit: by committing an act of perfidy, said act of perfidy being two men dressing in
civilian clothing, waving at the crewmembers onboard USS COLE (DDG 67), and operating and
detonating an explosives-laden civilian boat alongside a United States naval vessel, intentionally
and unlawfully kill the following 17 persons:

1. HT3 Kenneth E, Clodfelter, USN;
2. ETC Richard Costelow, USN;

3. MSSN Lekeina M. Francis, USN;
4. ITSN Timothy L. Gauna, USN;

5. SMSN Cherone L. Gunn, USN;

6. ITSN James R. McDaniels, USN:
7. EN2 Marc 1. Nieto, USN;

8. EW3 Ronald S. Owens, USN;

9. SN Lakiba N. Palmer, USN;

10. ENFA Joshua L. Parlett, USN;

11. FN Patrick H. Roy, USN;

12. EW2 Kevin S. Rux, USN;

13. MS3 Ronchester M. Santiago, USN;
14. 0S2 Timothy L. Saunders, USN;
15, FN Gery G. Swenchonis, Jr., USN;
16. ENS Andrew Triplett, USN; and
17. SN Cruig B. Wibberley, USN.
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CHARGE III: VIOLATION OF 10 US.C. § 950¢(15), 10 US.C. § 9501(28), ATTEMPTED
MURDER IN YIOLATION OF THE LAW OF WAR

Specification 1: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligeremt subject to triel by military commission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 3 January 2000, in the context of and associated with hostilities, with the specific intent to
commit Murder in Violation of the Law of War, attempt to intentionally and unlawfully kill one
or inore persons onboard USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68), in violation of the law of war, to
wit: by committing an act of perfidy, and committing acts that amount to more than mere
preparation, and to effect the commission of Murder in Violation of the Law of War, the said
NASHIRI rented real property, acquired a boat, acquired explosives, then altered, assembled and
launched an explosives-laden boat, after ordering those onboard to perfidiously approach USS
THE SULLIVANS (DDG ¢8), and then to detonate the explosives so as to damage and sink USS
THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68), and to kill one or more persons onboard that vessel.

Specification 2: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivilegad
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 12 October 2000, in the context of and associated with hostilities, with the specific intent
to commit the offense of Murder in Violation of the Law of War, attempt to intentionally and
unlewfully kill one or more persons onboard USS COLE (DDG 67), in violation of the law of
war, to wit: by committing an act of perfidy. and committing acts that amount to more than mere
preparation, and to effect the commission of Murder in Violation of the Law of War, the said
NASHIRI rented real property, acquired a boat, acquired explosives, altered the boat, and
ordered those onboard to launch the explosives-laden boat, to perfidiously approach USS COLE
(DDG 67), and to detonate the explosives while alongside USS COLE (DDG 67) so as to
damage and sink USS COLE (DDG 67), and to kill one or more persons onboard that vessel.

CHARGE IV: VIOLATION OF 10 US.C, § 95(t(24), TERRORISM

Specification {: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commissien, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 12 October 2000, in the context of and associated with hostilities, and in a manner
calculated to influence end affect the conduct of the United States goveinment by intimidation
and coercion and to retaliate against the United States government, engage in an act that evinced
a wanton disregard for human life, to wit: intentionally detonating an explosives-laden boat
alongside USS COLE (DDG 67), resulting in the deaths of seventeen persons (see Charge H for
a list of deceased) and the infliction of great bodily harm on one or more persons, all
crewmembers onboard USS COLE (DDG 67).

Specification Z: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around the coast of Al

Muksllah, Yemen, on or about 6 Qctober 2002, in the context of and associated with hostilities,
and in a manner calculated to influence and affect the conduct of the United States government
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by intimidation and coercion and to retaliate against the United States government, intentionally
kill and inflict great bodily harm on one or more protected persons and engage in an act that
evinced a wanton disregard for human life, to wit: detonating an explosives-laden boat alongside
MV Limburg, resulting in the death of one civilian person, Mr. Atanas Atanasov, onboard MV
Limburg.

CHARGE V: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950t(29), CONSPIRACY

Specification: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military comumission, did, at multiple locations in and
around Yemen, Afghanistan, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates (hereinafier
"UAE"), Qatar, Bosnia, the Middle East, the Arabian Peninsula, and other locations, in the
context of and associated with hostilities, from an unknown date prior to approximately August
1996, through approximately October 2002, willfully conspire, agree, and join with at least one
of tbe following:

a. Usama bin Laden
b. Ayman Al Zawahiri
Mohammed Atef
Mushin Musa Matwalli Atwah
Walid Muhammad Salih Mubarak bin 'Attash
Jamal Ahmed Mohammed Ali Al-Badawi
Fand Mohammed Ahmed Al-Quso
Hassan Sa'id Awad Al Khamri
Ibrahim Al-Thawar
Taha Ibrahim Hussein Al-Ahdal
Hadi Muhammad Salih Al-Wirsh
Nasser Ahmad Nasser Al-Bahri
. Khalid Ibn Muhammad Al Juhani
Fawzi Muhammad "Abd-Al-Qawi Al-Wajih
Fawzi Yahya Qaim Al-Hababi
Muneer Al Sharabi ;
Walid Al-Shaybah
Mohammad Rashed Daoud Al-QOwhali
Jihad Muhammad Abdah Ali Abdullah Al-Harazi
Ali Hamza Ahmed Suliman Al-Bahlul
Nasir ‘Awad
Husayn Al-Badawi;
. Ahmed Mohammed at Darbi
Umar Sa’id Hassan Jarullah
Muhammed Sa’id Ali Hasan Al-Amari
and others, both known and unknown;
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to commit Terrorism and Murder in Violation of the Law of War, both offenses triable by military
commission, with the conspiracy resulting in the death of one or more viclims and, knowing that
Terrorism and Murder in Violation of the Law of War were the unlawful purpose of the
conspiracy, and intending his actions to further the unlawful purpose of the conspimcy, the said
NASHIRI did knowingly commit at least one of the following overt acts:

l.

5.

Between approximately 1994 and 1999, NASHIRI and co-conspirators joined a call to
jihad against the enemies of Islam by Usama bin Laden ("bin Laden”). NASHIRI and
the co-conspirators traveled to locations such as Bosnia, Tajikistan, and Afghanistan.
In these locations NASHIRI and co-conspirators attended trathing camps cither run by
or associated with al Qaeda. NASHIRI trained in of gave training in mililary tactics,
inciuding but not limited w, training on combat, weapons, bomb-making, and
assassination. NASHIRI and the co-conspirators then participated in, or atempted 1o
participate in, jihad by fighting in brigades of mujahideen.

Between approximately 1996 and 1999, NASHIRI and co-conspirators mel
parsonally with bin Laden and other high-ranking members of al Qaeda and some of
the co-conspirators sware an oath of allegiance 1o bin Laden. During this time period,
NASHIRI developed relationships with individuals who would later asgsist him in
what would become known as the “boats operation.”

In approximately late 1997 ta 1998, NASHIRI discussed with bin Laden plans for a
boats operation to attack ships in the Arabian Peninsula, a plan which previously had
been discussed by bin Laden and Walid Muhammad Salih Mubarak bin 'Attash
("Khallad").

NASHIRI, bin Laden and Khallad ultimately planned al Qaeda's boats operation,
which came w encompass at least three separate terrorist attacks: an attempted attack
on USS THE SLTLLIVANS (DDG 68) on 3 January 2000; a completed attack on
USS COLE (DDG 67) on 12 October 2000; and a completed attack on a French
supertanker, MV Limburg, an 6 October 2002.

In approximately 1998, a! the direction of bin Laden, NASHIRI and Khatlad travelled
to Yemen, at the southern tip of the Arabian Peninsula, to prepare for the boats
operation. NASHIR] scouted the Al-Hudaydah area of Yemen and conducted
surveillance of ship traffic in the region. As NASHIRI and Khallad collected
information, they and bin Laden began to focus their altention on mounting en attack
in Aden Harbor,

In approximately the summer of 1998, in response to direction by bin Laden,
NASHIR! and Khallad assisted in another al Qaeda plol, simultaneous attacks on
United States embassies in Kenye arxd Tanzania in East Africa, where NASHIRI
provided a fraudulent Yemeni passport used by one of the suicide bombers to enter
Kenya immedistely before the attack on the Embassy of the United States in Nairobi,
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Kenya, and where Khallad provided that same suicide bomber with details of the
attack plan,

In approximately early 1999, at the direction of bin Laden, NASHIRI and Khallad
continued prepering for the boats operation, including (but not limited 1o) obtaining
and storing explosives for use in the boats operation. NASHIRI then lefi Yemen
because Khallad had been arrested by Yemeni authorities.

Afier Khallad's arvest and subsequent release from jail in May 1999, NASHIRI
retumed 10 Yemen with instructions from bin Laden. NASHIR] took control of the
boals operation, af the direction of bin Laden, due io unwanted sttention Khallad
received as & result of his arrest. NASHIRIT took over preparstions for the boats
opermton, end Khsalled remmed to Afghsnistan,

During late 1999 and early 2000, NASHIRI spoke with Khallad on the phone several
times to relay information about the boats operation, and on at least one OCC&SIOI'I
Khallad relayed this information to bin Laden.

Between approximately the summer of 1999 and the winter of 1999, NASHIRI
continued making preparations to implement al Qaeda’s boats operation, some of
which he accomplished personally and some of which he directed others to
accomplish. These preparations included, but were not limited to, ealisting the
assistance of additional co-conspirators, purchasing vehicles, purchasing a boat and
materials, renting houses (o store the boat and materjals and to agsemble the attack
boat, and obtaining felse identification documents.

On ar about 3 January 2000, the first boats operation attack commenced when, st
NASHIRTs direction, at Jeast two of the co-conspirators launched & boat packed with
explosives from the Madinat Al-Shaab beach area inio Aden Harbor, intending 10
steer it toward e United States warship, USS THE SULLIVANS (DG 68). which
was refueling nearby. The attack ultimately failed when the explosives-leden boat
beached in the surfl of Aden Harbor.

On or about 4-6 January 2000, NASHIRI and other co-conspirators recovered the
attack boat from the beach at Madinat Al-Shaab, on the edge of Aden Harbor.
NASHIRI and other co-conspirators recavered the boat, its motor, its cargo of
explosives, and other materials used in the attempted attack. During these recovery
efforts, NASHIRI claimed ownership of the attack boat and the motor, NASHIR] and
the other co-conspirators ultimately used a front-end loader, crane, and flatbed truck
to recover and take physical possession of the attack boat and retumm it to its storage
location in Aden.

After the amempted attack on USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68) in January 2000 but
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14,

15.

16.

17.

18.

before approximately September 2000, NASHIRI returned to Afghanistan, where he
and Khallad met with bin Laden and other high-ranking members of al Qaeda at bin
Laden's compound in Qandahar,

After the attempted attack on USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68) in January 2000 but
before approximately September 2000, NASHIRI received additional training in
Afghanistan from an al Qaeda explosives expert.

After the attempted attack on USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68) in January 2000 but
before approximately September 2000, NASHIRI tested the explosives he recovered
from the failed atlack to make certain they were still usable for future attacks.

Later in 2000, after returning from Afghanistan, NASHIRI continned preparations —
some of which he accomplished personally and some of which he directed others to
accomplish -- for a second boats operation attack. These preparations included, but
were not limited to, renting another house from which to conduct surveillance of
Aden Harbor, repairing and re-fitting the attack boat, transferring ownership of and
registering the atack boat, purchasing another vehicle, securing another location at
which to store the attack boat, testing the attack boat on the waters of Aden Harbor,
making arrangements for the attack ta be videotaped, and hiring a crane operator to
lannch the attack boat.

During approximately the summer of 2000, NASHIRI informed Khallad that (he boats
operation was nearly ready and that bin Laden should send the suicide bombers.

In or about September 2000, NASHIRI informed Khallad that the boats operation was
ready to execute and further informed Khallad that he had already chosen the sunicide
bombers for the attack.

19. In or about September 2000, NASHIRI spoke again with Khallad, who relayed to

NASHIR]I a directive from bin Laden that NASHIRI leave Yemen before the atlack
and return to Afghanistan,

20. At some point after January 2000, but prior to 12 October 2000, NASHIRI filled the

21.

attack boat with explosives in prepamation for the attack.

In approximately September or October 2000, prior to the attack, NASHIRI left
Yemen, as instructed by bin Laden. NASHIRI met Khallad, and the two traveled
together to Qandahar, Afghanistan, to meet with bin Laden. NASHIRI informed bin
Laden that an attack on a United States warship in Aden was imminent.

22. On or about 12 October 2000, pursnant to NASHIRY's instructions, the coconspirators

removed the attack boat from its storage location, drove the attack boat to the launch
site and, using 4 crane, lowered it into the water.
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23,

24,

25.

On or about 12 October 2000, as a result of planning and preparation by NASHIRI
and others, the suicide bombers, at the direction of NASHIRI, dressed in civilian
clothes, piloted the explosives-laden boat to where USS COLE (DDG 67) was
refueling, offered friendly gestures to several crew members, and brought their boat
alongside USS COLE (DDG 67), roughly amidships. Once alongside at
approximately 11:18 a.m. (local}, the suicide bombers detonated the explosives,
blasting e hole in the side of USS COLE (DDG 67) approximately 30 fect in
diameter, Killing 1 7 crewmembers and injuring at least 37 crewmembers. The suicide
bombers died ia the antack.

In approximately May 2001, NASHIRI met with bin Laden and another high-ranking
member of 2] Qaeda at bin Laden's compound in Qandahar.

In approximately 2001 and 2002, NASHIRI continued al Qaeda's boats pperation by
directing acts which included, but were not limited to, acquiring a boat for use in the
artack, acquiring explosives for use in the attack, transferring ownership and

—__ registation of the boat, and obtaining a global positioning system (GPS) device for

26.

27.

use in planning the attack. NASHIRI supplied the necessary resources, planned the
attack, and directed the transfer of money for use an upcoming attack.

In approximately 2001 and 2002, NASHIRI and other co-conspirators implemented
operational security measures to avoid detection.

On or about 6 October 2002, near the port of Al Mukallah, Yemen, as a result of
planning by NASHIRI and others, suicide bombers, at the direction of NASHIRI,
used an explosives-laden boat to attack the French supertanker MV Limburg. The
explosion blasted a hole through the hull of the ship, resulting in the death of a
crewmembet, injury to approximately |2 crewmembers, and spillage of
approximately 90,000 berrels of oil imta the Gulf of Aden.

CHARGE VI: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950t(13), INTENTIONALLY CAUSING
SERIOUS BODILY INJURY

Specification: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIR), an alien unprivileged
encmy belligerent subject to trial by military comemission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, in the
contexi of and associated with hostilities, on or about 12 October 2000, intenripnally cause
serious injury to the body of one or more persons, all crewmembers onboard USS COLE (DDG
67), with unlawful force and violence, in violation of the law of war, to wit: perfidiously operating
and detonating an explosives-laden vessel alongside USS COLE (DDG 67).
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CHARGE VIJ: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C, § 950t(16), DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY IN
VIOLATION OF THE LAW OF WAR

Spexification: ln that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 12 October 2000, in the context of and associated with hostilities, intentionally destroy
property belonging to another person, without that person's consent, in violation of the law of
war, to wit: two men perfidiously approaching USS COLE (DPG 67), and detonating concealed
explosives, resulting in the destruction of USS COLE (DDG 67), destruction of supplies and
rations located onboard USS COLE (DDG 67), and destruction of personal effects located
onboard USS COLE (DDG 67).

CHARGE VITIH: VIOLATION OF 10 US.C. § 9501(16), 10 U.5.C. § 9501(28), ATTEMPTED
DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY IN VIOLATION OF THE LAW OF WAR

Specification: ln that Abd a] Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged
enemy helligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around Aden, Yemen, on or
about 3 January 2000, in the context of and associated with hostilities, with the specific intent to
commit the offense of Destruction of Property in Violation of the Law of War, atiempt to
intentionally destroy property belonging to another, without the lawful owner's consent, to wit:
USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68), by committing certain overt acts, in violation of the law of
war, including, but not limited to, renting real property, acquiring a boat, acquiring explosives,
altering a boat, and assembling and launching a boat; the said NASHIRI's actions amounted to
more than mere preparation and tended to effect the commission of Destruction of Property in
Violation of the Law of War, to wit: two men perfidiously dressing in civilian clothing and
operating an explosives-laden civilian vessel, in an attempt to detonate said explosives-laden
civilian vessel alongside USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68), which would have resulted in the
destruction of USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68), destruction of supplies and rations located
onboard USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68), and destruction of personal elfects located onboard
USS THE SULLIVANS (DDG 68).

CHARGE IX: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950t(2), ATTACKING CIVILIANS

Specification: In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRL, an alien unprivileged
enemy belligerent subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around the coast of Al
Mukellah, Yemen, on or about 6 October 2002, in the context of and associated with hostilities,
intentionally attack civilian persons onboard MV Limburg a civilian oi) tanker crewed by civilian
personnel, who were not engaged in any direct and active hostilities, and that resulted in the death
of one person, Atanas Atanasov, and the said Nashiri Knew that such targets were in a civilian
status.
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CHARGE X VIOLATION OF 19 U.8.C. § 950t(3), ATTACKING CIVILIAN OBJECTS

In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIR], an alien unprivileged enemy belligerent
subject to trial by military commission, did, in or around the coast of Al Mukallah, Yemen, on or
about 6 October 2002, in the context of and associated with hostilities, intentionally attack civilian
persons onboard MV Limburg, a civilian oil tanker crewed by civilian personnel, not e military
objective, and the said Nashiri knew that such targets was not a military objective.

CHARGE XI VIOLATION OF 19 U.S.C. § 950t(23), HUACKING OR HAZARDING A
VESSEL OR AIRCRAFT

In that Abd al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad al NASHIRI, an alien unprivileged enemy belligerent
subject to trial by wilitary commission, did, in or around the coast of Al Mukallah, Yemen, on or
about 6 October 2002, in the context of and associated with hostilities, intentionally endanger the
safe navigation of a vessel, MV Limburg, not a military objective, to wit: by causing damage to
the operational ebility and navigation of the MV Limburg, and resulting in the death of one
crewmember, Atanas Atanasov.

. STATEMENT OF NON-CONFIDENTIALITY:

Mr. Nashiri was informed of the non-confidential nature of this evaluation. He was informed
that a full report of the evaluation would be sent to his Defense Counsel, and that a summarized
report consisting only of the Board’s answers to the court’s questions would be sent to the Trial
Counsel. He was informed that Sanity Board members may be called to testify, and that the
information oblained from this evaluation, as well as the conclusions thereof, could be made
public. He voiced an understanding of these warnings and apreed to participate in the
evaluation.

5. SOURCES OF INFORMATION:

a. Interview with Mr. Nashiri, on 12, 13, and 14 Mar 2013, for a total of 11 hours

b. Interview with LTC Masucco, SJA for Guantanamo Bay (GTMO), at GTMO, regarding
movement procedures of Mr. Nashiri for legal proceedings, on 14 Mar 2013 for 30
minutes

¢. Interyiew with TFP Psychiatrist (Mr. Nashiri’s military psychiatrist) at GTMO on 14 Mar
2013 for 30 minutes

d. Site visit of the holding cell and courtroom that Mr. Nashiri attends for court purposes,
conducted with NN 14 Mar 2013 for 90 minutes

e. RM.C. 706 Order

f. Charge Sheet

g. Memorandum for the R.M.C. 706 Board Members, written by Richard Kammen, Learned
Counsel, on 14 Feb 2013, with Appendix 1; Amicus Curiae by Physicians for Human .
Rights and Appendix 2: Statement on Access to Relevant Medical and Other Health

e B
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. Psychological assessment notes of Mr. Nashiri from late 2002 through 20

Records and Relevant Legal Records for Forensic Medical Evaluations of Alleged
Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (The Istanbul
Protocol) by the International Forensic Expert Group

Government Motion dated 3 Apr 2012 (AE 064)

Government Request for Discovery dated 28 Mar 2012 (AE 064)

Government Motion dated 2 Oct 2012 (AE 122A)

Government Motion dated 15 Nov 2012 (AE 140)

Declaration by CDR Jennifer A. Strezza regarding her discussions with Mr. Nashiri,
dated 4 Sep 2012 (AE 1224)

. Declaration by CDR Jennifer A. Strezza regarding internal movements of Mr. Nashiri,

dated 2 Oct 2012 (AE 122A)

U.S. Marshals Policy on use of restraints in prisoner operations (AE 122A)

Transcript of Military Commission hearing including testimony by Dr. Vincent [acopino
dated 5 Feb 2013

Transcript of Military Commission hearing dated 24 Oct 2012

. Video footage of transport of Mr. Nashiri from his cell to the holding cell at the

courthouse, during which transport he complained about a wrist injury due to the guards
(includes shackling, walking, ride in vehicle, and metal detection)

CIA Office of the Inspector General (OIG) report, redacted open-source version obtained
by Defense through the internet, dated 7 May 2004

CIA Office of the Inspector General (OIG) report, redacted version supplied by the
Government, dated 7 May 2004

Document entitled “Open-source Government Information about the CIA Rendition,
Detention and Interrogation {RDI) Program, by Newell, dated 21 May 2011 {142 pages)
Inlerview with Mr, Nashiri conducted by SA Stephen Gaudin of the FBI, SA Robert
McFadden of CIFA, and SA Kristen Sendlein of AFOSI, 34 pages long,
Summaries of interrogations of Mr. Nashiri from late 2002 through 2006

2007

Medical assessment notes of Mr. Nashiri from late 2002 through 2006
Medical Notes, Doctor’s Orders, Laboratories, Radiological Studies, ures, and
Medication Administration Record (MAR) from GTMO from 10 Sep 2006 1o 31 Oct
2011 -

Psychiatric Noles from GTMO from 8 Sep 200610 31 Oct 2011

. Incident Screening Form from Delta Clinic, GTMO, dated 11 Oct 2006 regarding Mr.,

Nashiri’s allegation of abuse

bb. Incident Screening Form from Delta Clinic, GTMO, dated 19 Nov 2006 regarding Mr.

Nashiri’s allegation of abuse

¢c. Incident Screening Form from Delta Clinic, GTMO, dated 23 Nov 2006 regarding Mr.

Nashiri’s allegation of abuse

dd. Incident Screening Form from Delta Clinic, GTMO, dated 6 Jun 2007 regarding Mr.

Nashiri’s allegation of abuse

ma-mm
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SOURCES OF INFORMATION RELATED TO PROVING THE ALLEGED CRIMES
AND COMBATANT STATUS

1) Quert Acts Documents 04 1-27. [N

2) FBI Statement of
3) EBI Statemnent of
4) FBI Sustement of

5) FEBI Statement of
6) FBI Statement of
7) FBI Siatement of

8} FBI Statement of
9) FBI Suatzment o
10) FBI Statement of
[ 1) FBI Statement of|
2) FB] Statement of
13) NCIS Statement of Abu Badr, dated 10 Jun 2004
14) CITF Statement of Abu Badr, dated 29 Sep 2004
15)FBI Statement of
16) FBI Stetement of]
17) FBI Statement of|
18) FBI Laboratory Repori on evidence from the USS Cole, IENEGEGEG_G_N
19) Certificate of Non-Existence of Record regerding Mr. Nashiri, by Mike Quinn at
Department of Homeland Security, in the 30 of a month in 2008 (month was cut off on

the copy)

20) NCILS Limburg [nvestigation Report dated 11 Oct 2002
21 _

22) USS Cole victim death certificates

23)Lis1 of USS Cole victim injuries
_in regards to the USS Cole

24) Swtement by USN Sailor
bombing

15) Statement by redacted USN Sailoc on unknown date in regards (o USS Cole bombing

26) Suatement by redacied USN Sailor on unknown date i regards to USS Cole repair

27) Statement by RADM Edward S. Hebner on an unknown date in regards Lo his prior
command of the 1JSS The Sullivans

28) Interview with Usama Bin Laden’s Bodyguard, author unknown, on 20 Aug 2004

29) Translation of “*Declaration of Holy War Against the Americans Who are Occupying the
Land of the Two Holy Places’ by Usama Bin Laden, provided by the Government

30) Translation of *“The Intemational Islamic Front for Jihad against the Jews and the
Crusaders” by Usama Bin Laden, provided by the Government

31) Translation of **The lslamic Nuclear Bomb” by Usama Bin Laden, provided by the
Government
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32) Transcript of CNN Interview of Usama Bin Laden on 20 Mar 1997, provided by the
Government

33)Press Briefing on U.S. Strikes in Sudan and Afghanistan by Secretary of State Madeleine
K. Albright and National Security Advisor Sandy Berger on 20 Aug 1998, provided by
the Government

34) Fact Sheet on Usama Bin Laden released by the U.S. Department of State on 21 Aug
1998, provided by the Government

35) DoD Memoranda from Feb-Mar 2007 regarding the determination of combetant status
for Mr. Nashiri by the Combatant Status Review Tribunal (CSRT)

36) Verbaiim Transcript of CSRT Hearing to determine combatant status of Mr. Nashiri,
including testimony by Mr. Nashiri, dated 14 Mar 2007

37) Memorandum entitled “Unclassified Summary of Basis for Tribunal Decision” by the
Tribuna! President, nndated

38) Several Dewinee Election Forms and affilisted hand-written documents containing
answers and statemenls given by Mr. Nashin as part of the CSRT process, including two
allegations of abuse

6. SOURCES OF INFORMATION NOT AVAILABLE:

The Board requested to speak with the defense expert, Dr. Rosenfeld, but was told that he
was not available until after 1 Apr 2013,

7. GOVERNMENT'S VERSION OF THE OFFENSE:

The government contends that the accused is involved with the planning of multiple terrorist
attacks against the United States and its allies. Specifically these attacks include the attempted
attack on the The USS Sullivans (DDG 68) on 3 January 2000, and the sttacks on the USS Cole
(DDG 67) on 12 Ocwber 2000 and on the French supertanker MV Limburg on 6 October 2002.
In total these aftacks resulted in the deaths of eighteen people, serious injury to many others, and
significant property damage.

8. ACCUSED’S VERSION OF THE OFFENSE

M. Nashiri reported that he understood that he is accused of planning the bombing of the USS
Cole and the MV Limburg but emphatically denied any involvement with the bombing. The
accused suated that he did not know the individuals involved with the bombing and thet “I'm not
apart of their gang.” He indicated that “the problem is” he has met 2 number of individuals
during his travels and business venmures and as a result he is being blamed for a crime he did not
commit due to guilt by association.

e Mr. Nashiri’s account of the events mentioned above are at odds with a report dated 2

February 2007 in which he was interviewed for three days by the Federal Bureau of
Investigations (FBT), Counterintelligence Field Activity (CIFA), and Ait Force Office of Special
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Investigations (AFQSI). According to the report the accused knew and stayed with multiple
individuals involved with the USS Cole bombing and routinely transported money from
Afghanistan to Yemen on the orders of Bin Laden.

9. BRIEF DEVEL.OPMENTAL HISTORY SUMMARY

Mr. Nashiri was born and raised in Mecca, Saudi Arabia. He was raised by both of his parents
and is one of 12 children born to his parents. He has six brothers and five sisters. He indicated
that his family was not rich, but he grew up in a “joyful house™ and had a “normal” childhood.
His family was not well-known or famous but since he grew up in a “respected area, lots of
moms and dads would give me attention.” He reported that he was active in extracurricular
activities such as sports and was particularly good at soccer, running, and gymnastics. The
accused reported that during his adolescent years he considered everyone to be his friend but he
did not have a specific friend (a best friend) and viewed everyone as equal. He considered
himself quiet as a child.

10. BRIEF RELATIONSHIP HISTORY SUMMARY

Mr, Nashiri explained that he did not start dating until after he lefi Saudi Arabia (age 27) but did
not elaborate any further on his romantic relationships. He reported that he was interested in
meeting and marrying American or Western women.

11. BRIEF EDUCATION HISTORY SUMMARY

Mr. Nashiri reported that he was not smart but was successful in his studies. He stated that he
did not put in much effort in his studies due to a lack of interest but if he had he would have been
“spectacular.” He reported that he did not take notes or do his homework in school because he
could understand the material and did not see the need to do so. He also stated that he would
only need to review 30 minutes prior to taking a test. He reported that his main focus in school
was on economics anx administration. He was also good in most subjects especially arithmetic, -
chemistry, and physics, but was “poor in English.” He reported that every time he failed English
he had to repeat the entire grade which resulted in him repeating every grade in middle school
and high school. He reported that the average student graduated high school at the age of
eighteen but due to failing English he graduated high school at the age of 25 or 26. He reported
that he wanted to drop out of high school but decided against it because his parents wanted him
to stay in school, especially his mother. He denied that his grade repeats caused him
embarrassment or harassment from his peers. He reported that many other students had
problems with English as well.

® The notes written by a psychologist in early 2003 during interrogation sessions indicate

that Mr. Nashiri had problems with paying attention in class and remembering information
and that his concentration problem had been long-standing.

G N e
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12. BRIEF OCCUPATIONAL HISTORY SUMMARY

Mr. Nashiri reported that his first job was at age of seven, as a juice vender, in which he sold
Juice from his mother’s fridge. During his adolescence he worked as a laborer and assisted in
operating his father’s construction business. He enjoyed working around his father but did not
like the overall work because he thought it was exhausting. He reported that prior to leaving
Saudi Arabia, at age 27, he worked at a variety of jobs to include driving a taxi, selling clothes,
and owning a restaurant that catered to Hajj tourists. According to Mr. Nashiri he worked at each
job for approximately six to seven months, and could “succeed” at anything he put effort into.
‘When asked about his other business ventures prior to leaving Saudi Arabia he reported that he
“tried many things™ and that he made “a little bit” of money. He reported being generally
successful in most business ventures he underiook. He also reported having business ventures
outside of Saudi Arabia. In particular he tried to establish businesses in Yemen and Afghanistan
He indicated that he wanted to sell fish in Yemen but did not elaborate further. He did not
elaborate on his business ventures in Afghanistan. At someé point, he took up a cause of wanting
to improve the treatment of prisoners. He based this on reading about injust politically-
motivated imprisonments in Morocco, and knowing that his uncle in a Saudi prison had
“everything” he needed. He wanted to create a humanitarian organization for prisoner rights in
countries other than Saudi Arabia.

e According to a report dated 2 February 2007, detailing a three day interview between Mr.
Nashiri and the FBI, CIFA, and AFOSL, Mr. Nashiri told interviewers that he was a very
successful businessman and at one time had a net worth of one million dollars (US). He
explained that he left Saudi Arabia to join the jihad because he had become disillusioned
with personal profit and being a businessman did not fulfill him in his quest to change the
situation in Saudi Arabia.

13. BRIEF TRAVEL SUMMARY BETWEEN 1993 AND 2002

He indicated that from 1993 until his arrest for the current charges he “traveled extensively.”
When questioned about his motivation for this extensive traveling, he indicated that he traveled
to places where the indigenous peoples were baving similar struggles as Saudi Arabia (i.e.,
political and economic discontent) to “see how these people were doing it, how the were making
changes for the better” in their political and economical systems. He hoped he might play some
part in helping to solve the “problems of others” and reported he visited with humnanitarian
organizations during his travels. He reported that there were no armed contlicts occurring in the
places he travelled to.

e The above account is at odds with the 2 February 2007 interview with the FBL, CIFA, and
AFOSI. According to this interview Mr. Nashiri’s stated reason for traveling outside of
Sendi Arabia during this time period was to fight for Muslims and because he and Bin Laden
had the same goals “which was to expel the US from the Arabian Gulf and Peninsula,”

15

UNCLASSIFIED/FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 144

. l&s-\ul L AzA AVES ¥ AL/ WY AsAF A A RIWNch B

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015 ’

14. BRIEF LEGAL HISTORY SUMMARY

Mr. Nashiri indicated he had no legal history prior to being arrested in Dubai in 2002 for the
cuirent charges. Records review indicates that during his combatant status review pracess, on or
about 14 March 2007, he stated that he was wanted by both Saudi and Yemeni officiais for his
alleged involvement in smuggling rockets into Saudi Arabia. He also provided a similar
statement to FBI authorities (i.e., that he was wanted for alleged arms smuggling by Sandi and
Yemeni officials). In this same interview he reported being arrested in Yemen for fishing without
a license but was quickly released.

15. FAMILY LEGAL HISTORY

Mr. Nashiri reported that he had an uncle who was in prison in Saudi Arabia due to using and
selling “hashish and other drugs.” He also reported that his cousin was involved with the
bombing of American Embassy in Nairobi. He indicated that there was no other family arrest
history.

16. MR. NASHIRI'S REFORT OF EVENTS WHILE IN US CUSTODY

By all accounts the accused was held from late 2002 until 2006 at various “black sites™ while in
US custody and prior to arriving at his current location. The following table summarizes Mr.
Nashiri’s account for the above caption timeframe. The locations provided below are per his
report and are uncorroborated at this time.

Timeframe Location What Occurred
Circa October 2002 Dubai ¢ [nitial arrest; interrogated and
(approximately one month) transferred to US custody

¢ He reported that he was not
allowed to sleep, was heaten, and
bung by his hands

¢ He reported that he was beaten
only during interrogations but was
allowed to rest when he was not

. interrogated.
Circa November 2002 Unknown Location ¢ During his transfer to this
(approximately one month} location ice was put down his

shirt while still on the plane
¢ He was forced to keep his hands
on a wall and not given food for

three days .
Unknown dates but he Unknown Location » He reported that he was tortured
reported that he was held for to include having “water poured

16
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approximately six months

Unknown dates but he
reported that he was held for
approximately six months

on me”, being “dunk™ in water,
being hung from the ceiling, was
kept “'cold as ice<cream”, and
being physically assaulted.

Unknown dates but he
reported that he was held for
approximately six months

He reported that he did not
experience any ill treatment
during this time

He reported a general
continuation of the above
interrogation techniques and his
belief that his interrogators were
“puiting something” in his food
which caused him to have
headaches, arm and joint pain,
and gastrointestinal issues (such
as diarrhea and constipation)
He also reported that he would
hear bullet sounds from the
hallway

He reported being yelled at,
threatened, slapped, slammed
against the wall, chained, and
threatened.

approximately six months

Unknown dates but he _ He reported that the food and his

reported that he was held for treatment was “bad” but did not

approximately two years elaborate.

Unknown dates but he - Mr. Nashiri reported a

reported that he was held for continuation of experiences as

approximately six months captured in the two boxes
immediately above.

Unknown dates but he - During this time he reported that

reported that he was held for he was allowed to use the gym,

had a computer and TV in his
room, and was allowed to cook
for himself

He believes that he was returned
to good health and allowed to get
stronger because he would be
evaluated by physicians at his
next transfer site

_ 17
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Class.App. 146

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

¢ Custodial records for the time period in question (late 2002 thru 2006) were reviewed.
These records indicate that Mr. Nashiri experienced a number of enhanced interrogation
techniques while in US custody. His experiences included: walling, water boarding,
facial slaps, attention grabs, sleeping in various size boxes, sleep deprivation, hooding,
being stripped naked, beitig shackled to a floot, exposure to cold temperatutes in his cell,
ambient noise, and someone racking a gun and revying a power dtill near his person.

The following table summarizes Mr. Nashiri’s account of his treatment in US custody since
leaving the “black sites’ and being placed under US military jurisdiction in Guantanamo Bay,
Cuba.

Timeframe Location ‘What Occurred

2006-Present GTMO, Cuba » He reported that his treatment
has varied but he does not report
experiencing the harsh treatment
he experienced during his first

. five years in US cusrody

s He reported that his treatment
and mood improved after
approximately one to one-and-a
half years in due to a change in
the guard force.

= He reported that “some of the
guards are strong but most are
okay.”

s He reported that his “nerves”
tend to improve ot worsen
depending on his perceived
treatment and rule enforcement
by the guards.

17. PSYCHIATRIC HISTORY

»

a, Pre-Confinement P iatyic Histo

re-scf Rt eroe—
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Class.App. 147
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SUBIECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

b. Pre-Confinement Medical History

c. Pre-Confinement Abuse History

He reported that at age five he was struck by one of his school professors because he could not
remember the national anthem. He did not repori the incident to his family because his parents
“were weak” and “they didn’t want to cause trouble.” He reported that this was the only incident
of an abusive nature that he experienced prior to his arrest and subsequent detention on the
current charges.

18. SUMMARY OF PSYCHOLOGICAL, PSYCHIATRIC. AND MEDICAL STATUS
DURING U.S. CUSTODY LATE 2002 — LATE 2005
Note that the sources for the following review consisted of anonymous “summaries” written in

all-capital letters, without the usual formatting or specialized pages usually associated with
medical record-keeping, and without precise dates.

a. Review of Medical/Psvchological Notes and Interrogation Logs from 2003 SiSSaiiie

19
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Class.App. 148 .
SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

l_~ INUIL 10 RO Y LYY L uuﬂ'_l. NI R

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 149
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

¢. Review of Medical/Psychological Notes and Intervogation Logs from 2004 FS-SEH~
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Clags.App. 150

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhemmad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

19, SUMMARY OF PSYCHOLOGICAL, PSYCHIATRIC, AND MEDICAL STATUS
DURING U.S. CUSTODY FROM SEP 2006 — 2011

a. Review of Medical apd Psychiatric Records from 2006

Note: at this point, a pure medical record with psychiatric/psychological notes begins, very
different from the above note summaries from 2002-2006.

ol o neveves oo
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Class.App. 152
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

b. Review of Medical and Psychiatric Records from 2007

24
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Class.App. 163

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISNKE10015
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Class.App. 154

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

¢. Review of Medical and Psychiatric Records from 2008

d. Review of Medical and Psychiatric Records from 2009
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Class.App. 155

W

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

e. Review of Psychintric Regcords from 2010 [Secret]
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

f. Review of Medical and Psychiatri rds from 2011

28
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Class.App. 157

W

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

20. LABORATORY RESULTS

Z21. PSYCHIATRIC SYMPTOMS REPORTED DURING CURRENT EVALUATION

s roe—
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Class.App. 168
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

22. FAMILY PSYCHIATRIC HISTORY

30
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Class.App. 159

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

23. ISSUES WITH TRANSPORATION TO THE COURTHQUSE

24. COLLATERAL INTERVIEWS
TFP Psychiatrist
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Class App. 160

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

LTC Masucco

The Board interviewed LTC Masucco, the Staff Judge Advocate for GTMO. LTC Masucco

25. MENTAL STATUS EXAM

Mr. Nashiri stated that he is a 47-ygar old single, never married Arabic male of medium height
end build. He was dressed appropriately according to camp regulations, displayed hygiene
appropriate to his situation and setting, and generally maintained a relaxed posture which was
exhibited by his leaning back in his chair. Mr. Nashiri was polite, pleasant, and cooperative
throughout the interview. On multiple occasions duritrg €ach iterview he discussed hid
perceived mistreatment by the guards, ¢hanges in camy plificies, and his-fequest that the Board-
make the judge aware of his current mistreatment. He used story telling end gave examples that
were easily understandable to the Board members whenever he was attempting to make a point.
He was observed to ruise his voice or gesture with his hands especially when emphasizing a
point to the Board that was important to him such as his perceived mistreatment by the new

guard staff.

During the boards first encounter with Mr. Nashiri he initially reported his mood as “good,” but
later he clarified that his mood is “closer to sad then happy” due to his perceived treatment by the
current guard force. The accused indicated that his treatment by the new guard unit is his main
stressor. When Mr. Nashiri was asked to describe his first five years in US custody a noticeable
change in his demeanor was observed. Mr, Nashiri gave a nervous laugh, paused in his speech
for a few moments, and then began to rub his arms before describing his experiences.
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Class.App. 161

W

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

26. DIAGNOSTIC ASSESSMENT

Axis I Diagnosis: Major Clinical Syndromes

Mr. Nashiri currently meets criteria for Posttraumatic Stress Disordet IiTSD' and Ma'Ior

"33
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Class.App. 162
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015
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Class.App. 163

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015 '
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Class.App. 164
SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

36
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Class. App. 165

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rehim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

Agxis T1 Diagnosis: Personality Disorders and Intellectual Disability

Personality Disorder

According to the DSM-IV-TR, the essential feature of a Personality Disorder is ah enduring
pattern of inner experience and behavior that markedly deviates from the expectations of the
individual’s culture and is manifested in at least two of the following areas: cognition, affect,
interpersonal functioning, or impulse control. This enduring pattetn is inflexible and pervasive
across a broad range of personal and social situations and lead to clinically significant distress or
impairment. In addition, the pattern is stable and can be traced back to adolescence or early
adulthood.

37

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 166

"I'SESC_NOT YET REVIEWED BY OCA

SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10013

Axis III Diagnosis: Medical Conditions affecting Psychiatric Functioning

Axis I'V: Psychosocial Stressors

Axis IV is used for reporting psychosocial and environmental stressors that may affect the
diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis of mental disorders.

Axis V: Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)

38
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

The Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) is for reporting the clinician’s judgment of the
individual’s overall level of functioning and carrying out activities of daily living. This
information is useful in planning tr¢atment, measuring its impact, and in predicting outcome,
The GAF is a 100-point scal¢ that measures an individual’s overall level of psychological, social,
and occupational functioning on a hypothetical continuum of mental health and mental illness
and ranges from a low of | {persistent danger of hurting sclf or others) to a high of 100 (superior
functioning).

At present, Mr. Nashiri is assi

27. FORENISC OPINION (CURRENT PSYCHIATRIC DIAGNOSIS)

What is the clinical psychiatric diagnosis?

In our opinion, to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty, at the time of the evaluation,
Mr. Nashir qualified for the following diagnoses:

DSM-IV-TR DIAGNOSIS (Current):

AxisI: 30981 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)
296.32 Major Depressive Disorder, Recurrent, Moderate, Chronic
Axis II:  No diagnosis Narcissistic, Antisocial, and Histrionic personality features
Axis ITI: None
Axis IV: Problems related to interaction with the legal system/crime
Other psychosocial and environmental problems
AxisV: GAF =51-60 (Current)

28. FORENSIC OPINION (COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL)

The results of the Boards evaluation, alongside a comprehensive review of the full scope of
forensic evaluation tools, including clinical interview, collateral data, medical and psychiatric
records, and investigative materials, conclude that Mr. Nashin has no significant deficits in his
factual and rational understanding of the criminel proceedings for which he is charged and can
adequately and appropriately consult with his counsel in his defense.

39
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SUBIJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015 ’
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. Class.App. 169
SUBJECT: RMC 706 Senity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:
ISN#10015

29. LIMITS OF DATA INTERPRETATION

This report is based on a large amount of information obtained from multiple sources though not
exhaustive. We believe that all information contained herein is accurate and provides an
adequate basis to form both clinical and forensic opinions to a reasonable degree of
psychological and medical certainty. However, if any information is substantially inaccurate, we
would appreciate it if this were immediately called to our attention. In addition, should we leamn
of any additional new information which casts substantial doubt upon either our clinical or
forensic opinions, we will inmediately notify the offices of Trial Counsel and Defense Counsel,
and write an addendum to this report.

Questions regarding this case can be directed to LTC Johnson, at the Walter Reed Nationa!
Military Medical Center (WRNMMC) Center for Behavioral Sciences (CFBS),_
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SUBJECT: RMC 706 Sanity Board Evaluation of Abd Al Rahim Hussayn Muhammad Al Nashiri:

ISN#10015

David Ichnson, M.D.

LTC, MC, USA

Forensic Paychiatrist

Program Director,

NCC Forensic Psychiatry Fellowship

Psy.D.
MAJ, MSC, USA
Forensic Psychology Fellow
Walter Reed National Military Medical Center

sy.D.

MAJ, MSC, UdA
Forensic Psychologist
Behavioral Health Consultant, USAREC
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Handle Via HUMINT Conitrol
Systent Chatinels Only
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Class.App. 174

intended to mentally jolt him from
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Class.App. 177
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..J 7 address the use of props to imply a physical threat to a detainee, fior
did it spec:ﬁcally address the issue of whether or not Agency ofﬁ&ets
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hiri an standmg onh - i
cuts and bruises, When questioned, an interrogator who was at
acknowledged that they used a stiff brush to bathe

‘Al-Nashiri. He described the brush as the kind of brush one-tsés ina*
bath to remove stubborni dirt. A CTC manager who had heard of the

mcldent attn‘bubed the abrasions on Al-Nashiri's ankles to an Agency
: cer “stepping on Al-Nashiri’s shackles while’
reposmcnmg him into a stress position.

Waterboard Techmque

3 p

| The Revxew detem'med that the |

mten'ogators us ed the wai , )
a manner mconsistent with ihe appheaﬁon of fhe waterboard
and the description of the waiaerboard in the DoJ OLC opinian, in that
the technique was used on Khalid ShaykhMuhammadaIarge
number of times. According to the General Counsel, the Attorney
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Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06552087
Class.App. 181

SECRET/NOFORN
(b)(3) NatSecAct

pate: 200402 | (b)(3) CIAAct

TO: James L. Pavitt@DO (b)(6)—*-'*—-*1

FROM: Scott W. Muller

(b)(1)
CC: George J. Tenet@®DCI;John E. McLaughl in@DCI;John H. Moseman@DCI 5[ (b)(3) Cl AAct___l
[ _(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)®) .
SUBJECT: CIA Detainees at GITMO.
---------------------------------------- BODY ~====-===--ommc e meceeeeeocecemeennaon
—(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(5)

] In light of the Supreme Court's
acceptance of a case presenting the question of whether GITMO is US territory ,
we agked DOJ for its advice on whether the CIA detainees should remain at GITMO
or be moved out pending the Supreme Court decision. We also raised the issue
with NSC and White House Counsel. Pat Philbin (OLC) called this afternoon and
advised that, as agreed in an earlier conversation with white House counsel
and others, the Solicitor Genéral had been consulted. Philbin reported that
DOJ  (including specifically the Solicitor General) recommended that CIA move
the detainees (except al-Libi) out of GITMO at this time. r47

(b)(1)

(b)(3) CIAAct
{(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(5)

(b)(8)

SECREFANOFORN

Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06552087
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' Class.Ap 5)
Approved for Release: 016/06/10 C06552081

(F)( ) NatSecAct

From: John A. Rizzo
To: Michael V. Hayden, Stephen R. Kappes, Michael J. Morell

ce: (b)3) CIAActj
‘Bee: } (b)(6)

Subject: Fw: 8 November 2006 Meeting with ICRC Reps

Date: 11/9/2006 1:51:34 PM

(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(5)
(b)(6)

‘As described to us, albeit in summary form, what the

detainees allege actually does not sound that far removed from the
reality.

(b)(5)

iffnd the ICRC, for its part, seems to find their

stories largely credible, having put much stock in the fact that the story
each

detainee has told about his transfer, treatment and conditions of confinement

FOP-SEERET| (o)1)  NOFORN
(b)(3) NatSecAct

Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06552081
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. .Class.Apy. 183
Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06552081

(b)(3) NatSecAct

was basically consistent, even though they had been incommunicado with each
bther throughout their detention by us .

- Forwarded by John A. Rizzo/STF/AGENCY on 11/09/2006 01:20 PM ---—--
(b)) . . (b)(3) CIAAct
(b)3) NaiSecAc-Text-of [ ©)) ! |

ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT/ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED INFORMATION/DELIBERATIVE

i neR
'(b)(3) CIAAGE DOCUMENT
(P)E)Terc/ter [ (0)(3) CIAACt |
11/09/2006 12:25 PM _
To: John A. Rizzo/STF/AGENCYGWMA, | Sg;gz ClAAct
\ 4
’ - (b)(3) CIAAGt
' “(b)(6)
l (b)(3) CIAAct
_ S ' (b)(6)
ccC:
Subject: 8 November 2006 Meeting with ICRC Reps
(b)(5)
(b)(6)
ForseeriPil] INOFORN

“IT(p)(3) NatSecAct ]

Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06552081
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o | (b)(1) ) Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06541516
b)(3) NatSecAct
gy NaSecAt TR
' - (b)(3) CIAAct ) ,
' (b)(3) NatSecAct (b)(3) CIAACct
)

1 e . (b)(3) NatSecAct

Te:
cc: ]
"Subject: Re:

" This morning | informed the front office of CTC that | will no fonger be associated in any way with the
interrogation program due to serious reservation | have about the current state of affairs.  Instread, | will
be reuring shorﬂy This is a train wreak waltmg to happen and | intend to. get the hell off the train before it

happen
Onglnal Text of| (b)(1 ) :| . T o
Original Text of (b)(3) CIAAct '
(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(®) '

‘ .
(b)(3) CiAAct

(b)(3) NatSecAct
I
' . (b)(3) CIAACct
MEMORANDUM FOR [(b)(s) NatSecAct ]
FROM: . |(b)(6) ) ]
| OFFICE:
. ;.SUBJECT:
_Rg#ERéNCE: ;
(b)(1)
(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(5)
(b)(6)
CONPEDBNTEREAFEL

Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06541516
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S Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06541516 -
S T Class.App. 185 .

CONFEDENTIAN/ /RS

-

(b)(5)

(b)(1)
(b)(3) ClAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(6)

cc:‘ ’ {

Sent on 22 January 2003 at 10:19:22 AM

Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06541516
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Approved for Reléase: 2016/06/10 C06541511
Class.App. 186

(b)(3) ClAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

22 January 2003

(b)(1)
(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

" |(b)(6)

[(b)(3) CIAAftj '

SUBJECT: (b)(3) CIAACct- CONCERNS OVER REVISED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR NASHIRI

)' REFERENCE(b)(B)
Originator
SoXe) L |
S—E-eRET

STAFF

- TO: IMMEDIATE

Below is a cable that | drafted which | don’t expect to go

anywhere but | want it entered for the record.

( (b)(5)
(b)(6)

Future Reviewer(s)

Previous Reviewer{s) Cur
= o)1)
(b)(3) CIAACt
(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(6)
(b)(1)

(b)(3) NatSecAct

'y

(b)(1)
(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(6)

Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06541511
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Approved for Release: 2016/06/10 C06541511
Class.App. 187

)

. FROM: I (b)(1)

(b)(3) ClAAct

(b)(3) NatSecAct

SUBJECT: (E)??CERNS OVER REVISED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR NASHIRI

REF:  (b)(3) NatSecAct

TEXT:
1. ACTION REQUIRED: NONE, FYI.
2. APPRECIATE REF DETAILED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR NASKIRI,

HOWEVER, WE EAVE SERIOUS RESERVATIONS WITH THE CONTINUED USE OF

ENHANCED TECHNIQUES WITH NASHIRI (SUBJECT) AND ITS LONG TERM

IMPACT ON HIM. SUBJECT HAS BEEN HELD FOR TEREE MONTHS IN VERY
\ DIFFICULT CONDITIONS, BOTHE PEYSICALLY AND MENTALLY. IT IS THE
)' " ASSESSMENT OF PRIOR INTERROGATORS THAT NASHTRI HAS BEEN MAINLY

TRUTHFUL AND IS NOT WITHHOLDING SIGNIFICANT INFORMATION, TO
(b)(1) CONTINUE TO USE ENHANCED TECHNIQUE WITHOUT CLEAR INDICATIORS THAT
Eg;gg ﬁzé:::Act WITHHOLDING IMPORTANT INFO IS EXCESSIVE AND MAY CAUSE HIM TO
(b)(6) CEASE COOPERATION ON ANY LEVEL. SUBJECT MAY COME TO THE
CONCLUSION THAT WHETHER HE COOPERATES OR NOT, HE WILL CONTINUALLY
BE SUBJECTED TO ENHANCED TECHNIQUES, THRREFORE, WHAT 18 THE
Mg; NatSecAG{CENTIVE FOR CONTINUED COOPERATION. ALSO, BOTH C/CTC/RG AND HVT
INTERROGATOR [  |WHO DEPARTED |tN[ pANUARY, BELIEVE
CONTINUED ENEANCED METHODS MAY PUSH SUBJECT OVER THE EDGE
(b)(3) NatSecActyCHOLOGICALLY .

3. ANOTHER AREA OF CONCERN IS THE USE OF THE PSYCHOLOGIST

AS AN INTERROGATOR. THE ROLE OF THE OPS PSYCHOLOGIST IS TO BE A
DETACHED OBSERVER AND SERVE AS A CHECK ON THE INTERROGATOR TO '
PREVENT THE INTERROGATOR FROM ANY UNINTENTIONAL EXCESS OF
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3 ' PRESSURE WHICH MIGHT CAUSE PRRMANENT PSYCHOLOGICAL HARM TO THE

| ~ SUBJECT. THE MEDICAL OFFICER IS ON HAND TO PROVIDE THE SAME
%g;g; ClAAct PROTECTION FROM PHYSICAL ACTIONS THAT MIGHT HARM THE SUBJECT.
(b)(3) NatSeCACIHEREFORE, TEE MEDICAL OFFICER AND THE PSYCHOLOGIST SHOULD NOT
(b)6) SERVE AS AN INTERROGATOR, WHICH IS A CONFLICT OF RESPONSIBILITY.
WE NOTE THAT REF CONTAINS A PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERROGATION
assessxext gy [(P)3) CAAN™ 1 povemoroczsr [ | wmrcm 18 10 BE
CARRIED OUT BY INTERROGATOR| | WE HAVE A PROBLEM WITH HIK
CONDUCTING BOTH ROLES SIMULTANEOUSLY.

(b)(1

)
b)(3) CIAAct
Eb;é% NatSecAct : (b)(5)
(b)(6) :
: (b)(1)
\). (b)(3) CIAACt
(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(6)

CC:
Sent on 22 January 2003 at 11:25:11 AM

SEEREFME
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in camera ex parte submissions with de minimis noéice to the
other side. We continue to ask you to interpret Rule 703 in
that way, the Commission statute 703.

If you say, you know, we agree with the defense,
the Commission agrees with the defense, the Commission
interprets Rule 703 to provide for this, that becomes the law
of this case. And‘I do not believe, as I understand the
process, the Convening Authority in this case any more than
the Convening Authority at Fort Lewis or on a battleship or
wherever the Convening Authority may be has the authority to
say to a federal judge -- to a commission judge, a military
judge, I'm sorry, I'm nof going to follow your rule, your
ruling. I don't believe the Convening Authority has that
authority. And frankly, I don't believe the Convening
Authority would take that position. I think the Convening
Authority has' the responsibility to follow the decisions and
the interpretations of the statute by a military judge. And I
have trouble envisioning the Convening Authority saying, "I
don't care what your interpretation of the law is, I'm not
going to follow it."

Now, there 1is another part of this, Your Honor,
which I think is really important. As I understand the

process, let's say we go to the Convening Authority and we
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submit and we want witness X —----

MJ [COL POHL]: Just to be clear, we are talking about
assistance here ---- 7

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Yes.

MJ [COL POHL]: ---- not witnesses.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: We want ----

MJ [COL POHL]: A major distinction talking about expert

assistance.
LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: We want to employ consultant X to

help us in this regard.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay.
LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: And the Convening Aﬁthority says no.
MJ [COL POHL]: Okay.
LDC [MR. KAMMEN] : We have the authority to come to you

énd ask you to revisit that and if you say, you know, I'm
going to side with the defense, I order -- I authorize the
defense to employ consultan£ X, to employ expert witness X,
and I order the Convening Authority to pay for it, the
Convening Authority has no authority not to pay for it. So at
the end of the day, you control the courtroom, not the
Convening Authority.

MJ [COL‘POHL]: We can discuss -- thank you. We can

discuss how orders are enforced in an Article I court, because
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it is my view I don't order him to pay anything. I would
order him to produce or abate the proceedings. That is my
implementing system.

Let me go back to a bas;c question which I should
have asked last time. What do you mean by "de minimis
notice"? Perhaps we may be arguing about something that
really doesn't matter.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: What we envision and what I think
the Government envisions is that if we sent in a request to
the Convening Authority that we would like to eﬁploy witness
X, we would -- following the federal court and the state‘court
model, we would send a notice to the Government saying on
such;and—such a date the defense has requested the opportunity
to employ a witness or filed an ex parte request with the
Convening Authority. It would not identify the witness, would
not identify the subject matter, it wouid simply tell them
that we had had ex barte communications -- submitteq an
ex parte request to the Convening Authority.

’MJ [COL POHL]: Okay. If you were to -- and I'm just
going to pick an example out of the air, I don't know if it
applies to this case.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Sure.

MJ [COL POHL]: If you were -- if the rule was
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MJ [COL POHL]: So let me go through the 505 procedure
and then we say the initial thing is whether or not, again
app]yjhg the standard, but they say -- defense says we want to
discuss this with our accused to prepare for his defense, is
that part of the 505 procedure also? | |

ATC [MR. SHER]: It is not.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay. So the first time the accused
would hear this evidence would be in court during the case in
chief? 1Is that the government's position?

'ATC [MR. SHER]: Well, it is with the exception of,
again, I mean, stuff that he knows he can talk about with
them.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay.

ATC [MR. SHER]:' Which really narrows the subset of ----

MJ [COL POHL]: I got your position. Let me ask you
about the second part though, because you carefully used the
word "case in chief." How about presentencing, does the
government intend to use any classified information in
presentencing that S

ATC [MR. SHER]: No, the government is not going to rely
on classified information.

MJ [COL POHL]: So when you said your case in chief,

you're saying -- I understand, Mr. Sher, you're going to be
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held to this. You're saying the government does not intend to
use any classified information in its case in chief or in its
presentencing presentation?

ATC [MR. SHER]: That's correct.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay.

ATC [MR. SHER]: May I have one second, sir?

MJ [COL POHL]: Sure.

ATC [MR. SHER]: The reality is, Your Honor, there's a
very small set of -- a small subset of information that may
not be shared with the accused. Again, he can access all of
the discovery that's not classified, and only 14 pefcent'of
what's produced is classified. And the accused can ta1k,
again, with his attorneys about whatever information he knows.

That narrow limitation on the accused's fight to
learn classified information from his attorneys does not deny
him right to counsel. The Fourth Circuit found that in
Moussaoui, which was a capital case. They found it in
Abu Ali. ‘Second Circuit came to the same conclusion in
Embassy Bombings, and, again Marzook is another instance,
pretrial hearings, suppression hearing where the government
produced documentary and testimonial evidehce outside the
presence of the accused.

The defense hasn't cited to any case where any
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court has sanctioned the government by dismissing the capital
referral because an uncleared accused can't access classified
information. The only case they cited today was the

Gardner v. Florida case. A jury sentenced an accused to life,
the trial judge increased that punishment tp death on his own
based on information never shared with the accused, never
shared with his Tawyers. They had zero opportunity to explain
or work through that issue. That is not the case here. The
accused has at least five cleared defense counsel that are
representing his interests and that can access the classified
1nf6rmation.

In Abu Ali, which is a Fourth Circuit case I think
in 2008, the court didn't allow the accused or his uncleared
counsel to attend hearings involving classified information,
they didn't allow his -- the -accused or his unclieared counsel,
which were his Tead counsel, to review classified information
or to cross-examine government witnesses that were're1ating

classified information, relating to classified information.

-Rather, the accused had to have his cleared defense counsel do

SO,
Your Honor, the statute's clear, the accused may
not access classified information pretrial. He is in no

different a position than a criminal defendant tried in
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Article III courts or courts-martial, and the commission
should deny the defense motion. Thank you.

MJ [COL POHL]: Thank you.

Mr. Kammen.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: In Abu Ali there was a cleared
defense counsel who had access to classified information, same
as here, but the accused and the uncleared Tawyers had access -
to unclassified summaries, completely different than what
exists here. There are no unclassified summaries. There is
no bridge.

In Moussaoui, there was a procedure under which
Moussaoui had access to unclassified summaries of material.
And I think it's important because Moussaoui ended up
ultimately pleading guilty to the underlying charge, and it
was simply a sentencing case. The court really didn't reach
the issue of whether or not even that was appropriate in a
capital case. And Moqssaoui is, I believe, the only capital
case where this has been an issue.

In the other case that the prosecutor cited, as I
recall, there were four documents that maybe were a total of a
couple hundred words that were withheld from the accused, not
14 percent of the evidence. It doesn't say -- the

Sixth Amendment doesn't say the accused has a right to
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call him, a warden, am I supposed to fire him?

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Absolutely not. But you can't look
at things in a vacuum. And so if the doctors say I'm not
doing this or I'm not doing that or this or that and it's
because of the atmosphere in which they operate, that's
something the record should reflect.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Because ultimately it is the warden's
responsibility to run the prison, to run the jail.

MJ [COL POHL]: But is this -- it sounds to me -- I read
your pleading.and I understand your connection to this case. -
The government apparently doesn't, but I do.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Okay.

MJ [COL POHL]: But a iot of this sounds 1ike conditions
of confinement to me, what you're talking about.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Well, it's -- it's conditions of
confinement, it's medical care.

MJ [COL POHL]: That's a condition of confinement.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Okay. A1l right.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay. So my piece is generally not
conditions of confinement unless there's a nexus to the
commission. Conditions of confinement on a general basis may

be appropriate in some forum habeas, whatever, I'm not going
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to get into that. So that's where we're at.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Well, actually I think -- and I
appreciate you mentioning this, because under the new case of
Aamer v. Obama, I think it's now clear that you can get into
that. Because that ----

MJ [COL POHL]: Well, they can get into it. They ----

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: I don‘t think you're in é different
position than a habeas judge, anybody who's supervising an
inmate who's in Guantanamo who's receiving arguably inadequate
medical care. Aamer stands for the proposition that the judge
presiding over his case has the authority to look at that
medical care.

MJ [COL POHL]: Okay. We don't particularly need to get
into that discussion too much because there's habeas relief
that I'm not sure is within the purview of myself, but that's
not the issue before me, so let's not get to that.

Back to -- you said Colonel Bogdan is necessary
because he's the warden and these other doctors are necessary
to say what they're ---- V

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Because here's the -- as ydu said, as
you point out, they're going to have to ?xplain what'fhey are
or are not doing. You know, the government says, well, they

want to -- as you said to the government, well, if you want to
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bring in the1r own -- I mean, you know, the person who Kknows
more about what the records mean are the person -- or the.
people whb created the records.

MJ [COL POHL]: Yeah, but this is your motion, your
burden, and yod want to bring in Dr. Crosby as a -- probative
of stuff, and now you want to bring these other people in to
say that the other medical people -- to explain how they're
deficient.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Right. It is our motion, it is our
burden, and we should have the opportunity to preéent our
motion and our burden the way we thinklis appropriate.

MJ [{COL POHL]: Well, Within appropriate limitations,
you're correct.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: Sure. And, you know, the way it
would work at a minimum certainly in -- you know, establish
the nature of, the overarching nature of how the place is run
and how medical care is provided. We would call the doctors,
you know, what's your training? What's your knowledge about
PTSD? Did -- were you aware of this diagnosis? Upon learning
of this diagnosis what, if anything, did you change? What did
you do? Did you meet with Dr. Crosby? Yes, no, why, why not?
And, of course, with Dr. Crosby, her opinion is that the

medical care here is wholly inadequate for people who suffer
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\

that? .

MJ [COL POHL]: Lieutenant, what does that got to do with
her current qualifications?

ATC [LT DAVIS]: Your Honor, the defense has offered her
as an expert in this field, and it's quite an undefined field.
So by describing the process by which somebody might gain
certification, I'm trying to get a sense of.

MJ [COL POHL]: Someone might gain this hypothetical
certification that currently doesn't exist. That's what we're
talking about?

ATC [LT DAVIS]: Apparently it's in the works, Your Honor,

.and I think it lays out kind of what exactly this field is, or

maybe it doesn't. But from the government's position, this is
an amorphous field fhat we're trying to get some -- some
specifics on. A

MJ [COL POHL]: 1I'11 give you some 1eewéy, but we're
talking about her qualifications. Okay? We're not talking
about qualifications of other potential students in the
future. 1It's her qualifications to give an expert opinion on
what it's being offered as.
" ATC [LT DAVIS]: VYes, sir.

MJ [COL POHL}: Okay. Go ahead.
Questions by the Assistant Trial Counsel [LT DAVIS]:
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Q. So, ma'am, I'11 repeat the question. When we're
talking about this potential certificate program, what would
go into somebody being able to obtain a certificate 1ike that?

A. Al11 right. Well, it depends -- this could be a long
conversation, so ----

MJ [COL POHL]: Could you give the short, Reader's Digest
version?

WIT: I will try to do that.

A. Certainly there are programs that teach
documentation of torture and i11 treatment, both physical and
psychological, based on the istanbu] Protocol. I ha?e been
involved in those programs. There are a group of experts in
the United States who are recognized nationally and
internationally as experts in the documentation of torture and
i1l treatment. I'm one of those experts.

I'm not sure the other part of your question is
actually relevant, but I'11 answer it. My aim is to actually
create -- to create a subspecialty in medical forensics and
documentation of torture. That's something that's probably
ten years down the road. But I'm not sure how it's relevant
here today.

ATC [LT DAVIS]: Can I have a moment, Your Honor?

Your Honor, the government has no more questions,
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A. Any -- any -- all of his time anywhere.

Q. Does the failure to take that history, does that
fall below a minimum standard of care?

A. In my opinion, yes.

Q. How does th_1‘s shortfall, this inadequacy affect

Mr. Nashiri even today?

A. I can give what my current diagnoses are, right?

Q. Yes, you can.

A. Mr. Nashiri suffers from post-traumatic stress
disorder that has not been addressed -- or it hasn't been

diagnosed except for a brief period, or treated. He suffers
from chronic pain. He suffers from anal-rectal complaints,
and all of these are documented in the unclassified records.
Multiple other physical complaints, headaches, chest pain,
joint pain, stomach pain. These are all symptoms that are
highly prevalent in people who have suffered torture and to
have chronic PTSD. These are all kind of red flags.

And the fact that the medical record documents that
Mr. Nashiri has had to some extent workups for these
complaints that are appropriate, but nobody's put together the
picture. It's like the elephant in the room. I believe
there's a huge psychosomatic component to a lot of his current

physical suffering and psycho'1og1'ca1 suffering that is related
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to his torture that was never diagnosed.

Q. Do you know whether that diagnosis was -- that
failure to diagnose was a deliberate choice'or a negligent
choice? Can you make ----

ATC [LT.DAVIS]: Objection, calls for speculation.

MJ [COL POHL]: Sustained.

ADDC [MAJ HURLEY]: She is an expert that can make --
apply her expertise to a diagnosis and say I find this to be a
deliberate cause or merely a negligent cause or, Major Hurley,
I don't know the answer to that question. I mean, she is,
after all, an ekpert that's reviewing a medical record, sir.

MJ [COL POHL]: That's beyond the scope of her expertise.
Objection sustained. Next question.

Questions by the Assistant Detailed Defense Counsel
[MAJ HURLEY]:

Q. Let's talk about that PTSD example that you
discussed. And this goes to the inadequacy of the patient
history from Mr. Nashiri, right? The diagnosis of PTSD in

March of 2013 is what I'm talking about.

A Okay.

Q. | And ----

A What's your question?

Q My question is, have you reviewed records that
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happens frequently?
WIT: My understanding is nine months, yes. That ----
MJ [COL POHL]: Okay.
WIT: That's frequent because of continuity of care
reasons.
MJ [COL POHL]: Okay. Got it.
Questions by the Assistant Detailed Defense Counsel
[MAJ HURLEY]:
Q. Does this staff turnover rate make continuity of

care here on Guantanamo Bay difficult?

A. In my opinion, it does, and you know, one of -- just

one of the basic tenets of caring for traumatized patients,
people with PTSD, is having an established, ongoing
therapeutic trusting relationship, and changing so often, I
is disruptive to care, and can certainly be adverse to the
patient. |

Q. In your examination or your evaluation of

Mr. Nashiri and your evaluation of a11’of the other documents,

does this continuity of care, does it still affect him today?

A. I would have to reveal classified information to
answer that question.
Q. Thanks.

. MJ [COL POHL]: Don't answer it. Next.
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Q. Now, let me just ask you this question straight
away, Dr. Crosby: Do you have.any idea how Guantanamo Bay
doctors are trained?

A. No, sir, I donot. I -- I assume they graduate from
medical school and residency like the rest of us. I don't
know what specific training they might have before deployment

to Guantanamo Bay.

Q. You've worked with military doctors before?

A. Yes, sir, I have.

Q. And on specific cases and in close capacities?

A. Yes.

Q. But you're not aware -- so that you understand that

they are given not only their initial training asldoctors but
also continuing education in whatever field?

A. Correct, like all of us.

Q. Right. Like all clinicians and caregivers. But-you
have no idea how they're trained with respect to their
deployments here to Guantanamo Bay?

A. I do not know what the specific curriculum is for
training for doctors coming here specifica]]y, no. I
have ----

Q. Based on your review of the record, does that

curriculum include taking an adequate trauma history?
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Q. ---- was there anything more that you wanted to
discuss regarding the physical examination?

A. Yes. I'd 1ike to finish the physical exam.
Mr. al Nashiri also had a number of scars on his wrists, his
legs, his aﬁk1es, that -- I can't tell you what the
allegations were for either the musculoskeletal pain in the
shoulders and the back or the scars, but I can say that they

are consistent with the allegations and the history that he

gave me.
Q. Thanks, Doctor.

Doctor, now let's -- what I want to do is direct

your attention -- just hold on just one second. I need to

organize my notes again. Thank you, ma'am, for bearing with
me.

Let's tatk about the -- again, the medical records.
Did you find any, in your review of the medical records, red
flags or items that would be consistent with your evaluation

and your diagnosis of Mr. Nashiri?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. What -- can you briefly 1list some of those red
flags?

A. I can. And let me explain this. Survivors of

torture and trauma often don't come forward and offer a

UNOFFICIAL/UNAUTHENTICATED TRANSCRIPT
3828

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



@ N O O A WN -

11

12
43
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 233

UNOFFICIAL/UNAUTHENTICATED TRANSCRIPT

history of what has happened to them. They will often exhibit
psychological distress through physical symptoms, and that's
called somatization. That's very common. I see it every day.

MJ [COL POHL]: Doctor, can you do the court reporter a
favor and spell somatization.

WIT: S-0-M-A-T-I-Z-A-T-I-0-N.

MJ [COL POHL]: Thank you. Go ahead.

A. So I -- we'll go through all of the red flags. So
the first wave of red flags I saw were multiple complaints of
somatic illness, joint pains} back pain, éhou]der pain,

headaché, chest pain, knee pain. These are all very common.

And when I reviewed the doctor's examination, the -- of course
I did not examine Mr. al Nashiri during this time -- the
physical findings -- the distress, the level of pain seemed

out of proportion to the physical findings, and this is also
very common in survivors of torture and trauma.

When people come to the office and they have
multiple complaints but not a 1ot of physical findihgs, I am
very concerned that there is a somatic component and there
might be trauma happening in the background. Those are red
flags.

Other red flags in Mr. al Nashiri are his persistent

and chronic anal-rectal complaints, difficulty defecating,
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bleeding, hemorrhoids, pain with sitting for prolonged periods
of time. This is very common in survivors of sexual assault.
And I did review physical exam findings by multiple doctors at
GTMO which documented different things at different times --
they may have looked different to different people --
including scarring, periana] keloid scarring, hemorrhoids,
skin tags, and a fissure. So those were all diagnoses that I
saw when.Mr. al Nashiri was being evaluated for these
anal-rectal complaints.

Q. Doctor, let me stop you there. I want to -- I know
we have talked about two things, the first set of red flags
and the second set. So if I could direct your attention back
to the first set of red flags.

As you saw those red flags come up in the medical
records, the corresponding histories that you would see -- or
the records that you would see written out by what apparently
are doctors, did they fully develop what may have been the
causes of these red flags or problems?

A. There was no trauma history taken in any of the
records that I read. And the -- in the records that I read,
the physicians pursued the ailments and the complaints, I
mean, I think to -- as best as they could, but without --

without uncovering the underlying cause. They treated the
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symptoms without -- without treating the cause.
Q. And that same problem, treating the symptoms without
treating the cause, did that come up with the second red flag,

which was the anal-rectal problems that Mr. Nashiri suffers

from?
A. In my opinion, yes.
Q. Was there an adequate history taken on this

particular problem?

A. I did not see any history taken of a sexué] assault.

Q. Continuing on with the red flags, Dr. Crosby, did
you see any others in your review of the medical records?

A. I did see multiple behavioral psychological symptoms
that Mr. al Nashiri exhibited that would alert me to the '
possibility of post-traumatic stress disorder, and I can 1list
some of those.

Q. Please.

A. I don't have my notes in front of me. Severe sleep
disregulation; sleep disturbance; irritability, anger
outbursts; sadness; decreased concentration, energy; avoidance
behavior. Avoidance behavior is one of the clusters of |
symptomsvwe see in post-traumatic stress disorder, and there
was evidence in the record that is unclassified that he

avoided coming to appointments because of ear coverings and
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because some of the things that we've héd to come to you about
relate back to this. And when they have been addressed, and
there have been times either -- I think that you have
addressed it, or they've been addressed through the
bureaucracy, things have 1mproVed.

I don't know quite what's classified, so there's one
example ----

MJ [COL POHL]: Then ----

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]}: ~---- that really comes to mind, and had
that not been improved, I'm not sure we would have a client
sitting in court. I think he wdu]d just have opted out.

MJ [COL POHL]}: Yeah, I think I know what you are
referring to. I'm not sure it's classified.

LDC [MR. KAMMEN]: And that is referred.to in some of this
stuff.

So all of this really intertwines in ways that
absolutely are unique, but we have an absolutely unidue
situation. It's not 1ike Nashiri just walked in to
Guantanamo. It's not like we don't know and it's not public
that he was in CIA custody for four years.

The government, the CIA, acknowledges that he was
waterboarded. They acknowledge that he was subjected to a

mock execution. They acknowledge some other things, and
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to AQ operative Walid bin Artash. Sadly, bin Attash wasn’
connected to it at the time. Some of our people discovered thar
bin Arrash had frequented online dating websites and described
himself as someone who “Loves to travel—sometimes at a
moments notice.” It took us six meore months, but finally we
caprured him in Karachi in April 2003 and put a serious dent
in his social life.

AZ’s debriefing led directly to the arrest and detention of
a number of other al-Qa’ida supporters, some of whom ended
up residing with him at our black site. One particularly dis-
reputable example was Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, who was cap-
tured 10 the fall of 2002. Al-Nashiri was the self-proclaimed
“mastermind” of the bombing of the USS Cole on Ocrober 12,
- 2000, while the ship was ar anchor in Aden, killing seventeen

U.S. Navy sailors and very nearly sinking che $250 million
warship. ‘

“Masrermind” was not an apt description of al-Nashiri. One
ot our inrerrogators described him to me as “the dumbest ter-
rorist 1 have ever met.” He was also one of the vilest. It is im-
- possible to describe this gently, bur al-Nashiri was a nose picker

who delighted in plastering che wall of his cell with whatever
he could excavate from his nostrils. He also enjoyed throwing
food around his cell and refused to clean up his mess. |

Abu Zubavdah suggested a way of dealing with al-Nashiri’s
disgusting habits. “Drag me into his cell,” he said, “and chrow
me onto the Aoor. Don't be gentle about it. Order me to clean
up my brother’s mess. He will be ashamed and change his
“habits.” '-

The scenario played out just as he had scripred it. Al-Nashiri
was quick to pull AZ away from his cleanup chores and to
promise that he would not put him in thar position again.

We learned a lotr from Abu Zubavdah. and not just the in-
relligence we collected. He also essentially gave us the playbook

83
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crets doesn’t, then Allah will know and be will punish him. You

ust only use as much as Allah would expect to help the brother and

more. If you use more than you need to, Allah will know and he
ill punish you.”

AT THE START of the first enhanced interrogation al-Nashiri was
given the opportunity to answer the bridging question before any
P EITs were used. He refused. He. also refused to answer any ques-
ns generated by the intelligence requirements. He would not talk
ot attacks he was planning against American interests inside or
outside the United Sfates, but he did say he would talk about the Cole
attack. He seemed proud of and almost bragged about the number
‘of Ameticans he had killed. But we weren’t there for a confession.
When it became clear that he had no intention of cooperating, we
began to use the EITs.

At some point, following the headquarters-approved plan, al-
Nashiri was waterboarded. But not without difficulty. He was a re-
ally small guy. Security personnel had trouble securely strapping him
to the large hospital gurney that the medical personnel wanted us to

at as

ound use as a waterboard at the time. When the guards stood the gurney

ng as up on end so that he could clear his sinuses, al-Nashiri would slide
. own, and his arms and hands would almost slip out from under the

—— d dh d hand 1d almost slip out fi der th

' ' wide Velcro bands designed to hold him in place. We were concerned

[Abu? at he would fall off the gurney and get hurt. We were all feeling
comfortable, but Bruce was the first to state it aloud.
. The The interrogation team discontinued waterboarding al-Nashiri

Sle of
Other

after three sessions. Problems strapping him to the gurney were not
the deciding factor. There was another, more compelling reason we
stopped without trying to find an alternative method of securing al-
Nashiri to the gurney. '
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Al-Nashiri said the October 2002 attack on the French oil su-
pertanker Limburg off the coast of Yemen was a remnant of that
larger operation.

Al-Nashiri said that bin Ladin provided a lot of hands-on guid-
ance. For example, he had given al-Nashiri exact specifications for
the cargo ship he tasked him to purchase. Al-Nashiri said bin Ladin
would work out the details of the terror attacks and then trust al-
Nashiri to carry them out. Al-Nashiri said he wasn’t so good at com-
ing up with ideas and that made it hard for him after bin Ladin
went underground. My impression of al-Nashiri was that he was very
concrete in his thinking and had trouble adapting to unanticipated
events when left without supervision and guidance from bin Ladin.

Al-Nashiri was captured in the UAE. He was living with a
Chechen “escort” as a girlfriend and driving a new high-end BMW
paid for with Allah’s money: donations intended for jihad. I asked
him about this because his big-spender lifestyle was so different from
the simple lifestyles usually adopted by Islamic jihadists. He said that
was the point. His spending and running around with an escort was
intended to hide his al-Qa’ida affiliation. He said he even put on a
Speedo swimsuit and freqﬁented a large water park as part of his
disguise. _ '

“Really?” 1 said. “You spent Allah’s money to play on a SlipN
Slide?” '

He said, “Maybe I was casing the park for an operation.”

I said, “Not really.”

“No,” he admitted. “I like water parks.”

You can see that he was somewhat engaging. We thought that
with patience and a knowledgeable debriefer, al-Nashiri could be
nudged without physical coercion into providing fuller and more
complete answers.

But we didn’t get a chance to see if our impression was accurate.
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create an opening for the use of noncoercive social influence tech-
niques and were using that opening to shape gradually how fully and
completely al-Nashiri answered questions.

Headquarters was still on the fence about whether enhanced
measures should be restarted with al-Nashiri. The reason was that
his answers were often so vague, it was clear he was holding back.

For example, although al-Nashiri would talk about his plans to
attack the Diplomatic Quarter in Riyadh, he insisted he could not
provide specifics. He insisted that he couldn’t remember the location
of the safe house where he stayed in Riyadh, not even the neighbor-
hood, although he had been there for weeks. He also insisted that
he could not recall which mosque he attended for Friday prayers,
although he said several times that he went to the same mosque with
the same people. Al-Nashiri maintained that none of this informa-
tion was relevant. He said that because his men knew he had been
captured, they would change safe houses and delay attacks in Riyadh.
Al-Nashiri claimed that his men would determine the timetable for
attacks and the specific targets on the basis of the way things un-
folded on the ground in Riyadh and that he had no way of knowing
those things. For these reasons, the analysts and targeters thought,
as did we, that al-Nashiri was still withholding actionable informa-
tion that could be used to disrupt attacks or capture his men. Some
at headquarters thought that if he didn’t quickly become more forth-
coming, we should restart enhanced interrogations.

I had all this in the back of my mind while the chief interroga-
tor and I were debating the wisdom of restarting enhanced inter-
rogations on both detainees. I told him I could see an argument for
restarting EITs on al-Nashiri but thought we had been making some
progress at the last black site without them.

At some point, the chief interrogator became exasperated with
 me. He said that he was the CIA officer in charge of interrogations
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- and [ was “a fucking contractor with no real say in what happened at

 this black site or anywhere else in the world as far as CIA activities

were concerned.”

“Understood,” I said. “I have been told that many times. Even
signed documents acknowledging that.”

I then reiterated that I felt compelled to be clear with him that

- I thought that it would be a mistake to restart enhanced interroga-
“tions on Abu Zubaydah and that if he did and Abu Zubaydah sub-

sequently shut down, I would report my objections to headquarters,
specifically to the chief of the CTC, Jose Rodriguez.

“It won’t matter,” he said. “No one at headquarters cares about
your opinion.”

“Then why am I here?” I asked.

Shortly after that encounter, I watched the chief interrogator’s

first interrogation of al-Nashiri. Before it started, the chief inter-

rogator introduced me to three men. All were newly minted inter-
rogators who had just graduated from the CIA first interrogation
course. Until then I wasn’t even aware there had been an interroga-
tion course. He said he had handpicked all of them and had taught
portions of the course himself. They were at the black site, he said, to
obtain “practical experience” using enhanced interrogation methods
on al-Nashiri and Abu Zubaydah.

“What if EITs aren’t needed?” I asked.

“Oh, we’re going to need them,” he assured me.

The chief interrogator told me I wasn’t allowed in the interroga-
tion room, and so I watched this first interrogation through a small

- glass window in the door.

In the room where interrogations were to be held, a cheap white

plastic table had been set up like a desk facing the center of the room.
- Three flimsy lawn chairs were positioned behind it. The chief inter-

rogator and two of his recent graduates were sitting in the chairs,
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with the chief in the middle and the other two flanking him. A
fourth interrogator moved around the room, ready to pitch in when
the chief interrogator gave directions. There was no chair for the
detainee. ,

Al-Nashiri, hooded and shackled, was brought into the room by
one of the guards and positioned, standing like an errant schoolboy,
across the table from the chief interrogator. The chief interrogator
leaned over the table, removed al-Nashiri’s hood, and introduced
himself as “the man in charge.” He instructed al-Nashiri to always
address him as “sir.” He then asked al-Nashiri if he understood. Al-
Nashiri nodded, said “Yes,” and shrugged, separating his hands,
palms out, as far as his shackles allowed, but didn’t speak further.
That was typical of the way al-Nashiri sometimes responded to
questions. B

The chief interrogator screamed that al-Nashiri needed to an-
swer when he was spoken to and say “sir” when addressing the chief
interrogator. When al-Nashiri didn’t respond immediately, the chief
interrogator suddenly threw the table aside and grabbed al-Nashiri
in an attention grasp. When he released him, two of the other inter-
rogators put al-Nashiri in a stress position. They made him put his
forehead agains‘t the wall and walk his feet back so that he was lean-
ing at a forward angle, back straight and forehead against the wall
in front of him. When his neck and shoulders looked like they were
beginning to tire and he started to wobble, two of the interrogators
held his arms out to his sides and leaned into him, pressing his fore-
head against the wall. Once he started to squeal, the interrogators
pulled him away from the wall, forced him to his knees, and bent
him over backward until his upper back and shoulders were touch-
ing the floor behind him, all the while screaming at him to answer
the questions and address them as “sir” When it became apparent

that al-Nashiri was limber enough to sit easily in a kneeling position
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with his back on the floor, the interrogators put a broomstick behind
his knees. This time when they pushed him backward, al-Nashiri
started to scream. '

I was shocked, but not by their general approach: I recognized
that. I surmised that much like many old-school military training
instructors might, they were trying to condition compliance by fo-
" cusing on absolute obedience to small demands. I had never asked
al-Nashiri to address me as “sir.” But it was a conditioning approach
that sometimes was used to establish dominance right away. You see
it used a lot, often poorly, in military and paramilitary settings.

It was the specific physically coercive techniques they were using
that distressed and concerned me. I did not believe those techniques
had been approved by the Justice Department. I was also concerned
that the way the techniques were being applied placed undue strain
on al-Nashiri’s knees, back, and neck muscles. I was expecting medi-
cal personnel on-site to stop the interrogation. But that didn’t happen.

I was sorting through my recollection of how the original au-
thorization concerning stress positions had been worded to figure
out if it was possible that these techniQucs were covered by it, when
the chief interrogator stood al-Nashiri up and cinched his elbows
together behind his back with a leather strap until they touched.
Then the chief interrogator and one of the newly minted interroga-
tors started lifting al-Nashiri’s arms behind him, toward the ceiling.
Al-Nashiri bent over and screamed.

I knew this had not been approved. I had seen less intense ver-
sions of the first two stress positions before—minus the broomstick
behind the knees—during SERE training. I had even experienced
them. Maybe I was wrong and more SERE techniques had been ap-
proved that I didn’t know about, but the last technique and the use
of a broomstick, no way. |

The higher the chief interrogator lifted al-Nashiri’s arms, the
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more al-Nashiri squealed and struggled. 1 became fearful that he
would dislocate al-Nashiri’s shoulders, and so I stuck my head into
the room to stop the interrogation. It was headquarters policy that
anyone could immediately stop interrogations at any time for any
reason. Because of that policy, I fully expected them to stop. That is
what we would have done at the black site I had just left.

“Get out!” the chief interrogator shouted at me. He sent the guard
over to escort me out of the room.

“The things the interrogators are doing have not been approved
by the Justice Department, and they should stop,” I whispered to the
guard when he was close enough to hear me. “I think they are going
to dislocate al-Nashiri’s shoulders. Headquarters policy is to stop in-
terrogations when someone raises a concern about safety.”

Thad no idea what the guard thought. He was completely clothed
in black, with his eyes hidden by mirrored goggles. I saw a tiny ver-
sion of myself, angry and pointing at the chief interrogator, reflected
back at me in the lenses. The guard nodded, walked to where the
chief interrogator was standing glaring at me, and whispered some-
thing in his ear.

I mouthed “What?” and gestured, opening my hands, palms up.
The chief interrogator pointed to the door, hissed for me to get out,
and instructed the guard to escort me completely out of the inter-
rogation room, -

The interrogation was being observed by medical personnel and
several others on closed circuit TV. I was surprised medical person-
nel had not intervened and said so. I expressed my concerns to them
and the guards. I got a “so what can you do?” look from the medic.
The guards said they were worried, but their hands were tied because
they had been told the chief interrogator called all the shots. No
one made any move to stop what was happening. It was clear that
everyone there except me thought that what the chief interrogator
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was doing was authorized, believed they did not have the authority

to stop him, or simply didn’t want him angry with them.
In spite of my protests, during the remainder of that interrogation
session and several sessions to follow, I watched the chief interrogator

¢ use a variety of physically coercive measures on al-Nashiri that I be-

lieved were not on the list of approved techniques. They included the
two stress positions discussed earlier: dousing al-Nashiri with cold
water while using a stiff-bristled brush to scrub his ass and balls and
then his mouth and blowing cigar smoke in his face until he became
nauseous. In place of waterboarding, one of the navy SERE schools

* used the exact same cigar-smoke-in-the-face technique I observed

_ the chief interrogator and his newly minted apprentices use.

The chief interrogator was very angry at me when he came out
of al-Nashiri’s first interrogation. He got right up in my face and
started hollering, “What the fuck is your malfunction?”

“You are doing things that are not approved,” I said, talking over

. him. “I'm trying to look out for you as much as al-Nashiri.”

“You are not allowed to interrupt interrogations,” he said. “If you

do it again, I will have the guards restrain you.”
It got even uglier after that, but I was confident that if I could talk

to someone running the program back at headquarters, this rogue

' disregard for what was and wasn’t authorized would stop. I told him I

wanted to call back to headquarters and talk to the chief of the CTC,
Jose Rodriguez; he ‘said I couldnt. I told him I wanted to talk to the

: * CTC lawyers who had worked out the approvals for the techniques

with the Justice Department; he told me I wasn’t allowed to call any-

- one, “especially the fucking lawyers.” I told him I wanted to send an
e-mail back to my contract manager; he told me I couldn’t. I told him

1 wanted to leave the black site. I would pay my own way home. He

said I couldn’t do that either.
I wished Bruce was with me as.a witness to what was going on,
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terrogators to place a wooden dowel behind the knees of detainees
in stress positions. It was part of a lesson in an interrogation course
he was running for the CIA. He even demonstrated its use in front
of the class.

Bruce and I had been asked to sit through” the course by the |

chief of RDI. When we saw what the chief interrogator was teach-
ing, we immediately left the room and reported it to the chief of
RDI. Later that day, the chief of RDI and the chief of SMD came
out to where the interrogation course was being held and told the
chief interrogator to “knock that shit off.” But he didn’t.

In July 2003 the New Sheriff was removed from the interroga-
tion program because he once again used a wooden dowel behind the
knees on a detainee he was interrogating. That incident was reported
after the staff psychologist assigned to RDI told me he had seen the
chief interrogator use the dowel. He asked me for my advice. I told
the psychologist to report it immediately. He did, and the chief in-
terrogator was promptly removed from the program, a sign that CIA
leadership was cleaning house of rogue elements.

We were all shocked to hear that just a few weeks after his depar-
ture he died of an apparent heart attack. . ..

BUT I'M GETTING ahead of myself. In early 2003, I was asked to
return to the black site where the chief interrogator and I had had our
dustup. When I got there, I was surprised to find out Bruce had been
there ahead of me. He was rotating out as I was coming in.

The people at the black site were crackling with tension. A few
weeks previously, a CIA officer with no interrogation training had
tried inappropriately to frighten al-Nashiri into giving up informa-
tion on imminent threats by threatening him with a handgun and a

drill. The ofticer had approval from the more senior COB in charge
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inees ® of the site, but not from headquarters. They never would have per-
ourse - mitted it. The threats didn’t work, and Bruce had been sent in to
front " clean up the mess. )
The incident had an emotionally disconcerting effect on CIA
y the . personnel on-site, especially the security personnel, many of whom
each- - had worked with us at the first black site. One senior security guard
ief of  told me he “feared the wheels had come off” and was glad when
came - Bruce showed up to put them back on. ‘
d the What that security officer said is an indication of how most of
- the CIA officers and contractors working at black sites felt. They
Toga- vanted clear rules and firm guidance. There was tremendous pres-
id the ure to get the information necessary to stop the next wave of attacks.
sorted “There were a lot of moving parts. The work was exhausting and emo-
:n the - ionally charged. Nobody wanted to do anything wrong. The people
I told “working at the sites wanted to know the left and right limits and had
ief in- “to be able to predict what the officers beside them were going to do
t CIA next. They also wanted to know that headquarters had their backs.
" Headquarters responded quickly. The incident was investigated,
epar- “the officers involved were disciplined, and the lessons learned were
 incorporated into headquarters policy and operating procedures.
“Rather than being an indication of a failed and corrupt program run
y incompetents, as it has been portrayed by some in the media, the
ked to way this incident was handled indicated to me that accountability
ad our “was important to the CIA’s leadership. It also illustrated the impor-
d been : tance of adhering to a set of DOJ-approved EITs rather than allow-
ing officers to freelance, making up techniques on the fly to ramp
A few ip the pressure. Preventing this sort of freelancing was the reason I
1g had -ommended that the CIA use SERE-derived interrogation tech-
forma- “niques in the first place.
1and a
charge
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uninformative and not responsive to the question, usually by leav-
ing out critical details, emphasizing irrelevancies, or using language
ploys to link details that are accurate standing alone but mislead-
ing when presented together. Watch politicians on the Sunday talk
shows to see this technique in practice. I've seen this tactic trip up
skilled interrogators and debriefers.

EVEN S0, ONCE KSM started looking for ways to answer quesitions,
we could gradually back off the use of EITs and shift to social in-
fluence strategies to shape his cooperation. In the beginning of this
phase we couldn’t back off completely, because withholding informa-
tion by hiding in the truth and other, less subtle resistance ploys had
to be discouraged if we were going to move him to the debriefing

stage. But at the same time, we didn’t want to go back to full-on

EITs that took him out of the moment, so to speak. At this stage,

forcing him to deal with the question being asked was critical.

I had thought about this problem when helping the CIA put
this program together. Earlier in this chapter I explained how the
repeated pairings that occur in classical conditioning can result in
something as benign as the sound of a buzzer evoking a reflexive
response such as fear without any adverse event happening. We took
advantage of this learning phenomenon to create an opportunity to
use fewer EITs later by making the rolled-up towel we used to pro-
tect the detainees during walling an object that evoked fear.

Here is how we did that. In the limited time EITs were in play
{detainees usually started trying to cooperate about seventy-two
hours after EITs began), Bruce and I always started every interro-
gation with the same conditioning ritual, The detainee would be

standing against the walling wall, hooded. The interrogator would

enter the room and slowly and gently run the rolled towel over the
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top of the detainee’s head from the forehead to the back of the neck.
We then would spend several minutes adjusting it, as if searching
for the perfect grip. We did this because we wanted the towel to
become a fear-inducing object: an omen of what might happen next,
a harbinger of what was to come if they didn’t cooperate. Once that
Pavlovian association was formed, the towel represented a potential
adverse consequence and elicited a conditioned fear response without
our having to resort to the physical discomfort of EITs.

- We put the towel around the necks of detainees each time they
were questioned and used it to wall them if necessary. Later, when
the detainees were in the beginning stages of transitioning out of
EITs—sometimes cooperating and sometimes holding back—we
would carry the towel into the room with us, put it around their
necks, and slowly pull off their hoods. If they started answering
questions, we would make a show of removing the towel, saying
something like “T guess we won’t be needing this today. But I'll putit
over here just in case.” If they started lying to us or being duplicitous,
we would put the towel around their necks using the same slow ritual
and wall them.

Later, as their cooperation increased, we would walk in, pull off
the hood, show them the towel, and ask, “Am I going to need this?”
They would usually reply “No,” and we would say, “Okay. I'm going to
take you at your word.” And a noncoercive interrogation would begin.

Gradually we went from placing the towel in a detainee’s sight
line on a nearby table to making a show of moving it out of the room.
At that stage, when detainees started holding back, we’d glance in
the direction of the towel before actually moving toward it. More
often than not, that was all it took to get them back on track. Finally,
when detainees were in full debriefing mode, the rolled towel never

made an appearance.
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an unnamed ex-FBI agent who turned out to be Ali Soufan.
from the office of the CIA’s inspector general made matters
Suddenly Bruce and I found our names showing up in media rep
suggesting erroneously that we bore some responsibility for Ab
Ghraib. We didn't. I had never been to Iraq, and neither had Br
Neither had we ever participated in anything even rernotely like whi
happened at Abu Ghraib. : »

Throughout the remainder of 2004 and into 2005 and 2006, C' Recrs wi
headquarters repeatedly dialed back our authority to employ EIT: i W

On September 6, 2006, President Bush publicly acknowledg
the existence of the CIA’s detention and interrogation progra‘
which for some time had been one of the world’s worst-kept s
crets. The president announced that all the existing CIA detaing
had been moved into military custody at Guantanamo Bay N
Base. As a result, the CIA lost the ability to tap into its al-Qg
knowledge base. KSM University and the Terrorist Think Tank
closed for good. I understood and appreciated that it was impor j
that high-value detainees, especially KSM, eventually be tried fo: 88 rs th:
their crimes: Americans had a right to justice. But I knew the natio i
would miss being able to rely on their collective understanding of
Qgz’ida terror networks, their knowledge of key players moving
al-Qg’ida leadership roles, and their capacity to help us make sen
of coded or obscure messages.

I've already mentioned that the CIA suspended its use of EL
several times. The last time the CIA stood down its interrogatio
program, we were waiting for Congress to act on legislation related
the program. During that wait, interrogators were asked to provids
bare-bones list of EITs pulled from the list of those already appro¥
that the CIA could submit to the DOJ for yet another review. T ed in
idea was that the shortened list would be used to seek congression

support. All the interrogators converged on Langley and spent sci CIA cu
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eral days putting together recommendations. Almost unanimously
we agreed that only two EITs were required for the conditioning
process: walling and sleep deprivation. The others, though occasion-
ally useful, were not critical, and some, such as nudity, slaps, facial
holds, dietary manipulation, and cramped confinement, Bruce and I
now believed were unnecessary.

We presented our recommendations to the midlevel CIA offi-
cers who were working the issue for the CIA’s lea’dership. We told
them we needed only walling and sleep deprivation. But the midlevel
managers told us they already had told the senior leadership that
the interrogators were going to recommend sleep deprivation, dietary
manipulation, attention grasp, facial hold, facial slap, and abdominal
slap but not walling. And they were not going back upstairs and tell-
ing the bosses that what they had told them earlier was wrong. They
ordered the interrogators to sit down and write a recommendation for
using the EITs they had told the bosses would be on the list.

Out of earshot of the others, Bruce and I told the midlevel man-
agers that the use of the reduced set of EITs was likely to be in-
effective if a detainee was skilled at resisting, accustomed to harsh
conditions, and intent on protecting his secrets. We had learned over
the preceding years that the EITs the midlevel managers intended to
retain did not lend themselves to the conditioning process as reliably
as walling did.

We told them press leaks had removed the fear of the unknown
associated with the CIA’s interrogation program by making it clear
that the L)bjections to the agency’s methods by some in Congress had
watered down the EITs. That had not always been the case. Abdul
Hadi al Iraqi was captured before the program had been completely
gutted in the media. Abdul Hadi was held first by a foreign intelli-
gence service and then by the U.S. military before he was transferred
to CIA custody. In each instance he had steadfastly insisted that he
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was not Abdul Hadi despite the fact that when he was caught
was carrying identification documents with his photograph on
identifying him as such. Nothing they did could get him to ad
who he was,

When Abdul al Hadi was transferred to CIA custody, Bruce
another interrogator did the neutral assessment to see if he
talk without the use of EITs. When Bruce took-the hood off hi
Abdul al Hadi said, “I know who you are. I know what you can d
You don’t have to do that to me. I will cooperate.” And he did, wi
out the use of EITs. .

Thanks to the brouhaha in the press, that sort of capitulat
from fear of the unknown was no longer likely. The terrorists kn -
that most of our harshest techniques had been removed from o
bag and that many of the remaining ones were essentially bluffs.

Back at headquarters, the midlevel managers told Bruce and
that they were trying to save the program, and since they were &
going to go back upstairs, it was either accept their list of EITs ¢
nothing. Even though Bruce and I doubted that we could do th
Pavlovian conditioning with the techniques that the midlevel m :
agers had decided to keep, we reluctantly agreed to help them w:
up those recommendations.

It wasn’t our call. It was a CIA policy decision. At that point
consultants, our job was to help those who had hired us make th
best case for the course of action they chose. I wouldn’t have cho
that subset of EITs, but it wasn’t my program. It was theirs,

The wheels on the program were now wobbling badly.

Even though we thought our job was to support the cou
action the managers of the program decided to undertake, two
directors asked our opinions, and Bruce and I again voiced our ¢
cerns to them. At least once when Porter Goss was CIA dire
and then again later after General Michael Hayden took over, B

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE



he
€I

mit

and
uld
im,
do.
ith-

tion
aew

- kit

.me
not
S or
the
1an-

yrite

se of -
CIA

con-
zctor

iruce

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Class.App. 255 "
THE WHEELS COME GFF 231

and I separately or togeth;:r told the directors that walling and sleep
deprivation were the only two EITs necessary and that the others
were either completely unnecessary or likely to be far less effective.
I remember General Hayden telling me that he heard me and un-
derstood and appreciated what I was telling him but that the CIA
officers running the program had given him a list of what they said
they needed and he was obliged to support them.

In June 2007, we were asked to provide a personal briefing to
Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice outlining the reduced set of
EITs. John Rizzo, the CIA’s acting general counsel, accompanied
us. The managers of the program made it clear to us that we were to
be supportive of their pared-down list of EITs, and we did our best
to be enthusiastic supporters. They told us what to cover: our back-
grounds, the origins of the original set of EITs, the way the program
had evolved, the safeguards, and so on. Secretary Rice was gracious
and eésy to talk to.

For our part we wanted to be sure that Secretary Rice had a clear
mental picture of what the techniques actually looked like in use.
Therefore, we illustrated a couple, much as I had for CIA Director
Tenet in 2002. Rizzo and John Bellinger, the State Department’s legal
advisor, looked at us contemptuously, as if we were acting inappropri-
ately or disrespectfully. They acted as if she were a hothouse rose. At
one point they exchanged a glance that suggested that they thought
Bruce and I were clumsy, unwashed street urchins who somehow had
found their way into the royal castle’s china closet with a hammer.

But we didn’t care what they thought. We cared what Secretary
Rice thought, and she seemed curious and interested. It wasn’t Rizzo
or Bellinger who would be asked to use the techniques and suffer any
grief that came from that; it was us. We already had heard rumors
that members of Congress who had been briefed from the beginning
were starting to claim they had not been told about the program or -
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UNITED STATES V. AL-NASHIRI
NARRAT]'VE SUMZMARY DESCRIBING ’I'HE CONDI‘I‘ION OF THE ACCUSED’S

1. United Arab Emitates, CAPTURE, Location No. 1*

2. Location No. 2

* Each substitution provided in compliance with the Commission’s Order at AE 120AA identifies locations by an
assigned mumber where the CIA detained the accused. To maximize the import of the government’s holistic
approach to discovery, the numbering designation for a given location where the CIA detained the accused will
rémain consistent throughout the government’s substitutions. For example, the government identified one
location where the CIA detained the accused as “Location No. 2.” Moving forward, the government will refer to
this locafion as “Location No. 2.” Similarly, the government identified one location where the CIA detained the
accused as “Location No. 3.” The government will refer to this location as “Location No 3" in subsequent

To Be Provided to Cleared Defense Counsel

10015-00127089
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Naghiri was often placed in a standmg position against a walling board. A walling
board is a false wall that créatés a loud noise when strick, making the impact seem worse than

itis.*! The interrogator pulls the individual forward and ushes him agamst the wall.”
The head and aeck are s ed with a rolled towel e—oollar effect) to prevent whiplash. 4

—QOctober 2003) § 35, 7 May 2004,

‘partmes Memorandum for John Rizzo (Aug. 1, 2002), CIA OIG Report on Couitertérro i
Detenuon, and Interropation Activities (September 2001-——October 2003), 7 May 2004,
OIG Report on Counferterrorism, Detention, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 —October 2003) § 35

4
To Be Providéd to Cleared Defense qunsel

10015-00127092
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> Department of Justlce Memomndmn for John Rizzo (Aug. 1, 2002), CIA OIG | 1t on Counterterrorism,
e es (September 2001—October 2003), 7 May 2004

5
To Be Provided to Cleared Defense Counsel

10015-00127093
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 When being waterboarded, an individual is bounid to an incliried board and the feet are
elevated.®® A cloth is placed over the forehead and eyes, and water poured in a controlled
manner into the mouth, while the cloth is slowly lowered to cover the nose and mouth Alr
flow 1s shghtly restricted, and water is poured for 20-40 seconds from a height of 12-24
iniches.® The cloth is then lifted, and the individual is allowed to breathe for 3-4 breaths. &

ide of mdmdual s face 1o keep the head

' ;.,.7° The msult slap 1s anothe Enh ch

Department of Justice Memorat for John Rizzo (Aug. 1, 2002),
,Detentron, and Interrogation Activities (Sepnember 2001—October
Department of Justlce Memomndum for John R.lzzo (Aug 1,

CIA OIG Report on Counterterrorisin,
7 May 2004, AE 303 SUM-081.
CIA OIG R.eport on Countgrtérromm,

ivitics (Sq 3), 7 May 2004, AE 303 SUM-osi
indiin for John Rizzo (Aug. 1, 2002), CIA OIG Repoit on Counterterrorism, -
s (Septetiber 2001—October 2003), 7 May 2004, AE 303 SUM-081. :

Department of Justice Memorandum for John Rizzo (Aug. 1, 2002), OIG Report on Counferterrorism,
Detenhon, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October 2003), 7 May 2004, AE 303 SUM-081

" Department of Justice Memorandum for John Rizzo (Aug. 1, 2002), CIA OIG' Report on Counﬁerbenomm.

Detenhoi and Inteuoiauon Activities iSeptember 200. I—Octol:er 2003), 7 May 2004, AE 303 SUM-081

6
To Be Provided to Cleared Defense Counsel
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4. Location No. 4
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107

eport
oréed bathing mcidents involved brushes, including a “stiff brush.”

197 1A OIG Report on Cgil ctention, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October
2003), 7 May 2004, § 98 ‘

8

To Be Provided to Cleared Defense Counsel
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Interrogator conducted unauthorized interrogation techniques and used an
unloadedl semi-automatic handpun to frighten Nashiri into disclosing information.'*

to infer this because it was W‘rdely beheved that fore’i‘gn mtelrogahon techniq
séxual abuse of feitiale relatives in front of a, detainec 1e It was reported In
told Nashiri that his famnily members, icluding

hmmhatton because of hls achons

' CIA OIG Report on
2003) § 92, 7 May 2004

nterropation Activities (Septemiber 2001—October

sm. Deterition, and Inteirogation Activities (Septernber 2001—October

Detention, and Interrogation Activities (Septemiber 2001—October
G Réport on_Couiteiteiro Detention, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October
2003)194 7 May 2004“
12

To Be Provided to Cleared Defense Counsel
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Agency independent contractors have also indicated that they blew cigar smoke in
Nashiti’s face during interrogations.'” Anothejjjjjjffindicated that he smoked cigars in
Nashi;g’s presence to mask the stench in the room, but did not blow smoke directly in his

face.!

According to the Inspector General’s 2004 report, interrogation teamn members
employed stress positions on Nashifi.'™ Nashiri was requited to kneel on the floor and lean
back. On at least one occasion, Nashiri allegedly was pushed backward while in this stress
position. On another occasion, Nashiri allegedly was lifted off the floor by his arms while his
armis were bound behind his back with a belt, raising concerns that his arms might become
dislocated from his shoulders.' A stiff brush allegedly was used to bathe Nashiri.!™
Moreover, cuts and bruises were caused to Nashiri’s ankles by persons standing on his
shackles.'™ .

'on_Counterterrofism. Detention, and Interrogation Aétivities (September 2001—OQOctober

' CIA OIG Rej

2003) 4 96, : B

" CIA 0IG ofi Countérterrorism, Détention, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October
2003) 96,7 May 4

172 C1A -ON on Couiterterrorism, Detention, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October

2003) § 97,7 May 2004,

13 CIA OIG Report on Cousnterterrorism. Detention, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October
2003) § 97, 7 May 20‘0'4”
1" CIA OIG Report on Counterte mtion, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October

ntion, and Interrogation Activities (September 2001—October
13
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5. Location No. 5
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6. Location No. 6
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7. Location No. 7
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